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CHAPTER 1.

Nuncomar's Trial and Execution—Not*ttributable to Mr. Hastings—The
Majority continue to ssail his public and private Character—~Corre-
spondence,

AMID scenes like these, where the gravest ques-
tions were debated not upon their own merits, but
with reference to the parties proposing them, it
would have been idle tq look for the introduction
or maintenance of any settled or well considered
plan for the general administration of the affuirs of
British India. The example set by the supreme
government was faithfully imitated in the in-
ferior tribunals, till there was scarce a district, or
pergunnah, or zemindarry, or farm, which became
not an arens for party struggles. In like manner
the Supreme Council and the Supreme Court of
Judicature soon found themselves pitted one
against the other. The majority in the Council
accused the judges of seeking to extend their au-
thority over persons and causes never contemplated
by the Act of Parliament; the judges reprobated

the interference of the Council in questions which
VOL. IIL B
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it belonged to them, and them only, to decide. 1
should go beyond my proper province were I to
specify a tithe of the cases in which judges and
councils mutually eharged one another with wrong.
But the case of Nuncomar I am bound to notice,
were it only that the memory of Mr, Hastings may
be vindicated from the stain, such as it may be, of
-his having in any manner contributed to bring that
most consummate of all scoundrels to the gallows.
I stated some time ago, that while the prosecu-~

« tion by the Governor-general still hung over the
head of Nuncomar, he was suddenly arrested at
the suit of ‘a native merchant, and committed to
the gaol of Calcutta on a charge of forgery. His
commiital gave great offence to the majority in
Council, who, besides heaping honours and wealth
on his son, Rajah Goordass, offered to the judges
such remonstrances as were by them felt to be
extremely unbecoming. The majority did not
of course fail, when communicating with the
Court of Directors, to speak of the whole pro-
ceeding as a vile conspiracy, of which the objects
were, first to get rid of a troublesome witness to
Mr. Hastings’s delinquency; and pext, to deter
others, through dread of a similar fate, from com-
ing forward, But with the Supreme Court their
immediate dealings were more simple. They pro-
tested against the right of the judges to commit,
on such a charge, a native of Nuncomar’s rauk to
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a common prison, and requfred that, in considera-
tion of his religious scruples, he should be set at
liberty on bail. It is not worth while to analyze
even a few of the haughty messages which passed to
and fro between the contending parties. Enough
is done when I say, that the judges of the Supreme
Court were not disposed to abate one jot of their
dignity; and that Nuncomar, having every iné-
dulgence extended to him, which the nature of his
position would allow, remained in confinement till
the period of the assizes came round.

Nuncomar, as is well known, was tried, con<
victed, and sentenced to be hanged. Thé sentence
may or may not have been a harsh one: thatis=a
question with which I em no wise concerned, but
that it was strictly legal no one can for a moment
doubt, who las paid any attention to the proceed-
ings in the House of Lords during the impeach~
ment, some years later, of Chief Justice Impey.
For * the tragedy” again, as the death of the cri-
minal has been called, neither Sir Elijah Impey
nor the Governor-genersl was in any manner
accountable. Nor, indeed, could they interfere to
preventit. The chief justice had clearly no power
to stay the execution even for a day. His part was

" played out so soon as the fatal word had been
spoken, while Mr. Hastings’s share of blame
amounts to this, and no more, that he does not
seem to have proposed in Council, that the Govern.

B2
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ment should exercise a privilege which confessedly
belonged to it. Probably Mr, Hastings felt that
in this, as in every other instance, a proposal
emansting from him would, as a matter of course,
be overruled; but why were the majority back-
ward? They had the matter entirely in their own
hands. By a simple vote of their body they might
have suspended the execution till a reference
should be made to the Court of Directors at home;
why did they, who were so zealous in Nunco-
mar’s cause prior to the conviction, sit with folded
arms and see their protégé put to death? I think
that, in the tone of their despatches which suc-
ceeded the event, as well as of Mr. Burke's speeches
during the trial of Mr. Hastings, some clue may
be discovered wherewith to thread our way through
the labyrinth. It might not suit the purpose of
the majority to save the life of Nuncomar; it
might suit that purpose that they were able, Low-
ever groundlessly, to assert that * the Governor-
general murdered him through the hands of Sir
Elijah Impey.” For even to this day, the impres-
sion has not every where been removed, that Mr.
Hastings was censurable for failing to effect that
which he had no power to effect. 'The will of the
majority was law. Had they willed a reprieve for
Nuncomar he must have received the benefit of
it. On their heads then, and not on that of Mr,
Hastings, must the death of the culprit rest.
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Meanwhile the spirit of party, not content to
indulge in attacks on the private character of Mr.
Hastings, waged incessant and ruinous war against
the whole tenour of his public proceedings. The
five years’ settlement proved to be in its results
less favourable than Mr. Hastings had antici-
pated. The renters fell much into arrear, and
the circumstance was, of course, attributed not to
their own improvidence either in the hire or ma-
nagement of the farms, but to the mischievous
tendency of the Governor-general’s system. Nay,
nor did the inventive malice of the majority stop
there. The same men who accused Mr. Hastings
of having demanded from the renters more than
the produce of the land -was worth, charged it
against him as a crime, that he had failed to realize
the expectations which he had excited when the
leasing system was first introduced. Mr. Hastings’s
defence, though both simple and just, availed him
nothing. He did not deny that his own hopes had
fuiled bim. The farmers, in their eagerness to
obtain leases, had offered terms for the lands such
as they found it impossible to fulfil; and the re-
venue, when collected, fell proportionably short of
the amount on which he had calculated. But was
he to blame for this? The majority declared that
bhe was in a twofold degree. For first, it was
tyrannical to screw up the public burthens to a
degree of pressure which the country could not
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bear; and next, he had proved himself entirely
deficient in the qualifications necessary to a states-
man, seeing that he had not carried out his own
device, or, in other words, accomplished an im-
possibility. '

The same spirit which actuated the Council in
the review which they took of Mr. Hastinge's
financial arrangements was eminently displayed
in their mode of dealing with his judicial system.
They discovered that it was not only founded on
wrong, but that its operations were mischievous
throughout. The Nabob of Bengal had heen
cruelly despoiled of his rights. The abolition of the
old courts of Niz4dmut was both an insult and an
injury to the people. The new tribunals were not
respected, and came moreover into perpetual col-
lision with the Supreme Court at Calcutta. The
majority forgot that if the course of justice were
indeed impeded, to themselves no trivial portion
of the blame was attributable. Ever since their
arrival in Bengal, the arm which used to control
and regulate the affairs of British India with a
giant’s strength had lost its vigour. Wholly oc-
cupied with their own party squabbles, they not
only Jeft their subordinate functionaries to think
and act for themselves, but, by something more
than example, they taught them’that the best ser-
vice which they could render to those in power
was to bring edium on the government under
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which they acted. I do not mean to say that there
was no foundation at all for the sweeping con-
demnation which they passed upon the improved
judicial system. Here and there neglects of duty
might occur; neglects of duty will always occur
where the power or the will to enforce obedience
to established regulations is wanting. But as they
set out by declaring that it was necessary for the
vindication of their own proceedings, to condemn
in the mass the administration which preceded
them, so this, one of the boldest and wisest of that
administration’s acts, was not likely to be spared.
Accordingly, having begun with effecting a revo-
lution in the Nabob's household, they proceeded to
revolutionize the entire province also, by re-esta-
blishing the two fold government, his abolition «of
which had earned for Mr. Hastings the unqualified
approval of his superiors. Moreover, Mahommed
Reza Cawn, who at first had been entirely
neglected, but of whom, in the course of their in-
quiries into Mr. Hastings’s conduct they had latterly
made use, was by them reinstated in the obsolete
office of Naib Subah; and, as such, placed at the
head of the eriminal jurisdiction of the kingdom.
It was to no purpose that Mr. Hastings and Mr.
Barwell equally protested against these arrange-
ments, and equally referred to the Court’s explicit
declarations, that Mahommed Reza Cawn, though
provided for at the Company’s expense, was never
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again to be employed in the Company's service.
The majority passed their own resolutions, and
proceeded at once to act upon them, while their
despatches were scarcely more filled with censures
of the acts of their predecessors, than with exag-
gerated encomiums on the wisdom and the justice
of their own.

Meanwhile there were not wanting other grounds
of difference in the foreign policy, if I may be
allowed the expression, of this most divided admi-
nistration. Of the arrangements entered into with
the state of Oude Mr. Hastings had never ap-
proved; and the effects of the abject poverty in
which the young Nabob found himself on his
accession to the throne soon became apparent.
His army mutinied for lack of pay. He applied
to the English to furnish him with officers, by
whom a certain number of battalions might be
disciplined ; and these, as a matter of course, were
sent. But the jealousy of the native leaders put
the lives of the Europeans in jeopardy, and a sort
of civil war was the result. It ended, no doubt,
in the overthrow of the mutineers, as well as in
the removal from various commands of chiefs, who,
taking advantage of their sovereign's weskness,
aimed here and there at independence. Yet all
this could not be accomplished without expense,
and the subsidies due to the Company were not
paid up. In this, however, as well as in the ma~
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nagement of things nearer home, Mr. Hastings
was a mere spectator. His voice carried with it
no authority ; his experience was not appealed to.
The majority pursued their own cousfse, which
seems on all occasions to have been satisfactory to
themselves in exact proportion as it promised to
lead them farther and farther from the settled
policy of their predecessors.

Among other changes effected by the Regulat-
ing Act of 1773, a general controlling power was
given to the Government of Bengal over the
sister governments of Madras and Calcutta. In
particular the law required, that the subordinate
presidencies should not engage in war without the
sanction of the Supreme Government, and for-
mally to communicate this truth in the proper
quarters had been one of the first acts of the new
Council on its assumption of office. The govern-
ment of Bombay, however, which had for some
time previously been in close connexion with cer-
tain of the Mahratta chiefs, were already, ere the
letter from Bengal reached them, meditating a
military expedition ; and confident of its success, as
well as of securing the approval of their superiors
in England, they did not consider it expedient to
suspend their arrangements. After espousing the
cause of Ragobah, in a disputed claim to the Peishwa-
ship,and trying in vain to obtain from him the cession
of the island of Salsette, the Bombay Government,
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fearful that the Portuguese from Goa might anti-
cipate them, resolved to reduce the place by force
of arms. Accordingly, on the 12th of December,
1774, an expedition was fitted out under the com-
mand of Brigadier-general Gordon and Commo-
dore Watson. On the 28th the principal fortress
was taken by storm, and, the island submitting,
the Company’s agent at Poonah was instructed to
make known the circumstance to Ragobah in such
terms as might induce him to consent to the re-
tention of the conquest.

Into the history of Ragobal’s rise and fall it is
pot necessary for me to enter. The uncle of the
Peishwa, that is of the prime minister, who, keep-
ing up the pageant of a Maha-rajah, exercised, in
point of fact, sovereign authority over the Mahratta
states, Ragobal,, had, in August, 1772, put bis
nephew to death; and was, with little opposition,
received at Poonah as his successor. But there
was a powerful party in the empire, the heads of
certain influential families, who had been long ac-
customed- to have a veice in such arrangements,
and to whom Ragobah's elevation was not satis-
factory. Tlese discovering, or pretending to dis-
cover, that the widow of the murdered Peishwa
was enceinte, removed her to a place of safety,
where she econtinued under their protection till a
son was born, and they had it in their power to
bring forward a new elaimant for the dignity which
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Ragobah had assumed. A civil war followed, asa
matter of course, in which at the outset Ragobah
was not successful; whereupon he applied to the
government of Bombay for assistance. But as it
was offered on terms which he considered too ex-
orbitant, he withdrew for awhile from the contest,
and abode in a sort of exile at Baroda. The de-
sire of high station, however, and the inability to
furnish the money, in consideration of which the
Bombay government had promised to supply him
with troops, overcame the disinclination to dis-
member his country, and he consented, on the 6th
of March, 1775, to confirm the Englishin the pos-

~ session of Salsette, and to add to it several other
valuable acquisitions of which they were covetous.
They, on their part, without consulting the Su-
preme Government at Bengal, or taking any thing
into account except the desire which the Company
had long avowed to be in possession of Salsette,
promised to support him, in his march upon
Poonah, with a force of 2,500 men, of which 700
were to be Europeans, Colonel Keating, an officer
of experience, being at their head.

When the project of a war with the Mahrattas
for the purpose of raising Ragobah to the office of
Peishwa was first mooted at Bengal, the Council
there was unanimous in condemning it. Orders
were accordingly sent off to stay all further proceed-
ings, but before the messengers could reach their
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destination the war was actually begun; and the
Bombay government remonstrated against the im-~
policy of putting an abrupt and discreditable stop to
it. Mr. Hastings, like a statesman as he was, failed
not to perceive that it is one thing to prevent the
commencement of hostilities, another to withdraw
from the contest suddenly, and at the risk of sacri-
ficing both your army and your national honour.
He, therefore, proposed that the suggestions of the
Bombay government should be attended to, while
at the same time they were desired not on any
account to prolong the war beyond the period which
might be absolutely required to make peace on
honourable terms, Not such were the views of
the majority. Exclaiming against the inconsistency
of which the Governor was guilty, they gave
peremptory directions for the recall of Colonel
Keating’s brigade, while at the same time they
despatched Colonel Upton to Poonah, for the pur-
pose of concluding a treaty with the confederacy
there, of which a chief, named Sacaram Bapoo,
was at the head. How Mr. Hastings felt on the
occasion, and how he acted, will best appear from
the tone of a letter which the reader will find in-
troduced into the narrative according to the order
of its date.

Thus passed the latter portion of the year 1775,
amid incessant toil, anxiety, and extreme mortifi-
cation to Mr. Hastings. He saw the magnificent
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schemes which he had formed for the general ad-
ministration of affairs in India entirely overthrown.
He found himself not only powerless in the go-
vernment of which he was the ostensible head, but
an object of more than party malevolence—of bitter
and implacable personal hatred—to his eolleagues
in office. Charges were brought against his cha-
racter from day to day; not a despatch went off
for London which was not filled with complaints
of his misdoings, while his personal friends all suf-
fered, either in their reputations or their fortunes,
or both, for no other apparent reason than that to
him they owed their situations. It is surprising
how a man of acute sensibility should have been
able to bear up against such an accumulation of
wrong. It is impossible to conceive that he could
have sustained it at all, had he not been at the same
time endowed with extrordinary vigour and grasp
of mind. Yet the following, written early in 1776,
will show that, even under such disadvantages, he
mever lost sight of the interests of British India,
por eceased, however apparently hopeless of suecess,
to aim at their advancement. The undefined
powers of the Supreme Court had, from the outset,
been a fruitful source of disunion. He was not
slow of perceiving this, nor backward in devising
a remedy.
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To Lord NogTu.
Fort William, 20th January, 1770,

My Lord,—I1 persuade myself that I shall stand in
no need of any apology for troubling your Lordship
with the enclosed sheets. They contain the copy of
a plan which I have transmitted to the Court of
Directors by this despatch, for the more petfect distri-
bution of justice in these provinces. The design of it
may be comprised in a few words. It is, to extend the
jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Judicature to all
parts of the provinces without any limitation ; to con-
firm the Courts which have been established on the
principles of the ancient constitution of the country,
by the names of Nizimut and Dewanny; to unite the
judges of the Supreme Court with the members of the
Council in the control of the latter, and to give the
Provincial Councils a legal authority in the internal
government of the country, and in the collection of
the public revenue. It would require too much of
your 'Lordship’s time to explain and illustrate every
part of the plan, though its length is not considerable.
It will best speak for itself Your Lordship is already
acquainted with the nature of the courts and offices
which are included in it, as they have been particularly
noticed in the late parliamentary investigations; and
for any particular information which you may be
desirous of obtaining, I would beg leave to refer you
to the gentlemen now in England who have been con-
versant in the business of this government, particularly
Mr. Graham, and my excellent young friend, Mr.
Elliott, who had the principal charge of the official
business of the superior Courts of the Nizimnt and
Dewanny, and was the first person appointed to fill
the office of superintendent of the Khalsa records.

It may, however, be necessary to point out one
peculiarity, though obvious, in the proposed regulations,
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because the design of it may not be so apparent. It
is proposed to give very ample coercive powers fo the
Provincial Councils, but none to the Superior. The
reason is that this requires none. Its province will be
only to receive reports, ts, and refe from
“the Provincial Councils, and to issue its orders to them.
They are entrusted with the detail of business which
cannot be conducted without the power of compelling
attendance, and of inflicting fines, punishment, and
yoprisonment ; in the exercise of thesd powers, the
members of the Provincial Councils will be restrained
by the vigilance of the Superior Council, and the dread
of the law. No restraints but their own integrity
will or can bind the actions of the ruling members of
the state, if they are allowed a power over the persons
of individuals. One exception must be made to this
rule, which I have not proposed, because I suppose it
to be an inherent prerogative of Government ; I mean
the power of employing extraordinary force in the case
of any violent invasion of the public peace, whether
by open enemies, hordes of senassies, robbers, or others
committing violence, or exercising an unlicensed au~
thority over the inhabitants, which may call for the
sudden interposition of Government. This power, in
ordinary cases, was left by the late Council wholly to
my discretion, and I have a conscious satisfaction in
being able to declare that it was never employed by
me in a single instance without success; and on such
ions, I would r d that it should be always
left to the Governor, because the success of it must
depend always on despatch, and on a local knowledge
of the country, of which I suppose the Governer will
generally acquire from the experiences of his station,
if he does not before possess it, a superior share.
The chief justice, to whom we have submitted the
plan, has expressed his entire approbation of it.
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Upon this occasion my duty obliges me to declare
that in every instance in which I have consulted him,
as has frequently happened in points in which the
powers of the Board and of the Court were likely to be
brought into competition, or in which the acts of the
Court might be attended with embarrassment to the
Council, I have~ experienced in the chief justice the
greatest candour and readiness to assist me with his
advice. In justice I must add, that the conduct of all
the judges has been directed by the principles of
moderation, and a scrupulous attention to the just
authority of Government, and to the laws and customs
of the people. I am afraid that fo this prudent
caution alope it must be ascribed that the undefined
state of the powers of the Governor-general and
Council, and of the Supreme Court of Judicature, have
not been productive of ill consequences both to the
Company' and to the country. The contests which
have already arisen, and are likely to increase, beiween
the Court and the Council render the interposition of
a higher authority indispensably necessary to avert
the evils which must otherwise inevitably ensue from
such disputes. 1 hope I shall not appear to presume
too much in pronouncing that there is but one alter-
native for this case. Either the Court must be sup-
ported, and armed with a full authority, or its operations
must be restricted to the town of Calcutta and the
commercizl factories, and to British subjects only
beyond them. On any other footing, its jurisdiction
will be eluded, or it will be an embarrassment to the
Government.

I took the liberty in a former letter to introduce the
name of Mr. George Vansittart to your Lordship.
That gentleman is now on bis return to England, and
I beg your Lordship’s permission to remind you of
the wish which I before expressed in his favour. In



MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS. 17

~

the course of many years' service he has acquired an
extensive knowledge in every branch of the Company's
affairs, and has occupied several important stations
with an equal superiority of abilities and success. I
have always reposed an unreserved confidence in him,

vand have been much relieved by his assistance in the
detail of current business, in which few men possess a
greater steadiness of attention, or more quickness of
despatch.—I have the honour to be, with the greatest
gespeet, my Lord, your Lordship's most obliged and
faithful servant.

I add to this two letters, one addressed to the
great moralist of the day, the other to Lord Chief
Justice Mansfield. They bring the writer before
us in a new light, as a scholar and a patron of
literary exertion, not less than as the careful guar-
dian of the rights and privileges of the natives of
British India. With Dr. Johnson it will be
remembered, that Mr. Hastings had formed some
acquaintance, while resident in England in 1758.
Lord Mansfield's notice he owed entirely to the
tenor of his own public life, and to the Ligh
opinion which that eminent judge entertained
of it.

To Dr. Jounson.

' Fort William, 7th August, 1775,

Sir,—1I have suffered much pain from my own re-
proaches for having suffered the ships of the scason
to depart without replying to the letter which you did
me the favour to send me by Mr. Justice Chambers,
accompanied by Mr. Jones’s ingenious book. I have

YOL, II. c
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since had the pleasure of receiving another letter from
you with a present which I esteem of much higher
value, and gladly make use of the opportunity now
afforded me to make my thankful acknowledgments
for the repetition of these kind tokens of your remem-
brance. I cannot assign my rcasons for having thus’
long delayed them without an appearance of affecta-
tion, as it is scarcely possible to explain the mature
of my occupations, at the periods of our despatches,
but [ beg you will do me the justice to believe, that
no man living can have a juster sense of your estcem,
or feel a stronger ambition to merit it.

Although the situation in which I have been placed
has, by a peculiarity of circumstances attending it,
precluded me from gratifying my curiosity by re-
searches of my own into the history, traditions, arts, or
natural productions of this country, yet I have not
been inattentive to them, having esteemed it among
the daties of my station to direct and encourage the
pursuits of others to these discoveries, who were better
qualified by their talents or leisure for the attainment
of them, nor I hope altogether without success.

It has been one of my first wishes to be able to free
the inhabitants of this country from the reproach of
ignorance and barbarism, which has been undeservedly
cast npon them by the too precipitate information of
those who have wanted opportunities of knowing their
real state. Partly with this view, but principally to
assist the courts of justice in their decisions, I have
for some time past employed some of the most learned
of the Mahometan and Gentoo inhabitants in forming
a eompilation of their respective laws, and have had the
satisfaction of receiving an abstract of the Gentoo
law, completed under the most respectable authority.
A translation of this work into the English Janguage,
executed by a young man of genius and abilities, has
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been transmitted to the Court of Directors, and I
hope will have their sanction for its publication.
Whether it will appear to you to deserve it I cannot
judge. 1 beg leave to recommend it to your notice.
There is at least a merit in the attempt to explore
unknown tracts, although it should not be attended
with any useful discovery. I cannot rely on my own
judgment, which may be too partial to an object which
1 have had very much at heart.

An opportunity has lately presented itself for a
search of a different nature, the result of which I take
the liberty to present you with in the accompanying
sheets, and to beg your acceptance of them. They
contain the journal of a friend of mine into the country
of Tibbet, which, though bordering on this, has till
very lately been as little known to the inhabitants of
it as if it was at the distance of many degrees. The
people, their form of gover t, their s, and
even their climate differ as much from Bengal as
Bengal does from England. When I read the account
of your visit to the Hebrides, I could not help wishing
that & portion of that spirit which could draw so much
entertainment and instruction from a region so little
befriended by nature, or improved by the arts of
society, could have animated Mr. Bogle, the author of
this journal, but I flatter myself that you will find it
not unworthy of your perusal. I confess I received
great pleasure from it, and I assure myself that what-
ever originality you may discover in the description of
the countries and inhabitants of which it treats, you
will at least be pleased with the amiable character
of the Lama, which has been confirmed to me by the
testimonies of other travellers, who have visited his
capital. I have added to the journal two letters from

* him, one of which furnished me with the first hint of
deputing Mr. Bogle to his presence, and the other

c2
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contains the issuc of his megociations. On these I
shall make no comment.

I am afraid it may look like an ill compliment, after
having desired your acceptance of this production, to
tell you that I have endeavoured to prevail on the
writer of them to put them into a more connected
form, and to send them with some additional materials
to England for publication. If it would not be assum-
ing too great a liberty, I should request to be favoured
with your opinion upon the propriety of this intention.
The first copies of these sheets were taken, and
intended for your perusal, long before 1 had any
thoughts of making them public, and I cannot now
deny myself the satisfaction of accomplishing that
design whatever may be their future lot.

1 have many thanks fo make to you for having given
me an introduction to Mr. Chambers’s acquaintance.
1 have been unhappily engaged in such busy scencs
as have precluded me, in a great degree, from most
of the gratifications of society, but 1 shall study to
cultivate Mr. Chambers’s acquaintance, and to make
mine acceptable to him.

Mr. Lawrence, 1 believe, had reason to expect my
good offices, before you were pleased to mention him
to me, and I hope I need not say how much you have
added to my desire of serving him.

To Lord Massmizin.
¥ort William, 2th January, 1776,
My Lord,—Few circumstances could have afforded
me more pleasure than the manner in which your
Lordship has been pleased to express your acceptance
of the specimen which I took the liberty to send you
of the Gentoo laws, and your approbation of my en-
deavours to render the knowledge of them familiar to
the inhabitants of this country, and to my own country-
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men settled in it ; my merit in this performance was
very small. It consisted only in the original design, in
making choice of persons able and well qualified for
such a work, and in encouraging them in the execution
of it. I please myself with thinking that I could not
have given it in charge to better hands.

1 had the honour to supply the sheets which were
missing in those which were first sent, by (I believe)
the next despatch, and hope you will have received
them safe. By the Northumberland 1 took the liberty
to direct to your Lordship a preface to this work,
written by the translator, Mr. Halhed, which contains
many remarks equally necessary as an illustration of
many parts of the composition, and as an apology,
perhaps, for others. I have now the honour to send
you the remainder of the translation, with a preface
and introduction of the pundits, or original compilers.
There is an uncommon liberality of sentiment in the
preface, or preliminary discourse, which I think I may
venture to pronounce will make it highly acceptable to
your Lordship ; and in the little treatise (p. 37) which
comprehends the duties of the sovereign magistrate,
although they may not appear to great advantage as
soldiers, I am certain your Lordship will admit the
good sense and benevolence which appear to have in-
spired the venerable authors whose precepts are ex-
tracted in it.

I cannot quit this subject without acknowledging,
which I do with sentiments of the warmest gratitude,
the obligation which I owe to your Lordship for the
favourable mention which you have been pleased to
make of my conduct in this and other instances which
have a relation to it. I confess, I little expected, while
I meant only to solicit your Lordship's interference in
. behalf of the rights of the people of this country, and
pleased myself in offering a testimony to your Lordship
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of the respect and reverence which I bore to your
character in the only unexceptionable manner which
might admit of it, that I was laying the foundation of
my own public credit. But the words uttered by men
of your Lordship's eminence never fall in vain. Many
letters from England, written both to myself and others,
have informed me of these declarations and convinced
me of the impression which they bave made to my
advantage. This, my Lord, is a circumstance of very
great importance to a man who has no personal sup-
port, and whose sole reliance in all his prospects is on
the little reputation which a fortunate disposition of
events has enabled him to acquire, and which the breath
of faction may blast, with all his hopes, for ever.

Encouraged by your past indulgence, I presume to
trouble your Lordship with the copy of a plan which
I have drawn up and sent, in conjunction with Mr,
Barwell, to the Court of Directors by the present
despatches, of additional regulations proposed for the
administration of justice in these provinces. The
doubts which have arisen, and disputes upon these
doubts, concerning the respective powers of the Council
and Supreme Court of Judicature, have made it neces-
sary that both should be described by more distinet
lines than those by which they are marked in the late
Act of Parliament; and more especially that such as
were known to exist under the late form of government
at the time when the Act was passed, should have s
legal authority for their continuance, or that others
of greater expediency should be substitnted in their
room. Your Lordship will find very little of novelty
in the plan. The design of it is to prevent innovations,
not to add to them ; and I sincerely believe that, if it
shall be found compatible with the indispensable prin-
ciples of the English law, neither the laws, usages, nor
inclinations of the people of this country wil| be in-
jured by the introduction of it.
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I will not offer any remarks upon this work. To
your Lordship, I believe it will be unnecessary. The
names of the offices, and the technical terms which
oceur in if, are mostly explained by the context, and
are perhaps mot unknown to your Lordship, having
appeared often in printed publications, except the su-
perintendent of the Khalsa records, which may require
an explanation. This is an office of late institution.
The business of the superintendent is to receive and
flle all complaints and petitions referred to him by the
Council, to take the evidences upon them, to trace in
the minutes of the Council and other public records,
whatever has a relation to them, and to state and pre-
pare them for the Board. .

If your Lordship should be curious fo obtain any
further information, either relating to the manner in
which the administration of justice, the collection of
the public revenue, or the general business of this
Government has been conducted ; or to the effects to
which any new regulations introduced into the country
may be liable, I beg leave to mention the names of
two gentlemen who are amply qualified fo satisfy your
Lordship upon these points,—Mr. George Vansittart
and Mr. Alexander Elliott. The first of these was a
member of the late Council, and bas filled many very
important stations in the service with great reputation
and success. He possesses an extensive knowledge of
the Company’s intcrests in these provinces, with great
experience and uncommon ability in the detail of busi-
ness. This gentleman is & brother of the late Mr.
Henry Vansittart. He is now on his return to Eng-
land.

Mr. Elliott is in England, and will, I hope, have been
made personally known to your Lordship before this
can reach your hands. I hope you will not form your
opinion of his abilities from the youthfulness of his
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appearance. If I am not partial to him, his judgment
and understanding would do credit to a much more
advanced age. He is peculiarly qualified to anewer
any inquiries which your Lordship may have occasion
to make upon the subject of the cnclosed sheets, as he
had charge of the records of the two Superior Courts
of Civil and Criminal Justice, and was the first person
appointed to the office of superintendent of the Khalsa
records.

These gentlemen are both masters of the Persian
language ; and while I mention them as persons to
whom I refer for that information which I would wish
your Lordship to receive as my own, 1 hope it will not
be an improper recommendation of them to add that
both have my entire confidence.

I humbly beg leave to recommend the plan to your
Lordship's attention.  Sir Elijah Impey, who has care-
fully read it, has authorized me to say that it has his
approbation. Knowing my intention to address your
Lordship, he has desired me to add on his part, that
e laments that he was not sufficiently honoured with
your acquaintance to write to you himself, but that he
corresponds with the Lord Chancellor and Lord Roch-
ford, and on encouragement from your Lordship would
be happy to transmit to you a faithful account of his

duct and sentiments on the business and state of his
department. 1 have a pleasure in declaring that on ‘all
occasions it has been his aim in particular, and in
general that of the other judges of the Supreme Court,
to support the anthority of Government, and temper
the law of England with the laws, religious customs,
and manoers of the natives. Your Lordship will hear
a different report from my iates in the Council,
but I confidently rely on the facts on which our different
opinions are founded for confirming my testimony.

1 have lately received the letter which you did me
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the honour to write to me by the hands of Mr. Hay,
and have told. him of the title which it gave him to my
future services, although my present situation affords
me no means of showing him more than common kind-
ness.

I am much honoured by Lord Stormont’s, remem-
brance of me, and beg the favour of your Lordship
when you see him, to assure him of mine, with my
sjncere wishes for his prosperity. I beg leave in this
place to add my respects to Lady Mansfield * * *
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CHAPTER 1I,
Decision of the Court of Directors—Its effect on Mr. Hastings—His
Letters.

ALv this while the rival factions in the Supreme
Council at Bengal were anticipating with much
anxiety the arrival of despatches which should
contain the decision of the Court of Directors on
the questions at issue between them. The tone of
Mr. Hastings’s letters will indeed have shown that
he at least entertained no very sanguine antici-
pations of a triumph. He knew enough of the
constitution of the Court to be aware that they
would take little interest, as a body, in any measure
which had no other object in view than the adapta-
fion of the machinery of the Government under
which they lived to the wants and wishes of the
people of India. 'Wherefore, though he remem-
bered that the Court had repeatedly thanked him
for reports which contained, among other things, an
assurance of increasing revenues and diminishing
expenditure—he anticipated no such results on an
occasion when the utmost amount of good which
he found himself in a condition to prognosticate
was, the gradual prosperity of the provinces over
which he held sway, and its necessary results—a
sure but slow accession to the Company's re-
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sources. Moreover, there was a secret conviction
on his mind, that such men as Clavering, Monson
and Francis never would have been joined with
him in working out the experiment of a new
syﬁtem of administration, had there been, on the
parts of those with whom the power of choice lay,
any disposition to be guided by his judgment. His
‘afxticipations, therefore, of support from the Court
of Directors were never very sanguine. But to
Lord North he did look, as, all things considered,
he bad a right to do, for support. It was at
Lord North’s suggestion that his name had been
introduced into the list of those to whom, for the
first time, the government of India was by Act of
Parliament entrusted. From Lord North he had
received every encouragement fo communicate
freely with the King’s minister; by Lord North,
be had been exhorted to bear with patience every
little annoyance to which the inexperience or
prejudices of his colleagues might subject him ; on
Lord North, therefore, he relied, with perfect con-
fidence, for the vindication of his policy and good
name from the calumnies with which both were
assailed. It will be seen by and bye, that whatever
might be the soundness of his judgment in the
former of these cases, the hopes which he encou-
raged from a consideration of the latter were
sbundantly unreal. DMeanwhile the following well
deserves perusal, -not only because of the review
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which it takesof the general state of the country at
the moment, but because of the insight which it
gives us into the workings of a great mind,
barassed by many troubles and labouring under
much anxiety.

To Lavagnce SuLivan, Req.
Fort William, 21st March, 1776,

Dear Sir,—Whatever cause may have heretofore
intervened to prevent the decision from being passed
on me and my opponents, so many alarming circum-
stances have lately occurred to show the absolute
necessity of putting a speedy end to the disorders of
this government, that I think it impossible for them to
suffer it to remain longer in a state of distraction.
The remedy may be administered when the evil is
past cure.

The provinces of Bengal enjoy peace, but no mea-
sures are taken for ensuring it; none for the preven-
tion of its internal disorders; none of any kind what-
soever, but such as are calculated to intimidate those
who have ever looked to me for protection, or to repeal
or render abortive those of my administration. Bitter
complaints have been reiterated in all the letters of the
majority, that the rents were overrated in the last set-
tlement, yet they reproach me with not having realized
it, and refuse to allow of the smallest deduction or
T ion in the re Complaints are heard only
against myself, or others, through whom they may be
converted by implication to charges against me; and
every decision even on matters in which it is commonly
esteemed the most dishonourable to admit of a per-
sonal bias, has been dictated solely by the spirit of
party. The Dewanny Courte of Justice faintly exist,
but without any control; the Sudder Dewanny, or
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Court of Appeals, which served as a check and a guard
on the rest, having been long since formally abolished.
The Foujdarry, or Criminal Courts, which formerly
depended on myself, have scarce dared to act since the
arrival of the new members of the Council; and the
whole province is at this time, even to the boundaries
of Calcutta, a prey to decoits. This evil will, I hope,
receive some alleviation from the care of Mahommed
Reza Cawn, to whom the charge of maintaining the
peace of the country, and the superintendence of the
Courts of Criminal Justice, has been committed. But
his authority is feeble; and though he has been in_
possession of it these five months, its effects have not
yet appeared. He looks, as others do, to a period of
tranquillity. With his appointment, which is expressly
against the orders of the Company, the Nabob was

. declared sovercign of the provinces, and possessed of
all the rights of the Nizimut, that is, the exclusive
pover of administering justice in criminal cases, of
appointing guards for the protection of the country,
and of punishing all violators of the peace; that is to
say, in other words, he is the present instrument of the
majority, in the hands of Mahommed Reza Cawn, to
execute any violence which they may dictate unsecen;
and armed by their public and repeated dcclarations
with rights that will enable him to assume an uncon-
trolled rule for his own behalf, as soon as he shall have
spirit to assert them.

It is a little extraordinary that every measure which
was taken in the course of my government, though
generally approved, has been either repealed, or means
taken to render it of no effect, without an attempt
to introduce any other system in its stead. Nothing,
say they, can now save the country from ruinm, but to
replace Mahommed Reza Cawn in the authority which
1 took out of his hands by the orders of the Court of
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Directors, and to restore the charge of the collections
to supervisors. These measures are even recommended
in a plan which Mr. Francis sent by the last ship to
the Court of Directors for the new settlement, and why,
I cannot conceive, unless it be for the sake of loading
me with reproach for having removed both. The
maxims which I laid down for my conduet, and by
which it was invariably guided, were these :—First,
to implant the authority of the Company, and the
sovereignty of Great Britain, in the constitation of this
country. Secondly, to abolish all secret influence, and
make the gover t itself ible for all mea-
sures, by making them all pass by its avowed authority.
Thirdly, to remove all impediments which prevented
the complaint of the ,‘ from reaching the ears of
the sup istration, or establmhed an inde-
pendent despotism in its agents. Fourthly, to relieve
the reiats from oppressive taxes. Fifthly, to introduce
a regular system of justice and protection into the
country. Sixthly, to relieve the distresses of the
Cowpany at home—you know how great they were—
and pay off their heary debts here, by a uniform and
regular mode of collecting their rents, by savings in
expenses, and by foreign acquisitions of wealth. And
lastly, to extend the political infl of the Company
withont enlarging their territory or dividing their mili-
tary strength.
I need not repeat the means which were used to
a:eomphsh these ends. The present government has
d on principles diametrically opposite to mine.
I-'irst, they bave broken all the arrangements which I
made in the Nabob's family in 1772; replaced Mah-
ommed Reza Cawn ; restored the office of Naib Suba;
dismissed the Begum from her office, which I had
assigned her for the express and sole purpose of
guarding the Company’s suthority against encroach-
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ment or competition ; publicly proclaimed the Nabob’s
sovereignty, and disclaimed that of the Company.
Secondly, they have made their own power uncon-
trolled, and contrived to preclude its operations from
public view, by the pretended independency granted
to Mahommed Reza Cawn. Thirdly, they have abo-
lished, or rendered of no effect, all the courts of
justice, and avow their intentions of restoring the col-
leetorships. Fourthly, they exclaim against me for
overcharging the revenue, though I (I mean, whenever
I speak of myself, the late administration) struck off
every oppressive article of it, and let the lands on lower
terms than the jumna of former years, but such only
as the lands, under favourable circumstances, might
very well bear, allowing for accidents of drought and
inundation, which might entitle the farmers to indul-
gences. These indulgences, whenever they could prove
their title to them, I always granted. The majority
allow of mone; but while they declare the reiats
oppressed, refuse to consent to a single remission
which might relieve them. One instance may serve to
show the spirit with which they conduct themselves on
this occasion. Rajah Cheyton Sing, the zemindar of
Bissenpoor, had a writ out against him for a debt. He
was actually in the charge of the sheriff's officer. To
prevent his being brought in that disgraceful state to
Calcutta, or being thrown into gaol, I obtained an
order from the under-sheriff for his present discharge,
offering myself as the security for his appearance in
Calcutta. As soon as the Board met, I informed them
of what I had done, and recommended to them to take
the Rajah under the protection of the Board, and to
assist him in his suit, as this was the first instance;
and the decision of it, if favourable to the zemindar,
by declaring him exempted from the jurisdiction of
the court, would serve as a precedent in all simil




32 MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS.

cases. They rejected my proposal; said that, as I had
bailed the zemindar without any authority from the
Board, I must stand to the consequences; that they
would not intcrfere, but lct the law take its course,
that the Company might sce what dangerous strides
the Supreme Court were taking to assume an absolute
power over the country. Sixthly, they have branded
the suspension of the King's tribute with the appella-
tion of violation of public faith; they have called the
cession of Corah the sale of others’ property; they
have called the subsidy which I had fixed with the
Vizier at 210,000 rupecs (and which they have aug-
mented to 260,000 rupees), and the stipulation for the
Rohilla war, a mercenary prostitution of the Com-
pany’s arms for hire; they have paid off a part of the
bounded debt with the means furnished by these acts
of injustice, and now lay claim to the whole merit of it,
though it is impossible for them to produce a single
instance, in the whole period of their administration,
of a rupee saved, or a rupee gained, by any measure
of theirs, except the late acquisition of Benares, ob-
tained at the expense of twice the amount of its yearly
revenue, which the Nabob of Oude owes to the Com-
pany, and which he ean never pay them. Lastly, by
their pernicious interference in the affairs of Bombay,
and by the weakness of their measures in the treaty
with the Nabob of Oude, and their subsequent conduct
to him, they perverted the great controlling powers of
this gover ttoa of contracting the Com-
pany’s influence, and of annihilating every advantage
which the former servants of the Company had secured
for them beyond the limits of Bengal

The distracted state of the province of Oude excecds
description. The Nabob's character you will lcarn
from universal report. His minister, Morteiza Cawn,
is possessed of all his master’s vices, with an ordinary




MEMOIRS. OF WARREN HASTINGS. 33

share of understanding, and is in possession of the coun-
try, with every place of trust and profit in it, The Na-
bob’s finances and resources are totally exhausted. His
troops are disaffected to a man. They have been per-
wmitted to oppose his authority in instances of the most
eriminal disobedience, and the only severity which has
-been ever exercised towards them was in the massacre
of 20,000 of his sepoys (at least Bristow computes the

#10ss at that amount) who mutinied for their pay. This
horrid event passed about a month ago. Happily the
presence of our brigade serves to check the intestine
commotions of his couniry, and he has no present
enemy to throw the materials, which his misconduct
has accumulated for his own destruction, into a blaze.
The smallest spark of foreign troubles will certainly
blow him up. '

I have already been so exceedingly prolix on the
preceding subjects, that I shall be more concise on the
affairs of Bombay. Mr. Taylor* tells me that ho has
already written o you a very minute detail of all the
transactions both of that government and of this in re-
lation to the Mahratta war. I 'shall, therefore, chiefly
dwell on my own part in it.

I have always considered the capture of Salsette as
an act of necessity and of goed policy, nor inconsistent
with the most rigid principles of political justice.

I never approved of the treaty with Ragobah, nor
the precipitate measure of the war undertaken without
a force or treasure to support it, without a plan of con-
duct, and with little necessity and less profit to require
it. But as it is almost impossible to withdraw from a
war before the conclusion of it with honour or safety,
had it rested with me I would have directed them to
prosccute their original design by escorting Ragobah

* The agent sent from Bomboy to protest agninst the abrupt intetvention
of the Bengal Government,

VOL. IL. D
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to Poona, and to get clear of the war as soon as they
could with honour and safety. But I was not in a
situation to dictate, and the language of the majority
was to order the Presidency of Bombay to withdraw
their forces immediately, and without any reservation.
All the good that I could do was by temporizing. I
therefore advised that an order should be sent to with-
draw the army, but I proposed to qualify the order
with the following exceptions:—1st. That the safety
of the troops might be endangered by it. 2nd. That
any decisive advantage had been gained over the
enemy; and, 3rdly, That a negociation had taken place,
In either of these cases I proposed that the order
should not-have effect. The majority sdopted the
first exception, but rejected the other two. 1 from the
first advised, and repeatedly urged them to send sup-
plies both of men and money to Bombay, as the only
means of commanding a peace or enabling the gentle-
men of Bombay to renew the war with advantage. In
this opinion I was supported by Mr. Barwell. The
war is now renewed, as might have been expected, at
a season in which it is impossible to assist them either
with men or money. We have, indeed, sent them eighty
men and five lacs of rupees, but the ships which carry
these little aids are not yet gone, nor can possibly ar-
rive before the rains. We have given them permission
to draw upon us for five lacs more.

If the decided union of the English in every part of
India with Ragobah should establish his credit, and give
partizans to his canse, which is not unlikely, and if the
war is well conducted, it is most probable that it will
be loded in this paign; and if it is, you will
certainly hear of it before you receive this letter. If
you do not hear of it, you may conclude that the war
is protracted to the next season, and I think the issue
of it will then depend on Bengal, and will require all
its exertion.
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Such as I have described it is the present state of
this government, and I presume that it is unnecessary
to add other proofs of the necessity of deciding the
authority which shall rule it, and apply the remedies
to 80 many eomplicated disorders. I do not believe
that any part of the conduct of General Clavering,
Colonel Monson, and Mr. Francis, or any proofs that
they have given of their integrity or abilities, will
operate to my prejudice, or recommend ‘them for the
charge of such a state. Nevertheless, even a deter-
mination in their favour would be better than to leave
things as they are, for while every proposition which
comes before the Board of whatever nature receives
the tincture of party, even the absolute authority
which they possess must prove insufficient to conduct
them with consistency through their own measures or
designs.

My respectable friend, Sir Elijah, has undertaken
to give my plan for the better administration of jus-
tice, which went by the last ship, and which I hope
you have read, the form of an act of parliament, and L
hope he will be able to complete it in time for it to go
by this packet. All the judges approve of it, and I
iike it myself, which is not always the case with my
own productions. I cannot wish to deceive you, and
you will think better of me than to suspect me of en-
deavouring to make you the instrument of deceiving
others. With this preface I assure you that it is scarce
possible to have acted with more moderation or caution
than Sir Elijah has observed in all cases in which the
ordinary process of the Supreme Court was likely to
affect the collection and management of the public re-
venue. Indeed the other judges merit the same testi-
mony in their favour. Had a cordial understanding
subsisted between the Court and the Council, much of
the inconvenience that has arisen from the writs of the

D2
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Court would have been avoided, nor would the revenue
have been in the least affected by them ; but it scems
to have been a maxim of the Board to force the Court
into extremities for the purpose of finding fault with
them. Yet in many cases the acts of the Court have
been, and must continue to be, the unavoidable cause
of embarrassment. This is owing to a defect in its
constitution. By the limitation of its powers it must
ever remain a doubt what is the extent of them, as
every man in the provinces is in reality subjected to
the authority of the Company. If it was constituted
to protect the people from oppression, that design
would be entirely frustrated were the Board at liberty
to employ agents who should be cxempt from its
authority ; and you will have seen many instances in
the papers which 1 have sent home of the most glaring
acts of oppression committed by the Board which
would have produced the ruin of the parties over whom
they were exercised but for the protection of the Court.
Great complaints have been made of zemindars and
others, who are not liable to the jurisdiction of the
Court by the plain construction of the Act, having
been arrested, and some thrown into prison by its
warrants. But no attention has been paid to the ne-
cessity which there is of bringing the persons who are
even excluded by the Act from the jurisdiction of the
Court in the same way before it to establish their
exemption. They may plead to its jurisdiction, and
obtain their discharge; but till this is done, I eannot
see how it is possible to make the distinction, for if
every man who declared himself to be no British sub-
ject, nor employed by any, was, in virtue of his own
declaration, fo be exempted from their aathority, all
men would make the plea. Their right to this ex-
emption must be tried to be known, and they must be
compelled to appear, or give bail for their appearance,
that it may be tried.
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The truth is, that a thing done by halves is worse
doue than if it were not done at all. The powers of
the Court must be universal, or it would be better to
repeal them altogether. The attempt to make a dis-
tinction has introduced the most glaring absurdities
and contradictions into the Act which virtually de-
clares the British sovereignty over the provinces even
in the qualifications which are made use of to limit it.
It is declared that the jurisdiction of the Court shall
be exercised over all British subjects, and over all who
are, or ever were, in the employ of British subjects,
that is, over those who are npot British subjects, and
who of course have no relation or dependence on the
British sovereignty which is thus usurped over them.
Even in the most ordinary process of the Court, the
distinction must be broken through or all its acts im-
peded. The issuing of subpcenas to witnesses is as
much an act of authority as warrants of capias, and
the parties on whom they are served must be made
liable to penalties in case of disobedience ; yet it would
be the extreme of absurdity to say that no man should
be compelled to appear as an evidence who was not a
British subject, because it would be impossible in such
a case to administer justice; and it is equally a contra-
diction to say that the persons over whom the autho-
rity of the British law is thus cxercised are not
amenable to it.

I bope that my plan will be found to provide the
most effectual relief against all the imperfections of the
Act as it now stands. On the one hand, it proposes
to give to the Supreme Court an unlimited (but not
exclusive) authority over all; and on the other, it pro-
vides for the administration of justice in all cases to
which its jurisdiction cannot conveniently extend,
without the danger of a compelition with it. In this
coalition of the British judicature with the Dewanny,
the latter will obtain a more steady and confirmed au-
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thority than it has yet ever possessed ; and being open
to the daily inspection and control of the judges, the
Dewanny Courts will acquire a more regular and legal
form than they could have if left to themselves. But
I trust the design will best speak for itself, for it has
at least the merit of simplicity and precision, if it pos-
sesses no other. One only alteration has been made
in it in the draft which Sir Elijah is making for me.
The superintendent of the Court, called Adawlut
Dewanny Zillajaut, who was proposed to be 2 member
of the Provincial Council, as is now the case, holding
that office by rotation, is now proposed to be an inde-
pendent officer (] mean independent of the Provincial
Council), and to be removable only for misconduct or
by voluntary resignation; and he is to be the judge of
all causes that do not immediately regard the revenues
(as disputes between farmers, and other proprietors or
agents of the collections), which are left to the Pro-
vincial Councils.

Mem —The Superintendent at present holds his
office in monthly rotation. My plan lengthens it to a
year. Mr. Chambers, on the same grounds, suggested
the propriety of making it perpetual, and to be held
by a person not a member of the Provincial Council,
which I immediately adopted, the chief justice con-
curring in the same opinion.

There is one point which mwakes me dread exceed-
ingly the bad effects of a longer continuance of the
Present scene of disorder. The five years' settlement
expires in March, 1777. Many previous arrangements
ought to be made eome time before the new seftlement
takes place. 1 would, had I power, begin them now.
But nothing ean be done by the present government,
which has no principle but that of faction to guide it,
and God help this country if it is decided that it shall
be left to such rulers.

I have already made my letter of so enormous a
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size, that T ought in conscience to put an end to it;
but I have been long used to treat you as the confi:
dential repository of my thoughts as they flow warm
from my imagination in their natural order, and with-
out correction or reserve, and I have one matter still
remaining which is too nearly connected with my own
feelings to be suppressed.

I had lately occasion to look over my letters, which
were written before the new government ook place, to
the Court of Directors, and other papers which were
written before that period either in recommendation of
my own measures, or in refutation of the objections
which were made to them. I was struck with the con-
trast of my own mode of conduct with that of General
Clavering and his associates in a more steady adherence
to onme priuciple than I myself had ever before
suspected, having conformed to it more from the pre-
vailing bent of my own disposition, than from attention
to it as a fixed rule of action.

I believe it will be admitted that the government
of Bengal never underwent a greater number of variety
of changes in all its departments than in the short
interval of time in which I presided in it. It seems
almost & necessary consequence that new measures
imply that the old are wrong, and of course the authors
of them deficient either in integrity, ability, or atten-
tion. What a field for personal obloquy was this for
a man whose feclings might be wounded by the per-
sonal successes of men wealthier than himself, or
whose spirit could descend to undermine the reputa-
tions of others for the sake of building his own on
their ruins !

It is with a pride of beart, in which, if I know yours,
it will join, that I can now declare that in all the time
which 1 have been speaking of, I never, either in my
public minutes or letters, or in my separate addresses



40 MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS.

to the Court of Directors, or their Sccret Committec,
to whom I could have written what I pleased without
the hazard of a reply from those whose conduct I
might have impeached; nor, I verily belicve, in any
part of my private correspondence, made use of any
argument or assertion which could be imputed to me
as proceeding from the least personal ill-will to any of
my predecessors, or present opponents in the service.
1 do not remember that I had ever occasion to make
use of the names of either Mr. Cartier, Mr. Verelst,
or even Lord Clive; or thatin the heat of contest
(and I have at times had strong provocation), I ever
suffered my pen to express so great a degree of warmth
against any man as I have shown (and that never with
intemperance, at least I hope not) in private expla-
nations. Sir Robert Barker, Graham, and Barwell
are instances of this. These gentlemen might find
much cause to be pleased with what 1 have wrilten
unknown to them, but none (I am sure) to complain
that I have ever used their names to their discredit.

My conduct to the inferior servants of the Company
has been marked with the same moderation. Many
sources of profit were shut up, and strict rules made
for contingent disbursements, which at one time ren-
dered me very unpopular; but I am told that those
who were most offended at these restraints now do me
the justice to acknowledge their necessity, and to
testify that in enforcing them, I never suffered myself
to be biassed by partiality or prejudice to any man.

Many of my letters to the Company, and many of 2
private nature, but addressed to persons of high rank,
or great influence, have treated of the disorders and
irregularities of the service, but these I bave always
attributed (as in my heart I still do) to a defective
constitation, not to a depravity of principle in the
servants of the Company.
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To conclude, whatever may be the lot perhaps al-
ready assigned me, I am certain that if ever I am com-
pelled to submit my conduct to the public, my character
will stand as fajr in their eyes, and my integrity as
unblemished as those of any man who ever served the
Company, though in abilities I may bave been ex-
cceded by many—I am with- the warmest affection
and the truest esteem, dear Sir, your faithful and
most obedient servant. .

P.S.—Since writing the above, all that I have said
about our Mahratta negociations is rendered of no con-
sequence. The declaration of the Poona ministers
proved to be a mere bravado. By a letter since re-
ceived from Colonel Upton, dated 24th February, we
are informed, that they have asscnted to the treaty
with all the conditions which he required of them,
which amount to little more than, that we shall keep
Salsette, which we have got, and they Bassein which we
could not take; I am too much hurried to give you
the particilars, I have written to Mr. Ellioit fully
upon them, and he will show you my letter. I have
taken much pains to temper the severity of our
Board, in their letters to Bombay ; and Mr. Taylor, if
he has done me justice, will have told you, that he has
profited by my advice. You long ago knew my wish
to see a control given to this government over the
other Presidencies, but I never meant such a control
as is now exercised; nor did the Parliament mean it.
The Act gives us a mere negative power, and no more.
It says the other presidencies shall not make war nor
treatics without the sanction of this government, but
carcfully guards against every expression which can
imply a power to dictate what the other presidencies
shall do; much less does it authorize the Governor-
general and Council to make cessions and exchange
places for the other presidencies. Instead of uniting
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all the powers of India, all the use we have hitherto
made of this Act of Parliament has been to tease and
embarrass.

It will be gathered from the tone of this letter,
that Mr. Hastings, however desirous of a speedy
determination of the-point in dispute between his
rivals and himself, was not without misgivings as
to the result. He felt, indeed, how a due regard
to consistency and their own interests ought to
operate with his employers; yet he hardly dared
to anticipate at their hands an open avowal of the
right. But he was certainly not prepared for
such a decision as that which was conveyed in the
Court’s Despatch of the 18th of December. An
unqualified condemnation of measures which had
been over and over again approved, a sweeping
censure upon proceedings, of which they who
blamed, scrupled not to appropriate the benefits;
—this was a direct ranging of themselves on the
side of the majority, to which, even from the Court
of Directors, he had not looked. 1 should need-
lessly swell the bulk of these volumes, were I to
insert here the substance of a document which has
long ago become a portion of history. But of the
effect produced by it on the feelings and deter-
minations of the Governor-general I am bound to
give an account; and the reader will, I think,
agree with me in thinking that this ohject cannot
be more effectually attained than by permitting
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Mr. Hastings to speak for himself. The following
is addressed to his friend and agent Colonel
MacLeane, of whom notice has already been taken,
and of whom I shall have occasion to say more by
and bye.

Fort William, 14th July, 1776,

My dear Friend,—No words can do justice to the
pense which I entertain of the uncommon zeal which
you have manifested in the support of my reputation
and interest. Accept of my thauks, and judge from
the generosity of your own heart of the grateful warmth
with which they are offered from mine. You have
effected as much as it was possible to do under the
many difficulties which you have had to surmount. I
can forgive Lord North for endeavouring to protract
the decision on my fate, overwhelmed as he was with
other troubles, which must have employed all his
power and great ebilities to extricate him from them.
Yet I cannot excuse him for suffering such unmerited
censure to be publicly passed upon my conduct, espe-
cially in one instance in which he knew that I had
acted with propriety. The letter from the Court of
Directors is the most partial that ever bore their seal.
It is replete with the grossest adulation to the ma-
jority, and of as gross abuse to me, which is conveyed
even in the language of my opponents. But I regard
it not. 1If those who penned the letter hope by it to
provoke me to give up the battle, they have erred most
miserably. Though ruin or death should attend it, I
will wait the event, and if I must fall, I will not be
the instrument of my own defeat by anticipating it,
unless my friends at home shall all join in advising it,
and I shall be at the same time convinced of the pro-
priety of a retreat. Hitherto I have acted the part
of strict fidelity to my employers, although not the
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most political. I have led and laboriously promoted
the current business; and, where my opinion has not
prevailed, have patiently adopted theirs for the sake
of despatch, from a conviction that even wrong move-
ments are preferable to inaction, which is the death of
public affairs. There are instances in the foul minutes
of the public secretaries of resolutions which have been
dictated and erased, till by successive trials I have been
able to combine the loose and incongruous opinions
of the other members into a form which they might
all approve, though foreign from my own; and when
this has failed, I have, as the last remedy, stated the
subject before the Board in a formal proposition to
bring it to an issue. I have explained my conduct in
this part of it, because I hear that, among the private
charges which are whispered against me, one is, that
I have endeavoured to obstruct and embarrass the
current business. This is an assertion that will casily
gain credit, because it agrees with the obvious and
common cffccts of party divisions ; but you may refute
it by an appeal to the consultations, which will prove
abundantly that I have given despatch to business,
and these men only have obstructed it. However 1
may have erred in this against the principle of dis-
cretion, the public ought to allow me a merit in it;
for it certainly was in my power by a very regular and
justifiable policy, justifiable I mean by the strict forms
of the service, to have thrown every thing into the
most inextricable confusion. This line I shall still
proceed in, for both public and private mandates con-
tain the strongest injunctions of peace, which I will not
be the first to break. But as the tempers with which
1 am associated were not formed for harmony, the
present calm cannot be of long duration, and I am
afraid I shail be compelled to adopt a different policy,
and to leave the whole responsibility of all measures



MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS. 45

on those who are the real authors of them, for it is
impossible for the present constitution and state of
government to subsist much longer without irretricvable
ruin. 1 dread the return of the fair season. The
province of Oude has been long ripe for destruction.
I dare not trust the description of it to this letter.

At Bombay the hands of the Governor and
Council have been tied by the Government of Bengal,
and loosened by the Court of Directors, who have
éonfirmed the treaty made with Ragobah, and ordered it
1o be supported by the forces of all the three pre-
sidencies, although they were early apprized of the
measures taken from hence to annul it, and might
have foreseen what has actually come to pass, that a
treaty has been since concluded by the Governor-
general and Council with the very state which their
present orders enjoin us to treat as an enemy. In their
general letter to Bombay, dated 12th April, 1775, they
declare their disapprobation of the resolution expressed
by that presidency to take possession of Salsette by
force, and positively prohibit them from « attempting it
under any circumstances whatever,”—a favourite expres-
sion. In their genecral letter to us by the Greenwich,
they say, “ We approve, under every circumstance, of
the keeping of all territories and possessions ceded to
tho Company by the treaty concluded with Ragobah,”
and direct us  forthwith to adopt such measures as
may be necessary for their preservation and defence.”
Yet they knew that Salsette, the capital of these
territories and possessions, had been taken by force,
before any trenty existed that could give them a right
to it. It is remarkable, too, that in the same letter
‘they say, “We ulterly disapprove- and condemn
offensive wars, distinguishing however between offen-
sive measures unnecessarily undertaken with a view to
pecuniary advantages, and those which the proservation
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of our honour, or the protection or safety of our pos-
sessions, may render absolutely necessary.” In the
next paragraph, they applaud the majority for their
attention to this principle, forbid with the most positive
expressions 2 deviation from it, « for (say they) the
prospect of any advantages, howeret alluring, can in
no wise be adequate to the pe q
which must result from e opl of disobedience to
our orders.” And what is the treaty of Surn, with all
its antecedent and but &
series of offensive measures undertaken with a view to
pecuniary advantages, and in direct contradiction to
their orders? Of their necessity or expediency I say
nothing. We have repeated our commands to Bombay
.to adhere to our treaty, and uniess ] am greatly de-
ceived in my opinion of the temper and di ions
of the gentlemen of that presidency, they will  break it
and renew the war as soon as they are furnished with
the authority of the Court of Directors for it; and a
wonderful acene of intricacies we shall have opened
between us.

Of Fort St. George I say nothing ; you will hear all
from better authority. They seem not to require our
aid to throw them into disorder.

I wait impatiently to hear of the Northumberland's
arrival, and of the effect produced by ber despatches.
On these I depend as the crisis of my futare fortune,
and hope they will have been effectual either to the
restoration of my authority or to my reeall, for the
latter will be preferable to my continuance in my pre-
sent state.

I shall not acquiesce in the of the Court of
Directors, not even as they stand qualified by the reso-
lations of the general court, but intend to make a very
full reply to the general letter. I shall never depart
from the duties of submission and respeet to my supe-




MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS. 47

riors ; but I will not acknowledge the justice of their
strictures where I think them injurious to my cha-
racter, and contradictory to their own principles and
my own certain knowledge of the integrity of my con-
duct. Do not be surprised, therefore, if you find my
next defence shifted from my opponents in the Council
to the general letter, Their last attack is not worth a
reply.
I can scarce bear with patience the thought that
nother year must pass in contention; but I must
. suppose the worst, and provide as well as I can against
it. I am certain that you will neither suffer to escape
you, nor lightly employ, any advantage which may
occur for ensuring my success; but as you will be
naturally induced to act with caution in matters which
may lead to public contests, lest the event should be
violently terminated against me, I now make it my
request that you will endeavour to obtain a decision in
any way, or by any mode or channel, so that I may be
freed from the state of helplessness and humiliation to
which I have so long submitted, and am still patient to
submit, if an end be not already put to it. It is not
that I want fortitude to persevere, for I am resolved,
whatever happens, to wait for the final issue; but I
see 80 many evils gathering round-me from every
quarter, that if this government is left another year to
anarchy, I may receive the confirmation of my autho-
ity only to suffer misfortunc and dishonour in the
exercise of it; and in such an event I shall gain less
by victory than my enemics would by their defeat.
The five years' settlement of Bengal will expire next
March, and the worst consequences may be appre-
hended both to the Company and to the country from
& new one formed under all the prejudices, and accom-
modated to all the objects, of a faction. In a word,
even now every power of government would be required
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to restore it to order. A few months hence may involve
it in such distractions as may hazard the loss of the
whole. That period may have overtaken it before you
receive this; but I hope for the best, and can only
desire your good offices in obtaining for me such relief
as you can, and when you can, A reconciliation never
can take place. Fire and water may more easily be
united. I think I possess as placable and as pliant a
spirit as most men, but I fecl that it is impossible for
me to be ever on confidential terms with either of these
men. At present I am the link which holds them
together, for I am morally certain that if I were to quit
them, they would break and begin a scene of continual
warfare with each other in less than a month after. 1
see daily and certain proof of this. I wish I bad early
received and followed the advice of Sir Gilbert Elliott.
I am afraid 1 have too often furnished the majority
with arms against myself by observing a contrary rule.
No part of your letter has given me so much pleasure
as the information of his disposition towards me. It
will have prepared him to reccive with greater appro-
bation the event of his son’s return. I shall never
forgive mysclf for having consented to it, if he is dis-
pleased with it ; and yet I am sure that it was placing
my friend Elliott"in a point of view so conspicuous, that
perhaps another opportunity might not have occurred
in the course of his life to make his abilities equally
koown to the public, nor equally useful. But I will
not entertain a doubt on the subject. It was alaudable
measure ; it will be received as such, and it will prove
successful in every way. 1 do not despair of secing
him yet with your namesake. I am proud to find the
name of Lord Mansfield amongst my warmest friends,
and pleased that I paid my eourt to him at a time
when 1 could be least suspected of having been in-
fluenced by interested motives, or by any worse than
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the gratification of my own pride, which implied at
least that I held his character in the highest venera-
tion. He will have scen in the behaviour of J. Fowke,
during his trial last year (if his curiosity should have
led him so far), the strong features of an old acquaint-
ance, for I am told that he was as intemperate on an
oceasion, which terminated not much to his credit,
before the Court of King’s Bench, as he was latoly
before the Supreme Court of Bengal.

Your letter contains so lively and well drawn a
picture of the state of affairs at home, that I find it a
useful clue to enable me to draw conclusions from
other circumstances, and from the events which have
occurred since it was written. It has also had one
good effect, in arming me with a most stoical indif-
ference for the anathemas of the general letter.
Fraucis calls the last (which is most illiberal towards
ne) a brutum fulmen; and the absurdity of the ex-
hortation with which it concluded so struck the fancy
of every member of the Board when it was read, that
they all at once burst out into a loud and hearty
laugh, the only symptom of unanimity (which the
letter recommended) that I have seen in that assembly
these two years. Every one is, or affects to be, dis-
pleased with it. I expect the next to contain a con-
demnation of my doctrine of the right of the Governor
to dissolve the meetings of the Council. For my con-
solation, and unluckily for themselves, they assign
reasons for their censures, and those generally inconse-
quent, from a gross ignorance of the subject. Mr.
Graham will smile at the woeful blundering which is
made in the general letter about the salt balances and
Ridgely contracts, two subjects as different as day and
night, which they have mistaken for one, and discussed
it with all the subtlety and caution of a Hebrew
comnmentator,

VOL. IIL E
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I grieve that the Chief Justice's Bill did not go
home eighteen months ago. My diffidence of my own
ability on a subject so remote from all my occupations,
deterred me from attempting anything of the kind;
and I found, when I seriously pressed Sir Elijah upon
the subject, that he was withheld from it by the want
of local experience, and had expected me to form the
plan of a judicial establishment for the whole country.
How we missed the knowledge of each other’s senti-
ments on such a subject, and with a daily communica-
tion, I know not. As soon as I knew bis, I instantly
set about it. My plan was written on the eve of the
close of one packet, and his Bill, from similar causes,
and from sickness, was begun and finished during the
despatch of another. These circumstances I mention
as excuses for any errors or indiscretions which may
be discovered in them. By indiscretions I mean pro-
positions which are right in themselves, but wrong
from the season. Such possibly may be the prelimi-
nary article of both, namely, that the British sove-
reignty shall be diffused equally throughout all the
provinces. The touchy temper of the times may inter-
pret this into a surrender of the Company's rights, and
such a construction has actaally been put upon it ; and
how can I convince those who will not read, or, if they
read, wrest words to their contrary meaning? The
words of my plan are,— and the British sovereignty,
through whatever channels it may pass into these pro-
vinces, should be all in all” The sentence which I
have marked with a dotted line was purposely inserted
to prevent a misconstruction, and to obviate the idea
of an intention to recommend the conversion of the
territorial possessions of Bengal to the King's pro-
perty. The plain meaning is, that as former charters
were confined to the Company’s actual possessions, that
is, to Calcutta and the subordinate factories, so the new
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charter should extend to the Company’s actual pos-
sessions, i. e. to all Bengal. 'The British sovereignty
has always existed in Calcutta, nor have the Com-
pany’s rights been affected by it. Let all Bengal be
Calcutta, and the British sovereignty in like manner
subsist throughout ; the Company's rights will subsist
"also ‘equally unimpaired, if nothing more is done to
infringe them. But the majority, in their critique upon
this performance, quote my words, with the omission
of the explanatory part of them, for the purpose of draw-
ing the anger of the Court of Directors upon me for
proposing the surrender of their rights, which I care-
fully guarded against.

In the preface to the Bill, the like proposition is
made in more pointed and precise terms, and a saving
clause is added in favour of the rights of the Company.
Yet it has been suggested to me that offence will be
taken at both. X cannot think it; but though I can-
not prevent such a conclusion, I shall still be desirous
of effacing the impression made by it, though late,
and therefore I have been so circumstantial in this
vindication of my intentions.

E2
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CHAPTER III.
Proceedings in England—Hostility and double dealing of Lord North's
Government—Conduct of the Di and the Propri Colouel
MacLeane’s Correspondence.

Tavus far we have traced the career of Mr. Hast-
ings as that of a public man, who, in the execu-
tion of what he believes to be his duty, has many
and grave difficulties to surmount. Under the
ancient form of administration these were, indeed,
of no very extraordinary nature. He found his
province embarrassed ; he attributed the embar-
rassments under which it laboured to mistakes in
the system on which his predecessors had acted ;
he exerted himself to remedy these mistakes, and
he was to a remarkable degree successful. A
change took place in the constitution of the go-
vernment, and he found himself associated with
men who, having no local knowledge nor experience
to direct them had yet projects of their own to work
out, one of which undoubtedly was to bring dis-
credit on the whole system of the Company’s ad-
ministration, and by so doing to prepare the public
mind for a transference of the territorial sove-
reignty of India from the chartered body by whom
it had heretofore been wielded, to the Crown.
From first to last Mr. Hastings had just cause to
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complain, that on all hands, and by all parties, he
was very unfairly dealt with. Though nominated
by the King’s minister to fill the highest office in
the new government, no intimation was given to
him of that minister's wishes ; which, on the con~
trary, seemed to aim at nothing more, than that
he should continue to act with the wisdom and
‘the vigour which had hitherto characterized his
proceedings. Meanwhile his Council was so con-
stituted, that the parties, entrusted with the real
designs of the Cabinet, were enabled always to
command a majority, In the Court of Directors,
likewise, the influence of Government was em-
ployed to form a party pledged to support that
majority ; not so much through any feeling per-
sonally hostile to Mr. Hastings, as because Lord
North had bis own ends to serve. ~Accordingly
at the moment when Mr. Robinson, Lord North’s
secretary, was encouraging Mr. Hastings to hold
his ground, Lord North was prompting his friends
in the Direction to heap censures upon their’ Go-
vernor ; every charge brought against whom told
likewise against the authorities under which he
acted, and more and more paved the way for the
sentence which should in due time go forth for
their overthrow.

It will be borne in mind, that at a period when
his difficulties bad risen to their height, when not
bimself slone, but his friends and dependents,
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were driven from their employments and accused
of crimes the least flagrant of which, if perpe-
trated, must have excluded them from the society
of honest men, Mr. Hastings, apprehensive on
various accounts that the main-spring of all this
hostility lay deeper than the breasts of his col-
leagues at Calcutta, determined on sending to.
England certain trustworthy agents, who might
watch over his honour rather than his interests,
and save him from being crushed, at least with-
out a struggle. For this purpose he made choice
of three gentlemen in particular,—Mr. George
Elliott, the son of Sir Gilbert Elliott, a young
man of rare promise and singularly matured judg-
ment ; of the Honourable James Stuart, one of the
sons of the Earl of Bute, whom, because he was
the Governor’s protégé, the majority had removed
from the chief secretaryship of Bengal; and of
Lieutenant-Colonel MacLeane, to whose noble
exertions and disinterested friendship I am glad
that it has fallen to my 10t to bear testimony.
These, as bas been shown in the course of this
narrative, carried with them full powers to act for
Mr. Hastings as if his cause had been their own,
one restriction only being laid upon them, namely,
that it was his good name, not his station or his
pecuniary resources, of which they were the ap-
pointed guardians.

The proceedings of the majority had been so



MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS. 55

flagrantly unjust, their censures were so sweeping,
and their charges so extravagant, that indignation
appears to have been for a while the only feeling
which they excited in Mr. Hastings's bosom.
Under the strong influence of that feeling he made
up his mind not to continue one hour in office
should their statements be favourably received at
the India House; and he accordingly wrote to
Colonel MacLeane the letter, béaring date March
25, 1775, which I have inserted in its proper
place, and of which the reader has not, I dare say,
forgotten the purport. A little reflection served,
however, to convince him that an abrupt resigna-
tion could not, under such circumstances, redound
to his credit. If he withdrew from public life, in
consequence of any censure passed upon him by
the Court of Directors, he would find it difficult
to convince the world that these censures were not
merited ; he therefore resolved, let come what
would, to retain his place in Bengal, and to trust to
the chapter of accidents and to his own righteous
intentions for an opportunity of proving, sooner or
later, how cruelly he had been maligned. Hence
the second letter, of the 18th of May, by which the
discretionary powers entrusted to Colonel Mac-
Leane are withdrawn ; as well as his often repeated
assurances, addressed to Lord North himself, that
no efforts on the part of his enemies should ever
prevail upon him to take a step which niust be
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followed by consequences fatal to his own honour,
and highly mischievous to the interests of his
employers,

The true nature of that series of transactions,
which led first to the tender by Colonel MacLeane
of Mr. Hastings’s resignation, and subsequently
to the refusal of Mr. Hastings to acknowledge the
authority under which such tender was made, has
never, 1 believe,-up to the present hour, been
brought to light. I am not at all surprised at the
circumstance, for a more discreditable affair to all
concerned, a more shameless case of corruption on
the parts of those high in office, and of venality
and meanness among others of whom they made
use as their tools, has never, I freely confess, come
under my notice. Indeed, so gross is the whole
job, so dark the shade which it throws on the
memory of more than one illustrious individual,
that were not proofs of delinquencies in high
places before me such as I find myself unable to
controvert, I should be disposed, even as the
biographer of Warren Hastings, to let the matter
rest in the obscurity which has heretofore attended
it. I believe, bowever, that the cause of moral
truth itself requires that such tales should be told.
For though it may be vain to hope that the time
will ever come when statesmen shall go straight
towards the oljjects which they seek to attain, aud
bribery, in some form or another, be repudiated
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as an instrument in the conduct of public affairs,
some check at least may perhaps be imposed
upon all parties if it can be shown, that sooner or
later their delinquencies will come to light. Let
me then place the facts broadly before my reader ;
and lest be should suspect me of an undue bias
either in favour of the great man whose historian
¥ am, or against the parties that opposed him, let
me do so in the words of the highly respectable
-individual, by whom Mr. Hastings's side of the
question was supported throughout.

Colonel MacLeane appears to have reached
England in the winter of 1775. He devoted him-
self, from the hour of bis landing, to the business
which he had undertaken to manage, and in
various letters, some of which have been lost,
while others do not seem worthy of insertion, he
gave an account of the progress of affairs, as from
day to day they went forward. Of the intelligence
thus communicated the substance was shortly this:
—that the minister, availing himself of the hostile
spirit which had dictated the Court’s memorable
letter of the 15th December, made a grand push
1o obtain from the Directors an address to the
Crown for the removal of Messrs. Hastings and
Barwell from their respective stations ; that a meet-
ing of the Directors was held; that the question
was brought forward, and thrown out after a
warm debate, by a considerable majority ; and
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that nothing could exceed the chagrin of Lord
North and his colleagues at the defeat. For their
object was to place General Clavering at the head
of affairs, not only because they anticipated from
his mode of conducting them results every way in
accordance with their own motives, but because
General Clavering’s parliamentary connexions were
powerful ; and it was a point of vital importance
just at that moment to ensure their support
of Lord North's policy. And now I turn for the
further elucidation of this tale to Colonel Mac-
Leane, whose letters I insert at length. They scem
to me to bear upon their face the stamp of truth;
and must, till contradicted on good authority, be
aceepted as a clear vindication of the whole tenor
of Mr. Hastings’s proceedings.

London, 25th June, 1776,

My dear Sir,—My last letter, dated 25th March, and
the few lines I got forward in April, would inform you
of the very hostile intentions of administration towards
you, and of the critical state of your affairs here. But
when I wrote those letters, I had no idea of the very
great lengths it was determined to proceed for yourre-
moval

During the latter part of Mr. Harrison's year as
chairman, every step was taken by administration that
could tend to ensure success when Roberts should be-
come chairman. James was gained over by the pro-
mise of being deputy. He was also promoted to every
thing he could wish in the Trinity House. Six con-
tracts were given to as many directors. Two, as | have
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already mentioned, were promised seats in the Supreme
Council. Many principal proprietors were tampered
with, and the most injurious calumnies industriously
propagated against you. At length, in the first week
of May, it was detcrmined to bring forward again by
surprise, the motion that had been before negatived in
the Court of Directors, for « addressing the Crown to
remove Messrs. Hastings and Barwell from their re-
spective stations in Bengal” I got notice of this
intention about an hour before it was to be carried into
execution. 1 went to the India House, and by accident
met Mr. N. Smith in the lobby. I told him I was glad
I bad met him, because it was but fair I should let him
know that he had signed a very unjustifiable protest,
and that Mr. Hastings's attornies had it in immediate
contemplation to prosecute the three gentlemen in the
Supreme Council for defamation, in which case he and
Mr. Gregory would be subp d as evid Along
conversation ensued, in which he endeavoured to pal-
liate what he had done; but he could not deny that
he had proceeded on partial grounds, taking assertions
for proofs, and entering only into one side of the
question. He said, there were no accusations against
the majority. I denied the fact, asserted that your
letters were full of accusations, but that the best place
for proving whether he had done his duty impartially
as a director, would be in a court of law. The effect
I proposed from this conversation was to give an alarm
in the couit-room, and to gain time for convening your
friends. Luckily at this instant Mr. Sykes came into
the India House, and, as he approved much of the step
I had taken, it gave me courage to proceed. In a few
minutes after Mr. Smith left me, Mr. James threw
himself into my way. He carried me into one of the
committee rooms, and entered into a detail of the
* evils ‘that must attend the continuance of the dis-
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putes of Bengal; that one of the parties must give
way ; that administration could not desert their own
system, they must support the men they had sent out;
that the idea of removing Mr. Hastings for eriminality
was entirely dropt, it was for expediency only that the
motion would be made, and there was a majority of
Dircctors for expediency;” to this he added a great
deal more that I shall not repeat to you. I replied
shortly, that the Directors might act. as they pleascd ;
Mr. Hastings’s friends would take care that the nation
at large should judge who was right and who was
wrong, by a thorough discussion of the matter in &
place where the whole truth must ultimately appear.
The Directors, 1 added, had a great, conscientious, and
responsible trust to execute, and I made no doubt,
when such a question as I now understood came to be
put, they would attend toit, and if they did, I was certain
there could not be a majority; for nothing could be
expedient that was unjust. “ Will you,” sayshe, “see Mr.
Roberts? I wish,” he added, “any expedient could be
fallen upon that would content both parties.” Mr. Ro-
berts came. The same conversation passed over again.
At last Roberts said, “ How can accommodation take
place? 1 replied, « Mr. Hastings desires not to bold
the Governmeut of Bengal on account of its emolu-
ments; he has acquired a moderate, a very moderate
fortune, and he is content ; but he never will part with
his honour. This motion, couch it in what terms you
will, is intended to fix a stigma upon him, and to de-
liver up all his friends into the hands of his enemies.
If fair play is meant, let some honour from the Crown
be conferred apon him, and let the displaced servants
be restored, and all hostilities cease.”” To this Roberts
replied, “ My wishes go along with you; but have you
powers to answer for Mr. Hastings’s compliance if the
terms were granted?” 1 replied 1 would be responsible ;
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and with the more confidence, because I knew M.
Hastings would not hold the government if he did not
receive the most cordial support; but I also knew he
would never relinquish it, but from violence, while any
attempt was made to dishonour him. The conversation
ended in a truce for a week, secrecy on both sides being
promigsed. I did not lose a moment in convening all
your friends. Mr. Pechell readily agreed to take the
lead : I cannot say enough in praise of him and General
Ciillaud. A dircct negociation with Lord North,
through Lord Hyde, now Earl of Clarendon, was pro-
posed by Mr. Pechell, while Mr. Pechell himself and I
should discuss matters with Mr. Robinson and the two
chairs. Lord Hyde readily undertook it: he wrote to
Lord North, but the week passed and he received no
answer. I saw Robineon and the Chairman often. I
thought, till the last, that matters would have been
-accommodated; but I was deceived. The fact is, a
plan is formed for reducing the Company to the simple
transactions of commerce, and for taking possession of
all its territorial rights and acquisitions; and General
Clavering has undertaken the execution of this plan.
The K. is bigoted to him, and will not hear of any
thing that thwarts him. And it seems, nothing short
of your disgrace will satisfy his friends. Unless you
and your friends are given up to his vengeance, ke will
return in the first ship, et magna res mancbit infecta.
In this situation of affairs we considered that we had
nothing to lose by a defeat, we therefore determined to
stand the test of & General Court. Our adversaries
attributed our moderation to apprehensions. They
depended on the vast weight of administration thrown
into their scale, and they made sure of victory. We,
on the other hand, placed our dependence on the voice
of the Company, nay, of the public, which had been so
Joud in your favour; we trusted that the sense of your
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great services could not be so soon obliterated; we
trusted that the real designs of the majority would be
seen through; in short, we put the decision of the
question for your removal to the test of a ballot, which
was taken on the 18th May, and ended in your favour
by a majority of 106. In the Court preceding the
ballot, Mr. Pechell spoke two hours and a quarter on
your merits and those of Mr. Barwell, and the late ad-
ministration. He set the conduct and views of the ma-
jority in their proper light, and carried conviction along
with him. Mr. William Elliott seconded him, and they
were ably supported by numbers of good speakers:
scarcely a man entered the lisis against them. Mr.
Gregory and Mr. Wombwell, among the Directors,
made a feeble attempt: they were silenced by Mr.
Rumbold. Among the Proprietors, mobody spoke
against you except the Solicitor of the Treasury (Mr.
Chamberlayne), and the Index Maker for the Journals
of the House of Commons (Mr. Moore). Mr. Holford,
a Master in Chancery, who has lately veered about,
‘and who seems to act entirely from 2 mean jealousy of
Mr. Pechell, attempted to take a part against you, but
he was immediately silenced. My desire to put you
out of doubt as to the issue of the ballot and the trans-
actions of the General Court has, I perceive, led me
out of the natural course of relation. I have told you
the issue of the ballot before 1 have told how it came
t;;c l])‘e taken. I must entreat your indulgence, and go

At the expiration of the truce, I waited upon the
chairman, at his own house, by appointment: he asked
me the issue of Lord Hyde's good offices: I told him
Lord North either had not time or did not choose to
see him, for he had not yet given him a hearing. Ro-
berts replied, that he lamented it much, “ for the Dj-
rectors must proceed in their own way ; the dissensions
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in Bengal were very detrimental to the affairs of the
Company, and must be put an end to; nay, they had
no choice left, for both parties insisted on a decision
between them, and Government could not, at least
would not, give up their own system.” These few
words were a volume : they could not have been plainer
spoken by Lord North himself. I took my leave with
putting him in mind, that for ten months Mr. Hast-
ings’s friends had given every proof of their moderation.
He had ever been a friend of Government, General
Clavering could not be more so, and it was very unac-
countable that administration should take a part so
very decided for one friend against another. But it
was still a more extraordinary matter if the majority of
the Directors took the same part: for one had served
them long and faithfully; him they sacrificed for
the other, who had never served them in any shape,
but, on the contrary, had shown on every occasion the
utmost contempt and disregard for their orders. The
nation at large must judge between them.

The Court of Directors met a few hours after.
‘Woodhouse, who had been so steady for you till this
day, was absent, either from illness or the pretence of
it. Ispeak tenderly of him, for he still professes that
he would have voted for you in the Court of Directors, .
though he thought himself obliged to support the act
of the Directors at the ballot. Moffat took the same
part, he was lame. Harrison spoke for an hour in the
ablest manner for you; and then, to the surprise of all .
present, concluded, that though he would never ac-
quiesce in your removal for criminality, yet it was ne-
cessary to do it on the ground of expediency. Here
the clue is unravelled. Welbore Ellis had been in a
course of constant visits to Mr. Harrison for some time
before, and, by some ministerial influence that we have
not yet discovered, the three gentlemen that I have
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just mentioned were gained over. They thought the
whole depended upon them, and I am myself surprised
how we have made so successful a stand after their
defection. Just in this situation, Rumbold, who had
hitherto kept his mind pretty much to himself, and
who was suspected, from being so much in the power
of the ministry, took up the cause where Harrison laid
it down. In a longer speech than Harrison’s, he went
over the same ground, recapitulating and praising him
for his arguments, but expressing the utmost astonish-
ment at his lusi Becher ded him ably.
And at length the ballot was taken, and declared from
the chair to be eleven for your removal, ten against it.
This passed at four o'clock, 9th May. Before twelve
that night I got a letter signed, for calling a General
Court, by Mr. Pechell, Palk, Brett, Boulton, Sumner,
Boldero, Motteaux, Bochm, and Lushington, which
letter was delivered in next morning when the Di-
rectors met to confirm the ballot of the preceding day.
The letter disconcerted them much, for it was intended
to carry up the addrees directly, and for the business
to be expedited without a t's delay. Their dis-
appointment at this step was so great, that they de-
bated near two hours whether the Proprietors had any
right by the late Act to interfere. At last, they were
pleased to grant a court; and Mr. Pechell, who de-
livered the letter, with Messrs. Bochm, Brett, and Palk,
brought them to declare that they would not proceed
farther til} the sense of the General Court was known.
The Court met on the 16th, and was exceedingly full.
Forty-nine privy councillors, peers, and men high in
office attended on the part of administration ; t y
letters were sent to almost all the Proprietors, and
Lord Sandwich conducted the operations. Near mid-
night we divided on a question of «adjournment till
next day;” you will not be surprised that this shoal
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of ministers rushing out of court in the moment of
division carried the question against us, at that late
hour, 108 to 97. We demanded the ballot, which was
fixed for Friday the 18th, and carried, against every
effort of administration and the chairs, by the majority
already mentjoned,

A curious incident happened at the ballot. Eleven
gentlemen claimed the honour of having voted for you
‘in the Court of Directors. Manship proposed to make

the matter clear by signing a paper to that purpose.
He began it and was immediately followed by Messrs.
Becher, Cuming, Hall, Rumbold, Wier, Freeman, John
Smith, Savage, Peach,” and Sparkes. This extraordi-
nary affair made and still makes much noise. Roberts
expressed 8o much uneasiness, that the paper has been
burned, but this ouly strengthened the fact.

Sir Gilbert Elliott and his sons came together to the
ballot, and gave in their papers open. Sir Gilbert
took this opportunity of declaring his sentiments
against the violence and injustice of the proceedings
ageinst you; «there were only two places,” he said,
“in which it became him to discuss this matter,—the
India House and the House of Commons,—and he
should take the same line in both.” This has given
great offence to administration. I have never known
them so sore on any defeat. So great a majority
has stunned them. Lord North cannot bear the least
mention of the India House, directors, or proprietors.
He « will have nothing to do with India matters out
of Parliament. The Company must be restrained to
its commerce. Territorial acquisitions are beyond
their abilities to manage, and must be taken from
them without waiting for the expiration of the charter.
For this purpose Parliament must meet before Christ-
mas. In the mean time the proprictors may do what
they please; the more violent and absurd their actions

VOL. 1I. F
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the better.” This is now the language of the minis-
terial party, and they have held it uniformly since
their defeat. They have ever acted conformably to
it; for though we called the quarterly court special,
there was not the least effort made to oppose us. We
did in that court, and can do in the subsequent ones,
just what we please. The enclosed slip mentions the
transactions of that court; and I kept the express till
it and another court to be held to-morrow (on Mr.
Verelst's business) should be over, that you might
receive a true state of your affairs here up to the last
moment we could wait. In all probability I shall have
occasion to despatch another express towards the latter
end of next month; for the Eagle packet is counter-
manded, “there being no intelligence agreeable to the
majority ready to send.”

I need not say how anxious I am that my conduct
here may meet with your approbation. 1 bave kept
your instructions constantly in mind, and have seized
every opportunity to act up to the spirit of them. My
former letters have informed you of the reasons why
we tecommended your continuing steadily in your
station. What was then a matter of choice is now
become a matter of necessity. Your cause is now
become the cause of the Company. Yon stand and
fall together; and this ders any ise now,
should it be offered, very difficult: it will be thought
a dercliction. Nothing but the utmost violence can
effect your fall, and in that case honour.will attend
you.

But before this we have many chances in our favour,
General Clavering, I think, will be so disgusted that
he must retire.  The latter- part of my letter will
explain this. The times may not be suitable for
violenee. 1 know, but dare not say how by this con-
veyance, that the three Secretaries of State arc against
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the measure, and wish Lord North would change his
opinion. T/know also that the Chancellor and Attorney-
General are of the same opinion. Here you would
expect that I should name Lord M. but I have
had my doubts of that quarter for some time past.
Chambers and Dow are his correspondents. Above all,
the affairs of India have gone, and still seem to be
going, so very ill since the demolition of your system,
that I fancy, nay, hope and expect, it will be found

ecessary to restore you to full power, as the only
means of refrieving them. I do not think there is one
independent proprietor against you, The Indians, as
they are called, are also united for you, Walsh. alone
excepted,

As the maxim of your adversarics now is, Give them
rope enough, §c., it behoves us to be doubly circum-
spect. 'The motion intended for the next General
Court on your affairs is, * that all such servants of the
Company as have been dismissed by the Supreme
Council, contrary to the positive printed instructions,
or appointment of the directors, be restored to their
respective offices.” This question can scarcely be
opposed, and, if carried, it must lay the majority flat
on their backs. It will be my care to give you speedy
intelligence of it. We cannot say precisely when this
motion will be made, but most probably about the
middle of July.

Nothing has alarmed me s0 much as the defection
of friends. I live in constant dread of the operation
of loaves and fishes. The danger, I hope, is now
pretty well over. Government are disgusted; they
have reaped no benefit in proportion to the good
things they have given; and those who got nothing
are irritated. ' Old Elliott asked Wheler,  whether,
when he gave his ballot as a director, for the removal
of Messrs, Hastings and Barwell, he did not know that

F 2
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he was intended to succeed one of them? If s0,” says
he, “the act is vitiated and rendered null by your
suffrage.” He got no answer. But Wheler has fallen
into the utmost contempt. He will never be a coun-
sellor. It is hard to say “whether he or Roberts,
Gregory or N. Smith, are fallen lowest in the cstima-
tion of the public. This leads me to an anccdote
which I must not omit. It was thought that Gregory
took his line from Lord Rockingham, and that N.
Smith took hig from Lord Camden; consequently
that both administration and opposition were hostile.
‘Wier told this to Lord Rockingham, and entreated
him to come to the ballot. He did so, and told Gre-
gory that he could not rcconcile his conduct o his
principles or to justice. Gregory has been crest-fallen
ever since. The effort he has made was to attack his
brother protestor, N. Smith, at the last General
Court. He takes his departure for Ireland this week;
1 shall not be sorry if he spends his Christmas there,
though he can do us little more mischicf. Tord
Rockingham’s explanation with him has reduced him
to the mere agent of Nundcomar.

I do not write a separate letter to Mr. Barwell, I
consider you as one; and the harmony and union
between you gives universal satisfaction, and does you
both the utmost honour. 1 write by this conveyance
to nobody else in Bengal

1 will not attempt to tell you now who are the friends
that have stood most steadily by you, nor what they
have done, because to do them justice I should swcll
this letter, even if I had time to do it, beyond the
proper bounds. Poor Graham is, I fear, beyond the
chance of recovery. He is gone to Lisbon. Elliott
has had bad health since his return. He is now better.
His father at first seemed dissatisfied, but Goordass’s
late appointment has set all right again. 1 really
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believe chagrin at the little service he was able to do
you with Lord North, who not only received him very
coldly, but has been very cold to his father ever since,
has had some share in his illness. The only effect this
coldness has had on Sir Gilbert, or is likely to have, is,
that it will make him much more determined. Frederic
Stouart behaves very well. I think his family are, and
will continue, cordial friends. They thought, however,
that we should have been beaten.

In a former letter I complained of Lawrell. Justice
demands that I should tell you he has taken a direct
and warm part for some time past.

Sir Elijah Impey will expect a letter from me. Be
good enough to assure him that I watch over his cause
with the same unremitting care and zeal as over yours.
Intentions were very hostile towards him at first. He
is, I am pretty certain, in no danger. Magna est
lez, et prevalebit.

I have had a long interview with Lord North since
the ballot. It was very curious. I cannot trust it to
this conveyance. But it confirmed, by its purport,
everything I have said in this letter, and a great deal
more.

The defence of Quebec, and the raising of the siege,
have been very gallant., It continued six months.
Carleton and my kinsman have distinguished them-
selves much, and got great honour. Matters did not
go so well in other parts. We were obliged to abandon
Boston in a manner rather precipitate. But as we
have now 40,000 men landed, or about to land, in that
country, I should imagine much may be done for the
entire reduction of America before winter. The system
of Europe continues peaceable though all the powers
have armed. France has lately angmented her army
with 70,000 men, and talks of more. Spain has been
armed some time. Sweden, Russia, Austria, and
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Prussia the same. What all this will end in I believe
none of our politicians know. I am, with the utmost
truth and affection, my dear Sir, your faithful and
obliged humble servant.
London, 10th August, 1776,

P.S.—This letter being returned back to me I have
opened it just to add a short postscript relative to the
conduct of the Directors on the question for rescinding
their former resolution. They thought that, by sepa-
rating Mr. Barwell from you, and putting a question
on him first, they would, by gaining this question, be
enabled to attack you to more advantage. The num-
bers were equal, and fortune decided by lot in favour
of Mr. Barwell. Having lost this, they adjourned the
ballot on you to a future day, and in the interim sent
a case fo all their counsel, whether you were liable to
a prosecution on the charges brought against you.
The opinions of counsel were all agaiust a prosecution
at common law. The Attorney-general’s was manly
and decided in your favour; they had no grounds,”
he said, « for attacking you, unless they chose to file a
Bill in Equity; but before they did that, he submitted
- to them whether that would be a proper return for the
Governor-general’s long and eminent services.” The
Solicitor-general’s was the most unfavourable. The
account of the General Court in the newspapers I send
states this matter at large. When the Directors tock
their ballot, on rescinding the resolution relative to
you, there was a majority of two in your favour. Rum-
bold, Stables, and Moffat distinguished themselves for
you. Rumbold and Harrison tied off in this question,
being obliged to go to Spa. Woodhouse was at Spa
and Gregory in Ireland. Five Directors entered a
protest, much in the language of the former protest,
viz., Roberts, James, Wheler, Tatem, Wombwell, and
Pigou afterwards. ’
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Portsmouth, 10th November, 1778,

My dear Sir,—My despatch of the 25th June (which
lost its passage from Marseilles, by the ships for Cairo
sailing a week sooner than the day mentioned in Mr.
Graham’s letter to me from that place) will inform you
how matters stood here at that time, and for two
months after, without variation. The hostility of
General Clavering’s friends could rise no higher, and

‘pontinued without remiesion. Parliament was an-
nounced to meet in October, principally for India
affairs, and all its terrors held out against‘us. In the
mean time, an appeal was made from the India House
to the public at large, by a paper war conducted under
the immediate orders of the Treasury. This business
was managed by the person employed in it (a M.
Kelly) with the most illiberal scurrility, but with very
little ability; the reply fell to the share of Mr. Pechell
and myself. Our antagonist was silenced, and as soon
as that was effected we let the contest drop; but we
had the last word. Mr. Macpherson (Fingal) was
applied to on this occasion, but he positively refused
to take any part against you; he offered to draw an
impartial state of the case from the papers on both
sides, but this did not suit the purpose of your oppo-
nents. The newspaper attack (which I transmit to
you) being dropped, a pamphlet for the information
of Parliament was prepared for the press under the
same auspices; and we were busy in getting forward
a counter pamphlet on the occasion, when overtures
were made on the part of the administration, which
at first brought on a cessation of hostilities, and ulti-
mately a compromise on the ground of your resigna-
tion, in the manner we had before negociated for when
it was rejected. Before I proceed to a detail of this
business, let me assure you that the same unabating
zeal, and the same tender regard for your honour
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which actuated me in every part of your defence,
stimulated me to profit of the only occasion which
could offer to prevent a dangerous conflict in a place
where we had no support that had the smallest chance
of being effectual, and where the questions of justice
. and right were the very last that would be put. I do
not mention this under the least apprehension that
what we have done will not meet with your full appro-
bation, but because it has occasioned me a torrent of
abuse from men whose views in supporting you were
very different from those of your real friends, and who
would not only sce me break your insiructions with
the utmost indifference, but be very regardless of the
consequences to yourself, provided we could be made
an instrument of their own vicws, At the head of
these stands Mr. George Johnstone, with two or threce
of the Directors.

While I was busy in my little retreat in Essex,
about eighteen miles from London, where 1 had gone
to digest the materials for the pamphlet in your de-
fence, I was surprised by an unexpected visit from
Mr. Elliott, unexpected on account of the motive, an
overture for a renewal of the rejected megociation.
This happened in the beginning of August, a time
that all your friends were in the country, and London
in a manner deserted. The overture was made directly
from Lord North through the channel of Mr. Eden,
the under secrctary of the Northern Department.
This gentleman bas since married Sir Gilbert Elliott’s
daughter, but the courtship had not then commenced.
I knew he was the bosom friend of Mr. Wedderburne,
and therefore I was suspicious that some deep plot lay
under the proffered negociation. I thought it strange
that it did not rather come to me through the medium
of Mr. Robinson with whom I had before negociated,
or to Mr. Pechell through Lord Clarendon. These
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suspicions I imparted to Mr. Elliott. He replicd, that
if there was any foul play intended, it lay deeper than
with Mr. Eden, for his father knew him to be a man
of the strictest honour ; that he himself had lived very
much with him lately, and could not entertain an idea
that he was capable of treachery. We agreed that it
was necessary to be cautious; that I should return with
him directly to town; and that he should inform Mr.
Eden that he still found there was an opening for ne-
gociation, but that a few days would preclude all pos-
sibility of compromise, because we were preparing ma-
terials, and calling to town our friends for a decided
attack on the gentlemen who had been sent out from
England. That this was, in fact, the throwing away
the scabbard, a measure that we were most unwillingly
forced to, having ineffectually tried every conciliatory
method in our power. -

The more I considered the employing of Eden in
this business the more I was at a loss. 1 knew that in
case Mr. Robinson had died when he was ill, Lord
North had determined to take Mr. Eden as his confi-
dential secretary ; but at the same time I saw Robinson
so all-powerful in his department that I could not
suspect he had lost any part of Lord®North's confidence.
A letter T received from Mr. Pechell, then at Wey-
mouth, served to give me some light into this mystery.
It contained a letter from Mr. Woodhouse the director,
then at Spa, to Mr. Pechell, and the answer to it,
which {I was desired to forward after I had read it.
This letter of Woodhouse's bore such strong marks of
the treasury, that I was not a moment at a loss to guess
who dictated it. It convinced me that Lord North
had opened a battery against me through Woodhouse

ducted by Robi , at the same time that he
opened another through Elliott conducted by Eden.
1 communicated my suspicions to Elliots, and he was of
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the same opinion. But neither of us could guess
whether any of the parties knew of this double nego-
ciation except Lord North himself, and on this head
we continued till the very close of the negociation
quite in the dark. Mr. Ellioft saw Eden that very
evening on our return to fown; he communicated to
him my answer, and at the same time told him frankly
the suspicions we both entertained, that a trap was
laid to lull us into security, and to spin out the time
till the meeting of parliament that we might be at-
tacked to ‘greater advantage. The terms in which
Eden replied to this suspicion evidently proved that
he would spurn at so dishonourable a commission, and
if there was anything unfair intended he at least was
not a party in it. The arguments made use of both
by Woodhouse and Eden were exactly the same,
except in one point, which served to confound us, as
in that they differed fofo cwlo. They held out “ the
powers of government, and the absurdity of thinking
we could overturn the administration. The danger of
incurring the resentment of ministry (which never
meant o hurt Mr. Hastings), by pushing matters to
the last extremity. The obligation the minister was
under {o support Kis own system. The indisposition
of the House of Commons to all East Indians, and the
necessity there would be of treating the subject rigor-
ously but summarily there in case we proved obsti-
nate.”’ The point in which they differed was an
h to be bestowed upon you from the Crown.
Mr. Eden set out with saying that nothing of this sort
eould be done on account of the acrimony and violence
with which the contention had been carried on; and
Mr. Woodhouse in direct terms offered to negociate
for an Irish peerage. On mature deliberation Elliott
and 1 (Stuart was not arrived) agreed to return
this answer to Eden: ~ that matters were much
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changed since the first negociation ; that many friends
who had taken a part since that had no right to be
consulted then ; that although Mr. MacLeane had the
ultimate power, yet he had always communicated con-
fidentially with Mr. Hastings’s particular friends, and
therefore it was necessary they should be eonsulted on
the occasion; that in respect of an honour from the
Crown, the same reason which made it necessary to
demand an honour before Mr. Flastings had undergone
he discussion of a General Court rendered it necessary
now to decline it ; before this public discussion it was
the only mark that could be given that no stigma re-
mained on Mr. Hastings for his resignation ; but now
that his constituents had acquitted him in the most
honourable manner, if an honour was granted, the
censorious world would construe it into a bribe for re-
linquishing his station ; that in case a negociation took
place it ought to be conducted on the most liberal
ground ; administration should remember the declara-
tion made by Mr. MacLeane to Lord North on his
arrival, and repeatedly mentioned by him in the India
Courts, which was that Mr. Hastings wished to be
supported as a friend to Government in managing the
great system of the East; but in case he could not
hope for effectual support (for he would not be a
cipher), then he wished to come home a friend to
Government also, because though he was conscious
his own system was better than that adopted, yet any
system was better than & divided system. But above
all things he was determined his question should never
become a question of faction, and he had instructed
Mr. MacLeane accordingly.” When this answer was
delivered by Elliott to Eden, he appointed him to
meet him the day after. When they met, he men-
tioned that *it was lucky the honour from the Crown
was not made a stipulation, because it could not at that
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time be granted : he said it was also lucky no stipula-
tion had been made on Sir E. Impey's account. As to
the necessity of consulting friends, provided it was con-
fined to two or three, there could be no objection, but
administration would never consent to such a promis~
cuous communication of this matter as might endanger
a discovery. He wished earnestly to know the extent
of our demands, and how far they differed from what
had been proposed before.” Mr. Elliott, startled at
the unexpected mention of Sir E. Impey’s name,
broke off the conference under pretence of con-
sulting me, saying “ he would return immediately.”
1 was much alarmed at this because I had intelligence
that the confidential cabinet had determined to super-
sede Sir Elijah ; I was struck with Elliott’s penetration,
which has been conspicuous in all his conduct here,
and we agreed instantly on the following answer,
¢ that we had not presumed to mention Sir Elijah's
name, because we had never conceived him to be s
party in the subject of discussion; but as his name
had been mentioned, it alarmed our fears lest he
should suffer on Mr. Hastings's account, and there-
fore, till we had those fears removed, it would be
highly dishonourable in us to proceed a step further
in the business” These fears were removed, and it
was agreed that I should go down to Mr. Palks in
Devonshire, where Mr. Pechell, General Caillaud, and
Mr. Vansittart were assembled. The outlines were
settled, in which nothing was stipulated for Mr.
Hastings, but every thing for his friends. These out-
lines became afterwards the agr t, and therefore
need not be mentioned here. We also took Mr. Eden’s
word that no delay was intended; that the secret
would be as confidentially kept on the part of admi-
nistration as on ours, and that in case matters were
not settled before the quarterly Court, by which time
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the Directors had pledged themselves to restore Mr.
Stewart, and to do Mr. Playdell justice, then every-
thing was to be understood as broken off, and an
entire end put to any amicable termination of the dis- -
pute. All this passed in the last weeks of August and
the first week of September; the General Court was
fixed for the 25th September.

I set out for Haldon-house, and returned fo town
on the fourth day. I found Mr. Pechell confined to
His bed at Haldon-house ill of a dangerous fever which
threatened his life, and in case of his recovery left us
no hopes of his assistance for months to come. This
was the loss of our right arm in General Courts. We
could not replace him. I forgot to mention that just
before I set out for Mr. Palks, Mr. Stewart arrived,
and approved of all Elliott and I had done. Mr.
Sulivan came up from Tunbridge, and approved also.
There was no man else in town whom I dared to’ con-
sult except Mr. Woodman, who from the first knew,
and approved of everything I did. He cautioned me
not to mention the matter to Mr. Sykes till it should
be nearly concluded, in terms which left me no room
to hesitate. I followed his advice implicitly.

The gentlemen at Mr. Palks approved unanimously
of all that had been done, and the outlines on which
the agreement took place were corrected by Mr. Van--
sittart. I had some doubts whether the honour from
the Crown mijzht not be stipulated for at your return,
but on considering Mr. Vansittart'’s arguments, and
being fully convinced that it will take place, of course
I gave them up., The light thrown on many things
that gave me disquiet, by Mr. Vansittart at this time,
gave me much ease of mind, but determined me, if
possible, not to let the diseussion of the subject come
into parliament. I left Haldon-house with strict and
unanimous injunctions to close the negociation on



73 MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS.

even worse. terms than those agreed to; the deviation
was intrusted to myself and the few friends in town for
the saving of time. Before I got back to town Lord
- North was set out on an excursion to Oxfordshire,
Somersetshire, &c., and did not propose to return be.
fore the 15th September. Eden did not choose “ to
write on the subject ; he, for the first time, expressed
his fears of offending Robinson by meddling with a
business of kis department; be was afraid Lord North
might think his connexion with Sir G. Elliott (for he
had now got his consent to marry his daughter), might
render him partial to the side of Mr. Hastings.” ¥
passed an uneasy time till the 16th, nor did Stewart
and Elliott pass a pleasant one. Poor Stewart had
everything at stake, and Elliott was miserable on
Eden’s account as well as his own. At the same time
his father was hastening to the grave by long strides,
an irreparable blow to our cause. At length Lord
North returned, and Eden acted like a man of honour.
He informed Elliott that *« he had acquainted Lord
North with all that had passed, putting into his hands
a paper containing the heads of an agreement drawn
up, from the paper I brought from Haldon-house, by
Mzr. Ellott in his own hand ; but that Lord North had
given him no answer from whence he could collect
either approbation or disapprobation. He frankly
confessed that he had reason to think Lord North, who
expected daily to have news from America, wished to
avoid giving any answer till he heard from that
quarter.” Mr. Elliott exclaimed against the unfairness
of this proceeding, but Eden exculpated Lord North
by declaring that he did not mean to take any advan-
tage by the delay; and he added that be had put his
Lordship in mind that we considered no anawver as a
denial. Al this time the conferences with Eden were
managed by Elliott, there was no third person; Eden
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and [ met more than once, but we conversed on in-
different matters. In this situation things remained
till the last day on which the Court of Directors met
before the quarterly Court (the 18th). Elliott called
upon me early in the morning, and desired me to take
my own course, for Lord North evaded giving any an-
swer. There was no time for hesitation or further
delay. I went directly to the India House, and desired
to speak to the Chairman. Elliott stayed in one of the
outer rooms. I taxed him abruptly with ¢ breach of
his word, and unfair dealing. Having pledged himself
at the last General Court to restore Mr. Stewart, and
to redress Mr. Playdell, we had, I said, depended upon
his honour, and ceased hostilities; but that it was
clear fair play was not meant us, otherwise he would
not have omitted to call the Court of the 25th special.”
He replied, that “ he would advise Mr. Stewart to let
his affair sleep for some time, and that Mr. Hastinge’s
friends would do well not to push matters to extremi-
ties.” 1 answered, that « we were very ill used, and
my visit to him was meant as an attention due to the
Directors before we procceded to what he was pleased
to call extremities; but which he would find to be only
a demand for a fair and impartial hearing. They had
been pleased to consider the dispute hitherto ez parte,
but by their duty they were bound to hear and deter-
mine upon both sides of the question ; that hitherto we
had contented ourselves with defensive measures; that
these had brought a solemn decision in Mr. Hastings's
favour. Still, however, his persecutors were not satis-
fied, and it became necessary for us now to attack them
in turn, and force a decision on their measures also,
That he, I hoped, would do us the justice to allow, for
no man knew it better, that we had avoided this as
long as we could with any degree of honesty, and if
we went to sleep now we never deserved to awake.”



80 MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS.

He was much agitated, I recalled to his mind our
former friendship, and asked him * whether he would
call the Court special, or oblige me to call it by requi-
sition of nine Proprietors.” He desired me to return
in two hours ; it was then one o’clock. Elliott and 1
returned to the other end of the town. By half-past
one Mr. Eden was sent for to Lord North, who toid
him in words of surprise that Mr. Hastings's friends
had called the General Court special; were we not,
said his Lordship, in negociation? ¢ Yes,” replied
Eden; “butI always told your Lordship that no answer
after the 16th would be considered as a denial, and
consequently a termination of the negociation.” This,
and many other confidential paris of this leiter, T had,
with strict injunctions of secrecy, from Mr. Elliott.
At three o’clock I returned to the India Honse, and
was told by the Chairman that he had communicated
my request to the Court of Directors, who had returned
for answer, that, having no special busincss to transact
at the next quarterly Court, they had determined not
to call it special, but by requisition of nine Proprietors.
I bowed, and retired without reply. It was the answer
1 wished to receive, for we were totally unprepared to
manage a General Court ; they, however, thought the
letter of requisition was ready, and I encouraged that
idea in the secretary’s room where I went to find
Elliott. We retired with heavy hearts, sensible of the
little chance we had to carry any question of violence
against the majority in the Court of Directors, what-
ever chance we might have in a Court of Proprictors.
How to bring our friends together from the distant
parts of the country was the dilemma, and how fo kecp
the discordant branches of our support together when
they were met in a direct attack on administration
was the danger. But we were relieved from this
anxiety in some measure next morning. Whether
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administration thought we were well prepared for the
conflict by the warmth with which we attacked Roberts,
or whether Lord North had no other cause than his
natural indolence and love of procrastination for not
returning an answer, it was thought right to renew
the overtures for a compromise. Mr. Macpherson was -
sent to me on the part of Mr. Robinson to desire an
interview. The message he brought me was curious,
and disclosed that he knew of what had past between
Eden and Elliott but very imperfectly; I afterwards
discovered that he was not informed of it regularly
till he had got scent of it some other way. A meeting
was fixed for the next day, and as he allowed a third
person to be present, I had well founded hopes that it
was now intended to treat and conclude in earnest.
Mr. Macpherson and I went to Mr. Robinson’s coun-
try-house at Sion Hill on the 2]st September. Ile
began by repeating the substance of what Mr. Mac-
_pherson had related to me the day before. I put into
his hand the articles determined upon at Haldon-
house, which I found he had never seen before; and-
whether he was piqued at the attempt to negociate
through any other channel than himself, or was in-
structed to close with us I know not, but he hehaved
with unusual openness, and great caundour, agreeing
with very little opposition to our terms, provided Lord
North and a certain person ratified his agreement.

The terms consisted of five propositions, viz.: —

1. That such servants of the Company as had been
displaced for attachment to Mr. Hastings be restored ;
but, as it is not intended to lay any difficulty on admi-
nistration, the specific offices will not be insisted on,
only adeguate offices.

(John Stewart, Playdell, Nat. Middleton, and Fred.
Stuart, were named under this head.)

2. That some mark of favour from Goverament be

VOL. IIL. G
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conferred on such black servants as have been dis-
missed for the same cause, that they may not appear
disgraced in the eyes of the nalives.

(Rajah-bullub, Cumaul 0’Din, Deleel Roy, and
Gunga Govind-8ing, were specified by name.)

3. That Mr. Hastings’s friends shall on all occa-
sions receive promotion and favour adequate to their
rank in the service and merit, and this to be a point of
honour binding on the majority.

4. That all retrospect and prosecution prior fo the
late Act of Parliament appointing the Supreme Coun-
cil cease and determine; and in case any informer
infringe this article, administration shall give their aid
to quash and defeat it.

5. That Mr. Hastings shall be well received on his
return, vote of thanks promoted if moved for, and no-
body to be displaced.

Mr. Robinson observed « the necessity of keeping
these articles secret, lest opposition should get hold of
them, and attack Lord North in Parliament for col-
lusion, and for stipulations which be could not come to
legally. For this reason he said it would be necessary
to put ostensible answers opposite each head, and
then the paper might be scaled up under both our
seals. What he meant should make no difference in
the essence, for he pledged himself that the entire
secret aid and influence of Government should bo
honourably exerted to fulfil the letter and spirit of the
ageement.” I agreed fo this, there being a witness
present, without hesitation. The paper I will transmit
to you if it takes place, but as I have heard nothing of
it since, and as the Parliament has been met some time
without the mention of India affairs, and with a stronger
majority to support Lord North than he has had since
he was a minister, I imagine they do not think this
comment necessary. The proposed alteration on the
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margin was that where I said, * Government shall
support,” they said, « if the Directors do this, Govern-
ment will not oppose,” and other similar alterations,
or rather terms of assent.

Matters being thus settled, secrecy was enjoined in
the strongest terms. I stipulated for leave to inform
Mr. Sykes and Mr. Sumner, that the gentlemen from
India might know the care that had been taken to
free them and their friends from vexation. The secret
has been wonderfully kept, and opposition” are in
despair that they can find no plausible ground or
handle for attacking what has been done. But to
return: when matters were settled as above with Mr.
Robinson, he said hie would send for the chairman and
deputy and prepare them for a meeting. I saw him
again on the 25th, the day of the quarterly Court,
when we took measures that nothing should pass at
that Court, and that an adjournment sine die should
be carried. The Court met and broke up without any
b being proposed, except a factious proposition

relative to accounts by Mr. Fitzgerald, which bore no
rclation to Bengal matters, and in which he met with
no support. The adjournment sine die was carried.’
Not forty members attended this Court, another proof
that our measures were well timed ; for what with the
thinness of the town on one hand, and the indignation
of the ministry which had been liberally poured forth
upon all those who had supported you on the first
question, and whom they thought they could terrify,
had we been obliged to proceed hostilely at this Court,
we should, I fear, have made but an indifferent figure.
Mr. Stewart atended this Court to declare his being
perfectly satisfied to let his question rest upon the
honour of the Directors, in case they had been attacked
for having omitted to call the Court special, but nobody
taking up that ground, nor indecd any other, there

a2
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was nothing said upon’ your or his subject. I do not
claim any merit for the which attended your
defence farther than zeal and diligence. Many of
your friends equalled me in these, and exceeded me
in abilities; none could in affection. But without
being on the spot, there is no conceiving of what
heterogeneous and unstable materials our majority
was made up, how difficult it was to collect, and how
muoch more difficult to kecp them together. Stewart
and Elliott, who were in the interior of every thing, and
who acted with a zeal and disinterestedness that I
cannot do justice to, are good judges of this maiter.
Stewart, whosc busincss was done to his hand before
his arrival, in a manner that could not be evaded,
would not let it be mentioned or brought forward till
the final settlement of your affairs, lest it should em-
barrass or impede. Elliott would not allow his name
to be mentioned, When the General Court broke up,
I saw Mr. Roberts; he told me that every thing had
been communicated to him and the deputy, and that
they, Mr. Macpherson, and myself were to meet on the
Tuesday following at Mr. Robinson’s house in the
country to take our measures. « For my own part,”
says he, “ I am exceedingly happy at what has passed,
and Mr. Hastings may depend on every exertion in
my power, and on every occasion, that can prove the
sincerity of my wish to serve him ; I have the utmost
respect for his abilities, estecem for his character, and
opinion of his services. But my situation was critical
and emwbarrassing.” The deputy also made the
warmest professions; and bitherto both have acted up
to them. In the interval between Wednesday the
25th September and Tuesday the 8th October, 1 wrote
such an account of what had been done as I could
trust {o the post, to Messrs. Pechell, Palk, Vansittart,
Caillaud, Dupré, Sumper, Lord Clarendon; and 1
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endeavoured to procure an interview from Messrs.
Sykes and Becher; not finding them, I left letters.
But Mr. Sykes was much hurried with business at the
time, and Mr. Becher did not come to town. I wrote
also to Mr. Stables and Mr. Wier. Rumbold wasin
France, from whence he did not return till the 14th
of October. Mr. Woodhouse's bad state of health
had carried him mto Herefordshire after his return
from Spa; I wrote to him, although I'knew he heartily
approved of everything that was going on, for Mr.
Robinson acknowledged to me that the correspondence
between him and Mr. Pechell had been entered into
by his (Robinson’s) desire, as indeed I bad before
suspected.

When the chairmen met Mr. Macpherson and me
at Mr. Robinson's on the 1st October, Mr. Robinson
stated what had been agreed upon (as above related)
in the fairest manner, and they promised their most
cordial support. It was then agreed that I should
deliver in a letter signifying Mr. Hastings’s wish to
resign, to the Court of Directors on Wednesday the

_ 9th October. Having said that, “ I found it somewhat
difficult to word this letter, because on the one hand
1 found it necessary to give the true reason for Mr
Hastings's declining to continue longer as Governor-
general, and on the other as a compromise was to take
place, I should be sorry to say anything that would
tend to sour the majority, or indispose them to that
cordiality for Mr. Hastings’s friends which made so
considerable a part of the agreement,”—Mr. Robinson
answered that he saw the difficulty, but imagined he
could word the letter without displeasing either side.
Accordingly he wrote a draught which, with a slight
alteration or two by Mr. Roberts and myself, was ap-
proved ; it ran in the following words :—

« Gentlemen,—Mr. Hastings, seeing the necessity
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of unanimity in the Supreme Council of Bengal for
conducting the affairs of the Company there, and for
establishing any permanent system of Government
for the good and prosperity of that country; and find-
ing, from the unhappy divisions which have subsisted
in the Supreme Council, that such union is not likely
to subsist; and having anxiously on every occasion
studied to promote the welfare of the Company, a
conduct which he will ever continue, has from these
motives authorized, empowered, and directed me to
signify to you his desire to resign his office of Go-
vernor-general of Bengal, and to request your nomi-
nation of a to the y which will be
thereby occasioned in the Supreme Council.—1 have
the honour, &c.”

About this time I was seized with an attack upon
my lungs and sore throat, to which I am liable in this
climate; it confined me to my chamber for some days,
and incapacitated me from making those visits which
I should have done if I bad been well and at Jiberty
to communicate, prior 1o my delivering in the letter.
The omission of these visits has given much offence,
and has indisposed many of your pretended friends
against me, and one or two of your real friends.. The
latter I have taken great pains to set right, I hope I
shall succeed. The former I do not spend a thought
on. About this time Mr. Vansittart came to town;
T carried the draught of the letter {0 him, and I wrote
to Mr. Sykes, that Mr. Vansittart and I would wait
upon him in the morning, as they both lived in the
same quarter of the town. Elliott accompanied me,
Mr. Vansittart approved highly of every thing, and
we set out for Mr. Sykes's, but met his servant at the
door (of Mr. Vansittart) with a letter purporting that
he was obliged to set out for Basilden, but that he
was perfectly at ease, as the affair could not be in
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better hands. This é‘ay, the 8th October, the news of
the taking of Long Island and the defeat of the
Americans arrived ; next morning the letter was given
in, How an affair of this consequence, and in so many
hands, could have been kept secret for more than six
wegks is extrardinary, only two Directors, exclusive of
the chairs, knew it (Harrison, to whom I asked liberty
to mention it, as I had transacted so much of your
business with him the preceding year; and Wheler, to

hom the chairs communicated it two days only before
it took place) ; out of doors it was suspected by nobody.
My letter to Mr. Becher lay, without my knowledge, at
his house unopened. The 11th was appointed to take
the letter into consideration; on which day I was
desired to attend. I did so, when the chairman ac-
quainted me the Court wished to ask me some ques-
tions relative to my instructions, and the nature of my
powers. I answered that, « I hoped the Court knew
me too well to suspect me capable of taking a step of
the nature I had done without authority for it. That
however, if the Court would be satisfied with my
explaining my authority to three of their body, I was
ready to do it, but I did not hold myself at liberty to
make a public official communication of the papers I
had to show, as they contained, among other things,
some counfidential matters.” The Court unanimously
agreed to this proposition. Mr. Becher was appointed
to attend the two chairs. I showed them in confidence
the two papers in your own hand ; and told them the
reasons why I had so long broken your instructions,
and why I thought myself bound to obey them now.
I was asked if I thought you had not resigned before
this time. I answered, that all your friends had written
so pressingly to you not to do it while it was endea-
voured to pass & censure upon you, that I hoped you
had not. Mr, Becher replied, « Since the epirit of
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resigning is 8o strong in'him, I am sure we have given
him reason enough to put it in exccution by our letters
of last season. But,” eaid he, “have you no in-
strument, saying, I, Warren Hastings, authorize you,
&c.” 1 answered, “ No; I believe neither Mr. Hastings
nor any of those who were present thought it a matter
of so much formality; if certain things were not ob-
tained, I was ordered to signify Mr. Hastings's wish
to be relieved; if they were obtained, I was ordered
not to make this signification. But these orders were
so strict and positive, that I entreated and with diffi-
culty obtained some latitude as to the time and mode
of notifying this intention. I have now notified to
you Mr. Hastings’s wish to have a successor appointed,
and no blame can lie with me now but that of baving
ventured so long 1o delay it.” Mr. Becher asked who
was present; 1 replied, « Mr. Graham and Mr. Van-
sittart heard me receive my instructions; they were
communicated to Mr. Stewart next moming.” I was
desired to withdraw. In a few minutes 1 was called
in, and told the Court of Directors wished to see Mr.
Vansittart and Mr. Stewart on the Wednesday follow-
ing, when I was requested to attcnd again. I forgot
to mention, that before I gave in the letter to the
Court of Directors, I wrote to Mr. William Elliott and
to Mr. Lushington, informing them of my intention,
and that 1 would wait upon them to explain my
reasons. The former wrote me an uncivil answer; the
latter sent no answer at all Every man thought he
had a right to communications which were due but to
very few; and I was taxed with leaving men in the
lorch whom no consideration or persuasion could draw
into the front of the battle. When Mr. Becher went
home, he found my long-written letter, and returncd &
very polite answer. On Wednesday, 16th October,
Mr. Vansittart, Mr. Stewart, and 1 again sttended
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the Court of Directors. The chairs and Mr. Becher;
as at first, carried us into one of the committee-rooms, .
and after ascertaining what I had before related, we
withdrew till they drew up a paper containing the
substance of what cach had said.” This paper was
read to us, and we took our leave. The same day a
letter to the Secretary of State, signifying that Mr.
Hastings, for the reasons contained in it, had intimated

desire to resign, and praying that his Majesty would
Ze pleased to appoint Mr. Wheler to fill up the
vacancy that would be occasioned in Council when
Mr. Hastings resigned the chair, &c.. This letter was
signed by all the Directors present, twenty-two. Thad
learned with surprise, that among the number of those
who arraigned my conduct on this occasion, Mr. Sykes
was one, and that his friend Mr. George Rous was re-
markably acrimonious. I desired Mr, Vansittart, who,
as well as I, had excused himself from dining with the
Directors, to go with me to Mr. Sykes. I told him the
cause of our visit, and, recapitulating every thing that
had passed, begged of him to point out the part of
the ncgociation, or of my conduct, that he condemned.
He replied that « I was misinformed; that he highly
approved of every thing that had been done, and
thought it was not possible to do better.” Mr. Becher,
he said, was hurt for want of communication.. I
answered that I was not in fault, and Mr. Becher was
now convinced of it. As these gentlemen were real
friends, it gave me great pain to incur their displeasure.
Others there are, who, when it was told me they taxed
me with treachery, and doing what I had no authority
for, gave me no pain; I knew their motives, and only
answered, “ Then Mr. Hastings will disavow me, his
resignation is in his own hands.”

You will observe that, in the articles of compromise,
1 did not let the least thing enter foreign to the dispute
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in Bengal. Thisat first gave offence to many friends;
they have since seen the utility of it. « Why,” said
one, “did you pot take the opportunity of getting
Mr. Sulivan one of the chairs?” ¢ Why,” said another,
* did you not turn the opportunity to advantage for
the Nabob?” « Why,” said a third, “ did you not
stipulate something for yourself.” One anewer served
all these questions;  Because it would have been
dishonest, and a breach of trust to Mr. Hastings.”

1 can now see the ground on which you stand in this
country clearer than during the contest. The public
have the highest sense of your services and respect for
your character, This was evident from the first; but
it was not so evident that you stood on very ncar the
same ground in the closet and cabinet also. The
lengths to which Clavering has gone were neither
expected mor approved; but he had obtained such
promises of support, and from such quarters before he
left England, that they held themselves bound to carry
him through, though his es were displeasing to
them. His whole conduct in the Mahratta affairs has
given great discontent. The particular fricnds of
General Clavering, who are all leaders in the House
of Commons, are prejudiced against you and stand in
a different predi t. The G 1I's misrepresen-
tations both of your character and actions to these
men have been so grose and acrimonious, that there is
no length to which they were not ready to go; and
even now they disapprove loudly of the compromise,
and say the General will come home. Mr. Robinson
foresaw this while we were negociating, for when 1
mentioned to bim the difficulty which I should have
to content such friends as were not in the communica-
tion of what was doing, he replied, “ Don’s imagine
that it is smooth water with us either, for we have two
parties {o manage on our side; the particular friends
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of General Clavering, who will not be satisfied with any
compromise, and the country gentlemen, who insist
upon this as the properest time to decide the question
of territorial right.”

Thus, my dear Sir, have I glven you a plain, and I
fear, tedious account of the most difficult and delicate
transaction of my life. If what I have done meets with
your approbation, I shall be happy; if not, even the
a[Irobation of my own breast (which tells me I have

let my nearest or dearest connexions or concerns

warp me a moment in my endcavours to serve you)

will not give me comfort; I shall be miserable; but

always with the utmost truth, respect, and affection,

my dear Sir, your faithful and obliged humble servant,
S. MacLrANE.

I subjoin to this an extract from a letter written
by Mr. John Stewart, the gentleman of whom I
have already spoken as having suffered for his
personal attachment to Mr. Hastings; it is at
least curious as conveying a picture of the times,
and bringing us into more intimate familiarity with
some of the great actors then in vogue.

London, 313t October, 1776.

Dear Sir,—~The packet by the Talbot is just arrived,
and brings us tidings of you up to the end of March,
but no letters for me except from Donaldson. ¥ am,
however, not without hopes of finding some trusted
with private hands when the ship comes round. This
is the first opportunity I have had since my arrival of
addressing you. MacLeane, who writes at the same
time, will give you the exact relation of what has
passed in your affairs, and of the conclusion of them.
I arrived late in the day when the insidious attempt
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against you in the India House had been so triumph-
antly baffled, and when government were talking
openly very high of their intended hostilitics against
you, and privately negociating a compromise with you.
I judged that, in such circumstances, it was left for me
tolie by. The whole was in the hands of MacLeane,
who, I must own, has in the management shown an
activity, address, boldness, perseverance, and know-
ledge of mankind, beyond even what I, partial as 1 am
to him, could have conccived him to possess. It is
undoubtedly he who first gave a turn to the cry that
was geiting up against us in public; it was he who, in
spite of the direction, in spite of the ministry, and in
spite of all the friends of our adversaries, brought up
all our forces, composed of many different nations and
tongues, to act like one man for us,and gain the signal
victory of the of May; and finally he who has
made, in my opinion, eo honourable a retreat for you.
I have only scen Lord North once, but have had
several conversations with Mr. Robinson. You may
believe me that the first interpretation I put on his
L——p’s letter to you, which made poor Graham so
angry, was the true one. The professions of courtiers
are always to be mistrusted. In your case be per-
suaded they were all false, from the highest (higher
than I choose to put in words) to the lowest, and that
there never existed g them Lind goodwill,
or esteem for you, capable to counterbalance the
lest dirty ideration of policy which might
come across you. The would have pocketed
your white St——, and turned you out. N. would
bave praised your abilities, and moved the House to
Pprosecute you upon the evidence of Nund , and
Lord M. would have cried up your code of laws, and
maustered all his forces (as he actually did) to go down
to the India House to vote against you. In short, it
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was certainly adopted as a measure of Cabinet, as they
style it, to support their own three councillors, and it
would have been carried in Parliament as easily as a
vote of credit or a turnpike bill. In that situation an
easy and honourable retreat was all that could be
thought of for you ; and we knew it was perfectly con-
sonant to your wishes to retire if you could not be put
in the p ion of that conseq in administration
which your station required. Ideclared to the Directors,
when called on by MacLeane, that you had always held
that language; that you had written in these terms to
ministry, to Directors, and to all your private friends;
and lastly, that you had instructed Mr. M. to act con-
formably. That at the same time, although you were
determined not to remain a cipher in the administra-
tion, or subscribe to measures of which you disap-
proved, you never meant to embarrass the Company’s
affairs, or oppose the views of Government; that you
was a real friend to both, and could not show it better
than by withdrawing from a situation where you had it -
no longer in your power to serve either.
After having given you so freely my opinion of the
sincerity of ministers, and the reliance to be put in
them, I must observe, that at the bottom they had no
“personal dislike to you, rather, indced, an esteem for
your public character, which hampered {hem not a
little, but that now they really must have a feeling of
kindoess for you. You bave freed them from & con-
founded puzzle, you have saved them the disagreeable
task of a parliamentary discussion, and you leave them
quietly to blunder on in the affairs of Bengal during
the remainder of the term fixed by the Act; therefure
when you come home you will be caressed by them, '
and it will be your business to meet them half way.
No doubt of it you might have been taken up as a
good cudgel to buffet administration with. My friend
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G. J. would have brandished you about in the House,
and given perhaps Lord North a broken head or two,
but you would not have fclt less sore, and then who
was to find you a plaster? Mac will no doubt tell you
who were your friends among the great in all these
affairs.

Had matters gone on in the channel which
appeared to have been thus marked out for them,
Mr. Hastings, honoured by some mark of royal
favour, would ‘have doubtless retired from public
life, and India might or might not have leen at
this moment “the brightest jewel in the British
crown.” But it can scarcely surprise us to find
that men who were capable of entering into this
species of compromise were likewise capable of
violating their own engagements. The obvious
end which Colonel MacLeane sought to attain was,
that Mr. Hastings might resign his trust with an
untarnished reputation, which was to be accom-
plished only by a careful abstinence on the part of
the minister from any outward show of favour to
his rivals. Tbe simple fact, iudeed, of leaving
General Clavering at the head of the Bengal
government would have been sufficient to prove
that against him no charge of culpability lay ; and
there would have been other opportunities, sup-
posing him to have retained office for ever so short
a period, of distinguishing him by more direct
proofs of royal favour. But the Cabinet saw
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things differently; and in the very next Gazeite,
after Mr, Wheler had received his nomination to
the Council, General. Clavering’s name appeared

" in the Gazette as nominated to the bonour of the
Bath. Colonel MacLeane and Mr. Stewart, whose
credit Mr. Hastings is accused of having sacri-
ficed to his own ambition, instantly wrote to their
ffiend and patron in the following terms :—

Portsmouth, 13th November, 1776.

Dear Sir,—We have been here several days attend-
ing the despatch of the Rippon. Our separate letters,
and your other advices, By this opportunity, will leave
you nothing to desire on the head of information of
what passed in your affairs previous to our leaving
town; but a circumstance has occurred since our
arrival here, which has given us matter of serious
reflection, and determined us to give you our joint
opinion in this manner upon it; that being possessed
of the ideas of two of your friends here nearest the
head of affairs, and of whose zeal and fidelity we are
persuaded you entertain no doubt, you may be enabled
more easily to come to a decision in your own mind as
to how you are to act. i

The circumstance we allude to is the appointment of
General Clavering to the Order of the Bath, announced
in the Gazette of Saturday last. We cannot but re-
gard this as a breach of, or at least a gross deviation
from, the spirit of the compromise lately concluded,
and we deem you at full liberty, on that ground, to
delay your resignation till you have authentic accounts
from England of some equivalent honour being be-
stowed on you, capable of counterbalancing its per-
nicious effects in the eyes of all the world and the
hearts of your friends. The line we would presume to
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suggest for you is to receive Mr. Wheler with great
politeness and civility, and even with the other gentle-
men, to mark the strongest disposition to fulfil on your
part what your agent had engaged for you, but to
declare that, when you consented to give up your office
for the sake of peace, you never meant to give up your
honour, and that you were determined now to hold
the one Itill the other-was perfectly secured, since, in
your judgment, this was a fresh attack upoen it. By
this conduct you will be master of your place (if you
choose to retain if, and the ministry remain obstinate
on the point of the equivalent) for at least three years,
or indeed till the end of the charter, for it is next to
impossible that the ministry can take up this matter
in Parliament on the old grounds, after having com-
mitted themselves so far as they bave done in the late
compromise.

The part that will be now taken by your friends on
our return to London will be to represent their feelings
on this occasion in the strongest terms, to treat it as a
breach of engag t, and to d d for you either
an Irish peerage or a title of baronet as an equivalent.
This will be managed as usual by your acting agent,
L. M., and you will be regularly advised of the suc-
cess. In the mean time, we remain convinced that this
(General Clavering’s ribbon) is not a8 measure of those
ministers who were partics to the compromise, but a
compliance from another quarter, with the earnest
solicitations of Clavering's friends, who are discon-
tented and cl on the subject of the resigna-
tion. Every syllable of this is the joint opinion of,
dear Sir, your affectionate humble servants,

8. MacLeaxe,
J. StewaRT.
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Portsmouth, 13th November, 1776,

My dear Sir,—Although ‘the letter you receive in
Stewart's hand contains our joint sentiments relative
to General Clavering's ribbon, yet I cannot be con-
tented without once more stating our sense of this
matter in concise terms with precisions I therefore
entreat “that you deliver no opinion upon what has
been done here till you hear ffom me again ; for I look
wpon the honour conferred on General Clavering as so

irect a breach of the spirit of the compromise, that
unless an adequate honour is conferred on you, you
ought not to resign. And it is further my opinion,
that your taking this step will be so far from reflecting
dishonour either on you or me, that it is the only mea-
sure which can save us both from appearing in the
light of dupes.” I am, my dear Sir, with unalter-
able affection, your most devoted and faithful humble
servant, 8. MacLEeaNE.

I approve most heartily, and think it necessary for
your complete satisfaction, as his reputation is as much
connected with every part of this business as your own.

J. 8.

The conduct of Lord North throughout the
whole of these transactions was quite unworthy of
a great man. He seems, while earnestly desiring
the accomplishment of a project, to have lacked
nerve epough to dare the issue; and hence in-
triguing and stopping short, raising his arm yet
forbearing to strike, he placed himself in a point
of view of all others the least creditable to a
minister of the Crown. The same spirit of waver-
ing appears, moreover, to have continued with him
tothe end. Mr. Hastings’s return became to him

VOL. 1I. H
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a subjeet of at least as much apprehension as of
desire; indeed, the last act of his secretary and
representative, Mr. Robinson, previous to the de-
parture of Mr. Wheler for Bengal, would seem to
imply that he neither expected nor even wished
it. T must again refer to my authority, Colonel
MacLeane, whose eandid statement of facts will
serve as the best explanation of points which

remain yet to be stated.
London, 12:h May, 1777,

My dear Sir,—I hope you will attribute my not
writing 1o you by the latter ships of the scason to no
other causes than the inexplicable uncertainty in
which everything was involved here at the time of
their departure, the weight of urgent business under
which I was near sinking, and the certainty of convey-
ing you full and material intelligence, by morc eye-
witnesses than one, of everything neccssary for you to
know, by a speedier conveyance over land than letters
would have found by the later ships.

Elliott, the faithful Elliott, who is the bearer of this,
renders a long despatch now unnecessary, because he
has either seen everything or learned everything from
me. He, and he alone, had my full confidence, because
he alone deserved it. Be not, I entreat you, startled at
this declaration, as if I meant to insinuate that you
have not very many steady, faithful, and valuable
friends; for 1 never knew any one man that had so
many. But permit me to say that Elliott is the friend
whom I have found actuated by the most disintcrested
motives ; never endeavouring to clog your wheels by
the additional weight of any personal impediments.
This was not always the case with others; and it has
been impossible for me to content all those who



MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS. 99

wanted to have made their own affairs a common cause
with yours, most of whom I thought had no right to it.
Those who blame me on opposition principles, would
blame an angel under similar circumstances. But the
approbation of the first part of my conduct contained
in your despatch by the Syren, the conviction in my
own breast that the latter part of my conduct bas been
the best that could have betn pursued for your true
interest, and the firm reliance I have on your approba-
tion of the whole, render. me perfectly content under
the unmerited abuse that I meet with from the last, or
the negative commendation that I receive from the
first of these classes.

I could wish to write you a long letter under three
heads: the affairs of Bengal, the affairs of Madras,
and the affairs of India at large. But the pressing
business of the hour, the state of my health, worn
down by unremitting fatigue, and the shortness of the
time, will not permit it. I expect Elliott here to-night;
I will discuss these subjects with him at large, and to
his faithful bosom I must commit them, You will not,
1 hope, find them unworthy of your attention, being
drawn from a close and attentive observation of that
part of administration in whose management the India
department lies, and with which I have had of late
more than ordinary connection, if not some share of
their confidence. During this intercourse I bave had
two points continually in view: to learn the ideas of
administration relative to India, and to instil the most
favourable opinion of your plan and of your abilities
for the government of India. Whether General
Clavering's recovery deprives you of the government
of Bengal, or whether the reins continue in your hands
by his death or leaving the country, I venture to pro-
phesy that something like your plan will take place
before the expiration of two years, and I trust that you

H2
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will be called forth to execute it. Your letter to Lord
North, left to my option as o the delivery, I have not
yet given to his Lordship, for reasons drawn from what
is contained above. It is very probable, as the Nabob
of Arcot’s concurrence will form a principal part in
support of whatever system shall be adopted, that I
shall be sent over without loss of time to megociate
with bim on the spot, aiid to return immediately. I
have had more than one conversation with Mr.
Robinson on the system at large, after many conversa-
tions on the benefits, in detail, which might be ex-
pected from India; and the result of them is, that if he
remains in his present confidence with Lord North (of
his losing which I see not the least probability), it is
my firm opinion be will next year endeavour to carry
it into execution, as a matter which must do the ad-
ministration of Lord North the utmost honour, while
it will personally recommend himself to the King's
favour. I must not omit to tell you that in these con-
ferences I have never introduced your name in direct
terms, but 1 have described the system itself so
pointedly as yours, and have dwelt so strongly on the
necessity of a tried and experienced man to derive all
the benefit from the East which it is capable of afford-
ing, that I am certain I have been perfectly understood.
To Elliott alone have I ever opened myself on this
subject. Had 1 gone farther with Mr. Robinson, he
might have attributed my motives to self-interest or
intrigue. :

Sinee the receipt of the Syren's despaiches I have
more tian once endeavoured to learn Lord North's
opinion of what he wishes you to do in consequence of
General Monson's death, but I have not yet got any
clear lights to form an opinion upon ; though I am at
no loss to guess that, however he may wish, he dreads
the consequences of your return from India in the
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present critical state of affairs. An incident will
enable you to judge on this head, in case Mr. Robinson
does not speak out to Elliott to-morrow, or to yourself
in a letter he writes to you by him. The incident I
allude to is this: When the Syred arrived, Wheler
was at Portsmouth ready to sail; he posted back to
Loudon, obtained a fresh appointment to succeed to
General Monson’s vacancy, and directly returned to
Port th. Mr. Robi inquired whether Mr.
‘Wheler had surrendered his first appointment for
succeeding to you on your resignation ; he found that
Wheler had not made this surrender. He imme-
diately sent an express to Portsmouth, that Wheler
might send his surrender in form ; but he had sailed.
Mr. Robinson then got it clearly settled and ascer-
tained in the Secretary of State’s Office, that Mr.
Wheler had vacated bis firs¢t appointment by the ac-
ceptance of the second. Thus you now stand without
a successor, for Sir Eyre Coote has not accepted ; and,
till a successor arrives, how can you resign? Thisis
my opinion, upon the most mature consideration; and,
unless Lord North speaks out, I must, from what has
passed, think it to be his, as well as Mr. Robinson’s,
opinion also. This much I know for a certainty, that
they are in no hurry to clear away Sir Eyre Coote’s
doubts and difficnlties. Seeing things in this situation,
Y brought about a measure, unknown to any one, that
will prevent Lord North’s being under any embarrass-
ment by Sir Eyre Coote’s refusal to accept his appoint-
ment in the present state of things, or in the event of
General Clavering's death or resignation ; for I have
prevailed on General Monckton to write to Lord North,

that, in case Sir Eyre Coote declmes gomg to Indm
because he is not to be appoi d in 1, he,
General Monckton, will accept of the command of the
army in Iddia, to prevent any impediment in His
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Majesty's affairs, without being in council. In case
Lord North speaks out, what I have written on this
head can be of no use; but I think it is very probable
his situation with General Clavering's fricnds will pre-
vent his doing this; for I am certain kis wishes and
their desires arc very different. It became the more
necessary for me to be thus explicit on this lead,
because it is one of the few subjects on which Elliott
and I have any difference of opinion. He thinks you
arc more bound by the resignation than 1 do, or (from
what has been said) than either Lord North or Mr.
Robinson thinks you. Your own feclings must be the
arbiter on this occasion. At the same time I must tell
you how far I have taken upon me to pledge you; and
as nothing has come of my offer, it is another proof
that all I have said on this head is sound doctrine. At
Lord North's last levee, he asked me what change I
thought General Monson's death would make in your
conduct, or way of thinking? My answer was, “ My
Lord, Mr. Hastings is a man of the strictest honour,
and one of the warmest friends of the King's govern-
ment ; if your Lordsbip will honour me with the
confidential communication of your wishes on this
oceasion, I will pledge myself to you that, barring un-
foreseen accidents, your desire shall be conveyed to
Mr. Hastings in three months, and that he will cheer-
fully comply with it. Mr. Hastings has no wish but
to facilitate the es of gover t, and to prove
himself the most faithful servant of the Crown.” His
Lordship expressed the utmost satisfaction ; treats me
with uncommon civility on all occasions ; but has never
since renewed the subject or explained himself, though
a fortnight has elapsed.

Nothing ever gave me more satisfaction than the
support you have afforded the Nabob ofeArcot in his
distress ; for, as I was obliged to give your affairs a
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preference to his on my arrival, it has proved to him
how much you deserved that preference. Without
your aid he must have sunk under the malevolence and
injustice of his enemies. ‘I am at the same time happy
beyond expression that the protection you have afforded
the -Nabob has recommended you in the strongest
manner to the King and ministry, particularly Lord
- North ; for the Crown is so pledged for the support of
{the Nabob, and the administration are so enraged at
the proceedings of Lord Pigot, which are all attributed
to opposition principles, as being personally offensive
to His Majesty, as well as to his ministers, that any
defeat relative to the affairs of the Carnatic, either in
India or here, would have been felt by the government
as the severest mortification. Though our: victory of
last Friday is very complete, my opinion is that it must
ultimately come into Parliament. All the heads of op-
position united in fighting Lord Pigot’s battle; they
are very sore under their defeat, for they had collected
their friends from every quarter of the kingdom, and
made sure of a victory. It gave me much uneasiness
that I could not persuade many of your friends to give
their assistance, or to think you were anywise con-
cerned in the issue. I cannot account for this. The
public papers and the publications on both sides will
show you to what a pitch of animosity matters were
carried, and how personal to me the conduct of the
directors became ultimately. But this is ‘a subject not
worthy to trouble you with, when I have been obliged
to omit matters of real consequence. Elliott, however,
can divert you at a leisure hour with the oddity of my
situation, proscribed and caressed at the same time by
the same men. Refused everything, and held at the
same time not unworthy of anything. The India House
is become a riddle not worth the trouble of solving.
The Company, says the Public Advertiser, is * a cor-
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poration of madmen, entrusting the management of
their affairs to fools.” i

I entreat you to pardon the omissions and shortness
of this letter. I have got thus far with much pain, for
1 write under the accumulated torture of rheumatism
in all my joints, and a severe sore throat, with pains in
my breast, which have worn me to a shadow by the
fever attending them.

I need not say that this letter is for your own eye
only; whether time shall verify the predicting parts of
its contents or not, I shall always wish them to remain
secret.

I am, with the utmost {ruth and unalierable attach-
ment, my dear Sir, your faithful, obliged, and most
affectionate humble servant,

8. MacLeaxe,
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CHAPTER IV.

Mr. Hastings's efforts paralysed—Troubles at M:dnl—Dul.h of Coloml
Monson—Mr. Hastings recovers his infl
and gigantic plans—Arrival of Court’s Letter, and attempt GfGﬂBIl
§ Clavering to usurp the Government,

WHILE the management of these transactions
engrossed the time and attention of the friends of
Mr. Hastings at home, Mr. Hastings himself con-
tinued at his post, powerless, indeed, in almost
every instance when actual good was to be pro-
moted, yet infinitely useful in this, that he operated
as a cbeck upon evil. For in all the most common
details of business his colleagues were absolutely
dependent on him. Thus it was his personal in-
fluence with the judges of the Supreme Court
which alone hindered them from coming to an
open rupture with the Council; while his wis-
dom and moderation were never more conspi-
cuously displayed than in the part which he per-
suaded the Supreme Government to take in the
disputes which at this time prevailed at Madras.
With these, as well in their progress as in their
results, I bave in this place no particular concern.
They originated, as every reader of history must
know, in the determination of Lord Pigot to
pursue a line of policy in reference to the Rajah of
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Tanjore, of which a majority in his Council disap-
proved ; and they ended in the imprisonment of the
Governor at the instance of that majority, and his
subsequent removal, still under arrest, to England.
Now though this was a strong measure, which no
plea, except that of necessity, could justify, Mr.
Hastings did not feel that, as the head of the Go-
vernment in a sister presidency, he was called
upon to denounce or resist it. The Legislature
had given to a majority in the Council of Madras
privileges similar to those which the majority
claimed and exercised at Bengal ; and it was not
for any power inferior to that of the Legislature to
determine the limits beyond which they should
not be permitted to pass. Mr. Hastings accord-
ingly acquiesced himsellf, and persuaded his col-
leagues to acquiesce, in the new arrangements, and
recognising the government of the majority as
legitimate, averted at least the hazard of a civil
war from British India.

I have stated elsewhere that when the results of
the five years’ settlement came to be determined
the device proved to have been in some degree a
failure ; that is to say, the amount of revenue ac-
tually realized fell short hy a considerable balunce
of the estimates that were formed at the outset.
None of his colleagues could be more forward to
acknowledge this failure than Mr. Hastings him-
self, though the grounds on which they respectively
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accounted for it were distinct ; yet, after all, in the
pecuniary affairs of the colony a great improve-
ment was perceptible. Thus in' 1776, thanks to
the arrangements which on his first accession to
office Mr. Hastings bad introduced, not only was
the bonded debt paid off, but there was a surplus of
cash in the treasury amounting to a crore and ‘a
Lialf of rupees, out of which an investment was
provided for all the tonnage that could be pro-
cured. - Again, the provinces of Bengal, in spite
of the dissensions that prevailed at head quarters,
and the laxity which these occasioned in all the
subordinate departients, enjoyed upon - the whole
the Llessings of abundance and prosperity as well
as of peace.. The government, indeed, literally
conducted itself, inasmuch as time was not afforded
for the effects of those changes to be felt, which
the majority, in an evil hour, had introduced into
its organization. But Mr. Hastings knew that
this was a state of things which could not last.
The five years’ settlement was drawing rapidly to
a close. It would terminate in the year 1777, yet
no steps were taken to meet the emergency. ‘What
could Mr. Hastings do? He explained the danger
of permitting such an important matter to be for-
gotten ; he offered more than one suggestion as to
the measures which it would be prudent to adopt,
but he might as well have been silent. All bis
propositions were opposed ; all his plans rejected ;
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especially those which had become to a certain
extent favourites with their author; and he was
reduced to the humiliating necessity of sitting still,
while the fabric which with so much care he had
founded and reared, seemed tottering to its fall.

So passed the time till an event befel, which,
restoring to Mr. Hastings his legitimate position
in the government, enabled him once more to
apply his talents and great experience to the
public service. I allude to the death of Colonel
Monson, which took place, after a lingering illness,
on the 25th of September, 1776. As I have
heretofore done, so I will again permit Mr. Hast-
ings to speak for himself, in order that there may
be no mistake as to the sort of feeling which that
event excited in him, nor any misapprehension
relative to his designs, had the raneour of his
eneniies permitted him to act upon them, Of the
following letters, one addressed to Lord North is,
as may be expected, official and grave ; the others,
written with the freedom of a eonfidential corre~
spondence, keep back from us no secrets, and are
therefore, as a picture of the writer’s mind, much
more valuable,

To Lord NorTs.
Fort William, 26th Septemaber, 1776,

My Lord,—It is my duty to give your Lordship the

earliest information that Colonel Monson departed

this life at Hugly yesterday evening, after a severe
illness of more than two months.
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This event has thrown me into a situation which,
while our disputes in England remain undecided, I
could have wished to avoid. It has restored to me the
constitutional authority of my station; but without
absolute necessity I shall not think it proper to use it
with that effect which I should give it were I sure of
support from home. Thus circumstanced it is my wish
to let the affairs of this government remain in their
present channels, and to avoid alterations which in the

urse of a few months may possibly be subject to new
changes, and introduce weakness and distraction into
the state. This line I am resolved to follow as far as
it depends upon myself, but much will depend on the
incidents of business, and on the temper of my asso-
ciates. I should dissemble with your Lordship were I
to pretend to be insensible of the injaries which I have
received. These, however, shall not break in upon the
line of my public duty. The long course of business
in which I have been engaged, and the various, and
often divided councils in which I have sat, have taught
me moderation, and I ‘believe few men can easier
govern their resentments than I can, or totally sacrifice
them to the interests of the public.

Having received advices from England by land as
late as the 25th May, which is posterior to the latest
period of the Company’s annual despatches, I cannot
expect any further orders from England before the
ships of next season. This in one instance will compel
me to depart from the passive rule which I have pre-
scribed to myself, and I think it necessary thus early
to apprize your Lordship of it.

The present leases of the province of Bengal will
expire, with very few exceptions, in next April, and it
is essentially necessary, both to the security of the
public revenue and to the quiet of the country, that
the ensuing settlement should be previously formed



110 MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS.

so that it may instantly take place of the present. Mr,
Barwell, who has had much expericnce of the revenue
of this country, concurs with me in opinion that the
new scttlement cannot be delayed, and 1 bave an
entire reliance on his good sense and honour, that he
will cordially join with me in the prosccution of it.

Before there was any strong probability of the
change which the death of Colonel Monson has occa-
sioned in the Council, I declared in a minute entered
on our public records that I would not be concerned in
framing “ any plan for the future scttlement and ad-
ministration of the revenue without the authority to
support and even to nd the tion of it."”
Being now in possession of that authority, I cannot
dispense with the duty annexed to it on an occasion of
such consequence to the Company’s interest. I can
neither allow that my associates posscss a greater
degrec of zeal for the service, nor that the experience
of two years, consumed more in disputes than in
business, can have furnished them with a superior
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. Yet I eannot
help regretting the necessity which I foresce will
oblige me to take the lead in a measare involving such
great and remot , while 1 in uncer-
tain to whose hands the future exccution of it may be
committed.

In the other departments of government, expedients
may be found to obviate the ity of new cs,
and this your Lordship may be assured shall be the
studied rule of my conduct, both from a conviction
that it will be agrecable to your wishes, and that the
pational affairs of this country will be better promoted
by a quick administration of them in their ordinary
course than by attempts at impr tin thep t
uncertain and divided state of this governmcnt.

It is not without the last degree of mortification
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that I suppose the possibility of a case so inconsistent
with your Lordship’s assurances and the justice of my
Sovereign, and with the conscious sense which I feel
of the long labours of a life devoted to the aggrandize-
ment of his power, and to the interest and honour of
my country, as my dismission ; but I shall wait with
patience and submission for the declaration of his will;
and whatever may be my fate, I will meet it with the
consolation of having persevered to the last in the dis-
¢harge of my duty, and supported a life of unremitted
toil and humiliation, under which I must have long
ago sunk had my dependence been placed on a less
powerful protection. I have the honour, &c.

To Joun Grauaw, Esq,
Fort William, 26th September, 1776,

My dear Sir,—An event which has been expected
these three weeks is at length come to pass, and has
occasioned akind of revolution in our Council. Colonel
Monson, after an illness of ten weeks, died last night,
and a letter has been written to the Court of Dircctors
to advise them of it. They, I suppose, willreceive it in
the month of March, while the Parliament is sitting,
and in the height of their own despatches. Of course
I lude that an i diate choice will be made of a
successor to fill up the vacancy, and I much fear, from
its being made at such a time, that it may prove equal
to a decision against me. It will be impossible to
nominate a neutral man, and I have no ground to hope
that the appointment will fall on any friend of mine.
If it should, there will be an cnd put at once to ail
contention, the majority being so clear on the side
which ought constitutionally to take the lead. If a
friend of Clavering's is sent out to reinforce his party,
I must in that case either quit the field, or resolve to
remain and have a new warfare, perhaps more violent
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than the last to encounter. The first is a wrelched
expedient, which I will never submit to. Having gone
through two years of persccution, I am determined now
that no less authority than the King's express act shall
remove me, or death.

Having had some time afforded me, by the strong
Pprobability which there was of Colonel Monson’s death
for some time before it came to pass, to deliberate on
the consequences of it, I have already drawn the line
of my conduet, with the concurrent opinion and advice
of Mr. Barwell and Sir E. Impey, and have written to
Lord North to inform him of it. In this place, men’s
minds are so heated with the multiplied instances of
rancour which have passed before their eyes, that they
will expect to sce me ride triumphant on the mew
authority which I have acquired. In England they
will be better pleased that I acted a firm and decided,
but temperate part, b an opposite conduct could
only prove successful by my continuance, and must
throw affairsinto inextricable confusi d

iflamr ;
and I should be sorry to furnish my enemies with a
pretext to say that I sought to involve the ruin of the
Company in my own fall. I bave therefore told Lord
North that 1 should endeavour to leave everything in
its place, and equally avoid innovations and disputes,
while the present state of suspense and indecision re-
mained. But with one exception. I have declared to
him that I would not delay the new settlement. Ina
minute of the 30th of August, I declared that I would
not propose any new seitlement unless I had power to
enforce, and “ even d the tion of it.”
Colonel Monson was then thought to be on the reco-
very. But now the case is altered. Barwell agrees
with me in my opinion of the ity of enteri

early on the new settlement, and will heartlly lupport
me in the execution of it. My objection, therefore; no
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longer remains, and it would be criminally mean to
give up my opinion to the crude and confused ideas of
General Clavering. This measure will oblige me to
new model all the provincial councils, for I will not
leave such wretches as Goring, Rosewell and James

Grant (names that I blush to write) in the power to

render my designs abortive, but shall think it incum-

bent upon me to choose my own agents for the charge

cf my own plan, especially as so much will depend

pon it. If I am restored to my authority, there will

be so much good time saved by this measure. If
Clavering is destined to be the scourge of God for the

correction of this miserable people, he will need no

aids to his own malevolence and ignorance for acce-

lerating the ruin of this country. So much for the

revenue.

In the province of Oude, if it is not invaded this next
season, it may be left to itself. )

On the affairs of Madras we are all of one mind—
thank God !

Bombay may afford a new subject of contest. The
ministers whose names appear to the treaty, Succaram
Bobboo, and Ballajee Punt, have solicited passports
from us to retire to Benares, and, improbable as it at
first appeared, it seems now past a doubt that they
reslly intend what they profess. The administration
at Poona will then devolve (so Upton says, and so of
course it must) to Maraba Furneess, an avowed par-
tizan of Ragobah, and oue of the ministers present
during the late negociation of Colonel Upton, although
ke refused to take a share in them, and to sign his name
to the treaty. The treaty, therefore, will have no
owner when the two subscribers to it are gone, but will
become null of course. This Colonel Upton is weak
enough to acknowledge, for he writes that if Sudaba
succeeds, the treaty must be confirmed by him, because
the Rajah is & minor.—V. P.-S.

VOL. II. I
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- This Sudaba is, or pretends to be, the famous chief
of that name, who was missing after the battle of
Ponniput, and now makes his appearance with his
identity authenticated with an army of 20,000 men,
and the possession of the country of Concan, all the
sea ports and marine belonging to the Mahratta state.
He will most probably be victorious, for he has no one
to oppose him, -and he surely will not be bound by a
surreptitious treaty made by men whose authority he
will not ackmowledge. The Company, too, have
eagerly adopted the measure of an alliance with
Ragobah. So that 1 think Carnac, on hisarrival, will
have a new war on his hands, or at least s strong
temptation fo it. On this point I cannot form my own
line. I will not break the treaty, nor will I break the
peace, but if both are broken, circumstances must direct
me to the means which will be most proper to save the
Company’s new acquisitions from suffering in the tu-
mault.

The General is sick, being covered with boils, but he
has no symptom of danger.

To Mr. Buiiorr.
FPort William, 23rd Novewbes, 1776,
(Duaplicate per Alexander.)
My dear Elliott,—1I have lately created a new office
for preparing materials to form the new settlement.
The papers which relate to this subject you will receive.
They are voluminous, though they contain only the
history of the new office to the period of its nativity.
Francis, you will perceive, has promised in one minute
to give his support to it, though he says he disapproves
of the principles on which it is founded, yet in another
in reply to mine, thanking him for that assistance, he

etracts his p The ts of this man of
levity are difficult to f , or prehend. His
interest is the only ntead’ ;..' "' in his p ition

and operates in him as powerfully as in any man I ever



MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS. 115

knew; yet even this t always trate him,.
but by fits he flies off from it. I bhave wished, and
Mr. Barwell has been equally desirous, to gain his
concurrence in public measures, not only for the sake
of quiet, but for the more quick despatch of business.
He, too, has appeared equally solicitous for.such an
accommodation. For some time past he has quietly
concurred in all points of mere current business, and
Ext faintly opposed such as were of magnitude sufficient
attract public notice, or of a nature to excite the
bitter spirit of the General That is, he assents to
of no q : s in appointments
proposed by me of persons whom he wishes to serve,
and in all matters of moment ‘either opposes- in mild
language, or acquiesces with reservations intended to
exempt himself from a share in the responsibility.
This temporizing conduct he calls moderation, and
makes a merit of it. Yet, such as it is, I would avail
myself of it if I could, having too much at stake to
hazard by contending with a man whose character I
despise, and whose friendship and enmity I should view
with equal indifference, under any other circumstances.
For these reasons, and for another very powerful one
which I shall not now mention, I have hitherto deferred
what the world, I believe, expected to see made the
first act of my authority, for the retrieval of the first
wound which was given to it, the restoration of Nat.
Middleton to his station. Many circumstances concur
to render this politically necessary; and many require
the suspension of it. One of much weight is the
present uncertainty of my own fate. - But the greatest
is that which I first alluded to. Francis dreads it
worse than death. I apprized him of my intention
some months ago. 1 resumed the subject lately, ex-
Ppressing my wish to accommodate it if it could be done
to his views in favour of Mr. Bristow. ‘He vehemently

12
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opposed it, pleading for his continuance till the month
of May, at which time it would probably be decided
either that I should have the power to fix Mr. Middle-
ton there, or he must look to a different interest. We
have not met since, but Mr. Francis has been labouring
to interest every friend 1 have, even Middleton himsclf,
to persuade me to agree to a compromise, offering to
enter into engagements (as I am assured by good
authority) to promole Middleton's pretensions, who-
ever shall be in power, at the end of the time which
he wants to prescribe. In the midst of these ma-
nceuvres he pens his last minute, retracting the pro-
mise which he before made me of his support in the
only business in which J want it. And if Mr. Barwell
does not oppose it, I shall no longer hesitate in con-
cluding Mr. Middleton'sappointment. At least I think
this ought to be my determination.

I have thought it necessary to give you this circum-
stantial explanation of the motives of my conduct, lest
it should be misunderstood, and improper causcs
assigned for it. Yet the facts themselves I give you
in confidence. They will furnish yoa with the proper
conclusions from them, which is ail the use I wish you
to make of them.

Great dissensions bave arisen between the judges.
They first arose from a difference of opinion in the
cause of Cumal o'Din, concerning the legality of the
powers exercised by the Calcutta commlttee. Why
this should bave ted a p
between them I cannot tell but it has lately broken
out with great v on the of an
tion made to the Court by the Company’s advocate for
a rule to prevent the debtors of government in revenue
cases from eluding its authority by collusive snits in
the Supreme Court. This rule could not be granted
without a virtual acknowledgment of the right of the
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Company to imprison their dewanny debtors in the
town of Calcutta. It passed with the casting voice of
the Chief Justice, who was joined by Mr. Chambers.
The other two judges have profested. They have
communicated to me their objections, which consist of
twelve articles. Iam not a judge of the legality of
the rule, but I am ecertain of its necessity. What may
be the issue of this affair in England is of little conse-
quence. The Bill which I sent home, if it passes, will
remove every doubt of this kind, and if it does not, no
partial remedy will. T am only concerned for the per-
sonal disagreements which this affair has occasioned,

and have laboured, though ineffectually, to remove
them.

Against the creation of the office slluded to
here Loth General Clavering and Mr. Francis
strongly protested. They pronounced the act
illegal in itself, as well as wholly uncalled for,
inasmuch as the five years’ seitlement was under-
stood to bave been formed after a minute investiga-
tion into the capabilities of the country. But of _
their protest Mr. Hastings took no heed: «I rely
on you,” he says in one of his letters to Mr. George
Vansittart, « to defend me if I am censured at
home on account of the new office. The objec-
tions to it on the grounds of illegality are not
worth a refutation. Yet the Court of Directors,
who asked the opinions of able lawyers concerniné
a former pretension of mine, and in the mean time
decided it by their own, may, if the same men are
my judges, pronounce this act illegal. But if it
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is, my commission, when I went to Benares with
unlimited powers ; the appointment of the com-
mittee of circuit; every other committee, com-
posed either of the late, or the present Council, or
of others ; the provincial Councils; the superin-
tendent of the affairs at the presidency; the
auditors of the week ; all the inquisitors sent by
the late majority into the Mofussul, with powers
independent of the provincial Councils, and autho-
rity undefined ;=—in short, every delegation of the
powers of the Board were all illegal acts, usurpa-
tions of the powers of government, and breaches
of the former or present Acts of Parliament and
charters.”  Sitill, though he went gallantly for-
ward with his own arrangements, Mr. Hastings
was far from being at ease. He knew wnot on
what ground he was standing. He could not tell
whether or not even his most obviously judicious
measures would be approved of at home, and his
letters to his friends breathe in consequenee a
mixed spirit of hardihood and despondency, Take
the following to Mr. Stewart as a specimen :—
To Joun Srewaxr, Beq.
Fort William, 21st December, 1776,

My dear Stewart,—By this time, I suppose and
hope, that it is decided either that 1 am fo join you in
England, and become s country gentleman for life, or
you to retorn to Bengal. 1 have thought it most for

my own ease and credit to act by the latter supposi-
tion, and have therefore begun to apply the accidental
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authority which has fallen into my hands to measures
which belong only to a fixed and permanent govern-
ment, and shall go on, piano, piano, to others, as neces-
sity or occasion shall throw them in my way. In this
conduct I have consulted also the eredit of my friend
the General; for as he had laid it down, from the
moment of Colonel Monson's death, to protest against
everything that was done even in the ordinary-course
of business, his protests would certainly have more

{ dignity, when applied to subjects of magnitude, than
wasted on the regulations of Colonel Stibbert's army
bazaar, or the facing of Redans.

It was my intention, Stewatt, before Colonel Mon-
son’s death, which was expected some time: before it
happened, to have left matters as they were, and to
avoid making changes, till I could receive such advices
from England as would justify me in taking a more
decisive lead, except.it preparing the business. of the
new settlement; -and . this design, with the advice of
the most judicious of my friends, I communicated in a
letter to Lord North, with a proviso expressed in it,
that the General and Francis would let me act with
the moderation which I had prescribed to myself. I
am clearly of opinion, that as a servant of the public,
I followed the strict line of my duty; for I cannot
reconcile it to my sense of integrity to embark in
hazardous undertakings which no immediate. occasion
calls for, and which I am not certain of being allowed
to earry through their last effects, although I might
justify such & proceeding by alleging that I was to do
the best for the present, and leave those who succeeded
me to answer for the future, and that I was not to sup-
pose that any change in the government would take
place that would make any deviation in the regular
progress of it. This kind of reasoning may not be



120 MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS.

approved in this intriguing age; but you, my friend,
with whom I have never observed any reserve, and
who have had the opportunity, in a daily intercourse
of four years of official and social acquaintance, to
know my real disposition, will readily yield me the
eredit when I ascribe my actions to a preferable regard
to the public service, though in opposition to motives
of policy or private revenge. 1 could, if I pleased,
change every part of the present system, and make my
own continuance in the government necessary almost
to its existence; but I would not wish to bold it on
‘such terms, nor, indeed, do I think such a policy very
necessary, for it must be’very apparent, and universally
seen, before this time, that General Clavering is not
qualificd to hold the reins of a government like this,
if vexation does mot kill him before they can be put
into his hands. As 2 Prancis, like your gunpowder,
he is not worth wasting words abont.
I hope it will be seen, or that my friends, who are in
ion of the of making it visible, will show
it, that in the preparations which I am making for the
enguing settlement I do not bind this government to
anything. 1 collect materials for future application
which will be of use to me if I remain, which any new
rulers will be glad to find ready for their use, and
which, if General Clavering is to have the rule, he
may totally reject, or adopt my plan if he pleases, just
as if he had lain idle or asleep in the interval preceding
it. But in spite of rancour, obstinacy, and ignorance
yet more gross than his, he would find himself, in that
ease, even compelled. by their incontestable utility, to
employ them.
N. Middleton is returning to his station. He sets
out post to-morrow. By his means I hope to ripen
matters for reformation in that quarter. Major Hannay
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still waits at Chunar to prosecute his negociation with
Nudjif Cawn, as soon as Sumroo is removed. I am not
displeased with the delay as he is o near.

Francis Fowke is removed from Benares, I mean to
send Thomas Graham in his stead.

Beneram Pundit, the Berar Vackeel, is returned, and
strongly bent upon bringing about the long projected
alliance between that province and Bengal, which the
success of the Poona ministers against Sudaba will
éreaﬂy forward, and fresh despatches from Moodajee
Boosla are now on the road for that purpose.

All these are preparatives, and if their natural effects
should not coincide with the views of those who may
have the government a few months hence, they will

te no embarr t, nor impose the slightest
obligation to employ them.

The General has declared upon record that he shall
call every provincial counsellor to account that submits
to the authority of the new office which has been
created for collecting the accounts of the revenues, and
has verbally declared that he will prosecute them, and
that he has written to the Attorney and Solicitor-
general for their advice and opinions upon this sub-
ject. I think myself, therefore, more than justified in
removing his creatures from the provincial Councils,
that T may not be opposed by authority in a business
of such nicety and importance. But you have ham-
pered me a little in this point, for I am already threat-
ened with one prosecution. Fortunately, on examining
the list, I find the greatest part of them very good,
able, and honest men, and not half a dozen Gorings,
James Grants, or Rosewells amongst them. Such as
these I ehall certainly recall, and all others that shall
hereafter prove themselves like these. God be praised,
there are few such in the service.

In spite of the querulous opposition of the Ge-
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neral, and the clever though shallow protests of
Mr. Francis, Mr. Hastings followed out his plan
of a commission, and sent it forth under the
general superintendence of Messrs. Anderson and
Bogle, to perform its office. The information col-
lected by these means was invaluable ; yet he to
whom the Company was indebted had the arrange-
ment charged upon him as a crime. In the
Court’s Letter of July 1777, the whole measure is
denounced as a flagrant job. “ How,” say the
Directors,, “ can Mr. Hastings pretend ignorance
of the capabilities of the country, seeing that his
minute of 1772 declares, that inquiry had been
pushed to' the utmost? and by what motives ac-
tuated, save the meanest and the most corrupt,
eould he dream of employing in so important a
transaction, persons who bad been found guilty
of gross fraud, and dismissed from their offices
under government 7" It is somewhat singular that
it should never have occurred to the writers of
this epistle, that for all purposes of finance, the
country had undergone a prodigious change.
Since the inquiry of 1772 was instituted, which
had, by the way, for its object the ascertaining the
value of the lands occupied or managed by each
particular zemindar, these lands or estates had
repeatedly changed hands, some in whole, others
in part; so that the apportionments determined
upon at the commencement of the five years' set-
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tlement were, in 1776, quite inapplicable. It had
been proved, moreover, that:the. rents imposed
upon each district were exorbitantly- high. How
was justice to be done to all parties, except after a
fresh survey ?. or a'permanent system -established,
unless such survey were conducted with extra-
ordinary care? And as to’ the employment of
¥nfit persons, unless youth could be accounted a
legitimate ground of objection, there were not at
the disposal of government two gentlemen better
qualified, both on account of their talents and
their business-like habits, than Messrs. Anderson
and Bogle. But there was a native, one Gunga
Govind Sing, of-whom it was alleged both then,
and afterwards, that he was a convicted defrauder
of -the public revenues, and as such totally unfit
to be trusted. Never was charge more entirely
without foundation. Gunga Govind Sing, a man
of rare talents as an accountant, had indeed been
employed by Mr. Hastings in the management
of certain salt farms, situated in a district over
which he likewise presided as Dewan. In the
latter capacity it was his business to exact from
the farmers their yearly rents; in the former to
make to the salt manufacturers such advances as
from time to time they might require ;—and finding
one of these,the occupant both of a land and 2
salt farm, fall into’ arrears, he balanced the ac-
count against him in his capacity of land farmer,
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by deducting the sum due, 26,000 rupees, out
of the advances which he would otherwise have
made to the fabricator of salt. But Gunga
Govind Sing, like Mr. Stewart, and Mr. Maitland,
and many more, was a firm friend and protégé of
Mr. Hastings. Therefore this, a transaction per-
fectly fair and honest in itself, was worked up
into a criminal charge, and being brought home
to him without any attempt on his part to hide the
truth, he was, by order of the majority, dismissed.
I confess that I do not see why, on such grounds as
these, Mr. Hastings was bound to deprive himself,
and the commission, of the acknowledged talents
of a man, whose real and only fault was that he
had held office in the earlier part of the Governor-
general’s administration ; and earned, while so em-~
ployed, the Governor’s approbation.

In the conduct of this important affair, and the
general arrangement of public employment so as to
render the whole machine pliable in the hands by
which it was henceforth to be controlled, Mr.
Hastings found it absolutely necessary to displace
several of the functionaries who owed their ap-
pointments to his opponents in the Council, and to
substitute in their room friends of his own. For
this he has been severely censured, as if any blame
could attach to him, who in no single instance did
more than reinstate in his office some gentleman,
who in the sheer wantonness of party triumph bad
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been originally set aside. In particular his re-
appointment of Mr. Middleton in the room of Mr.
"Bristow as resident at the Durbar of the Nabob
of Oude has been stigmatised as a paltry triumph
of spleen, while the gentleness of his expressions
when assigning a reason for the latter gentleman’s
removal is quoted as a testimony against him. I
bave merely to observe that it did not belong to
Mr. Hastings’s nature to do anything, even an
act of painful justice, sternly. He spoke well of
Mr. Bristow as a man of honour and of talent;
but honour and talent, though essential ingredients
in the.character of a public servant, will not
suffice if they stand alone. Mr. Bristow’s views
of the policy which it was necessary to pursue in
dealing with the Nabob as a dependent ally, differed
altogether from those of Mr. Hastings; and as
the latter had determined on effecting some im-
portant changes, it was necessary that he should
have upon the spot an agent who should be both
able and willing to carry them out.” Such an
agent was Mr. Middleton, equal at least to Mr.
Bristow in the qualities both of his head and heart,
and greatly superior in this, that he had already
been tried in very delicate situations, and always
come out of them with credit. It is idle, there-
fore, to say, that either in this or any other
arrangement of the sort, Mr. Hastings sought only
to indulge his spite against Messrs, Clavering and
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Francis. Mr. Hastings was not deficient in feel-
ing; but he was too wise, as well as too good a
man to indulge his own humours at the expense’
either of moral right, or of his country’s interests.
There was not one of these changes which had not
a higher object in view than either the mortifi-
cation of the Governor’'s personal enemies, or the
advancement of the Governor’s personal friends.

I say nothing of the substitution at Benares
of Mr. Graham for Mr. Joseph Fowke; because
the true motives which induced Mr. Hastings to
effect that change will be best shown by and bye,
when we come to another stage in our parration.
Meanwhile I am bound to state, that no feeling of
bitterness towards the father (Mr. Francis Fowke,
of whose active hostility notice has elsewhere been
taken) had the smallest effect in overclouding the
fortune of the son. Mr. Joseph Fowke had never
enjoyed, and was never likely to enjoy, any share
of the Governor-general's confidence. He was
pledged to a system diametrically the reverse of
that ‘which Mr. Hastings laboured to establish ;
and would have been worse than useless as an
agent in carrying out Mr. Hastings’s designs,
And so it was throughout. From Mahommed
Reza Cawn down to the humblest native scribe,
whom, in the prosecution of his magnificent de-
yices, Mr. Hastings found it necessary to remove
from office, there was not one who owed his ap-
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parent depression to:any: other cause than an
irresistible political necessity. But it is time that
I shake myself free from these minute details,
and resume once more the thread of my general
history. .

-The - correspondence which I have interwoven
into the preceding pages will show, that not even
when sunk in the lowest depths of personal mor-
tification. was Mr. Hastings forgetful of the great
interests over which he had been appointed to
watch. Aware, indeed, that no project of his
would receive common attention on the spot, he
spoke but little to his colleagues of schemes by
far too gigantic for their comprehension; yet his
letters prove that of these schemes he never for a
moment lost sight, even when the hope of
seeing them fairly discussed was feeblest. No
sooner were the shackles removed by the death of ~
Colonel Monson, than his mind began again, with
its accustomed activity, to exercise itself. He
saw that the British empire was already become
the pivot round which all the states of India were
moving. - He felt that to the native powers it
was an object of extreme jealousy, and that eould.
they but succeed in smothering up, for a while,
their mutual animosities, they would, one and
all, combine for its destruction. Moreover, he
knew that obedience- to the letter of the Com-
pany’s instructions in the matter of foreign alli-
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ances, and the wars which might be expected to
arise out of them, was impossible. The English
were precisely in that situation which was incom~
patible with a state of rest; they must either go
on extending their influence till it should embrace
the whole of the continent, or they must look to
the hour as not very distant when they should be
driven from it entirely. What was to be done?
The authorities at home clamoured only for in-
creased investments. They were urgent in their
injunctions to practise economy, and to realize
from the provinces, with as little cost as might be-
the largest attainable amount of revenue. They
reprobated all interference with foreign states, and
believed that they were obeying, on these things,
the dictates Loth of wisdom and of moderation.
Mr. Hastings looked at the subject before him
through a different medium. He was far from
underrating the importance of peace and an iso-
lated position, if they could be preserved ; but he
could not shut his eyes to the truth, that isolation,
in this case at least, was quite out of the question,
inasmuch as the whole atmosphere around breathed
of nothing but its opposite. He cast hia eyes
over the map, and beheld three detached tracts of
country, all of them considerable, and one at Jeast
a thickly peopled empire, subject to the sway of a
handful of Europeans. Watching these, and eager
to overwhelm them, yet rendered comparatively
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innocuous, by reason of their lack of confidence
in one another, were the Mahrattas—a confede~
ration of principalities; Hyder Ali, now sovereign
of Mysore; Mahommed Ali, Nizam of the Deccan;
with many other states of less importance when
regarded singly, yet very formidable if drawn into
combination, or induced to act under a common
{head. Nevertheless the home authorities desired
him to hold entirely aloof from these states, and
to maintain no communication with them, either
friendly or the reverse. It was very easy to issue
these orders, yet how were they to be obeyed? seeing
that the same authorities required him to exercise
the most rigid economy even in the arrangements
of their military establishments, on the efliciency of
which the existence of their power depended. But
this was not all ; Mr. Hastings knew that all the
resources of all the provinces, if applied exclusively
to one end, would not suffice to keep together such
an army as would enable him, single handed, to
maintain his footing in India, were he seriously
attacked. et the French, whose hostile intentions
were already beginning to be suspected, send but
an adequate force round which the native powers
might rally, and under the very first cordiul june-
tion of these against him he must fall. How did
he proceed? With the farsightedness which is
never found except among statesmen of the highest
order, he conceived the idea of that subsidiary
VOL. IL. K
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system, out of which all our greatness in India has
arisen. He resolved, if possible, to contract close
and intimate alliances with the minor states
contiguous to his own, and to maintain at their
expense such a force, as should at once protect
them from both foreign and domestic violence, and
place him in a position to cope with any or all of
the greater powers, should they move against
him.

There were many causes then at work, parti-
cularly in the relations which subsisted between
the English and the Mabrattas, which rendered
the adoption of this plan urgently necessary. The
peace which had been concluded by the treaty of
Poonah nobody expected to continue. Both the
ministers at Poonah and the Bombay government
were dissatisfied with it, and each was ready and
eager to seize the first convenient pretext for
appealing once more to the sword. Moreover
such symptoms of union in the great Mahratta
confederacy had recently shown themselves, as were
calculated both to surprise and alarm the lookers
on; and against the effects of this, as well as of
other contingencies more remote, perhaps, but not
therefore by him unobserved, Mr. Hastings was
anxious to provide. I do mot know that the fol-
lowing letters stand in peed of any explanation,
to him at least who knows even imperfeetly the
outlines of Indian history ; and as my Dusiness is
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to deseribe rather the individual, than the theatre
on which his fame was acquired, I am bound to
assume that of such knowledge my reader is al-
ready possessed. I therefore transcribe both them,
and the masterly plan which accompanied them,
without one word of commentary.

To Mr. ALexaxper Eitlorr.
Fort William, 12th January, 1777.

My dear Elliott,—This letter will comprise one con-
neeted subject ; and to render this intelligible, X shall
take it up from a very early period.

After the famous defeat of the Mahrattas at Pon-
niput, Sudaba, the sccond officer in command, and the
first cousin of Ragonaut Row or Ragoba, the late
Peshwa and competitor of the ministers of Poona, was
missing, and supposed to have becen .slain. About
three years after, a man disfigured with wounds made
his appearance, under the name of Sudaba, with a
small force ; was attacked and defeated, made prisoner,
and exposed as au impostor by the ruling Peshwa.
From that time he continued a prisoner till the month
of April last, when he escaped from his confipement,
collected a considerable army, and even made himself
master of all the country called Concan, which lics
between the hills and the sea.  On the 27th of October
he ventured on an engagement with the forces of the
actual government, was totally routed, put to sea in a
small vessel, and sailed to the island of Bombay, where
he demanded protection. Unfortunately for him, the
governor and second in command were both absent at
Salsette, and Mr. Draper, who had charge of the fort,
sending two persons of inferior rank to receive him, the
devoted fugitive construed this into an insult, and in a
fit of ill-timed pride instantly departed, threw himself

K2
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into the hands of a Mahratta chief named Ragoojee
Angria, who delivered him up a prisoner to the
ministers at Poona. Ragonaut Row, more fortunate,
escaped to Bombay, where he was received, and
probably continues there. It is said that Mr. Hornby,
on the first news of Sudaba’s confinement, sent a depu-
tation to Ragoojee Angria to demand him, with a de-
claration of war in case of a refusal. Such, at least, is
the representation of this affair which we have received
from Poona, where both this measure and the asylum
granted to Ragoba are treated as acts of hostility
against the Mahratta state and direct infringements of
the treaty. We too have taken up the charges as such,
and sent peremptory orders to the presidency of Bom-
bay to dismiss Ragonaut Bow. In the meantime
Colonel Upton continues, notwithstanding our repeated
orders for his recall, at Poona, whether by his free
consent or by constraint is uncertain. The style both
of his letters and those of the Peshwa seems to confirm
the common report of his being detained by force. "
This is not the only suspicious circumstance. All the
letters from Poona, both before and since the ratifica-
tion of the treaty, are filled with reproaches for the
hostile acts which preceded it, and even strong indica-
tions that the aathors of them did not regard the
treaty as binding but on the persons only who signed
it. Their last letters, which were written immediately
after the overthrow of Sudaba, contain a demand in
behalf of the King of Tanjore, whose pame never
before appeared in any papers of their correspondence
or the negociation with Colonel Upton. These are, at
best, but doubtful symptoms; and, added to the indis-
position which the presidency of Bombay have all
along shown to the late treaty, portend but a short
duration to the peace concluded by it.

By the overthrow of Sudaba, the intestine troublcs
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which have so long disturbed the Mahratta state ap-
pear to have been so far appeased as to leave them at
full leisure to prosccute remote undertakings. The
same letters that brought us the news of this event
also informed us that the ministers had set on foot an
expedition against Hyder Ally. By other channels we
learn that Nizam Ally Cawn and Moodajee Boosla,
the Rajah of Berar, have been invited and have agreed
to join their forces on this occasion.

So sudden a revival and reunion of the powers of
this great empire, and so sudden an application of
them immediately on the close of a long civil war, indi-
cate a degree of vigour in its constitution which cannot
fail to alarm the friends of the Company, if the subse-
quent appearances shall warrant this conclusion. I
think they will not, but persuade myself that the
present conjuncture i8 no less favourable than any of
the past (always excepting the ill-fated treaty with
Ragoba) for advancing the interests of the Company,
and extending their influence and connexions, I will
tell you why.

In the first place, a confederacy formed between the
Peshwa, the Subadar of Deccan, who has plundered
the Mahrattas of a great part of the Poona state, and
the Chief of Berar, its nominal vassal, all possessing
mutual claims on each other, and swayed by opposite
interests, cannot hold long together. In the second,
the government of Poona is weak in itself, by want of
constitutional authority in those who possess the rule
of it, and by want of unanimity among themselves.
Nana Maraba Furncess, one of their principal mem-
bers, has openly scparated himself from the rest.
Their chief, Succaram Babboo, is old and infirm; and
both he and Nana Furneess, who are the only parties
to the treaty latcly concluded with us in the name of
the Mahratta state, lately demanded and received
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passports from the government to retirc to Benarcs,
with the avowed design of p g the remainder of
their lives there in devotion, This design, though
probably suggested only by the personal dangers to
which they were exposed by the rapid successes of
Sudaba, must diminish the confidence and respect
which are the natural attendants of a fixed and regular
authority. And thirdly, the government of Berar
possesses in it the seeds of civil discord, which are at
this time ready to spring up on the first occasion that
can favour their growth. This is a subject that re-
quires me to be more explicit than I have been on
others, and this too I must take up « ovo.

Ragoojee Boosla, the Rajah of Berar, the same
person who invaded Bengal, and subjected it to the
Chout in the time of the Nabob Alliverdy Cawn,
dying, left four sons, Jannoojce, Shabajce, Moodajee,
and Bimbajce. Jannoojee succeeded him. He, having
no child, adopted the son of Moodajec, who was called
by the name of his grandfather, Ragoojee. On the
death of Jannoojce, Shabajee, the second brother, suc-
ceeded to the government, but held it in the name of
his nephew, the legal heir. This was the cause of con-
tinual dissensions between the two brothers—Shabajee
holding the government in right of primogeniture,
Moodajce claiming it on the behalf of his own son,
though the legal affinity between them was changed by
his elder brother’s adoption. In the late dissensions
between Ragonaut Row and the ministers of Poona,
Shabajee took part with the former, and Moodajee
with the latter; but their own affairs calling them
home before those were decided, they came to an open
rupture. Shabajee was slain, and bis brother assumed
the governimnent in his stead.

Here I must go back to reiate another transaction
more immediately connected with the subject of this
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letter. Shabajee, a little before his return to Berar,
sent a Vackeel, named Beneram Pundit, to Calcutta,
with a letter containing professions of friendship and e
desire to be on terms of alliance with this government,
1 thought this an occasion not to -be slighted, and
returned such an. answer as was most proper to en-
courage the wishes of Shabajee without expressing too
interested a solicitude to meet them; and I sent the
Vackeel back big with the project of uniting the pro-
vince of Berar to this government on terms similar to
those which had been formed with Sujah Dowla by the
treaty concluded at Benares, and which I may venture
to say were such as afforded the Company every
advantage that could be derived from such an alliance
without derogating from the dignity or ecredit of
our ally.

While Beneram was on his return, the revolution
took place which I have mentioned above; and as he
was known to be the confidential servant of Shabajee,
some fime elapsed before he ventured to return to his
new master. Being at length, however, invited to
come, he went and was well reccived. Moodajee read
the letters,and answered them as addressed to himself;
and after eome time, thought proper to send him back
in his former character, with hand professions, but
general, and with no declared object or instructions.
A very friendly, and in eome sort confidential, cor«
respondence, however, has continued between us ever
since. From Beneram Pundit I learn that the same
feuds which formerly divided the two brothers while
Shabajee was living, are now likely to break out be-
tween Moodajee and hie son, who is now about nine-
teen years of age, and begins to look upon his father
as the usurper of his rights. In these sentiments he
has been confirmed by a man who has been the suc-
cessive minister of the three brothers, named De-
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waugdr Pundit, who finds himself of too little conse-
quence with his present master, and naturally concludes
that he shall acquire a greater ascendant on the mind
of his young pupil, if he should succeed in obtaining
his adv t to the p ion of the government.
By the intrigues of this man, Nizam Ally has been in-
duced to invite Moodajee Boosla to his court, for the
purpose of concerting measures for their common
interests, or to send his Dewan if he should be pre-
vented from attending himself. - To the last proposition
Moogajee has consented, as he mentions in a letter I
have lately received from him ; and I understand that
it is proposed that Ragojee shall accompany him, with
the secret design of gaining the support of Nizam Ally
in the prosecution of the projects against Moodajee.
‘Whatever may be the issue of these measures, a proper
attention to the circumstances as they arise might put
it easily in the power of this government, were it duly
authorized, to convert them to the advantage of the
Company without any sacrifice-of their faith or hazard
of their interests.

‘We bave a battalion of sepoys already stationed in
the districts bordering on Berar, and another added to
it would be sufficient to answer any purpose for whicl
they might be wanted. :

It is impossible to foresee the circumstances on
which our ioterposition may be demanded, or on
which it could be honourably given, and therefore im-
possible to anticipate the mode of it.

You are already well acquainted, h , with the
general system which I wish to be empowered to
establish in India, namely, to extend the influence of
the British nation to every part of India not too remote
from their possessions, without enlarging the circle of
their defence or involving them in hazardous or inde-
finite engagements, and to accept of the allegiance of
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such. of our neighbours as shall sue to be enlisfed
among the friends and allies of the King of Great
Britain. The late Nabob Sujah Dowla, who wanted
neither pride nor understanding, would have thought
it an honour to be called the Vizier of the King of
England, and offered at one time to coin siccas in His
Majesty’'s name. Nor was this a mere visionary
project ; the credit of such a.comnection with the
sovereign of a power which has for a long time past
mhde so considerable a figure in Hindostan would of
itself be a great advantage. But I am afraid that his
chief inducement arose from a great defect in our
political constitution of which he had severely felt the
bad effects; I mean the rapid succession of persons
entrusted (under whatever name or character) with the
rule and administration of the British affairs in this
part of our Indian | ions; the quent want
of consistency in their measures, and even in their
attachments and engagements; and the caprices to
which he was often exposed on the same account. Had
he possessed the spirit of foresight, he would have had
severe cause for these reflections in the miserable state
of penury and servitude to which his son has been
since reduced, ineffectually to our interests, as every
excess of power beyond its proper bounds will ever
defeat its own purposes. Nor indeed has the son
much cause to complain of an injury which he has
scarce sense or sensibility to discover; although it
must be redressed whenever that state has a more
worthy ruler, and the sovereignty restored with all its
rights unimpaired io the lawful proprietor. But I
weander from my subject. My intention in this digres-
sion is to show the advantages which would be derived
both by Government and its allies from & direct en-
gagement with them, made with the sanction of the
King’s name, which would secure it from wanton and
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lic#utious. violatiem, and render the ob_pects of it more
certain andrdurable:

On.thie fophng I would replace the subaship of
Qude..: On-thig feeting I would establish an alliance
with: Berar. : These ountries are of ‘more importance
to.ns; then.any -ethers from their contiguity to ours,
and therefore it is of icbnseguence. to settle their con-
nexion with us before that of any other. But the
same system mlght be rendered more extensive by
time, and the observance of a steady prineiple of con-
dpuet, and an invariable attachment to formal engage-
ments. . Lo

I will not here enumerate all the .advantages which
may be derived from this plan to you especially, to
whom I have long ago explained persopally my views
and sentiments upon this subject. .-Indeed, except a
short and rather obscure intimationof it.in one of my
letters to Lord North, I have communicated it to no
person but Colonel MacLeane and yourself; and that
is'my principal reason among others for having written
to y¥&ther than any one else upon the various points
contained in this letter. To enable me to carry it into
execution, 1 must be released from the restrictions
which I.at present lie.under ; I must hage discretionary
powers, and a fixed, channel of correspondence.

I shall follow the subject no further, but leave it
here to your discretion to make such use of it as you
shall judge most likcly to prove effectual to its execu-
tion, or to suppress it. I am aware that I tread on
dangerous ground, exposed to the ill-will of the Com-
pany, if they look to the renewal of their Charter, and
to all the popular and rooted prejudiceg which are en-
tertained against the expensive projects of military
enterprise, and the injustice of . disturbing the peace of
our quiet neighbours; for this construction will be
given to it. 'To answer these and the other objections
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to this plan would require much time and ,argument ;
but though this might be necessary to the support of
a proposition calculated for the public eye, it will not
be wanted on this occasion, as I hope it will be only
seen by those who are fo adopt if, and to whom its
obvious consequences will need little explanation. I
trust it to you in confidence, and desire that you will
impart it with the same caution, that I may not suffer
by the attempts to raise the power of my country, and
tg extend the influence of the King’s name among na-
tions to which it is yet unkaown, if the means which I
have recommended should be judged inadequate to
such laudable ends, or impolitic with respect to other
circumstances. Of their justice and moral propriety I
have no doubt. 1 am ever, my dear Elliott, your most
affectionate friend.

To Arexanper ELviorr, Esq.
Fort William, 10th February, 1777,

My dear Elliott,—The accompanying letter was writ-
ten and intended for the last despatch. It contains the
particular application of a system with which you are
already well acquainted. Whatever my own conviction
may be of its expediency, I am tied down from acting
directly, nor can I employ even influence with the rod
of authority banging over my head.

Nor is this my only difficulty. I cannot communicate
a subject of this nature through any official channel.
If I write to the Secret Committee, they are too many
to be entrusted with it. They may not all be disposed
to receive 8 proposition from me with candour; and
bodies of men, however small, are always indifferent
to the business which is brought regularly before
them. I cannot write to the Chairman, because, in the
first place, I know not who he is; and in the second, be-
cause both the gentlemen who hold the first stations
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in the Direction at this time, are, as I understand, my
professed enemics, and would be therefore more likely
to draw conclusions from what I wrote to my disad-
vantage than to adopt my recommendations. Neither
can I approach the King’s minister on such an occasion
without some preparatory caution, in which his leisure,
his inclinations, and the ability of the times should be
consulted.

1t is impossible for me to foresce what may be the
dispositions in England when this letter shall arrive.
1t is equally impossible to reconcile the different orders
which the Court of Directors last year gave us for our
conduct towards the powers of India. They desire us
upon no account to enter into any wars, however ad-
vantageous to the Company, and they at the same
time direct “us to co-operate with the Presidency of
Bombay in keeping possession of the lands which Ra-
gobah ceded to them by treaty. The first is an absolute
prohibition to interfere in the politics of India. The
last is a positive order to interfere, and fo engage in a
war with the first power in India.

Being thus at a loss to judge of the views of the
Court of Directors, I am still more so to judge of those
of the King, to the knowledge of which 1 have no
access. I must therefore leave it to you to consider
well the dispositions of the times, and of the ministers.
If you have reason to believe that such. a system as I
have recommended will be approved, I trust to yon to
make use of such means as you shall judge most likely
to promote it. If, on the contrary, men's minds are
adverse to the extension of our infl you had best
say nothing about it, as it can serve no good purpose,
and may be turned to my disadvantage.

These despatches I shall entrust to Captain Toone,
You know his worth, and my affection for him. 1
have earnestly recommended his return if he ean re-
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cover his constitution ; and if your interest can promote
his views you will oblige me by serving him. Iam
ever, my dear Elliott, your most affectionate friend.

P.S.—Sudaba, who is mentioned in the accompany-
ing letter, has been put to death, having been beaten
with clubs till he expired. This, you know, is not
murder, but simple manslaughter by the doctrine of
Abbi Haneefa; but seems to have been done by these
Hindoos to avoid the shedding of sacred blood; an
grgument in favour of Sudaba’s cause.

For a fuller explanation of the design, which is con-
tained in my letters of the 12th ultimo, I have drawn
it up with as much accuracy as my time would allow
in a methodiecal form in the enclosed sheets, which I
trust to your discretion to make such use of as you
think proper. 1t is yet incomplete, as I could only
venture to propose what I saw a moral certainty of ac-
complishing. In the natural operation of such am
influence once established many important objects will
start up which it is impossible to foresee, and many
which, though within the reach of conjecture, would
appear visionary if formally detailed. I have no fear
of its failing to produce the good effects which I have
described, nor even much greater. The only danger
which I should apprehend would be from the attempt
to make the most of it that could be made. The
rapacity of individuals, and the lation of those in
actual power to surpass their predecessors, will ever
prove the greatest evils of our political system. Our
alliance with the Nabob of Oude is a striking illustra-
tion of this. It was in the beginning an unprofitable
charge to the Company. It was placed on a footing
of mutual advantage to both. It is now become an
oppressive burthen on that province, which must soon
fall with increased weight on the Company. The late
Vizier paid to the Company a tribute of 23,20,000
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rupees, and cheerfully paid it. It was optional, be-
cause he was at liberty to dismiss the brigade when
the exigency of his affairs no longer required it; and
he could safely dispense with it. The present Nabob
has yielded up a revenue of twenty-thrce lacs in the
cession of Benares; he pays, or rather ought to pay,
31,20,000 rupees a year for the subsidy ; and we have
added to his expenses an _extravagant mlhtary esta-
blishment which, at its estimated , is an 1
charge of above forty lacs. 8o that we arein fact the dis-
tributors of a crore of rupees drawn from his treasury,
which is already exhausted, and that part of his army
which still remains under his own direction is rendered
a useless and even a d us brance, b

he cannot pay it. Our bngade therefore, must con-
tinue a fixture to that province, which would be a prey
to the meanest invader the instant that it was deprived
of its support.

Many of the propositions in this scheme require ex-
planation. This you can give, but I have not time,
and 1 have a]ready made it too long. Nudjif Cawn's
pension is due in justice to him, as he ‘quitted us un-
willingly, and followed the King at the express solicita-
tion of the commander-in-chief of eur army. He has
ever proved faithful to us, and possesscs such resources
in his military talents, and in the credit of them, that
while he lives he will be our best shield against the
only enemy which we have 1o dread in that quarter,
the Mahrattas. He has no money, and can therefore
pay Bo subsidy, and whenever he dies, we must look
to other means of defence on that fronticr of our pos-
sessions and those of our ally.

If peace is to be our object, I cannot devise a more
likely way to ensure it than to command all the means
of war, and this is the only use I would wish even to
make of the plan which 1 have proposed, if it is
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adopled while I remain here. This, I suppose, will
not be long. I wish it not, unless I -possess power
and confidence, and shall be bettor pleased to-be re-
called at once than to remain with a doubtful authority
till the short time is passed which has been allotted
me by parliament, and then go out of course. I would
not accept of an empire on such terms. If I must give
the place to General Clavering, he will revenge the in-
justice done me by it, if I could seek such a revenge;
abd if 2 new member is added in the room of Colonel
Monson, I shall expect the renewal of the same vio-
lences which I have already experienced, for I cannot
hope that the choice will fall on a friend of mine. Be-
sides, it is not in nature for five men to share the same
power, and not to divide into factions, when one man
can always make 2 majority.

Enclosed iu Mr. Elliott's Letter, dated the 10th February, 1777.

The superiority which the English possess over the
other powers of India is derived from two causes, ‘the
authority of their government, and their military
discipline. It is by these advantages only that they
can improve or maintain it.

Every political measure ought to be -carefully
avoided that may have a tendency to weaken either.

An extension of territory beyond certain bounds is
dangerous, and must in the course of time prove fatal
to both.

Remote military expeditions are liable to the same
effects ; but these may be obviated to a certain extent
by proper regulations, and by an undeviating adherence
to them.

The province of Bengal (in which I include Bahar),
though nearly equal in dimensions to Great Britain
itself, is capable of being defended against any power
which may invade it, so long as it can be supplied with
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vince of Oude. Let the British officers be rccalled
from the Nabob’s service whenever it can be done with
safety.

2. While Nudjif Cawn lives, let his pension be con-
firmed to him, on the condition of his furnishing this
Government with a body of 5000 horse whenever
demanded.

3. Let a treaty of defensive alliance be formed with
the Rajah of Berar. Let such a number of our batta-
lions of sepoys, but without any Evropean infantry or
artillery, as shall be necessary for his protection, be
stationed with him, and annually relieved. Let him
pay a fixed monthly subsidy for these, of  rupeces for
each battalion.

4. Let the alliance with the Nabob of Arcot be con-
firmed by treaty, and on the conditions recommended
in my letter to Lord North of the 1st of September,
and let the Nabob be put in full possession of the
zemindarry of Tanjour. Let him pay a monthly sub-
sidy for the British troops and sepoys on that ecsta-
blishment. :

5. The political connexions of the Presidency of
Bombay cannot be prescribed under the present un-
certain state of their affairs. The treaty lately ratified
with the Poonah government is not formed for long
duration, and the breach of it, whenever it happens,
will eithe¥ produce a state of lasting hostility, or lead
the government of Bombay to new and surer engage-
ments. '

6. Let every treaty be executed in the name of the
King of Great Britain, expressing the reciprocal con-
ditions of protection and fidelity, and with his express
sanction.

7. Let it be lawful for the Governor-general and
Council of Bengal, and for the Presidents and Councils
of Fort St. George and Bombay, with the consent of

VOL. II. L
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the Governor-general and Council of Bengal, to enter
into temporary agreements with any other princes or
states for a term of two or three years only, and re-
newable after the expiration of that term.

8. If among these any should desire o be bound by
perpetual ties with the King of Great Britain, and their
situation and consequence shall be such as will admit
of it, such may be received into his -alliance and pro-
tection, on terms similar to those of the treaties already
prescribed, varying only as their wants and means may
proportionably require it.

9. Let three complete brigades on the present estar
blishment be kept up for the defence of the province
of Bengal, and the dependencies of the province of
Oude, as above described, two of which shall always
remain in the former, and relieve that stationed in the
latter once in two years.

10. Let an additional number of battalions be added
to the brigades for the purposes of furnishing the aids
required in other stations beyond our own provinces.

This system will be attended with the following ad-
vantages :—

1. It will provide an incrcase of our military and
political strength without an addition of expense, which
may be employed to co-operate in all its parts to the
defence of our own p and whenever the
occasion shall be s0 vrgent as to demand it, may be
united for the same end.

2. It will prove an immediate security to our own
borders.

3. It will be the means of seeuring the friendship
and support of those powers, who might otherwise be
won to the French interest, if that nation should ever
attempt the invasion of Bengal, or of the other presi-
dencies, and be a check upon others whose territorics
lie contiguous fo them.
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4. It will afford the controlling government of
Bengal a complete knowledge -of the strength, con<
nexions, and designa of all the powers of Hindostan,
and may enable it to prevent connexions against any
of the British possessions, or those of its allies.

5. It may eventually draw a portion of the wealth
of India into Bengal, not only by the means of subsidies
paid by the States. in alliance with it, but by opening

ew channels of commerce.

6. It will afford employment and ‘support to the
middle class of the subjects of Great Britain, whose
services are less required at home than those of the
lower rank of life:

7. To these may be added, though but as negative
advantages, that it will require no addition of recruits
from England, and that the external influence of the
British power in India will be extended without any
diminution of 'its internal strength, or the dangers
usually attendant on distant military operations.

I foresee many objections which may be wurged
against this system, but none which may not be obviated
by the establishment of an active and permanent form
of government here, and a fixed channel of correspon-
dence at home. The present comstitution is in its
nature incapable of vigour or unanimity. It is loaded
with business in detail, and it wants both confidence,
authority, and consistency, because the primary orders
under which it acts are dictated by a variable body of
men, who have power neither to reward nor punish;
who possess np interest, and can derive no credit from
the suceess . of the affairs which they superintend, who
aro charged with no responsibility, and are subject to
a continual fluctuation of measures, both from the want
of progressive knowledge, and the change of opinions
inseparable from a change of persons.

These defects obviously point out their own remedies.

L2
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It would lead me into too wide s field, nor is it within
the sphere of my province, to prescribe them.

I shall conclude with one observation which I think
necessary to obviate the charge either of levity or arti-
fice; which may be imputed to me for the multitude of
plans which I have at different times recommended
(should this ever go beyond the hands to which it is
immediately directed) for the various departments and
operations of this Government. In this attempt I
have only trod the path which it was equally the duty
of my predecessors to trace; but which they left unno-
ticed. On my arrival in Bengal 1 found this Govern-
ment in possession of a great and rich dominion, and a
wide political system which has been since greatly ex-
tended, without one rule of government, but what de-
scended to it from its ancient commercial institutions,
or any principle of policy but sach as accident or the
desultory judgment of those in actual power recom-

ded. It was y to restore the authority of
Government to the source from which its powers ori-
ginated ; to assume the direct control, instead of allow-
ing it to actbys led and weakened infl ; to
constitate an uniform and effectual mode for the ma-
nagement and collection of the public revenue; to
establish regular courts for the administration of civil
and criminal justice; to give strength and utility to
its political connexions, and to transfer a share of its
wealth to Great Britain, without exhausting its eircu-
lation. This, aided by the abilities and superior
knowledge of my iates in the Gover t, I at.
tempted, b it was tially y in itself;
because it was my particalar province, and beeause I
was expressly enjoined to do it: and, if I may judge
by the present state of Bengal, notwithstanding the
distractions which have prevailed in it for more than
two years past, the measures which were adopted for
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these ends were as effectual as the means with which
we were supplied could enable us to make them. To
render them more so, torender the changes which were
introduced by the late Act of Parliament more subser-
vient to the purposes for which they were ordained,
and to supply the radical defects which it either created
or lefi unremedied, I have recommended an additional
plan for the administration of justice. I haveproposed
rules for arranging the powers of Giovernment, and
both particular and general systems for our external
policy. The same duty which prompted and compelled
me to point out the means of reformation in one
instance, equally enjoined it in all where it was wanting.
And whether I have erred in my endeavours, or they
shall be judged deserving of the public attention, still
they were such as appertained to my trust and station;
and such as I could not have withheld without a crime;
and whatever part I may leave deficient, my successors
must supply, or they will prove themselves unfaithful
ministers, and the State which they serve will suffer
through their neglect.

I am far from supposing that any general measure
of Government, however formed, will completely an-
swer all the ends for which it was projected, much less
do I presume to aim at that degree of perfection in
those which I have ventured to recommend. The
dominion exercised by the British Empire in India is
fraught with many radical and incurable defects, be-
sides those to which all human institutions are liable,
arising from the distance of its scene of operations, the
impossibility of furnishing it at all times with those
aids which it requires from home, and the difficulty of
reconciling its primary exigencies with those which in
all States ought to take place of every other concern,
the interests of the people who are subjected to its
authority. All that the wisest institutions can effect
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in such a system can only be to improve the advaniages
of a temporary possession, and to protract that decay,
which sooner or later must end it.

Such was the state of affairs at Bengal, and
such the gigantic schemes which Mr. Hastings was
maturing, when an event befel which threatened,
at one time, to involve both the Government and
the province in greater confusion than ever. On
the 18th of June a ship arrived from England,
bringing with her despatches from the Court of
Directors, in which were detailed the results of
that extraordinary intrigue of which I have been
happily enabled to lay before my reader all the
particulars.  Of the effect produced by these de-
spatches on the Supreme Council, and the part
played by General Clavering and Mr. Francis,
it is not necessary for me to speak. The usurpa-
tion by the former of the powers of the Governor-
general, as well as the process by which his plan
was countervailed and defeated, have long been
matters of history. But Mr. Hastings’s view
of the case is still worthy of attention, and I
am glad that it is in my power to make it publie.
The following letter contains a summary of all the
transactions that occurred, as well as the senti-
ments of the chief actor in them. It is a curious
document, and cannot fuil, when read in con-
nexion with Mr, MacLeane’s commanications, to
satisfy every impartial percon, that Mr. Hastings’s
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conduct was throughout both judicious and
honourable.

To Mr. Sykes. .
Fort William, 29th June, 1777
My dear Sykes,—The shortness of the period in which
I must close my despatches for Europe has obliged
me to employ an auxiliary hand to acquaint you of
the several wonderful revolutions which have occurred.
&ince the arrival of the Rippon's unlucky advices. And
the present imperfect abstract shall be filled up and
explained by the first future occasion. On the 19th
instant this mysterious packet was opened in Council:
To the general letter was annexed a postscript with
information, that Mr. MacLeane had addressed the
Court of Directors, acquainting them that he was
authorized, empowered, and directed by me to intimate
my desire to resign; that the Court had unanimously
resolved to accept of my resignation, and had appointed
Mr. Wheler to fill up the vacancy which would con-
sequently be made in the Council. The general letter
enclosed copies of Mr. MacLeane's address, of the
Directors’ petition to the king for his approbation of
Mr. Wheler's appointment, of an official assent from
Lord Weymouth, of the instrument of approbation
under the Royal Sign Manual, and of the Court of
Directors’ Commission to Mr. Wheler. The Council
broke up after reading the despatches. Friday the
20th was regularly appropriated to the Revenue
Board, which I summoned as usual, But the General,
about ten o'clock in the morning, issued a summons
in his own name as Governor-general to the other
members for an extraordinary General Council to be
held that day to receive from me the charge of the
Government, the keys of the Fort and Treasuries, &e.
and at the same time wrote me a letter to inform me
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of his intentions, and absolutely requiring that my
resignation should take place that day. About cleven
o'clock he and Mr. Francis met at the general council
table, Mr. Barwell and myself at the Board of Revenue.
The General immediately proceeded to take the oaths
as Governor-general, and to deliberate and preside at
the Board in that capacity. As soon as I was fully
informed of this, I requested that the judges would
attend at the Revenue Board to consult upon the
subject, and to give me their opinion. They met me
immediately, but to no purpose; for the General had
Ppreviously gotten possession of the Europe despatches,
and refuseq to deliver them up, though twice required
by our Secretary in public letters, and afterwards by
Mr. Barwell in person, who was informed by the
General sitting as Governor-general that he might
take his seat as a member of that Board and hear them
read, but that they should not be put into his pos-
session. 1 however assured the judges in writing,
that if, upon inspection of the papers, they should
judge that any act of mine had passed from whence
my actual resignation could be deduced, I would im-
mediately vacate the chair. The General and Mr.
Francis, sitting as a complete Council, and delivering
opinions and forming orders and resolutions as such,
after having notice that our requisition of the Europe
despatches was for the purpose.of emabling the judges
to form an opinion upon the subject, wrote a joint
letter to the bench, in which they stated their own
claims as indubitably and immovably grounded on the
several authorities contained in the general letter,
copies of which they inclosed ; and, though not by any
means referring the matter to their decision, or offering
to abide by their determination, agreed to suspend
the execntion of theiy orders as s Council till the
judges had given their opinion; expressly requesting
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that they would deliberate by themselves apart, and
not in conjunction with Mr. Barwell or myself. The
judges - met the same evening, and were most decisively
and unanimously of opinion, that any assumption of
the chair by General Clavering would be illegal. This
opinion they delivered in a separate letter to each
party; but in the same strong terms and in the fullest
manner to both. Upon this the General and Mr.
Francis wrote them a letter, agreeing to acquiescé in
their judgment. On Monday we continued to meet
by adjournment from Friday, but without Mr. Francis,
who had been twice summoned on the 20th, but neither
came mor apologized for his absence. After perusal
of the whole proceedings and minutes of General Clave-
ring’s illegal Board, held on Friday, we were clearly
of opinion, that the General, by taking the oaths as
Governor-general, and by his several other acts and
declarations as such, had actually vacated his seat of
senior councillor, and his post of Commander-in-Chief,
and we entered it accordingly in separate resolutions
to each point, causing immediate notice of these re-
solutions to be given by our secretary to the General,
and a copy of oyr whole proceedings as soon as it could
be made out. He and Mr. Francis now addresscd the
judges again in two successive letters, one on the
same day, attempting to refute the arguments which
had been used by them (the judges) to prove my
non-resignation ; and another early the next morning,
desiring our judgment upon our resolutions concerning
the vacation of General Clavering’s offices. . This latter
address met a more favourable answer than their first
letter, and the judges offered it as their opinion that
we had no legal power to declare this vacancy, and
advised a compromise. We met in Council the next
day, and agreed, in the words dictated by the judges,
to recede from -the execution of our resolutions of the
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preceding morning; referring our several claims to
England for decision, but not acting here in conse-
quence of nonconformity to those claims, but consented
in the mean time to leave every thing in the same
state as it stood before the arrival of the packet. I
shall continue by the first opportunity to put into
your hands the whole proceedings of this extraordinary
Board, as the best comment upon the nature of the
action and the temper of the actors.

What the future line of my conduct will be, it is
not possible for me to defermine until I shall have
received the information which I hourly expect by the
Princess Royal, as that ship left England two months
after the Rippon ; but from all that is at present before
me, I think myself clearly absolved from abiding by
Mr. MacLeane’s offer of resignation. 1 shall, however,
act with the utmost caution and prudential regard,
both to my own public duty and to his honour. At
all events, it is impossible 1 should resign in favour
of General Clavering, who, having vacated his own
seat to thrust himself unwarrantably into mine, has
certainly, at the present moment, no legal title to be
a member of the Board, as the act has made no pro-
vision for his retorning to his seat, nor can the king
himself give him the gover t in prejudice to Mr.
Barwell, who is now the only legal successor to the
chair upon my quitting it.

30th June. Since the above was written, the Rippon
public packet has arrived, and I received by it your
letter, dated the 31st October last.

I am as little pleased as you are with the offer of
my resignation. It was contrary to all the letters I
have written to Coloncl MacLeane and my other
friends since his departure, and to my letters {0 the
Court of Directors, which all call out for a decision,
either by my dismission or eonfirmation, and all vow
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that I'will not resign. I will enclose two' passages in
my last letters which were veceived from me at the
time of this unfortunate accommodation, and of another
to MacLeane, &c., which indeed had not then been
received, which ‘mark in the strongest and most in-
telligible language my resolution. In a letter to
George Vansittart, I call it the vow which I have re-
peatedly made, and say I will never depart from if.
To all my friends here I have studiedly made the
same declaration, and I am mortified to the last degree
with the appearance which must be against me, of so
much duplicity of conduct. :

I cannot distinctly remember what instructions I°
gave to Graham and MacLeane, and if I kept a eopy
I have mislaid it: but I well remember, and if agrees
with Barwell's remembrance of it, that I expressed my
apprekensions of being made an instrument of party,
and especially of ministerial opposition; that I warned
my friends against it, and said that if nothing else
would support me, and the Government and the Cori-
pany were resolved on my removal, that they should give
up the contest, and leave me to defend myself with the
public, if it should be necessary, when I came home.
I believe and think it obvious, that I gave them an
unlimited discretion to act for me as they thought best,
for my confidence in them was, &s it ought to have
beeu in such a trust, unbounded.

But I never could mean, at least I think nat, that
when they had committed me in & public contest, and
had engaged a whole people in my support, that they
should make me quit the field, and decide the victory
against myself. Nor can I conceive how the Court of
Directors, possessed of & solemn declaration from me,
that if I lived I would persevere to the end, should think
themselves authorized to receive my voluntary resig-
nation from the doubtful hands of an agent.
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I acquit Colonel MacLeane, and I am certain that
Elliott acted from the most generous motives and a
conviction that the measure was a right one. But it
is past. Ihave avowed it, and would have carried it
into execution if I had been permitted. The General's
violence hath defeated both my intentions and the act
itself; and unless some very material change shall be
produced in the future orders from home, I will still
maintain my ground, though I have but few friends
left to support me; and I will maintain it if I have
the same motives, though I should not have a friend
in the world.

Were I to submif to such indignitics as have been
offered to me, even my enemies would hold me in open
derision. I will make them ashamed of the man
whom they have protected. 1 shall expect to be re-
called, and with disgrace, and I expect that my recall
will be followed by prosecutions, and they may prove
what they will againet me, even rape and murder, if
they are disposed to it when I am gone and Clavering
in possession, yet I care not. What a reward, my
friend, is this to the services of 2 man who has de-
voted the labours of twenty-seven years of his life in
the support of the Company, and the national interests
in this country !

I am congratulated on the happy issue of this
negociation, in the preservation of my honour and
my fame, and on the complete victory which I have
obtained.

I subjoin to this a letter on the same subject,
addressed to Lord North. It is worthy, from the
manliness of its tone, of bim, who through evil
report and through good report persisted in doing
his duty, and reaped as his final reward persecu-
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tions such as are without parallel in the history of
modern times,
To Lorp Nozra.
Port William, 29th June, 1777,

" My Lord,—If T am not yet utterly consigned to
that oblivion which the means lately taken for my re-
moval seem but too avowedly to threaten; if I may
still hope that my public station will be a warrant for
my approach to your Lordship, though unequal to my

dversaries in personal interest and powerful con-
nexions, I may still flatter myself that this letter will
be read with attention ; and though from past events
I should draw the melancholy conclusion that no merits
I may claim from my King and country by a life suc-
cessfully devoted to their service, no obedience to your
Lordship's express commands, without which I should
neither have entered, nor continued in this disgraceful
scene, can save me from the fate which has long been
impending, yet it is my duty to address your Lordship
on an occasion in which above all others your justice,
and the safety of the British empire in India, demand
your impartial interposition.

By letters received from my confidential friends in
England, I have been informed that Colonel MacLeane
had made a declaration in writing to the Court of Di-
rectors of my desire to resign the government, that
this offer had been accepted, and that Mr. Wheler
had in consequence been nominated to succeed to the
seat of youngest councillor whenever it should be-
come vacant by my actual resignation, and that this
nomination had received the final sanction which the
law required of his Majesty’s approval. It was added
that one condition of this accommodation, made with
your Lordship's knowledge and participation, was that

the time of my resignation was to bo left to my own
choice.
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The letters received two days after from the Court of
Directors, and from the secretary of the India House
by the Rippon, confirmed this intelligence; but your
Lordship may better conceive than I can express my
disappointment and astonishment to find an instru-
ment of peace converted into a brand of civil fury by
the unexampled and extravagant conduct of General
Clavering on the receipt of it. Instead of waiting for
the natural period of its accomplishment, and without
any intimation to me of his intention, he at once at-
tempted to seize the govcrnment by force, took pos-

ion of the il-chamber, ded from me the
keys of the fort and treasuries, took the oath of Go-
vernor-general, held a Council as such with Mr.
Francis, and 1 presume would have procceded to the
last extremities of violence, had not the timely mea-
sures which were taken by myself and Mr. Barwell en-
tirely disabled him; for he had written and signed a
letter to the commandant of the fort requiring his
obedience, a proclamation was written and formally
recorded on their proceedings notifying his admission
to the government, and a resolution to send them with
circular letters to all the commandants of the military
stations and to the Provincial Councils.

But Mr. Barwell and myself, who were then met as
usual in the Revenue Council-house, immediately took
the necessary precantions to guard against the cffect
of these rash es, and I submitted my title to
the judges, promising to abide by their opinion.
Upon this the General and Mr. Francis broke up
their council without iseuing the orders which they
had s0 decidedly passed, leaving them suspended, as
expressed in their minute, for the present. These
orders remain yet suspended, and they remain yet in
force, for they have not been revoked, and both the
General and Mr. Francis still avow the principle under
which they were made.
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The judges gave a decided and unanimous opinion
against the pretensions of General Clavering. Mr.
Barwell and myself continued our meeting by adjourn-
ment, and as we had no legal power to readmit Ge-
peral Clavering, nor he to reassume the place and
office of senior councillor, which be had so solemuly
quitted, we passed a resolution to that effect, which
was immediately notified to him by our secretary.

On this occasion the General and Mr. Francis soli-
cited the mediation of the judges, who having no other
materials to form their opinion, but the state of the
case, as those gentlemen had formed it, expressed a
disapprobation of what we had done, recommended a
present accommodation, and a reference of our claims
to our superiors in England.

This, my Lord, is an epitome of the transactions of
this Government during a convulsion of four days,
which might have shaken the very foundation of the
national power and interests in India; nor is it yet
safe. The spark of sedition, though latent, will break
out, and with a blaze, which the same prudence, the
same vigilance and moderation may prove ineffectual
to extinguish.

My Lord, I was mot pleased with the engagement
made for me by Mr. MacLeane; I will candidly own
it. But I held myself bound by it, and was resolved
to ratify it. This was my resolution; but General
Clavering himself has defeated it, by the attempt to
wrest from me by violence what he could claim only as
a voluntary surrender, by persisting in asserting his
pretensions to all the rights and functions of my office
from a time already passed, and independent of my
option ; and by his incapacity to possess the govern-
ment, after having by his own acts and declarations
vacated the place from which alone he could legally
ascend to it.
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Thus circumstanced, I think mysclf not merely ab-
solved from this obligation which has been imposed
upon me, but bound by every tie of duty to retain my
ground, until I can honourably quit it ; still hoping that
the next advices, which are daily expected by the
Princess Royal, may fursish me with that oppor-
tunity.

When your Lordship and the Court of Directors
found it expedient to remove me from their service, not,
T will pr for any misconduct or incapacity, but
becanse it suited better with the interests of the State
that I should make way for another, it was your in-
tention that I should be allowed an honourable retreat,
and every circumstance of delicacy and tenderness
which might alleviate it. I assert this from an inter-
nal conviction. It was impossible that your Lordship
could have made an accommodation of peace the lure
to drag me into the power of my most rancorous
enemy, and o make me a sacrifice to the most brutal
outrage and indignity ; nor is it possible that your
Lordship should expect from me a tame submission to
such treatment.

Exalted as your Lordship’s station is, and though
the world gives you the credit of having filled it with
abilities equal to those of the most able of your pre-
decessors, yet if I am rightly informed, neither the in-
tegrity of your character nor the wisdom of your
measures have exempted yon from the malignity which
is the inseparable attend ; and it has
been your greatesf praise, thn.t your constancy, firm-
ness, and moderation of temper bave not only repelled
all the shafis which have been aimed at your reputa-
tion, but have converted them to the means of increas-
ing its lustre. Do not, my Lord, condemn in me the
qualities which do yourself so much honour, nor deny
me your approbation for a conduct which you yourself
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would have pursued under circumstances like those
which have been the guide of mine.

. Ido not expect to be confirmed in this Government.
I have long since given over all hopes of it. Xet me
be removed from.it, but suffer me not, my Lord, to be
dragged from it like a felon, after the labour of seven
and twenty years dedicated to the service of the Com-
pany and fhe aggrandizement of the British do-
minion.

§ And now forgive mé, my Lord, if 1 may appear to.
have expressed myself with a warmth either unbe-
coming an address to your Lordship, or inconsistent
with the temperance of my own character. What I
have written, I have written from my heart, not heated
by resentment, but warmed with the conscious sense of
my own integrity, and with a respect for your Lord-
ship which I shall ever retain, because I am assured
that if I must suffer injustice from the hands of others
I shall yet obtain every relief from you, which it shall
be in your power to afford me. I have the honour to
be, with the greatest respect, my Lord, your most
obedient and most humble servant.

However reluctant I may be to overload my
pages with an excess of correspondence on any
one subject, I am sure that justice would not be
done to Mr. Hastings's character or principles
were the following withheld. As a piece of rea-
soning it is unanswerable, as a testimony to the
disinterested temper, and bigh and honourable
feelings of the man, it is invaluable.

VOL. II. M
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To Lavkence SuLivaw, Esq.
Fort William, 29th June, 1777,

My dear Sir,—On the 14th instant a Mr. Mack-
intosh, who left the Rippon at Madagascar, brought
me several letters from Mr. MacLeane, and my other
friends. Amongst them was a short one from you,
dated the 1st September, 1776; from the former 1
learnt the first news of the accommodation concluded
in my name by Colonel MacLeane, and its effects. On
the 19th the Rippon packet arrived with a letter from
the Court of Directors, and other letters from the se-
cretary of the India House, confirming the intelligence
of the last sanction given to that act by the King's
approval of the appointment of Mr. Wheler. These
were read in Council, but nothing passed upon them.

On the 20th, while I was in the Revenue Council
Chamber, to which the Board had received the usual
summons, Mr. Barwell joined me, and showed me a
summons which he had received from the secretary of
the other department, to attend at a meeting of the
Board in that department by order of General Claver-
ing, styled Governor-general.

Before I had recovered from the surprise occasioned
by this unexpected intelligence, I reccived a letter
from the General by his Persian interpreter, requiring
me to deliver to him the keys of the fort and of the
treasuries.

By this time I understood that the General and
Mr. Francis had met in the general council chamber,
where the General fook the usual oath to discharge the
duty of Governor-general, and passed several resolu-
tions, in conjunction with Mr. Francis, formally re-
corded as the acts of the Governor-general and
Council.

Mr. Barwell and myself sent instant orders to
Colonel Morgan, the commanding officer of the gar-
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rison of Fort William, forbidding him to obey any
other ; and similar orders to the officers commanding
at Budge Budge and the Cantonments of Barrack-
pore.

Our next step was to desire the presence of the
judges, who came ; our mutual claims being referred
by both parties to their judgment, we parted.

At four next morning the judges delivered their
opinion, that General Clavering had not the shadow

f a claim to the Government; and that his assump-
tion would be illegal. He and Mr. Francis acquiesced,
Mr. Barwell and I continued our Council by adjourn-
ment, and after much, and, I am sure, most temperate
deliberation, we resolved, that as General Clavering,
by the assumption and usurpation of the place and
office of Governor-general, and other acts, had vacated
his own, he npeither legally could return to it, nor hold
any longer a place in the Council. |

Of this we directed the secretary to advise him on
the 23rd, on which day we closed our meetings which
had been continued by adjournments to that day, and a
summons was issued to Mr. Francis, who had refused,
though repeatedly summoned on the 20th, to attend
at & Council to be held next morning. He attended
accordingly. Nothing passed, but an ineffectual motion
of Mr. Francis to repeal our resolutions, as we were
informed that the judges were at the same time met in
consultation on a second appeal made by the General
and Mr. Francis against our late acts; and we broke
up to wait the effects of it. In the afternoon we re-
ceived a letter from the judges addressed to the Go-
vernor-general and Council, containing their opinion,
that we had no right to declare the seat of any member
of the Council vacant, and advising us to recede from

ting the lutions ; to reserve our claims to be
decided in England ; and in the meantime to agree

M2
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that all parties should be replaced on the same footing
on which they were before the receipt of the late ad-
vices from England.

In this advice we found it neccssary to acquiesce,
and on the next morning we met the General in Coun-
cil, assembled as usual. I moved for the suspension
of the resolutions in the words dictated by the judges ;
and it being further resolved to transmit copies of all
the proceedings to Madras, with a short letter to the
Court of Directors to be forwarded by the Hector and
Salisbury, we agreed to break up for the remainder of
the week.

These are the heads of the long history of the last
fortnight, or rather six days of it; and perhaps a
series of more extraordinary events never oceurred in
the annals of any government under the British em-
pire.

For the particulars of these transactions I refer you
to the consultations, of which I have sent one copy to
my brother-in-law, Mr. Woodman, and desired him to
get others taken from them, one of which he will send
you. Though comprising a very short space of time,
they are very voluminous, but they very well merit the
time which you may bestow on the perusal of them. 1
hope and believe you will find no circumstance con-
taived in them inconsistent with the temper and
moderation which have hitherto distinguished my
public conduct in the course of a very long service, and
especially in the last three years of it.

X own I was greatly dissatisfied with the offer which
Mr. MacLeane had made to the Directors of my resig-
nation, but my regard for his honour, and the sense
which 1 entertained for the undoubted zeal and attach-
ment which he had so long manifested to me, left me no
choice. 1 resolved to ratify his act, and resign at the
time which should be pointed out either by the subse-
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quent advices from the Court of Directors, or from my
friends, who in their last letters had desired me in a
particular manner to suspend every thought of re-
signing, until T should hear from them again. The
following anecdote is a proof of this intention.

On the 13th instant I had moved and carried the
remova) of Mr. Shakespear from the Council of Dacca,
and his appointment to that of Burdwan, with a special
commission to carry into execution certain orders of
the Board passed many months before, respecting the
accounts and management of the rajah’s household.
At the next Revenue Council, held on the 17th, the
first meeting in that department after the receipt of
my private letters by the Rippon, I moved for the re-
peal of this measure; alluding in my minute to the
approaching change of Government as my motive for
it. The General and Mr. Francis agreed to revoke the
appointment of Mr. Shakespear, but refused their as-
sent to his restoration to his former seat in the Council
of Dacca ; and Mr. Barwell on that day having absented
himself from indisposition, they formed a majority,
and the question was decided by their opinion.

While I quote this as a proof of my intention, I
think it no less an indication of the vindictive spirit
which governed theirs, and of the persecutions which
were prepared for all my friends and adherents when-
ever I should abandon them. Yet it made no imme-
diate change in my resolution. I felt the ties of Mac-
Leane's engagements, and wished, I may truly affirm,
that I was fixed in my determination to abide by
them. But the extravagant behaviour of General
Clavering caused a total change of the question. It
made my resignation, which our superiors had left
optional, an effect of viol and compulsion, to which
I could not submit without a total forfeiture of every
principle of duty, end without a baseness of spirit
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which would have rendered me the derision and de-
testation of all mankind. The minds and passions of
the whole settlement were all agitated by these move-
ments, and if I may trust to the information of all who
have approached me since, the whole scttlement (a
very few individuals excepted) trembled with the ap-
prehension of falling under the immediate rule of a
man, of whose violence and rancour they had already
seen so many instances, and who by this last act
showed how regardless he was of every law but his own
will.

The early precautions which had been taken by
Mr. Barwell and myself at once deprived him of the
means of carrying his plan into execution. He had
written and signed an order to the commandant of the
fort, but before he could send it, he must have heard
that we had already secured the fort, and that the
gates were actually shut against him. The judges
were sitting with us in Councik. He knew that he
could not proceed against the authority of their opi-
nion, against the fidelity and even attachment of the
whole army, against the wishes and integrity of the
civil servants. He desisted, therefore, because he was
unable to go on. But was this a reason for me to
desist? Was he to be allowed to make a trial of acts
of the most illegal and unwarrantiable violence; to
recede from them with impunity when he found that
he could no longer support them; to repeat the like
attempts, submitting with every defeat, until he shoald
eatch a favourable moment to seize the government, and
involve the country in a state of anarchy and eivil
bloodshed? Read the minute which he and Mr.
Francis have written in reply to the first opinion of the
judges, and you, my friend, will be convinced that this
is yet their intention; but I am prepared to meet it,
and confident to defeat it.
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From the 20th to the 23d, Mr. Barwell and myself
wereinseparable. We fortunately lived under the same
roof. Here I must stop for a moment to indulge
myself in acknowledging the gratitude which I feel for
the unremitted support which I have received from his
friendship, which never exerted itself with a greater
warmth of attachment than on this trying occasion.
With an associate of less equality of temper, or more
fusceptible of the little jealousies which are too common
attendants of political friendship, I could not have sus-
tained the shocks and vehemence of a contest like that
which I have been now almost three years engaged in.
The proofs which I have had of his steadiness and
honour, have inspired me on all occasions with a confi-
dence to undertake even the most difficult measures in
the certainty of receiving every aid which I could wish
both from his concurrence and from his abilities. In
the late transactions we had scarce a momentary dif-
ference of opinion. Our resolutions of the 23d were
proposed, weighed, and taken, witliout any participa-
tion of advice, and without even the knowledge of our
secretary till they were recorded.

Perhaps it may be suggested that we ought pre-
viously to have taken the opinion of the judges, or at
least to have had some assurance that they would not
again interfere to defeat the resolutions. This pre-
caution did not escapeus. We had received their clear
and decided opinion that the assumption of the govern-
ment by General Clavering would be illegal. He had
incontestably assumed it, and by that act and the many
others done in consequence of it, and by the declara-
tions accompanying them, he had quitted his place and
office of a member of the council. He could not hold
both the office of governor-general and councillor at the
same time; they are incompatible. The Act of Par-
liament marks them with the strongest lines of dis-
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tinetion; it has made no provision for the return of
any member of the Council to his seat once vacated, but
has irremediably precluded General Clavering from the
succession by the rights now vested in Mr. Barwell,
who has legally succeeded to the place which he origi-
nally held, and quitted to make an illegal scizure on
mine.

When they bad so decidedly pronounced the first
act of General Clavering illegal, we had no conception
that the judges would again interpose their authority to
replace him in his former office. Besides, the indecent
terms in which the General and Mr. Francis had com-
bated their first opinion afforded so strong, and in some
respects authoritative, grounds for the belicf that the
judges would refuse to answer any more references.
There was no occasion for it. The state was in peace,
and the measures which we had taken were the most
Likely to secure it. A mediation which left all parties
in p of their pl in the government with
doubtful rights was the surest foundation of future
discord.

‘We could not have made the reference to the judges
in any terms which would not have been highly indeli-
cate. To have asked them whether we might legally
exclude the General, would have been equivalent to
a requisition of their participation of our act, of the
legality and pecessity of which we had no doubt, but
wanted the courage to venture on it without associates.
If they were of opinion that General Clavering had
forfeited his seat, as they were bound by no duty to
declare it, such a declaration from them would have
been construed officious, and perhaps incendiary.

If they were of a contrary opinion, they would no
doubt have told us so; our hands would have been
immediately tied, and we should have incurred the
public discredit, myself especially, of baving permitted
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the most flagrant and daring violation of the powets of
government to pass, without an atiempt either to defend
our personal rights or repel the invasion of the consti-
tution, of which, under the most sacred trust, we were
now the sole guardians.

As we wanted no advice, we applied for none. We
resolved on the measures which our duty prescribed,
and we took upon ourselves the entire responsibility of
them. At the same time that we passed them, we or-
{dered them to be instantly published, in the most
authentic manner, as the decided acts of an authority
well ascertained and established, and we trusted fo the
known integrity of those on whom they were principally
binding for their complete effect. The resolution had
already been communicated to the commanding officer
of Fort William, and known (though not copied in the'
orderly books) to every officer init. The lettersto the
other officers commanding military stations, and to the

_provincial councils were written, and (I think) signed ;
and would all have gone forth that evening beyond the
reach of government to recall them.

The judges interfered ; they condemned the measure
and recommended an accommodation. We submitted
as to legal authority, or, at least, to an authority which
would turn the scale of popular opinion against us here,
and leave us i ble if their cond tion of our
acts should be confirmed by & condemnation of them at
home. :

Except the immediate suspension of our resolutions,
we have lost nothing by the declaration of the judges.
In other respects it is as favourable to our rights as we
could have wished it to bemade. It expresses that we
have nolegal power to dismiss. We assumed not such
a power. It expresses that we have no legal power to
declare the place of any member of the council vacant ;
that is, as I suppose, that our declaration was not alegal
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sanction, nor a confirmation of any vacancy, which the
Act of Parliament itself had not declared to amount to
one; for they could not mean these words in an abso-
lute sense. The Board might surely declare the secat
of one of their members vacant, if he himself, in formal
terms, resigned it. The judges gave their opinion on
the very imperfect state of the case submitted to them
by General Clavering and Mr. Francis. They had not
seen our proceedings ; they had not even our resolutions
before them. If they had, they would have found that
our declaration was not simply that the places and
offices of General Clavering were vacant, but that they
were vacated by his own acts,—that he himself had
resigned them. Their opinion does not really condemn
since it does not apply to any act of ours. Their object
seems to have been solely to promote peace and fo
prevent a change in the state which might bave been
ascribed to the effects of their own doctrine. Even their
advice implies a doubtful right, and is a warrant for my
continuance in the gover t, since I t resign
it without forfeiting by that act all my claims which have
been reserved by their advice for a decision in England.
But though I mention this as a natural deduction from
their letter, I am far from intending to make it the
ground of any resolution which I may take to remain
in the government.

To this point'I now proceed. Though I shudder at
the consequences of departing from the letter of Col.
MacLeane's engagements, and dread equally with death
the thoughts of entering into a new scene of indefinite
conteation, yet I scarce see an option left me to avoid
it. One condition of that engagement was, that the
time of my resignation was to be left to my own choice ;
but that condition has been broken by the attempt made
by General Clavering to wrest the government from me
by force, and by persisting to assert his claim to the
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government in despite of it. My resignation, there-
fore, can neither be accepted by him as such, nor can I
ratify it but under every appearance of a timid submis-
sion to violence. He has not even a pretext to exact
it, because he avowedly stands in no need of it, ground-
ing his rights on acts already passed, and independent
of my will,

I cannot resign the government in favour of the
Ggneral, because he has disqualified himself from ac-
cepting it; and by yielding it to him, whether by a
direct surrender or merely by leaving it vacant, I should
cither deprive Mr. Barwell of his right of succession,
and be the abettor of an usurpation, 6r sow the sceds of
a civil war, if Mr. Barwell should be inclined to assert
his own pretensions in opposition to it.

On these grounds I consider myself not only as ab-
solved from the obligation to resign my place, but as
bound by every tie of duty and honour to retain it.

Though these are my present sentiments, they are
not my final resolutions. My last letters from MacLeane
promised me some important intelligence in his next, in
consequence of some equivocal and alarming appear-
ances. 'The Princess Royal sailed from England near
two months after the Rippon, and they left the Cape
together; so that she must be at Madras, at least, by
this time. By her despatches I expect to learn ail that
1 can require to form the future line of my conduct.

If these contain nonew obligation on me to resign, I
certainly shall not. In these sentiments Y am confirmed
by the opinions of my two friends, the Chief Justice
and Mr. Barwell ; and they are so just that I think even
Lord North must approve .and applaud them. It is
impossible that he should avow the brutal outrage
offered to me by General Clavering, under cover of an
act which had the sanction of his approbation, and
peace and kindness for its professed objects.
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I have written by these despatches to Mr. Dunning,
with whom I beg of you to consult on the means which
may be necessary for my defence.

1 have now no channel to Lord North, nor encou-
ragement to write to him; yet I wish it were possible
to make him acquainted with the late proceedings,
especially those of General Clavering and Mr. Francis
on the 20th instant. Whatever inducements he may
have to show such extraordinary marks of favour to
General Clavering, it will be impossible for him to rcad
such a series of gross misconduct without feeling some-
thing like shame for the unworthiness of the man whose
cause he has in go extraordinary a manner espoused.

Sir Elijah Impey has been greatly affected by the
late events, more, I think, than myself. I was at one
time alarmed for his health ; but I thank God he is, or
appears {o be, very stout again. My constitution, not
naturally a strong one, has held out to my own astonish-
ment, and I hope I have enough of it yet left to last
another twelvemonth, at least.

To your friendship, which has been my constant
resort in all my difficulties for these ten years past, I
most earnestly recommend myself, and am ever, with
the most sincere gratitude and attachment, &e.
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iCHAPTER V.

Progress of Pablic Affaim—Death of General Clavering—Armival of Mr.
‘Wheler—He joins Mr. P Deposition of Mah d Reza Cawn.

From the date of this letter up to the month of
August following, there occurred no event, bearing
either upon the foreign or domestic politics of
British India, which it is necessary in this place to
notice. The casting vote gave to Mr. Hastings
absolute sway in the council, and he exercised it to
promote, as far as circumstances would allow, the
best interests of his employers. Not that he was
permitted to do so in peace. The hostility of Gene-
ral, now Sir John Clavering, and of Mr. Francis,
at once his leader and his shadow, continued as
violent as ever; and they indulged it in acrimo-
nious minutes,—in a steady yet unprofitable oppo-
sition, and in the still more objectionable practice
of working, both publicly and privately, on the
minds of all whom they found it practicable to
approach. But of them, and of their proceedings,
Hastings took little heed. In self-defence he
replied to their minutes ; he continued likewise, in
his correspondence with his friends at home, to
express himself fully and freely, and be seems to
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have anticipated, from day to day, that the sentence
of recall would go forth against him. Yet never,
on that account, did he cease to labour for the
public good, and the results were, in every respect,
satisfactory. Vigour returned to all the depart-
ments of the government, and, in spite of itself, the
province flourished.

At length General Clavering, whose irritable
temper the mortification of finding himself worsted
in such a struggle had grievously inflamed, sickened
and died. The event produced no change, either
in the present policy or future intentions of Mr.
Hastings, who still determined to retain his office
till finally superseded, and to carry out, as far as he
might be able, bis own masterly views. But it was
followed by consequences singularly favourable to
the interests of the Company. Of what nature
these were, the following letter will show :—

To Joux Pusrrwa, Eeq.
Fort William, 220d November, 1777.

Dear Sir,—The death of Sir John Clavering has
produced a state of quiet in our councils which I ehall
endeavour to preserve during the remainder of the time
which may be allotted me. The interests of the Com-
pany will benefit by it; that is to say, they will not
suffer, as they have done, by the effects of a divided
administration. The unsettled state of the government
is a great impediment to its operations, and weakens
its influence, especially in the management of the
revenue. 'Thelateness of the settlement, and the short
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period for which we have been allowed to make it, will,
I fear, have an ill effect on the collections, but not so
bad as under any other situation of affairs might
have beeh expected. The season has been unusually
favourable to the cultivation, and we have a sure pros-
pect of peace.

The only es of conseq which have been
taken since the death of Colonel Monson are the addi-
tion made to our military establishment by the transfer
of the disciplined troops of the Nabob of Oude to the.
service of the Company; and the establishment of the
temporary office for ascertaining the value of thelands.
This last of these arrangements has been, as I am in-
formed, totally misunderstood at home, although I
have taken great pains to explain it. But it is mot
the only instance which I have experienced of the little
use which is made in England of official documents,
where people seem to draw all their knowledge from
private information ; and I make no doubt that the
new military plan will be equally misrepresented and
equally misunderstood.

This is in effect little more than a change of form,
not of substance. The late majority took an early
opportunity (a very early one indeed, for they had not
been three days in Calcutta) to censure me for having
carried the Company’s arms beyond the prescribed line
of the dominions of the Nabob of Oude. To be con-
sistent they confined the brigade rigidly to that line.
They soon discovered that this would prove the loss of
the Nabob’s possessions beyond it, unless we still de-
fended them. For this purpose a new military corps
was raised, which was to be formed upon the principles
of our own, and disciplined and commanded by our
officers, but paid by the Nabob, and called his. This
distinction, which consisted only in the name, did not
prevent it from becoming a charge on the Company, if
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the Nabob ‘could not pay it, or (which was in reality
the same) if he could not pay it without increasing the
debt which he already owed to the Company. Both
consequences were produced from it ; for his debt had
grown to fifty lacs of rupees at the period in which that
corps was dissolved, and the resident was obliged to
advance a large sum from the Company’s cash in his
charge to pay a part of their arrears, and to prevent
their mutinizing. This was not the worst effect of
miscalling it. Like all ostensible and covert systems,
it served as a screen to private rapine and embezzle-
ment. The Nabob had no power to check their ac-
counts, and we left them uncontrolled that we might
not encroach on the Nabob’s authority. Rapid for-
tunes were made, and the Nabob’s debts increased by
loans made to him of the profits of these undue acqui-
sitions.

I have been well assured that the difficulty which the
Rajah of Benares has met with in obtaining bills for
his monthly kists has been solely occasioned by the
drafts made on Calcutta for payment of bills granted
to English gentlemen in the Nabob’s serviee, which
have exhausted the funds kept there by the shroffs,
and prevented them from dealing with the Rajah ata
rate of exchange considerably below that which they
received for the new remittances. You will hardly
believe, that in a public account transmitted to the
Board of the Nabob’s expenses for his disciplined troops,
the enormous sum of twenty-one lacs is sct down for
money lent or advanced for his service by the scrvants
of the Company.

I proposed to abolish this corps, first drafting from
it three battalions of sepoys, one company of native
artillery, and one regiment of cavalry for each of our
own three brigades, from which again they were to be
detached in their turn to form a distinct brigade for



- WWAN 8y
MEMOIRS OF WARRENW

the defence of the Nabob’s dominions in Doaub and
Rhohileund. In truth it is the same corps, but we pay
it, we command it, and it is subjected to all the rules
of ourservice. The Nabob furnishes the sums required
for its subsistence, as he did before, but these are paid
immediately to our agents, and passed to the Company’s
credit. This brief explanation of the measure will, I
hope, be sufficient to refute every objection made to it as
an addition to the Company’s military expenses, since
{¢t is truly a reduction of them,

The Aumeenee office was an institution formed for
investigating, with 2 minute exactness, the rents legally
due from every division and subdivision of the province ;
for the purpose of ascertaining the. respective and re-
ciprocal rights of government, the zemindars and riats,
and forming the future settlements by equal assess-
ments on the lands. This work has been effected, and
clear accounts obtained of every district into which the
Aumeens were sent, except one of the principal divi-
sions of Rajishahee, where the influence of the zemindar
and the encouragement which he received from the
members of government prevailed against the slender
power of the Aumeens. Part of these accounts will be
sent home by this ship, and the whole, with proper
explanations, in the course of the season. If I am
permitted to complete this investigation with the ac-
count of the few districts which remain, I am sure of
being remembered with lasting credit by the people of
this country, however the work may be estimated or
understood by my employers. I hope you have read.
the minutes which have been written on this subject.
If you have not, I entreat that you will. You will
find them in the first despatches of last year,

Among other objections to this institution, which I
hear have gained belief in England, it has been said
that I had taken the whole manag t of the revenue

VOL. 1L N
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out of the hands of the Board. Nothing can be more
untrue. The office does not n the

of the revenue, but is merely an office of account. The
officers were appointed by the Board, their orders were
issued by the Board, and all the power distinctly given
to me, was that of issuing my orders for the execution,
and in aid of the orders issued by the Board. Itisa
fact that I have done no more, or little more than sign
the orders which were sent to the Aumeens, and which
were literal translations from the minutes of Council.

In addition to what I have said respecting the
officers lately employed in the service of the Nabob of
Oude, 1 think it proper to obviate any construction of
it to their disadvantage, by observing that I do not
mean to cast any blame on them, for I do not think
them altogether deserving of it, but to show, by its
effects, the pernicions tendency of the system . It is
not possible that a body of men should refrain from
illicit advantages, when the means are easy, not ex-
pressly forbidden, no penalty or disgrace annexed to
them, and, falling within the reach of all, receive the
sanction of general practice.

I consider my own destiny as already fixed, or that
it will be determined, even long before.the present
despatches will have arrived in England. It shall be
my eare in the interval which remains, to keep the
council free from dissensions, and [ shall lay claim to
some merit in the attempt, whether I am successful or
not, as there is no other instance in which I can so
effectually serve the interests of my employers.

I am with much esteem, dear Sir, your most obe-
dient and faithful servant.

I do not think that the following ought to be
omitted. It is as ereditable to the Christian
temper as to the good sense of the writer.
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To Jorx MPagrsow, Esq.
Port William, 23rd November 1777.

My dear Sir,—My last letter was dated the 26th o f
July. With it I sent a letter to be delivered to Mr.
‘Woodman, containing my request that he would show
you all my despatches,—to you my confidential friend ;
—and I introduced him at the same time to you by the
same title. The same packet enclosed an introductory
Jetter for you to Mr. Dunning, expressed with the
warmth peculiar to the generous feelings of the writer.
At that time General Clavering was living, nor had I
any expectation of his death, though it followed so soon
after. The principle of my political conduct was there-
fore very different from what his death occasioned, but
the effect of both is precisely the same, as you will have
discovered by recollecting what I told you in that
letter, and comparing it with what I havesince written
to Mr. Duaning, and now to Mr. Woodman. This I
consider as the close of my political contests, as I have
left myself no more to do in them than to receive 2qua
mente whatever may be their issue. The man whose
rancour I dreaded, from a certain knowledge that he
would have made no other use of power, but to perse-
cute every man who had ever shown any thing like
attachment to me, and to undo all that remained of
my doings in this country, is no longer my rival; and
as it will be impoesible to find his equal, I am indif-
ferent, or nearly so, about my future fortune. Do not
think I speak from an impulse of resentment. May
God forgive him all the injuries which he has heaped
upon me, and me, as I forgive him !

In this breathing time, after a hard struggle of
three years, I feel no small pleasure, and even a degree
of vanity, where few people would think of applying
it, in the reflection that I have never experienced an
hour of sickness, nor ever absented myself from

N2
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council, once only excepted, when I was obliged to give
my attendance at a meeting of the justices for the ex-
amination of Mr. Fowke. Yet my constitution israther
infirm, and my temper naturally quick and irritable.
Is it a virtue, or must Iadmit it to be the effect of an
accident, that the first has never failed me, no rthe last
forsaken me, in my severest trials ?

Mr. Wheler is not yet arrived, and the season being
so far advanced, I do not suppose that he will be here
before January, if so soon. I shall make it a point of
public duty to be on quiet, if I may not be on confiden-
tial terms with him; and as our mutual squabbles can
do us individually no good, it shall be my care to pre-
vent or appease every disorderly spirit that may rise
up to disturb our councils, and impede business. I
have already followed this line, and with good effect ;
and if I can succeed in pursuing it, I shall take
credit from it.

I hope you will read the papers which I have sent
home relating to our last contests. Those which prin-
cipally merit your attention are on the subjects of the
Aumeenee office, and the new brigade; both in my
judgment the best measures of my government (always
excepting the treaty of Benares), and the most abused.

Adieu! Believe me most affectionately and truly
yours, &c.

Mr. Hastings counted at this time on a perma-
nent escape from the contests in which, for the
space of three years, he had been engaged. The
following will show that he was at least premature
in the anticipation, and is, besides, well worthy of
perusal.
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‘To LavreNce SuLivax, Esq.
Fort William, 31st December, 1777.

My dear Sir,—I hope that my endeavours to intro-
duce the spirit of concord into our council will do me
credit with my friends, though with the public I may
bear my share of blame for the division which is still
destined to subsist in it. Mr. Wheler has already
taken a decided part with Mr. Francis, and was weak

‘enough to expect that I should, notwithstanding, regard
him as a peutral man, and his opinion as the result of
his unbiassed judgment. Of thisbe you the judge. I
am afraid I shall have a long story to tell you, but I
must entreat you to giveit a patient attention, because
I lay great stress on the propriety of my present con-
duct, as it must necessarily influence all my future
measures. On a false report of Mr. Wheler’s arrival
in the river in the beginning of November, I deputed
my aide de camp, Captain Cockrell, a gentleman of
good sense and address, to meet and conduct him to
town. This I intended as a public compliment, due
to his station. Willing to guard him against pre-
possessions, I at thesame time commissioned my friend
Elliott as my private agent, to give him assurances of
my earnest desire to meet him on a footing of friend-
ship, and to request that he would at least suspend his
intentions until I should have the pleasure of seeing
him, and couversing personally with him. The point
which I desired Mr. Elliott to insist on principally was,
that I did not require him to be in a party with me,
but that he would not join in a party against me; and
as I knew the difficulty of adhering to a perfect neu-
trality, I offered to second, and more than meet his en-
deavours, if he would be the mediator of our differ-
ences, and prescribe the terms of an accommodation, to
which he would find me entirely disposed from incli-
nation, and Mr. Francis from necessity, if he himself
was determined on the measure.
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The report of the Portland’s arrival proved prema-
ture. My friends returned, and when it was afterwards
more certainly known that she was in the river, they
again went down to meet her. Mr. Elliott succeeded in
his commission beyond my expectation. I repeated to
Mr. Wheler at the visit which he made me when he
came ashore, the assurances which had been given him
before in my name, and expressed my satisfaction to
find him so ready to answer my wishes. For somedays
after, I had no opportunity of a private conversation
with him, as he was confined by an indisposition; but
in that time he continued steady to his first declara-
tions, and even proceeded so far as_to say that he would
assure Mr. Francis that if a perfect conciliation could
not be effected, he was determined on no account what-
ever to join Mr. Francis in an opposition against me.
I drew out the plan of an accommodation, in which I
gave up every point in which I knew Francis to be
personally interested, stipulating for little more on my
own part than some measures of a public and official
kind, and the concurrence of the Board in the general
despatch of business, which was of course to be left to
my chief direction; and in the distribution of places
which it was not so easy to appropriate by any fixed
line, I left it to the option of the other members to
allow me such a preference as my station and the
usages of every service entitled me to expect, and to
share the rest between them. These offers were com-
municated to Mr. Wheler and Mr. Francis. The
first received them without approbation or objection,
which was nataral, for such parts of them as were
personal he conld not understand, and the rest might
have had a personal tendency, though he had no clue
to lead him to discover it. Francis seemed to approve
them, and to think them moderate beyond his expecta-
tion ; but declined an immediate declaration of his
intentions. The next day he declared to Mr. Wheler
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his refusal to assent to them, or to join in an avowed
accommodation, pleading that it would mark his cha-
racter with the reproach of inconsistency amongst his
friends at home, if he was at this time formally to
unite with men whom he had invariably opposed and
abused for these three years and upwards.
This declaration Mr. Wheler communicated to Mr.
Elliott, and as he seemed to waver in his resolution, I
{thought it proper to come to a personal explanation
with him. [ accordingly went to him. I urged to
him every argument which the state of this country,
exposed to a continued state of faction, and the con-
sideration of his own personal ease and interests, sug-
gested. He heard me without interruption, said little
in reply, but made general professions, and assured me
of his immovable resolution to observe a perfect neu-
trality in any disputes which might arise, and to give
his opinion on every measure which should be debated
without regard to persons or parties. I left him;
convinced that he had engaged himself to Francis. A
private circumstance, in itself of little consequence,
and too long for detail, left me without a doubt. But
I was resolved to put his neutrality to a public test.
The restoration of Rajah Rajebullyb to the office of
Royroyan, and the prolongation of this year's settle-
ment to such of the zemindars as were punctual in the
discharge of their engagements to the next, were two
of the conditions of our proposed accommodation. The
Company's orders, written with the participation of
Mr. Wheler himself, afforded more than a plea for
the former, since they declare that the dismission of
Rajebullub was unjust, and that they were withheld
from issuing & positive order for his reinstatement
by the single consideration of the injury which it would
do to the influence of this government, or, as was cer-
tainly their meaning, to that part of the government
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by which his dismission had been effected. Mr.
Wheler mlght, and ought in consistency with his own
principle, to join me in restoring Rajebullub. He
could not oppose it but in opposition to his own prin-
ciple, and by a declared avowal of a party.

The measure of prolonging the leases of this year
to the end of the next was merely of a public nature.
It was not possible that I could have a private interest
in it, and it was the only way which could possibly be
devised in the present state of the Company to prevent
the losses with which the revenue was threatened by a
six months’ settlement. Mr. Wheler opposed both
propositions. He called upon me to tell me his inten-
tion to oppose that of restoring Ba]ebullub He as-
sured me that I had totally i ved the i
of the Court of Directors, in supposing that it alluded
to the late majority of our Board ; that they never had
an idea of thekind, but were impelled only by aregard
for the credit of this Government, and the consistency
of its es, in the reluct which they expressed
to annul any of its public acts. Such assertions are
unanswerable. I contented myself with expressing my
concern that, with such good dispositions as he professed,
he should be under a necessity to give eo early an oc-

to the public to lude that he was already
bound by the ties of a decided party; and though I
avoided a direct explanation of my own sentiments,
yet as I felt, so I think it probable that he may have
seen, that I resented the attempt to impose upon me
by so shallow a pretext, and that I myself thought of
him what I said the world would.

1 'had not at that time seen §is other minute, which
is written in the pure spirit of opposition. Both were
yesterday read at the Board, and furnished occasion
for others upon the subject of the settlement, in one of
which I chose to declare what I thought of this new
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association. I will send you copies of all these minutes.
They are not long, and will prove with better authority
than my assertion the spirit which animates our new
member. I yielded to a sense of duty when I took the
pains to gain his assistance. I exacted no sacrifice or
unbecoming concession from him. I desired only that
he would support the authority of Government, that
he would give it peace, and share its influence and ad-
Jentages. This was certainly the line which prudence
required, whatever his future designs or views might
be; for I think it beyond a doubt now that I shall be
either recalled or confirmed, and in either case it was
for his interest and ease to act in conjunction with the
members possessed of the actual rule, while they pos-
sessed it. Neither his personal views, nor those which
his duty might suggest to him, can be advanced by his
writing minutes of dissent, and leaguing himself in
an ineffectual opposition ; for Mr. Barwell and I can
effect any point by my casting voice as completely as if
Francis and he united in it; and he must be grossly
misinformed indeed if he entertains any hope of
change in Barwell's conduct, after the proofs which he
has given of his steadiness and fidelity. He has
hitherto been my friend from principle, and is more
likely to continue such with inclination added to it. I
have a pleasure in saying that I am perfectly satisfied
with him, and only regret that the second place in the
Government is not as optionable to him as the first is
tome. But to return to my subject.

I had strong motives to declare my opinion of Mr.
Wheler's having committed himself. It is the only
excuse which I can have for measures that aim only at
the support of my own influence. It cuts off the rights
which he would still possess if I allowed him to tem-
porize, and affected not to see it; and he will be the
sooner sensible of the faux pas which he has committed.
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It is surely a gross one. He might have gained the
highest pitch of ecredit here by making himself the
bond of peace, he would have had a share in every
publie e of Gover t, and his friends in its
emoluments. He is now, and must be, a mere cypher
and the echo of Francis, a vox et praterea nikil, a
mere vote. 1 am not the least afraid of any conse-
quences from this confederacy. I shall propose the
same measures as I should with an united council, and
some yet stronger, nor will it be in their power to
deprive them of their effect, for there is a wide differ-
ence between the opposition of General Clavering,
supported by the King, destined to the chair, and in-
vested with a badge of bonour; and of men who have
no known pretensions but in being the partizans of a
cause which was his while he lived to animate it.

Mr. Francis has not been idle, whatever may be his
object in keeping alive the opposition. His talents
are of a peculiar kind, and he makes most use of those
in which his greatest strength lies, in inventing false
rumours, and giving them circulation, in exciting op-
position to Government, secret suggestions, and in
setting friends at variance by secret and incendiary
whispers. ‘These are his acts, and remember that it is
his enemy who adds, without one generous or manly
principle in his whole composition.

I have seen a letter written by him to a gentleman
of one of the provincial councils, and by the style it
seemed a circular one, which covered a copy of the
letter of the Court of Directors to 8ir John Clavering,
and pointed out the promises contained in it of future
changes:—and I have in my possession a translation
of the same letter into the Persian language, which I
am told, and my authority is good, has been sent to the
Rannies of Burdwan and Rajeshahee, to Mahmud Reza
Cawn, to Rajah Cheit Sing, and even to Nudjif Cawn.
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But people have been too deluded with false pro-
mises and menaces when a power existed capable of
realizing them, to trust to such feeble artifices at this
time.

In a word, Sir, since I could not succeed in my wish
to obtain a Council made up of the men of my own
choice, I could not desire it to be better composed than
it is. The two junior members may tease, but they
cannot impede business; and I will venture to promise
you, that even the collections of Rajeshahee and
Burdwan, where Francis has the greatest influence,
and the rannies whom he patronizes have been most
active in disturbing and embarrassing them, shall be
equal at least at the conclusion of this year to the
amount of the last.

We shall assist the Board of Trade with an addition
of twenty-five lacs for the article of raw eilk in the
ensuing year's investment.

Middleton has obtained assignments for 124,00,0000
rupees, a sum exceeding the Vizier's present debt, and
all the demands of the year; and as these assignments
are unincumbered with other demands, and placed
under managers of his own—I mean the resident's
own—appointment, I have no doubt of their being
nearly realized. By the last ship I will send you a
progressive account of the liquidation of the Vizier's
debt, and that will afford you sufficient grounds to
judge of the future progress of it.

In a Government uncertain as this is in its duration
great exertions cannot be expected; but it possesses
great internal vigour, and will flourish in apite of
faction, so lang as those who have the rule of it attend
to the currency of its ordinary and regular operations,
and no foreign enemy disturbs it.

You will wonder when I tell you, and send you our
accompts, estimate of resources, and disbursements to
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prove it, that this Government is at this period in a
more prosperous state than it has known since its firat
existence. How far 1 may attribute this to my own
care of it it may not become me to say; but I believe
it is well known, that what little was done in the
despatch of current business, while the late majority
ruled, was dictated by me alone, nor was this part of
my prerogative, even in the most violent times, ever
denied me. And while I continue in charge of the
allowed rule, I trust the Company's interests shall not
decline under my management of them.

I must take another time to answer your letters,
though I have received but few, and those very short,
in the course of this season. I thank you for your
advice, and shall provide all the materials of informa-
tion which you recommend, whether I stay or go.

1 am, and shall ever remain, with the truest senti-
ments of respect and attachment, my dear Sir, your
faithful and affectionate friend. R

P. S.—I beg of you to show this letter to Colonel
MacLeane, General Caillaud, and such other of my
friends as you may see. I fear I have not time to
write to

The Aumeenee Commission, of which so
much mention is made in the preceding cor-
respondence, went forth and executed its purpose.
It was impossible, however, within the space of
time then at Mr. Hastings's dispoeal, to turn the
information thus acquired to any permanent ac-
count, =0 he contented himself with granting for
one year more a prolongation of their leases to the
zemindars and tenants on the terms which were

already in force.
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In this he was opposed of course ; yet he carried
his point by virtue of his own casting vote, and
the temporary settlement was completed. Mean-
while there were other arrangements, particularly -
those which had placed the Nabob of Bengal under
the heel of Mahommed Reza Cawn, that greatly
troubled him. - The Nabob complained bitterly
of his own degradation. He was now legally of
age, yet within the very precincts of the palace
he was powerless ; while the Naib Nazim, whom the
majority had set over him, treated him with the
utmost indignity. Mr. Hastings, after maturely
considering this point, determined, in the face of .
the Court’s sanction of the appointment, to reverse
it. He has been accused of acting in this case,
as in every other where a question of patronage
arose, from motives at once corrupt and unworthy.
The following letter will, I think, convey a very
different impression, and I therefore insert it.

To Fraxcis Syxes, Bag.
Fort William, 29rd April, 1778,

My dear Sykes,—You have already shown so much
unmerited kindness to Mahmud Reza Cawn, that I
must expect that you will be dissatisfied with the late
treatment which has been shown him, until you are
acquainted with the motives of it.

My behaviour to him while he was under the dis-
pleasure of the Company was as kind as it was possible
to be, while I rigidly conformed, as I was obliged to do,
to the orders which I received, and those orders, Sykes,
were accompanied with private intimations of a sus-
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picion that I would not obey them, and even with
denunciations of public disgrace if I did not. I re-
ceived the informations which were produced against
him, but I neither sought nor encouraged them beyond
the first publication of the Company's orders: I
allowed him a fair trial; 1 showed him every public
mark of respect: I permitted him to retain his
jagheer, and even employed the influence and powers
of Government to assist him in securing the rents of
it. In this last instance I went so far as to cause his
aumil to be arrested, and kept him a prisoner in the
Khbalsa, for embezzlement of the collections. At that
very time he connected himself with General Clavering
and his party, and he did it in the meanest and most
adulatory manner, by the unsolicited offer of useful

. informations to be admitted only to the presence of the
General.

What his services have been I cammot with certainty
pronounce, but he has been most liberally rewarded
for them. To have acted in an open and declared
manner against me suited not with his policy, and it
at the same time afforded me a decent ground of ac-
commodation with him.

It was not my desire to draw upon me a fresh host
of enemies by a vindictive treatment of Mahmud Reza
Cawn, when he came afierwards into my power, nor
am I vindictive in my nature. But some restitution
was due to the Nabob and his family, especially
Munny Begum, for the sufferings which they had sus-
tained on my account, and my own credit and influence
required it. I could not do this without affecting
Mahmud Reza Cawn. All that 1 meant to do was to
give the Nahob the management and control of his
own household, and leave Mahmud Reza Cawn, as his
Naib, in charge of the public offices of the Nizamut,
with the same allowances as he has hitherto enjoyed.
This was not taking much from Mahmud Reza Cawn,
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nothing ostensible ; but as it required his consent, if
he was to be a party in it, and as prudence requireds
that while I allowed him to retain so enormous a
power, I should be certain that he would not employ it
to hurt me, I suspended my intentions till I could know
his on both these points. For that purpose I com-
missioned Mr. Anderson, who was his friend, to make
him an offer of the continuance of the offices which he
then held, excepting only the management of the
hdusehold, with his jagheer and allowances, if he
would declare himself satisfied with this arrangement,
and solemnly promise to entertain no political con-
nexion which was adverse to me, nor to engage in any
intrigues or plans against my interest or authority,
while I remained in the Government. I took particular
care to distinguish between his connexions of friendship
and policy. The former 1 declared that I freely al-
lowed, but insisted on his relinquishing the latter.

Mr. Anderson executed his commission faithfully to
me, and fairly and honourably to him, but without
effect. Mahmud Reza Cawn rejected the propositions,
affected the tone and dignity of oppressed worth, and
even made use of the insolent pretext that I had not
written to him a formal letter on the occasion, and there-
fore he could not give the writing which I demanded.
This, indeed, was true, but not strictly true, for I had
furnished Mr. Anderson with a paper of credentials
written in my own hand. I do not now recollect
whether he produced this, or only informed Mahmud
Beza Cawn that he had such a paper, but the enclosed
paper will show whether he did.

Mr. Anderson having written a very circumst antial
narrative of this transaction in three letters, two ad-
dressed to me from the city, and one delivered to me
in Calcutta, on the occasion of some misrepresentations
which Mahmud Reza Cawn had made of him to Mr.
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Pattle, I shall enclose them. with this, and carnestly
zecommend them to your perusal.

I must add another weighty reason for the line I
took in this affair.

It has been the policy of Mr. Francis, and a most
unjustifiable one, to inculcate every report, true or
false, by which my influence may be weakened, and
people discouraged from confiding in the acts of
Government, and excited to oppose them. For this
purpose he himself circulated copies of the letters
written by the Court of Directors to the late Sir John
Clavering, and caused Persian translations of them to be
sent to the Ranny of Rajeshahee, the Ranny of Burd-
wan, Mahmud Reza Cawn, Rajah Cheyt Sing, and
even to Nudjiff Cawn. 1 have in my possession copies
of a circular letter written by him with the former, and
of the translation. He has his dependants and other
instruments everywhere. Mahmud Reza Cawn was
the most powerful of his agents, and therefore it was
more especially incumbent on me to deprive Mr.
Francis of his aid. The first means which I used to
effect this you have heard. These having proved in-
effectual, and Mahmud Reza Cawn having in effect
declared by his refusal of my advances that he would
be my enemy, I had no alternative left but to disarm
both by the same act ; by investing the Nabob himself
with the management of his affairs, and divesting
Mahmud Reza Cawn of the Neabut.

T have given you this detail, and I shall do the same
to Mr. Becher, to whom I request that you will com-
municate the enclosed, because I wish to convince both,
that T have not been wanting in deference to your
inclinations in this instance, and that I have been com-
pelled by unavoidable necessity and in my own defence,
to act the part which I have acted towards a man whom
you have both distinguished with public marks of your
friendship.
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CHAPTER VI.

Movements of the Mahrattas—French Intrigues at Poonsh—March of

Colonel Leslie's Detachment—Preparations against a War with France
—Account of the Mahratta States.

INTERESTING as to Mr. Hastings these domestic
srrangements might be, and highly important to the
Company’s welfare, events were already in progress,
which were destined to turn the atfention of the
Governor-general into a new channel, and to open
out a wider and a nobler field for the exercise of
his great abilities. The state of the Company’s
relations with the Mahratta powers had again
become exceedingly complicated, and a new enemy,
as yet indeed disguised, but not on that account
the less formidable, was already in the field. - Of
all these sources of embarrassment, as well as of the
intrigues of M. St. Lubin, an emissary, at Poonah,
from the French Court, Mr. Hastings was kept
regularly informed ; and in a series of letters, some
officially addressed to Lord North, others written
with the freedom of personal confidence to various
friends at home, he describes at length both the
apprehensions which they excited, and the measures
which he judged it expedient to adopt, in order to
avert the threatened dangers. It is not necessary
that 1 should transcribe the whole of these letters in
the order in which they were composed. Yet as I
VOL. INL o
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am anxious that Mr. Hastings ehould, as much as
possible, tell his own story, I will endeavour to
-make from them such a selection as shall at once
carry on a connected parrative, and place the
habits of thinking peculiar to the man in & right
point of view. The following appear to me to
serve these purposes ; and I give them preference
to the more formal despatches of the same date ;
because they at once pass lightly over matters of
official routine, and enter inta motives and parti-
cular transactions, more than could be done in papers
intended for the perusal of the King's minister.

To Lavrence ScLrvax, Esq.
Fort Willism, 15¢h August, 1778,

Dear Sir,—Our political history is a very long one.
I will give you an abridgment of it if [ can.

The treaty of Poorunder was executed the lst of
March, 1776,—1 disapproved it. 1 would have pre-
vented it from being concluded if I could; but 1 have
most scrupulously adhered to it, as I can prove by all
the letters written from this Government to that of
Bombay, since the death of Colonel Monson, and even
since that of Sir John Clavering. Not one article of
it, to this day, has been accomplished. Two years passed
in appeals from each party to the Governor-general
and Council, and in ineffectual though earnest endea-
vours on our part to reconcile them. In the mean
time the Chevalier de St. Lubin arrived at Poona.
This was about the month of May, 1777. He brought
letters and presents from the King of France to the
yonngl’esl!'l,appured atoncemthecluracterofa

ter, and was received with all the honours
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due to the representative of a great King. The admi-

_ pistration was then in the hands of Succaram Bobboo,
and Ballajee Pundit, commonly called Nannah Fur-
neess. These are the same persons who signed the
treaty of Poorunder. Nannah Furneess immediately
‘attached himself to St. Lubin, gave him the use of the
port of Choul, and entered into private engagements
with him, in virtue of which St. Lubin was to bring
a military force and stores to Poona, and Namnah
Furneess offered the alliance of the Mahratta state to
the French nation in return.

This was in effect the only way by which the French
could hope to gain their former consequence in India.
Their discovery of it, and their success in this first
essay of it, were so alarming that I thought it my duty
to propose & plan for obviating the consequences in a
long and elaborate minute which 1 laid before the
Board on the 26th of January. While this was under
consideration, a letter arrived from Bombay, informing
us of overtures made to them by Succaram Bobboo,
Morabah Furneess, Buchaba Poorunder, and Tuckoo-
jee Holkar, for the restoration of Ragonaut Row, if
that presidency would afford him a military escort to
conduct him to Poona. To this the presidency readily
agreed, requiring only as the previous condition that
the confederates would make the requisition in writing
under their seals, that of Succaram Bobboo being in-
dispensably necessary to absolve them from the obli-

- gation of the treaty with respect to Ragonaut Row.
Of this resolution they advised us, requiring our
sanction for it, and pleading the urgency of the occa-
sion for engaging so far on their own authority. I

- instantly proposed that we should authorize the design,
and that we should promise them our essistance both
in men and money to support the execution of it, end
I at the same time sent Mr. Hornby a copy of the pro-

o2
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posed resolutions, to prevent the effects of the delays
which I expected in passing them. They were passed
on the 2d of February, Mr. Barwell supporting them,
and Messts. Francis and Wheler dissenting and pro-
testing.

Ten lacs of rupees were sent to Bombay by bills.

On the 23d of February, orders were issued for
forming a detachment, consisting of six battalions of
sepoys, and one company of native artillery, to which
was afterwards added a regiment of cavalry, and a
body of Mogul horse belonging to the Nabob of Oude,
for the service of the presidency of Bombay. These
were ordered to assemble near Calpy, and to march
when formed by the most practicable route to Bombay.
Colonel Leslie was appointed to the d. Mr.
Barwell, whose advice I have taken in all my measures,
concurred in this, Mesers. Francis and Wheler opposed
and protested. Toavoid repetitions, it will be sufficient
to say in this place that all the subsequent measures
received the same support and the same opposition.

It was not till the 19th of May that the detachment
was able to move. It met with a feeble resistance in
passing the river Jumna from the chief of the Mahratta
districts dependant on Calpy, named Ballajee. This
man has since engaged Aumrood Sing, the young
Rajah of Boondelcund, in an opposition to it, and the
means they made use of for this purpose were to harass
the camp, and interrupt the supplies of provisions ; but
a spirited and succeseful attack made on their principal
poet, at 2 place called Mow, not far from Chatterpoor,
disconcerted their measures, and compelled them to
retire to a greater distance. This action happened
on the 10th of July. Colonel Leslie was presently
afterwards joined by Sernaut Sing, the elder brother
and competitor of the Rajah, and since by two other
chiefs of that district. The rest of the march will be
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easy, and creditable if Colonel Leslie does not entangle
himself in the domestic contests of the two brothers,
to which his inducements are strong, and his provo-
cations great. He was on the 30th of July at Chatter-
poor, where he had been some time detained for the
repair of his carriages. He writes that he was then
on the point of leaving it. I wish he had. I shall be
satisfied if he advances. I do not wish him-to be in a
hurry. His road lies through Raagegur in a south
direction to the Nerbudda. Youwill find these names
in Dury’s map.

The presidency of Bombay soon convinced us that
they had overrated their own abilities, or wanted con-
stancy to prosecute the design which they had formed.
They no sooner received our resolutions, which ought
to have inspired them with confidence, than they im-
mediately sent an order to Colonel Leslie to suspend
his march, alleging to us their apprehensions of the
risk and expense, which were surely not their concern,
and the dissents of two of their members from their
original plan, a strange reason for a majority. Two
or three days after they sent another order, revoking
the former, but took no steps either to avail themselves
of the influence of this expected aid, or of the distrac-
tions at Poona, which they might have converted to
any purpose that they had chosen.

The projected revolution took effect, but without
their aid or participation, and without any benefit to
Ragonaut Row. Moraba Furneess assumed the exe-
cutive charge of government, by the exclusion of
Nana Furneess, whom he soon after consented to re-
admit in an inferior station, and a letter was written
to this Government by the Peshwa, formally notifying
that the ministry now consisted of Succaram Bobboo,
Moraba Furneess, and Nana Furneess.

Moraba Furneess, adopting the policy of his prede-
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cessor, renewed the comnexion with 8t. Lubin, who
gave him assurances of the arrival of a French force
before that expected from Bengal.

Despairing of any effect from the irresolute acts of
the presidency of Bombay, I turned my attention to
another quarter, to which I had loocked as a resource
from the beginning of these movements. This subject
1 shall take up from an early period.

‘In ‘the year 1773, a Vackeel was deputed te me by
Shawbajee Boosla, the Rajah of Berar, with distant
overtures for an alliance with the Government of
Bengal. Finding the Vackeel intelligent, I sent him
back with instructions to propose to his master the
conditions of an alliance similar to that which I had
just formed with the Nabob Shuja Dowla, which I
have reason to believe was regarded universaly as
honourable to him, and advantageous to both parties.
‘While the Vackeel was on his return, his master was
slain in an engagement with his brother Moodajee-
who succeeded him. This put a stcp to the negocia
tion, and the revolution which followed it in this
Government compelled me to desist entirely from the

tion of it. An intercourse of letters subsisted
between the two Governments, and I privately encou-
raged the Vackeel to keep the plan alive, reserving the
execution of it to a more favourable opportunity.

At length he returned with similar offers from
Moodajee Boosla to those which he had before brought
from Shawbajee, but these were general and unap-
plied, and I was not in a condition to act upon them.

‘When the troubles in the west of India began to -
show themselves, foresceing that we should be drawn
in to bear a part in them, 1 resolved to take such pre-
paratory measures as might secure the assistance of
Moodajee on such an event. He had been adopted
by the former Rajah of Sitarra, 8ahoo Rajah, and de-
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signed for his successor in the.sovereignty of the
Mahratta state, to which he had .also pretensions by
blood. Ballajee, the actual Peshwa, or minister of
Sihoo Rajah, defeated this disposition, and raised
Ram Rajah, the late Rajah, to the musnud in his
stead. Ragocjee, the father of Moodajee, a man
famous in the history of these provinces, instantly
marched a powerful army to Poona, in vindication of
his son’s rights, but relinquished them in consideration

f many valuable concessions which were made to him
by Ballajee, still, however, reserving them for a future
occasion. It was stipulated that Ragoojee should be
allowed to continue the use of the deceased Rajah’s
name on his public seal, which practice is continued at
this time. From that period the family of Bailajee
has exercised the sovereign authority of the state, the
Rajah becoming a cypher ; and the Boosla family have
held their vast territories, which extend from the bay
of Bengal to the defiles of Berhanpoor and Poons, in
their own right and independent.

In the month of January, news arrived that Ram
Rajah, whose health had been some time.declining,
was dead. Moodajee’s Vackeel immediately wrote to
the Dewan of Moodajee, with whom he was in confi-
dence, a.dvmng him to engage his master to assert his
pr to the ion, and to solicit our sssist-
ance. 1 wrote to the same person a letter containing
intimations to the same effect. These despatches were
dated the 14th of January, a forinight before the
receipt of the plan formed at Bombay in favour of
Ragonaut Row.

As soon as it was resolved to senda mxhtary force to
Bomba.y, T wrote a letter to Moodajee, desiring his

i for its passage throngh his territories. To
tlus I received an early reply, expressing his hearty
consent, and informing me that he had signified the
same in a letter to Colonel Leslie, and had sent a
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* person of consequence with a body of horse, and a large
store of grain for the use of the detachment, to the
banks of the river Nerbudda, with orders to escort it
through his territories. There the escort and stores
have been waiting these three months. Letters received
at the same time from the Rajah and his Dewan to the
Vackeel pressed his speedy return to Berar. I accord-
ingly gave him his dismission, with orders to accompany
the army on its route, and since to leave it, and return
forthwith to his master, who has repeatedly written for
his attendance.

While the detachment continued on this side of the
Nerbudda, there was no occasion to change the original
order for its destination, nor to enter upon any measures
for employing it on a new service. It was still on the
road to Bombay, and might proceed if its presence
should yet become necessary there: it would be on the
spot {0 execute any plan of operations that might be
formed in concert with Moodajee, if the first design
should totally fail : and if that object also escaped us,
it would be happily nearer in that situation to our own
frontier, and nearer even to Calcutta, than it was in
its point of departureat Calpy. [ therefore resisted the
almost daily importunities of the two junior members
of the Board for its recall, and 1 waited for a clearer
disclosure of the events on which its final determination
should be concluded.

But when the news arrived of a war actually declared
between Great Britain and France,.it was no longer a
time to temporize, but to take speedy and decided
measures. The French had laid the foundation of an
establishment in the heart of the Mahratta state, and
mlght soon acqmre the command of all its powers and

were early taken to dulodge

them before they were in a capacity to act with vigour
in the prosecution of their designs.
To you, Sir, I am sure it will be unnecessary to mul-
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tiply arguments to prove that if St, Lubin ehould
succeed so far in his views as to bring 500 Eurdpean
soldiers, or even a less number, to Poona, with arms and
stores, and officers to discipline a corps of native troops,
and time wereallowed them to accomplish igwthat party,
which soever it might be, that had possession of the
Government at the time of such a junction, would soon
be in a condition to reunite all the dissipated parts of
that great empire, to command peace and obedience at
héme, and to spread terror over all Hindostan. Con-
ducted by its new ally, what could hinder it from
carrying its ravages into the province of Oude, or
even from attempting to dispute with us the possession
of Bengal?

If the presidency of Bombay was before unable to
execute the design which it had so eagerly formed, less
was yet to be expected from them on the eve of a war
which threatened it with its first effects. This was an
additional motive to look for other resources. I re-
solved, therefore, to propose an immediate negociation
with Moodajee Boosla, for an offensive and defensive
alliance. It passed with the usual division, and Mr.
Elliott was appointed with unanimous consent to con-
duct it.

I will not abstract his instructions. They are a
number in the packet, and I wish you to read them.

Mr. Elliott left Calcutta on the 20th of July, and I
expect that he will arrive at Naugpoor, the residence.
of Moodajee Boosla, by the middle of next month at
farthest. I wish him to be there before Leslie passes
the Nerbudda. It is an anecdote worth relating, that ~
at Cuttac, Elliott overtook Mr. Chevalier, and pre-
vailed on the Naib to assist in seizing him, Though
the effect of much address, this is a proof both of the
sense which Moodajee’s dependants have of his attach-
ment to our Government, end of that attachment.
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By very late advices from Bombay we have been
informed of another quiet revolution at Poona, which
has replaced Nana Furneess in his anthority, and new
overtures have been made in consequence to the presi-
dency of Wwmbay, which they had unanimously re-
solved to accept, and to carry into execution in Sep-
tember. It is a long story, but it will come to nothing,
and is not worth telling.

I return to Elliott's commission. It is proposed
that a stipulated number of battalions, and perhaps &
eompany of native artillery, shall be maintained for
the service of the Government of Berar, and paid by &
monthly subsidy ; and that this force shall be stationed
on our own frontier, ready always for immediate service.
These may be considered as in effect forming, with the
Berar troops, a strong and complete army of infantry,
artillery, and cavalry, (the latter reputed the best in
India,) in the very centre of all India. 1 wish you to
look at Naugpoor in the map for the best illustration
of this. They will prove a vast augmentation of our
military strength without an addition of expense. The
residence of such a concourse of people as will be
formed by the troops and their followers on our frontier
will bring the western division by degrees into culti-
vation: it is now little better than & desert, though
equal in fertility to the best peopled lands in Bengal.
It will open a communication by land with Bombay,
and it will finally complete the defence of our p
sions by an i table barrier on that side of

These, my dear Sir, are not reasons foreibly collected
to defend & desultory measure; but the original mo-
tives on which it was projected, and confirmed by the
reflection of four years in which this subject has occu-
pied my attention; and I hope this consideration will
give them the greater weight.
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Add that an extension of our militery influence not
effected by a diminution of internal and domestic
strength, is exempt from the great and only objection
to which such remote exertions of power are almost
always liable.

I shall here close the subject, and shorten the re-
mainder of my letter by enumerating what we have
done for the security of Bengal, in the event of a war,
in distinet heads :—

{ 1. On the 7th of July we received intelligence from

Mr. Baldwin at Cairo, that war had been declared on
the 18th of March in London, and on the 30th in
Paris. 'The proofs of this came so well attested that
we ventured to proceed upon them as a certainty. We
on the same day wrote to the Governor of Fort St.
George to prepare for the immediate attack of Pondi-
cherry, and we set them an example on the 10th by
the capture of Chandernagore.

2. On the 20th, Mr. Elliott was deputedto Naug-
poor with offers of alliance to the Government of
Berar, as above recited.

- 3. We have empowered the presidency of Fort St..
George to enter into & treaty of alliance with Hyder
Ally, who had solicited it. This will at least dwert
him from engagements with the French.

4. We have ordered a provision of military and
victualling stores equal to three months’ consumption
to be laid up in Fort William.

5. We have ordered the works at Budge Budgia to
be completed, and additional works constructed, not
merely such as may retard the approach of an enemy, .
but such as may enable us to oppose their whole force.

6. We have ordered our army to be augmented with
nine new battalions of sepoys, of which I reckon three
by this time completed; and expect the others to be
fit for service by the month of February at the latest.
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7. We had before angmented our battalions with
eighty rank and file in each battalion, with a view to
replace the troops detached to Bombay. These may
be reckoned a fund, supported at a small expense, of
sepoys capable of being drafted at once into nearly four
ready disciplined battalions on the old establishment
of 700 men in each. ’

8. We have required the Rajah of Benares to con-
tribute, as his share of the burthen of the war, the
maintenance of three battalions of sepoye, computed
at five lacs of rupees yearly ; and he has consented.

9. We have agreed to augment the artillery corps
with two companies of Europeans, and with four bat-
talions of native artillery men. This is rather a new
arrangement of our present strength. The first are a
deduction from the regiments: the last will be com-
posed, with some addition, of the Lascars, with the
advantage of discipline given to their former laborious
duties.

10. The following is the distribution ordered of our
military force:—

At the presidency two complete brigades, with all
the artillery corps, except one company of Eu-
ropeans, and three of natives.

On our south frontier, three battalions of sepoys
to form an army of observation.

At Cawnpoor and Chunar, for the defence of the
province of Oude, one complete brigade.

At Tuttehgur, for the defence of the Doaub and
Rohilecund, the temporary brigade, consisting
at present of nine battalions of sepoys, two
regiments of horse, and two companies of native

11. We have agreed to form a marine establishment
for the protection of the river. It will consist of a
frigate and three cruisers as a permanent foree, to
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which other vessels will be added for occasional ser-
vices, - This'force will be of great use in repelling the
almost annual incursions of the Muggs, a contemptible
enemy, but the scourge of this province from time im-
memorial.

12. We have manned and armed two fine vessels of
forty guns each, to reinforce the little squadron under
the command of Sir Edward Vernon. These will sail
within this month. .

13. We have embodied the militia to the number of
1,000 men. Their services will be employed in the
defence of the garrison in case of an ihvasion, and will
be of great importance, as they will enable us to detach
a proportionate number, or to employ the whole of our
regular troops in the field.

14. I will close this enumeration of what we have
done by a reference to the enclosed estimate of our re-
sources and disbursements for what we are able to do,
if more should be necessary. Our extra expenses will
come much within twenty lacs by the close of the year,
and will leave us a certain excess of at least twocrores.

I shall make no other comment upon the above, but
that if the means which we have provided are insuffi-
cient for the protection of Bengal against any enemy,
or combination of enemies, none can protect it. Mr.
Francis affects to regard them as insufficient, our re-
sources already exhausted, a. French invasion as certain
and impending, and the country incapable of resistance.
On the first intelligence of the surrender of General
Burgoyne’s army in America, he delivered a minute to
the Board, strongly urging the recall of the detach-
ment intended for Bombay, lest it should undergo the
same fate, intimating that the one was portentous of
the other. The detachment had suffered much from
the heat of the weather, but not so much as a soldier
would murmur at, nor more I am certain than I myself
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have undergone on many former occasions, though not
on military duty; but some miserable sycophant (not
an officer of the camp I am certain, because he has
given a false description of the scil) wrote a letter in
which he painted the effects of the march, and the
errors to which he attributed them, in the most frightful
colours, adding that 300 sepoys had fallen victims to
them. One circumstance of truth served to give an
air of authenticity to the representation, the death of
Captain Crawford, one of the best officers of the service.
From this letter, Mr. Francis extracted what I suppose
must have been the grossest part of it, and recorded it
without a name in the consultations. You will see
the whole of this dote in the ltation of the
22d June, in which the anonymous extract was in-
troduced, and in the consultation of the 6th July,
which contains a refutation of it. I speak from me-
mory, but I think it appeared that not a single sepoy
had lost his life by the march ; and from the veturns of
the same month since received, it is proved that only
—— sepoys died in the whole month, though this ex-
aggerated affair happened on the 2d.

Such are the artifices by which this dangerous man
supporis s sinking cause, and his agents disperse and
improve his inventions. It is a fact, nor will he dare
to deny it, that he sent copies of the letter written by
the Court of Directors to General Clavering, in circular
letters to the provincial stations, and translations of it
to the Rannies of Burdwan and Rajeshahee, Mahmud
Reza Cawn, Rajah Cheit Sing, and even to Nedjif
Cawn, and tothe Courtof Shah Aalum. I have copies
of both in my possession. What was this but an invi-
tation to the world to place po confidence in the present
Government, and to its subjects to disobey its autho-
rity?

in all our distant military quarters, and civil sta-
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tions, I find it currently believed that a French arma-
ment is actually on its way to Bengal, and I t
that this persuasion owes its birth to the same frmtful
brain,
1 am for my own part confirmed in the opinion which
I have long entertained, and I conclude that some of
my letters to you must have expressed it, that Bengal
is incapable of an invasion by sea. The season of the
year in which an army must begin its operations in
is country ; the season of the year in which the winds
ill allow it to arrive; the number of which it must
consist to encounter such a force as we possess with the
resources of the country at our command ; the number
of ships of force and transports requisite for such an
enterprise; the unavoidable length of the voyage
ioned by the ity of their sailing in concert,
and, of course, retarding each other ; the sickness and
deaths which must be expected to affect such numbers
confined in crowded ships, and exposed on their landing
to an unwholesome climate, and at the worst season of
it; the want of cattle, artificers, and coolies, and fifty
other wants with which I want time and recollection to
complete the catalogue; all render the attempt impro-
bable, and if made, reduce it to a certainty of miscar-
riage. They will, if they ever attempt the invasion of
Bengal, make their way to it by an alliance with one
of the powers of the country, and the only power with
which that is at present capable of being effected is the
Mahrattas. I will not lengthen my letter by entering
on other subjects, nor apologize for the length of it,
because I think it contains much useful information. I
am ever, with the sincerest friendship and attachment,
my dear Sir, your most faithful and obedient servant.

The preceding letter seems to me upon the
whole abundantly intelligible, that is to say, it
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deseribes very. fylly the nature of the writer's
position, as well as of the plans which he was form-

“ing; but there are frequent allusions made in it
of a succession of revolutions at Poonah,j—which,
without some explanation, might puzzle theordi-
pary reader. On his account I therefore insert the
following. Repetitions it doubtless contains ; .but
then it places the Listory of the events in a distinct
and connected point of view, and will hinder the
necessity of a great deal of explanatory remarks
hereafter. -

To Lacnxmncs Scrivax, Reg.
Fort William, 29d Angust, 1775,

Dear Sir,—I desire you will not be alarmed at the
bulk of the accompanying letter. It contains the
history of our late transactions with the Mahrattas, the
appointment of Colonel Leslie’s detachment, and Mr.
Elliott’s embassy to Naugpoor; and will give you a
snecinct and comprehensive view of our political state
which yon will with difficulty collect from our general
letters, and the diffuse materials of our consultations.

I have added a recital of the measures taken for the
defence of the provinces.

Some time ago I drew up a brief state of the Mah-
ratta constitution, and have since added, as they hap-
pened, the changes of the ministry of Poona, and other
events in our own government which have a relation to
theirs. I send it enclosed, and r d it to your
perusal It is a necessary introduction to the history
of the Mahrattas, and will enable you to read the ac-
companying letter without confounding your attention
Ild. "ith X bl )

I also send you an aceount of our quick stock. It is
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less than the last by twenty lacs. You will observe that
we have sent that sum in extra supplies to Bombay
and Fort St. George. I believe on recollection the
Bombay remittance was accounted for in the last.

Ihav. left mo time for other letters. Will you be
80 kmdutoletMr. Dunning and Mr. Pechel see the
accompanying letter ?

1 know that I may expect from your friendship every
thing within the compass of your power. I require no
sore than your protéction against the illiberal strokes
which are aimed at my character in the general letters.
I solemnly declare that I would cheerfully resign my
place, let 2 man of worth and honour be my successor.
But you hurt yourselves and your own affairs, by
treating with indignities the man whom you leave in
charge of your interests, and of the national credit in
India. I am, my dear Sir, your faithful humble ser-
vant.

P.S. Once more let me beg of you to read the en-
closed with attention. I know I shall be censured.
All new and untried measures must expect general
disapprobation; and I do not doubt that there are
many who will laugh at my apprehensions of a French
invasion from Poona. When the Shahrada first en-
tered Bengal, and fled from the approach of Colonel
Clive, I wrote to the Colonel an opinion that the
prince might renew his attempt the next year, and
waiting for the near advance of our army, pass it, and
enter Bengal through the hills 1 received a friendly
letter a few days after from Scrafion, advising me to
be more guarded in ventunng to give my sentiments
on public affairs, assuring me thu my last suggestion
had exposed me to much ridicule in the colonel’s
family, it being notorious (and he wondered that 1
should have been inattentive to it) that the mountains
were an impenetrable barrier to Bengal. The next

VOL. 1I. P
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season the Shahzada did pass our army, did enter

Bengal through the hills, and in the course of six

months after, different detachments of our army tra-

versed this impenetrable barrier in four different
tracks. Such is the lot of speculative conclusions not

agreeing with common experience. i
While you form your judgment on my political con-

duct, allow these two reflections to have their weight

in deciding it: lst. The invention of man cannot dis-
cover any private interest which I can possibly derive
either from the extraordinary efforts which have been
made by this government for the support of the presi-
dency of Bombay, or from the alliance offered to

Moodajee. Accepted from him it might have been

liable to the suspicion of a private bias. 2d. Noman m

England or in India has more studied the political state

of India and of its different powers than 1, nor has pos-

sessed equal opportunities of knowing it; and as a

proof that my judgment is not lightly led, if ever your

curiogity should incline you to read a paper of reflec-
tions which was sent with one of our general letters
from Fort St. George, in the year 1771, you will find
an inference which 1 therein drew from the state of the

Mahratta government at that time, most accurately

verified by the events which have since befallen it.
The following narrative was enclosed in the

above letter :—

A short View of the Makratta State, and a Narrative of
Occurrences relating to il, begun and continued at
different periods.

1
Fesruary, 1778.—The constitution of the Mahratta
government is despotic.
The sovereign has the title of Rajah and is heredi-
tary.
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The first officer of the state under him is styled
Peshwah, a title answering to that of visier in the
Mah dan gover t, the whole executive admi-
nistration being conducted by him under the authority
of the Rajah.

The next principal officers of the state are the
Dewan, the Ferd Nuveess (called contractedly Fur-
neess) and the Buxy Seena Saheb.

The Dewan is invested with the general charge of
(affairs under the Peshwah ; the Furneess with the
charge and collection of the public revenues ; and the
Buxy Seena Saheb with the accounts and pay of the
army.

All these offices, which we may suppose to have been
originally temporary, and dependant on the will of the
sovereign, have been for some years past hereditary.
The Rajah lost his authority, and the Peshwah assumed
virtually the place of the sovereign, leaving only the
show and name of sovereignty to the Rajah. In the
present state of the government. there are two grada-
tions of power between the real and nominal possession
of it. The Rajah is a2 cypher, and a prisoner in the
fortress of Sitarra. The Peshwah is an infant, and the
government is administered wholly by the Dewan and
Furheess.

The following are the names of the persons com-
posing the present government.

Ram Rajah . . . . . The Rajah.
Mhadew Row Narrain. . The Peshwah.
Succaram Bobboo . . . The Dewan.
B‘#:i:ea}l: ;ndlt’ o The Ferd Nuveess.

Succaram Bobboo has the charge of the infant
Peshwah, concerns himself but little in the ordinary
affairs of the state, resides constantly in his strong
fortress of Poorunder, and is very aged and infirm. His

r2
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credit is high in the general estimation of the Mahratta
nation.

Nannah Furneess is about 50 years old ; has the
sole direction of all current affairs, and aspires to the
first command, which must devolve tobim of course on
the death of Succaram Bobboo. His private character
and credit have suffered by his connexion with the
widow of Narrain Row, who is generally believed to
have been with child by him, and to have lost her life
by some medicines administered to her by his direction.
He has given protection to the chevalier 8t. Lubin
and Mr. Bolts, and has entered into formal engage-
ments with the former, to whom he is said to have
granted the port of Choul ; and the chevalier in return
has promised to furnish the minister with an European
force and military stores.

It may be necessary in this place to mention Rago-
naut Row,* who, although not a present member of
the Mahratta state, has a considerable influence on its
movements. He is the uncle of the present Peshwah,
and was himself raised to that dignity by the present

inisters, and di d by the same persons, after
avariable war, in which he was latterly assisted by the
presidency of Bombay, and which terminated in his
final exclusion by the treaty concluded between' the
Governor-general and Council of Bengal and the
ministers, called the treaty of Poorunder. He has
since been allowed an asylum in Bombay.

The policy of the original constitution of the Mah-
raita government forbad the extension of their terri-
torial dominions, which were very contracted. Not-
withstanding the which attended their arms,
and the incitements of ambition too common to con-
querors, this political law continued long inviolate,

* Or Ragoba.—The names are equally used in reference to the same
person.
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their views never leading them beyond the exaction of
an immediate imposition of a tribute called a chout, or
a fourth part of the estimated revenues of such coun-
tries as were subdued; and this in the course of time
became general from most of the states in India.

Their resourcesof wealth by such means were simple,
and unembarrassed with territorial arrangements.
Their own country was easy of defence, because it was
compact and contracted in its boundaries; and their
{armies numerous in proportion to their immense reve-
nues.

By degrees they departed from this policy, and, urged
by the ambitious and interested views of individuals,
began to extend their territorial possessions. From
that time the decline of their state may be dated ; their
government no longer retaining a consistent system of
measures, but becoming a disjointed union of different
interests and dependencies.

The present state of the Mahratta dominions is as
follows:

The ministers are in possession of Poonah and the
districts lying round it.

The Booslah family possess Berar and Nagpoor,
totally independent. Mhadajee Sindia and Tuckoojee
Hoolkar hold the countries extending from Candaish
and Guzerat to the banks of the Jumna, tributary,
when the government is in a state to exact it, but at
present independent. Futty Sing Goicwar possesses
half of the province of Guzerat, also independent.
The other moiety belongs to the Peshwah, or his
ministers.

The three last chiefs are known by the appellation
of the Jagheerdas.

There is a third person of great influence in the
present constitution of the Mahratta government,
Miraba Pundit, the nephew of Ballajee Pundit. and
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distinguished like him by the title of Furncess. He
is reputed to be a man of prudence and abilities, and
to stand the next in succession to his uncle. In the
present contests he has avoided all concern and inter-
ference with either party, professing an attachment to
Ragoba, but declining to take any active part in his
behalf.

In the month of May, 1777, the chevalier St. Lubin
arrived at Poonah, with a letter and presents from the
King of France to the Peshwah. Nannah Furnecss,
finding him a fit instrument for his designs, entered
into a close engagement with him, promising him the
alliance of the Mahratta government with the crown
of France, and granting him the immediate use, with
a promise of futare possession, of the port of Choul;
and St. Lubin on his part has engaged to assist the
minister with a military force and stores. A gentle.
man of St. Lubin’s suite was despatched to France with
letters to this effect by the way of Bussorah. Whether
this, or any other cause, alarmed Succaram Bobboo,
who had for a long time been on ill terms with Nanpah
Furnees, or whether other appearances made him ap-
prebensive of the danger of persisting in the form of
government established by him and his colleague, is
not certainly known. For some time past Mr. Mostyn*
seems to have seen the symptoms of a revolution im-
pending, and to have prepared the government of
Bombay to bear their part in it. Accordingly on the
10th December, Mr. Hornby received a letter from
Mr. Lewis, Mr. Mostyn's deputy at Poonah (himself
being then at Bombay) advising him of a confederacy
formed by Succaram and others to remove Nannah
Furneess from the administration, and to restore
Ragonaut Row to his authority, if the English would
join them. Mr. Hornby communicated this propo-

* The revident deputed from Bombay.
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sition to his council, and they unanimously resolved to
accept it, if it came properly authenticated by an
invitation in writing under the hands and seals of the
confederates. Mr. Lewis was directed to signify this
to them, and a letter was written dated the 12th De-
cember, to the Governor-general and Council® of
Bengal, to inform them both of what had passed, and
of the design which was in agitation.

The parties in this confederacy are Succaram Bobboo,
Miraba Furneess, Tuckoojee Holkar, and Butchaba
Poorunder, a man of considerable nota and influence.
Mhadajee Sindia, the associate of Tuckoojee Holkar,
as a paper of news mentions, was at the distence of
60 coss from Poonaly, but is probably in the same
interest. Each of these chiefs commands a force of
about 10,000 horse. It is not said whether there are
any other troops in the neighbourhood of Poonah.
Hurry Punt Furkia, the Commander-in-chief of the
Mahratta forces, was on the borders of the Carnatic at
the distance of 450 miles from Poonah with an army of
40,000 horse, engaged in a war with Hyder Ally;
between whom we have been since informed that a
battle has been fought, in which the Mahratta general
was totally routed.

Such was the state of affairs in the west of India by
the last advices. The Governor-general and Council
of Bengal have declared to the presidency of Bombay
their approbation of their plan, and have promised to
support it, if it is carried into execution.

2.

20th ApriL, 1778. The preceding statement was
drawn up in the beginning of February. The events
which bave since intervened or been made known to us
up to this time, being the 20th of April, are few, and
have accurred in the following order.

On the 14th of December news arrived at Poonah of
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the death of Ram Rajah. The succession is yet uns
certain. "It is said that the ministers intend to bestow
it on a youth who was adopted by the late Rajah
Moodajee Boosla, formerly adopted by Rajah Sihoo,
the predecessor of Ram Rajah, and a descendant of
that family by blood; has strong pretensions, a
powerful influence, a revenue of 150 lacs, and an army
.of 30,000 men to maintain them.

The confederacy has produced nothing. Its opera-
tions remain suspended, with little appearance of its
existence, but in the division and intrigues of Nannah
Furneess and Moraba.

Hurry Punt Furkia, the Commander-in-chief of the
Mabhratta forces, has been defeated with great loss, and
the defection of a part of his army, in two engage-
ments with Hyder Ally.

The chevalier St. Lubin remains at Poonah with the
same influence, and is admitted to long and secret

fe with N h Furneess, who has placed
guards in the house of our resident, and treated him,
as the resident complains, with other indignities

Mr. Belcombe, the governor of Pondicherry, has
sailed with a large suite, 100 European soldiers, and
a large quantity of military stores to the Malahar
coast; professing only the design of examinihg the
French settlement and fort of Mahé.

On the 23d of February orders were issued here by
the Governor-general and Council to form a detach-
ment, consisting of six battalions of sepoys, and one
company of native artillery, under the command of
Colonel Leslie, to rendezvous mear Calpy, and to
march to Bombay. It has not yet marched.

3.

Continuation of events from the 20tk of April, to the
16tk of August, 1778.
16th Aceusr, 1578. On the 26th of May, the con-
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federates, suddenly assembling their forces, proclaimed
Ragonaut Row’s authority in the city of Poonah, and
excluded Nannah Furneess from the administration,
placing Moraba Firneess in his stead. Nannah
Furneess was soon after readmitted in an inferior
character, and a letter was addressed to the Governor-
general of Bengal by the Peshwah, formally notifying
the accession of Moraba to the administration, now
consisting of Succaram Bobboo, Mofaba Furneess, and
{ Nannah Furneess.
This quiet rewolution made little alteration in the
. Mahratta affairs. Ragonaut Row, whose name had
been used as its first sanction, seemed to be totally
forgotten. Moraba, suceeeding as well to the politics as
to the place of Nana, gave the same countenance to St.
Lubin, who received his dismission in form, but still
remained, renewing the engagements with Moraba
which he had before made withhis predecessor, namely,
that he would bring a regiment of Europeans with its
complement of guns and stores, which he promised
should arrive before the English detachment from
Bengal.

On the 19th of May the detachment began to move,
the first division passing the river Jumna at Calpy.
Tt met with a feeble opposition from a body of Mah-
ratta horse on the other shore. These were soon dis-
persed, and an accommodation concluded with their
chiefs.

On the 22d of May the detachment left Calpy,
taking the route of Boondeleund and Berar Its
progress has been slow. 'The young Rajah of Boondel-
cund, instigated by Ballajee, the Mahratta chief of
Calpy, assembled a considerable force to oppose its
progress, endeavouring principally to intercept its
supplies of provisions. This made it necessary to
treat them as enemies. They were attacked and de-
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feated with great slaughter, the loss on our side being
only five sepoys killed, and twenty-seven persons of
different ranks wounded. The action happened on the
10th of July at a fortified town called Mow, near Chat-
terpoor,

The detachment lay at Chatterpoor on the 24th of
July, the date of our last advices, and was preparing
to proceed, baving been necessarily detained there for
some considerabld time to repair its carriages, and
other necessary operations of the camp.

,The rest of the march to the river Nerbudda is not
likely to be attended with much difficulty, the rainy
season being as favourabie as the violent heats have
proved adverse to the troops. -

The Rajah of Berar, to whom an early application
was made for his permission for the detachment to pass
through his country, and to assist it with provisions,
has long since caused a store of grain to be prepared
for it on the banks of the Nerbudda, where his terri-
tory begins, with a party of cavalry, and a man of
note to escort it.

On the 18th of July Mr. Elliott was deputed to
Naugpoor, the capital of Moodajee Boosla, the Rajah
of Berar, with instructions to negociate a treaty of
alliance with that prince. It is expected thit he will
arrive there before the middle of September.

Orders have been sent to Colonel Leslie to halt
within the dominions of Berar. His future progress
and operations will depend on the issue of Mr. Elliott's
negociation.

On the 15th of August, advices arrived from Bom-
bay, reporting that Nannah Furneess, having re-
covered his influence through the means of Mahdajéee
Sindia and Tuckoojee Hoolkar, had compelled Mo-
raba to sarrender to him the ensigns of his office;
Moraba had in consequence applied to the govern-
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ment of Bombay to afford their immediate assistance
to conduct Ragonaut Row to Poonah, with sundry
articles subscribed by himself and Butchaba Poo-
runder, one of the former confederates, Tuckoojee
also agreeing by a separate declaration in writing to
the same. These proposals were carried to Bombay
by Mr. Mostyn, the Company’s resident at Poonah.
The select committee approved of them generally,
and unanimously resolved to conduct Ragonaut Row
to Poonah, but to defer the execution of their design
till the month of September, expecting by that time
to receive our authority for it, and the latest advices
from England.

The Governor-general and Council have author-
ized them to execute it, provided it do not endanger
their own immediate safety, nor prove contrary to the
engagements which may have been formed with Moo-
dajee Boosla by Mr. Elliott, through whom this answer
will be transmitted, that he may apprize the presidency
of Bombay at the same time of the state of his nego-
ciations.

The following needs no introductory observations
from me. It tells its own tale, and carries on the
thread of the history.

To Lavranck SuLivax, Eeq.
Fort William, 29th November, 1778,

Dear Sir,—I have suffered an irreparable loss in
the death of Mr. Elliott. It happened while he was
on the road to Naugpoor. It was impossible to supply
his place by a new commission. At the same time
the wild conduct of Colonel Leslie deprived me of
every hope of effecting any useful purpose with the
detachment, while he had the command of it, and the
presidency of Bombay had in effect abandoned us,
and even their own cause, from the day in which they
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were informed that we had espoused it. Judge, my
friend, how mortifying my situation was in this disap-
pointment of the three capital points on which I had
rested my expectations of success. The first step to be
taken was to recal Colonel Leslie. Instcad of pur-
suing the route which had been prescribed him, he
loitered away four months in Boondelcund busied in
the paltry work of accommodating the domestic con-
tests of that government, and making treaties of al-
liance with the Rajah and his mean dependants. These
were direct infringements of his positive instructions.

On the 7th of October I proposed, and it was una-
nimously resolved, to recal him. Lieut.-colonel God-
dard, his second in command, was appointed to the
chief command, with*the rank of full colonel for that
service only, and letters were publicly written to the
Rajah of Boondelcund and his competitors, disavowing
the acts of Colonel Leslie, and declaring his treaties
invalid.

On the 19th of the same month we were informed
of the death of Colonel Leslie.

I waited to hear from Naugpoor before I ventured
to decide on the line of our future'operations. On the
12th of November I received, letters from Moodajee
Boosla, written on the first knowledge of Mr. Elliott’s
death, earnestly pressing me to commit the negociation
to his secretary, or any other person by whom it could
be executed without loss of time, at the same time
intimating that, besides the desire which he before had
to be engaged with us, it was now become necessary
to his personal security, as-a packet from me directed
tohim had been intercepted and sent to Poonah, and he
had been threatened in consequence with hostilities
both by the Poonah ministry and Nizam Ally. The
letters from his Dewan, who has the chief direction of
his affairs, and his Vackeel, a man in my own confidence,
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were expressive of a more eager desire to join our de-
tachment, and of the most sanguine hopes of success.

This was all I wanted. 1 immediately proposed
that Colonel Goddard should be empowered to treat
on Mr. Elliott's instructions, which was agreed to,
Messrs. Francis and Wheler as usual objecting, and
Mzr. Barwell, with whose advice and hearty concurrence
I had made the proposition, confirming it. A few
days after, it was agreed to release Colonel Goddard
entirely from the authority of the presidency of Bom-
bay, which might interrupt, but could not promote his
success. Besides, as the plan which we had adopted
had no connexion with theirs, or their government,
and required no assistance from them, it would have
been as imprudent as unnecessary to afford them the
means of defeating it.

I have every reason to be satisfied with Colonel
Goddard. He is one of the best executive officers in
the service, remarkably lively and enterprising, sen-
sible, and the very reverse of the sordid disposition,
and morose and disgusting manners of his predecessor.
His only faults are a too great pliancy of temper, and
pegligence of expenses, and of these he is conscious,
and I hope will be guarded against them.

He immediately quitted the detested land of Boon-
delcund, and without experiencing or expecting any of
the many impediments which his predecessor bad so
long complained of, continued his march in peace, with
ease and plenty. Where he is now I know not, but
shall be able to inform you of the latest advices of his
progress before I close my letter.

I am yet unacquainted with the expense which has
attended the detachment, as Colonel Leslie would
pever suffer an account tobe sent to us: but he carried
with him ten lacs of rupees, and we know that these
are consumed.
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I earnestly recommend to you the perusal of Mr.
Elliott’s, now Colonel Goddard’s instructions, and look
at Dury’s map for the city of Naugpoor while you read
them. You will find it the exact centre of all our
possessions and connexions in India.

The expulsion of the French influence from the
Mahratta state, and the establishment of our own in
its stead, were our objects in our first adoption of the
Bombay plan; and they equally form the grounds of
this. I hope it is no longer necessary to vindicate it
against the imputation of a breach of public faith.
The ministers of Poonah were the aggressors by the
engagements formed by them with the chevalier de 8t.
Lubin, and of these we have evidence that would con-
vict them by the verdict of a petty jury if they could
be tried by one. Trust me, the design cannot fail,
and if it should be attended with no other advantage
than the subversion of the present administration at
Poonah, even that will be worth more than the expense
and risk of it. But I hope it will be attended with
the most solid and lasting advantages. 1If 1 continue
in this government it shall. I will at least leave it
with credit, if the end answers my expectations, and
with the conscious satisfaction of having shown what
the powers of this government could effect if properly
supported by what they have done under all the dis-
couragements of a divided government, and the means
which have been used both here and at home to weaken
the hands which held the executive management of it.

I do not write on other subjects. Nothing else has
lately occurred worth the relation of it.

1 am, with the most unfeigned regard and attach-
ment, dear Sir, your most obliged and faithful servant.

The death of Mr, Elliott was a severe blow to
Mr. Hastings,—he mourned the calamity both
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upon public and private grounds: on public grounds,
because the service of the Company never brought
forward a young man of more promising abilities ;
on private, because Mr. Elliott was to him dear
as his own soul. Yet it was not the only misfor~
tude which threatened at this period to overtake
him. Just as Colonel Leslie’s feebleness seemed

jto have put in danger the success of a great enter-
prise, Mr. Barwell, through whose co-operation
alone he had hitherto been enabled to carry on the
‘Government, avowed his determination to return
home. There was no coolness between him and
Mr. Hastings ; they never differed in their gene-
ral views, they were as familiar and confiddhtial as
ever. But Mr. Barwell, having acquired & mode-
rate fortune, expressed himself anxious to retire
from publie life ; a wish which was earnestly, and
not unnaturally, fostered by a sister to whom he
was greatly attached. I find among Mr. Hastings’s
papers, a long letter addressed to that lady, in
which urgent reasons are set forth why she should
abstain from pressing her brother’s return; and
rather use her influence to keep him at his post, at
all events till Sir Eyre Coote, the new Com-
mander-in-chief, should have arrived. I think,
however, that the following to his friend Mr. Su-
livan deserves more than this to be inserted, be-
cause it speaks more plainly than the writer could
do to a lady, and touches besides on other subjects
of importance.
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To Lavexnce SuLivan, Bag.
FPort William, 9th December, 1778,

My dear friend,—The packets of the Calcutta and
Gatton arrived yesterday, and brought me your wel-
come letter of the 20th of April, the first that 1 have
received from you, or indeed from any of my frieids,
this season. I fear that my letters by Mrs. Thomson
have all miscarried, as I gave Mr. Woodman parti-
cular injunctions' to send expresses to me by the way
of Suez immediately, and as often as anything oc-
curred which it might be useful for me to know ; and
to consult you both as to the times and materials. ¢

The most comfortable circamstance in your letter is,
that you find your seat in the direction easy. You
must have an ascendant in it with the knowledge that
you p#llicss, and which your other colleagues certainly
want. Is it to the first growth of this influence, or to
a veering of the wind, that I am to ascribe the won-
derful change in the two last genmeral letters which,
instead of the gross abuse lavished upon me in all the
former, contain not a word that has any relation to me,
good, bad, or indifferent ?

Coote’s declarations to you accord with those which
he formerly made to my poor Elliott. They are sin-
cere I doubt not. I shall give him no cause to retract
them; on the contrary he shall have all he wants, and
more than he probably expects. I only fear the apti-
tude of his temper, to yield to incendiary impressions,
and Francis is the vilest fetcher and carrier of tales to
set friends, and even the moet intimate, at variance,—
of any man I ever knew. Even the apparent levity of
his ordinary behaviour is but & cloak to decepticn.

I owe much to Barwell, and to his steady friendship,
and I believe he is convinced of the sense which I have °
of it But I fear that bis friends are not soreasonable
as he is, and that they will prevail to destroy all the
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fruits of our connexion. It has been an unfortunate
one for our common enemies, and I do not wonder that
théy should seek to dissolve it. I think I see the
symptoms of such a change in his friends, though not
in him. He has been hard pressed to go to England.
He has been told thdt his importance suffers by his
being only the second character of a party; that
people impute his attachment tome to the necessity of
screening his conduct from inquiry ; that all persecu-
tions and prosecutions against him would cease, and
the fairest prospect open to him of future advancement
on his return to England ; and thatifhe stays he will be
precluded from all possible chance of the Government.
And that I never will resign it to him. These are
arguments most likely to pique a man of pride, and he
feels them, though he does me justice. He knows
that I have no intention of resigning the Govemament
to him in the bheat and crisis of contention; that it
would avail him nothing; and that for me to make a
pitiful retreat from such a station on the eve of a war,
would render me infamous. Besides, my friend, for
what have I suffered all my past troubles, and exposed
my character, fortune, and constitution, in so un-
equal a contest? That I might abandon the field as
soon as | was master of it. Were I to resign my place
it would avail him little, for Francis would possess all
the power of it, and Coote when he arrives would be
obliged to join bim, or forego the command of the

army.

Yet shall I tell you that he has declared to me his
intention of resigning the service? He says his deter-
mination is fixed. Yet I doubt it. Ihave oncestated
to him all the consequences of it, but left him to decide
for bimself, assuring him of my hearty acquiescence.
I shall not urge my objections & second time; but if he
goes, he shall carry my consent and my friendship with

VOL. il Q
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him undiminished. 1If the consequences of it should
prove bad, he will suffer for them more than I shall.
I will stay—no consideration on earth could induce me
to depart at this time, while I have set so many and
such great points at stake. 1 am certain that the first
use that Francis would make of his authority wonld
be to recall Colonel Goddard, and to revoke his com-
mission, and I would rather suffer death than yicld to
it. Let me but see the end of this affair, I care not
what may afterwards befall me.

I hear that the Stafford sailed from the Cape for
Bombay about the time that these ships left it. Sir
Eyre Coote then must be before this arrived, and I
have many fears that the gentlemen of that presidency
will engage him in some design to thwart the expedi-
tion.

You must not be surprised to find our treasury less
abundant than it has been. Our expenses have been
augmented, and we have lost some of our resources
—great additions have been made to our military
establishment—our marine is an entirely new charge.
‘We have sent ten lacs to Madras; we are about
to send ten more to China. We are ordered to
send an extraordinary supply of twenty lacs to
Bombay. The Nabob of Oude's debt, the payment
of which afforded an annual income of near a erore
and a half, is almost cleared off; and we are deprived
of our annual allowance of bills, which was fifteen lacs.
These reasons have induced us to declare our resolution
of reducing our future supplies to the Board of Trade,
allowing them a crore and forty lacs for the next year,
to answer the provisions of tonnage which will probably
be made for us. We certainly could go on some years
longer, but not many at the same rate; but it would
exhaust the resourees which the Government of this
country may require for the extraordinary emergencies
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»of war, and I think you will see with me the impro-
priety of regulating our annual investments by casual
means, instead of proportioning its amount to our cer-
tain and natural supplies. I am, my dear friend, your
most faithful and affectionate servant.

The most pressing of the apprehensions under
which Mr. Hastings laboured when the preceding
Jetter was written were happily allayed. Mr.
Barwell consented to remain a little longer at his
post; and the means of carrying on the government
were not, at so critical a juncture, taken out of the
hands which were alone competent to wield them.
Yet was Mr. Hastings not without other,‘ and
these serious grounds of uneasiness. The Bombay
government not only gave him no aid, but they
protested against the march of troops from Bengal,
and sent orders to their leader that he should halt.
Moodajee Bhoosla, Likewise, taking advantage of
Mr. Elliott’s decease, assumed a doubtful tone in
reference to the proposed alliance, and would
hardly consent either to see Colonel Goddard, or
communicate with Mr. Anderson, to whom the
Governor-general referred him. Nor, indeed,
all things considered, was this greatly to be
wondered at, inasmuch as Ragoba’s claims had
never by him been admitted ; and to establish Ra-
goba in the high office of Peishwah was the avowed
object of the movement from Bombay. Mr.
Hastings, bowever, by assuring him that what-

Q2
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ever the plans of the subordinate presidency might «
be, those of the Supreme Guvernment took of
Ragoba little heed, prevailed upon the Rajah, at
last, to re-open the negociation. It was conducted
with much reserve on both sides, Moodajee
tuking care not to commit himself, while Colonel
Goddard and Mr. Anderson asked for little more
than a safe conduct for the troops through the
Berar dominions ; and this they so far obtained,
that so long as their route lay through Berar,
Colonel Goddard’s corps suffered no molestation.
Beyond Berar, however, they had nothing to depend
upon, except their own courage and the judgment
of their leader, and in these there was happily no
deficiency.

It belongs to the historian of India, not to the
biographer of Warren Hastings, to describe the
military operations of this period in detail. My
purpose will be adequately served, when I state,
that the Bombay government, though informed of
the proposed co-operation, not only did pot wait
for the coming of the force from Bengal, but re-
probated its coming. Eager to win all the credit
for themselves ; jealous, too, of what they con-
ceived to be a wanton interference on the part of the
Supreme Government ; they hastened to equip and
put in motion an army of their own, which, com-
manded by Colonel Egerton, and controlled by
certain ficld deputies, after the manner of the
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- Dutch of old, had it in charge to conduct Ragoba
in triumph to his eapital. The results were emi-
nently disastrous, After advancing unopposed
to a point within eighteen miles of Poonah, a
sudden panic seized the commanders, and the
army retreated to a place called Wargam, where
they laid down their arms on capitulation. By
;the terms of that capitulation it ‘was agreed that
Salsette, Baroach, and all the other places which
they had acquired from the Mahrattas since 1765,
should be restored ; that Ragoba should be sur-
rendered to his enemies ; that the detachment then
on its march from Bengal should be ordered to
return, and two Englishmen of distinction left in
the bands of the enemy, as hostages. Never bad
so disgraceful an affair occurred since first the
English established themselves as a substantive
power in the East ; and its effects were instantly
felt in all quarters of India. A spirit of dissatis-
faction on the part both of the Nizam and Hyder
Ally, which had long been suspected but here-
tofore concealed, began to show itself. The
Rajah of Berar hung back more and more from
the projected alliance. The party among the
Mahrattas which was hostile to the English took
fresh courage, and the most dependent of all their
tributaries and allies put on, in some degree, a
change of bearing. Moreover, ample use was made
of the reverse by Mr. Francis and Mr. Wheler,
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as well in the council chamber as in their commu-
nications with the authorities at home. Mr.
Francis, indeed, declared that he had all along
been opposed to the war. He required, in a formal
minute, that Colonel Goddard’s army should be
recalled, and predicted that the results of a perse-
verance in the existing line of policy would bring
utter ruin upon the Company’s affairs in every
part of India.

To say that Mr. Hastings was not affected by
this unlooked for calamity would be to speak of
him as wanting in the common feelings of buman
nature. Standing, as it were, on the very brink
of a precipice; knowing that his eneinies, both
among the Directors and elsewhere, were as active
as they were powerful ; ignorant whether or not
he should be continued at all, or if continued, upon
what terms in the government, of which the term
settled by Act of Parliament was just about to
expire ; he could not but feel, that independently
of its injurious effects upon the best interests
of the country, the disaster of Wargaum might,
and probably would, be used as an instrament
wherewith to work out his political ruin. For
Mr. Hastings was not ignorant, that wherever
the spirit of faction has gained an ascendency, men
seldom pause to inquire into the real merits of a
case ere they condemn. There was a elear primd
Jacie charge agaiust him, In the war, which he
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was supposed to have promoted, a signal defeat
had been sustained ; and though the true cause of
that defeat was to be sought for in the refusal of
the Bombay government to act according to the
spirit of his instructions, he, not they, would be
sure to reap the blame,

Mr. Hastings was annoyed, but not disheart-
ened. He refused peremptorily to change his
plans; and Goddard, pushing on, achieved by his
skill and great courage successes which more than
made amends for the defeat at Wargaum. Mean-
while fresh armies were organized; one under
Major Carnac at Cawnpore, with orders to threaten
or invade the dominions of Scindia and Holkar;
another under Captain Popham, which should
march in pursuit of Goddard, and make good the
casualties which he might have suffered during
the campaign. This latter detachment, to be
sure, was almost immediately diverted into a new
line of operations where, much to the surprise if
not disappointment of Mr. Hastings's colleagues,
it did excellent service; and as the merit of that
service may fairly be divided between the head
that planned, and the hands which executed the
enterprise, it is just that I should give of it a brief
account.

Interposing itself between the territories of
Scindia and the Nabob of Oude there is a district
of hill country, through which runs the river
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Jumna, and which was known, at the period of
which I am now writing, by the name of Gobhud.
Tt was governed by a Hindoo prince, called the
Rana, and in the formation of his subsidiary
system had not been overlooked by Mr. Hastings.
In fact he had entered with the Rana into a treaty
of alliance, by which they mutually bound one
another to oppose the Mahrattas; and for which
Mr. Hastings, as indeed was the case in all his
projects, failed not to incur the censure of his col-
leagues.

Though the Rana of Gohud was quite inca-
pable of resisting, single handed, the feeblest of
the Mahratta chiefs, his country, from its position
and the natural obstacles which it presented to an
invading force, formed a good outwork to the
kingdom of Oude. Myr. Hastings, therefore, felt
that he was fully justified in taking it under his
protection ; and when in the winter of this year intel-
ligence reached him that the Mahrattas had broken
in, and were distressing his ally, he determined to
support him. With this view Captain Popham’s
corps, instead of following in the step: of God-
dard’s army, marched upon Gohud. The idea
was scouted as a matter of course, for Captain
Popbam bad but a handful of recruits under his
orders, and was all but destitute both of cavalry
and guns; yet Mr. Hastings persevered, and the
end fully justified his anticipations. Captain Pop-
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ham, an active and daring soldier, drove the
Mahrattas from Gohud, crossed the Sind into their
country, laid siege to Lahar the capital of ‘the
district of Cutchwagar, and carried it by assault. -
Having secured these conquests, he turned his at-
tention to Gualior, a fortress planted on the summit
of a perpendicular rock, and so strong as to be
;accounted mpregnable, even to an army supplied
with a regular battering train. Of this, also, he
obtained possession, for his spies having discovered
to him a single point where ladders of thirty feet
in length could be used, he boldly took advantage
of it, and carried the place by escalade. It is im-
possible to describe the effect produced upon all
the powers of India by this achievement. They
began to believe that resistance to the English
would be useless ; and when Major Carnac in like
manner moved on, and in spite of himself gained
victories over ten times his own numbers, their
dismay became complete. Had there been but
common prudence elsewhere ; had the government
of Madras been careful not, at this juncture,
to involve itself in a quarrel both with Hyder and
the Nizam, Mr. Hastings would have enjoyed, the
triumph of concluding his Mahratta war on his
own terms. Unfortunately for him, however, the
case was otherwise, and at the very moment when
his hardibood was on the eve of reaping its re-
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ward, he found himself suddenly eulled upon to
engage in a new struggle, not for the aggrandize-
ment of the British empire in India, but for its
very existence. .

Before I carry my reader’s attention to the
eauses and course of the struggle in the Carnatic,
it will be necessary to show him, from Mr. Hast-
ings’s correspondence, what was the state of that
great man’s mind during the period now -under
consideration. For ample as were the sources of
uneasiness—occasioned by an extensive war, a
divided cabinet, an insecure tenure of office, and
the necessity of counteracting the views of a hostile
faction at home,—he found, both in the state of
the country’s finances, and in the constitution and
working of the courts of law, very serious grounds
of anxiety. Moreover, Mr. Barwell, though he
had postponed for a time his wishes to a high
sense of duty, could neitber be expected mor re
quired to make so serious a sacrifice for ever. No
sooner, therefore, was Sir Eyre Coote established
as a member of Council, on a footing, as it ap-
peared, of candid and fair dealing with the Go-
vernor-general, than Mr. Barwell resumed his
project of retirement ; being confirmed in the idea
by the recollection, that as often as General Coote
might choose to declare against them, he and Mr.
Hastings were powerless; whereas, whenever it
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should be his pleasure to support the Governor,
the casting vote of the latter would throw all
power into his own hands.

These were great, and, if the expression may be
allowed, public grounds of anxiety. There were
others scarcely less biting; though, regarded in
connexion with the general eonduct of the govern-
ment, of very trivial importance. The party in
the Direction which bore no love for Mr. Hastings,
though incapable of obtaining against him a sen-
tence of recall, possessed influence enmough to
harass and torment bim on the subject of parti-
cular appointments to particular - employments.
Mr. Hastings, as has been shown elsewhere,
removed from their situations Mahommed Reza
Cawn, Messrs. Bristow, Fowke, and others ; with
whom, as avowed and bitter enemies to his person
and government, it was impossible that he could
hold any confidential intercourse. The Court of
Directors insisted that they should all be replaced,
without pausing to consider, that supposing, on
such points, the head of the government be in error,
you cannot thwart his proceedings without at the
same time ruining his influence. Moreover, the
Court, blinded by prejudice, seemed to forget,
that unless there be a perfectly good understanding
between the Governor-general and the individual
employed by him as resident at the court of a
native chief, such resident must, for all the pur-
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poses expected at his hands, be worse than useless.
For the Indian chiefs neither are, nor were then,un-
skilful after their own fashion in diplomacy. They
were always clear-sighted enough to know how
the licensed spies about them stood with their own
governments, and they took care either to deceive,
or to neglect, and therefore to reduce to the con-
dition of ciphers, those to whom they had reason to
believe that their own superiors gave but a limited
share of their confidence.

Having premised all this, and stated in few
words that General Coote arrived at Caleutta in
March, 1779 ; that he was a wayward and capri-
cious man, dissatisfied with the amount of his al~
lowances, and so full of crotchets, that it was a
hard matter to deal with him at all; I go on to
make such -extracts from Mr. Hastings’s corre-
spondence as seem to me hest calculated to servemy
purpose ; in other words, to carry on the narrative .
of Mr. Hastings’s proceedings in something like
regular order, while at the same time they bring
to light the very motives which swayed him in
all his undertakings.

The following extracts from a long letter to
Mr. Baber will I think be read with great in-
terest, I cannot venture to print the whole, for it
would form a moderate sized volume by itself;
and a large portion of it is taken up with reason-
ings on the propriety of measures which bave been
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sufficiently noticed elsewhere. But Mr, Hastings
seems to me to desire that his real sentiments on
every point of disputed policy should be known,
and 1 feel that so soon as this end shall have
been accomplished, there will be but one opinion
entertained both of his honesty and his wisdom.
Afier pointing out the weakness of the Court’s
reasoning on the subject of his supposed resigna-
tion through Colonel MacLeane, and expressing
his anticipations, for fears I cannot call them,
that to his door every misfortune which bad oc-’
curred, even shipwrecks at sea, would be Iaid ; he
goes on to argue the question of Mahommed Reza
Cawn’s reinstatement, and shows that as the
measure would be most unwise, so till other rea-
sons for its adoption be pressed upon him more
cogent than the Court’s arbitrary command, he-
shall, for their sakes, not less than for his own,
resist it. He thus continues: “ Hitherto I have
confined myself to & very narrow line. I have
conformed to the letter of the Court’s orders, but
rejected the spirit of them. I have proposed, and
it has been agreed to, to notify to the Nabob their
pleasure. He has refused to comply with it, and
I will not force him.” Thus the return of the
Nabob, now twenty-three years of - age, to a state
of pupilage is kept in abeyance; not for the grati-
fication of any personal feeling on the part of the
writer, but for the following just and statesman-
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like reasons :—* To the first executive membe.
of their government,” continues Mr. Hastings,
« the King and parliament have granted a fifth
share in the civil administration of these provinces,
and a salary of £25,000; on Mahommed Reza
Cawn, an alien to the actual government, and
equally with myself a foreigner with respect to
the country, possessing no natural or acquired
rights, nor even the pretensions of service, the
Court of Directors Lave endeavoured to bestow
the whole eriminal jurisdiction of the provinces,
. the whole, without participation, eontrol, or re-
sponsibility ; the guardianship of the Nahob, a
man of twenty-three years of age, with an estate
in trust of £160,000 per annum, and a salary, in-
cluding his jagheer, of almost double the amount
of that of the Governor-general. Before I will
submit to so shameful an imposition on the consti-
tutional dignity of this government, or allow such
a prostitution of the trust which the Directors
have received for the advancement of the interests
of their constituents and the national honour, I
will make my appeal to those very eonstituents,
and to the nation.”

From this he passes to the consideration of
another order, which the Court’s letter had con-
tained.

With respect to Bristow and Fowke I shall avow a
more liberal principle. 1 consider the orders respecting
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both as attempts to defeat the choice of my consti-
tuents and the act of the legislature, and I will declare
my resolution"not to obey them. Mr. Barwell will
support me. In matters of gover t, in all mea-
sures which regard the interests of the Company, I
follow implicitly, as I have ever done, beyond any of
my predecessors, the line prescribed to me by the in-
structions of the delegates of the Company. But when
they abandon the line of their duty, leave me unin-
tructed on every point of business, and fill all their
letters, which are volumes, with gross invectives
against me, and with orders which have no object but
to gratify partial favour and personal rancour, they
forfeit their title to my obedience. They may prose-
cute me, and I will defend myself as I can. They may
obtain my dismission, and 1 shall rejoice at my de-
liverance, if I cannot hold my office but without the
means of discharging it. These are my sentiments and
my resolutions on the order of the Court of Directors,
and I beg the favour of you to communicate them to
all my friends, and to whomsoever besides you may
judge it for my interest and reputation to make it
known. '

He next adverts to the subject of bis projected
alliance with the Rajah of Berar, which had been
condemned on the ground that were he raised to
the dignity and power of Ram Rajah, the office of
Peshwah would fall to pieces, and the Mahrattas,
being united under one head, would become again
a formidable empire. He says:—

Your objections to the proposed treaty with Moo-
dajee are judicious, and warranted by the obvious view
of such a subject. It was my fault that it was not
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better and more explicitly detailed to you. It is now
unnecessary, and would prove but a work of barren
speculation, since the plan and all the fine hopes which
1 had built upon it are blasted, and I fear beyond the
possibility of revival. Yet allow me bricfly to say, and
with a persuasion which in my own mind amounts to a
moral certainty, that the consequences which you ap-
prehend could not have happened ; that the same hand
which had raised him to the sovereignty of the Mah-
ratta state would have been equally necessary to sup-
port him in the possession of it, and even of his
existence ; that this conclusion may be peculiarly
applied to the state of the parties which divide the
Mabhratta state, and to the present influence which
rules it ; but that, as & general position, I will venture
to pronounce it as an infallible consequence, that the
English power in India will never; nor ever can, be
employed fo raise one superior to itsell; and that in
every instance the reverse is most to be apprehended,
that we shall commence as allies and end as tyrants
and despots.

- After explaining what were now his own views,
namely, to excite against the Mahrattas all such
of the ancient Rajahs of Hindostan as still retained
their independence, and by giving them constant
employment at home to hinder them from
making predatory inroads into the territories of
their neighbours, he proceeds to say,—

My influence has deserted me where it was essen-
tially wanting for the execution of such a design, and
where I had the least cause to apprehend a failure of it.
‘The story is long, let me shorten it as I can. )

The General and I parted with mutual professions
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of confidence, friendship, and promises of mutual sup-
port. I pass other matters. I communicated to him
the first overtures from the Rana of Gohud. These
contained the same conditions in substance as were
afterwards digested and improved into the treaty. He
approved the alliance; he approved the treaty; he
approved of all the conditions but one, which I, re-
marking the same exception, had in the meantime
corrected, and gave it the very form which he recom-
mended. As soon as this treaty was agreed to, before
its execution, I sent him a copy of it, and another in
form went from the Board. I wrote a short letter pur-
posely to inform him of Captain Palmer’ deputation,
the real objects of which I told him were foreign from
the professed purpose of it, and I promised him a full
explanation of them in a Tuture letter, being then
pressed for time, and my head and hands filled with
other matters. He received my letter in a fury,
answered it with a complaint of the indignity offered
to him by delegating such a trust to any other person,
which could be better performed by one of his family,
and insinuated (assuming the world’s opinion, the
usual cover in such cases to a man’s own) that Captain
Palmer, who was a gentleman of mine, could have been
deputed only for some mercenary purpose.

Two days after arrived a letter from him to the
Board, repeating the same resentment at the deputa-
tion of Captain Palmer, and inclosing a protest in form
against the treaty, declaring every article of it excep-
tionable, the whole teeming with certain destruction to
the Company; and that any treaty whatever with a
man so inconsiderable as the Rana of Gohud was dis-
graceful and dangerous, &c. Yet I have letters from
him containing the completest approval both of the
design of the treaty and of the proposed terms of it.

1 forgot to tell you that I regularly advised him of

VOL. IL. R
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the progress of this business from the beginning to its
conclusion; all but my instructions to Captain Palmer,
which now remain for Captain Palmer himself to show
him—perhaps not.

Mr. Barwell insisted on my Lkeeping back the
General's letter and protest till means were taken to
bring him to reason; and on my objecting, has taken
it upon himself. e has written to the General,
stating the fatal consequences of so declared an act of
hostility, and entreating him to withdraw them both.
In the meantime, they remain in his hands. Mr. Bar-
well's letter was written on the 3rd instant ; the answer
may be received by the 20th. 1 expect it to contain a
refusal, and to be accompanied with another letter to
the Board, with a charge of suppression. If the influ-
ence which rules him, and with which 1 am well ac-
quainted, should dictate a different conduet, still I can
hope for no good from so capricious a man ; and the
next flight may embarrass me in the very crisis of my
projects, and compel me to withdraw them. 1In either
case I shall hesitate before I can resolve on the part
which 1 shall take, for I foresee infinite evils if I recede,
and I cannot advance without him.

Lest you should suspect that I have given him some
secret cause of disgust, I assure you on my honour that
I know of none. I have invariably supported his
authority and enforced his regulations, though these
are not all conformable to my own opinion, and some
against my own practice. I have avoided every kind
of interference in the military department, even to
private dations, and end red by every
mark of public attention and personal kindness to
secure his confidence. My letters have been all
friendly to him, his to me all petulant and suspicious ;
I know not why or for what. I bear with him, and
will bear, for | am loet if he abandons me, my infl 3
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even with his support, being unequal to the difficulties
and dangers which daily grow around me.

The suggestion contained in his last letter to me
hurts me too sensibly, because I expect it to be con-
veyed to England, where it will be implicitly credited ;
nor shall I descend to refute if, except to my friends,
by whom I cannot submit to be regarded in an un-
generous light. To you and to them I expect my
affirmation to be accepted for proof. You have the
whole of my motives and expectations from Captain
Palmer’s deputation in his instructions. I have mno
expectations of any pecuniary advantage from the
Rana, nor have I intimated to him or his Vackeel, nor
to Captain Palmer, nor to any other, a thought of the
kind, nor has any such been ever directly or indirectly
suggested to me. I am incapable of selling the Com-
pany’s alliance, and the man whom I have employed
. bears too honourable a character to be an agent of so
paltry a bargain. But I have no doubt that the
wretch who instigated the General to his unworthy
treatment of me was himself instigated by the disap-
pointment of some mercenary promise which he had
secretly made to himeelf by being employed in a similar
commission.

12. My friend Barwell steadily adheres to me, and
has promised to remain in the service so long as his
support shall be necessary. My knowledge of his
firmness is as useful to me as the application of it ; for
I can venture, with that reliance, on measures which I
should not dare to undertake if I was liable to be
thwarted by the caprices of a man of levity. At the
same time he possesses much experience, a solid judg-
ment, much greater fertility of official resources than 1
have, and his manners are easy and pleasant, which I
am sometimes inclined to consider as the first accom-
plishment of a man of business.

R 2
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13. 1 shall now proceed to a subject which will re-
quire all my skill to confine it within the reasonable
compass of a communication by letter. We are upon
the eve of an open war with the Court.

Some time in the month of October a summons was
granted by one of the judges of the Court against the
Rajah of Cossijura, who applied to the Board for instruc-
tion. We referred the matter to our Advocate-general,
who delivered it as his opinion that the Rajah should
be told that he was not subject to the jurisdiction of
the Court, and should not pay obedience to its pro-
cess. We conveyed this opinion as our answer fo
the Rajah in a literal translation of the Advocate-
general’s words.

On the 30th of November, information was made
to the Board that a sheriff's officer, with a large body
of armed men, had marched to the Ba_]ahl house, of
which they had taken p ed,
and sealed up all the effects. An order was mstanﬂy
sent to the officer commanding at Midbapoor to appre-
hend all persons answering to the description which
had been given of this detachment. A party of sepoys
was accordingly sent on this service, and made the whole
posse prisoners, consisting of two Court serjeants, two
jematdars, fifty-two peons, seventeen men habited and
armed as sepoys, and thirteen sailors, also armed with
muskets and bayonets as the latter ; the whole number
was eighty-six. These by a second order were brought
to Calcutta, and on their arrival instantly discharged,
the Board deeming what they had done sufficient
for the preservation of the peace of the country, and
for checking the assumption of a new military power
independent of the established government. The Rajah
complained bitterly of the violation of his zenana, and
of his religion, the former having been forcibly en-
tered, the women and children having indeed been
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conveyed away upon the first alarm; the door of his
temple broken open and hxs idol taken and packed like
a lin a basket, and sealed up with the
other lumber. These outrages were verified by an
examination which the Board caused to be made on
the spol and avowed by the serjeants, who do uot
appear to have conducted themselves with more vio-
lence than men of their rank, unacquainted with the
delicacies which the difference of manmers and re-
ligion requires, might be supposed liable to commit in
the literal execution of a writ of sequestration in which
these attentions cannot be comprehended ; a third order
- was sent to the commanding officer at Midnapore for-
bidding him to allow the officer, or any other person
employed in this affair, fo be apprehended on virtue of
any writ of attachment, and notice was given to all
the zemindars by an advertisement literally translated
from the Act of Parliament, that they were not subject
to the jurisdiction of the Court, nor compellable to
appear before it, unless they had rendered themselves
such, by the cases specified in the Act. This pub-
lication was made on information of other writs baving
issued against the Rajah of Dinagepore, Burboom,
Tirhoot, and mary other zemindars of less note, the
consequences of which we dreaded as no less dangerous
to the public revenue and the quiet of the provinces,
than the writs themselves appeared irregular and
illegal. God knows how far we are right on the last
conclusion. I am sure of the former, nor do I believe
that the people, who will bear much, would suffer
without resistance the outrages to which they would
be exposed by such an innovation on those rights
which their natural affections, their peculiar sense of
shame, and notions of honour, and their ideas of re-
ligious purity, render most dear and sacred to them,
and which for these reasons have ever been respected
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by all, even the most oppressive of the Mogul rulers.
For the legal grounds of our proceedings the following
are our justifications :—

1. The Act of Parliament and charter give the
Court no jurisdiction over any"but British subjects,
and natives who are or have been British subjects.

2. Zemindars are neither British subjects nor the ser-
vants of British subjects.

3. The judges have variously in their opinions,
and once in a formal decree, declared that zemindars
were not within the description of persons liable to
their jurisdiction.

4. They formed an early rule that mo summons
should issue against any native of the provinces, unless
the plaintiff would swear that such native was subject
to the jurisdiction of the Court, and add in his
affidavit circumstances which rendered him so subject.
But the affidavit which was taken on the complaint
against the Rajah of Cossijura did not state him to be
subject to the jurisdiction of the Court, and simply
expressed that he was the zemindar of Cossijura,
employed by the East India Company in the col-
lection of the revenues of his own zemindarry, whlch is
preclselyt definition of a indar, every d
in the country (with very few exceptions of mcapaclty)
collecting his own revenues, of which a large portion
is of course paid to the Government, and of course
every zemindar may be said to be employed by the
Company in the collection of the revenues of his
own zemindarry. Yet against this rule of the Court,
established for its own process, against their own re-
peated opinions, and against the plain sense of the
Act of Parliament, the judge before whom the affidavit
was taken (Mr. Hyde) did grant the summons.

5. The Company hath furnished vs with an Ad-
vocate-general for our instruction and guidance in all
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cases of legal difficulty, and to his opinion in these in-
stances we have conformed.

I will not weaken the argument by multiplying its
supports, and am doubtful of the rest. I doubt only
the right of any power of this Government, but that
of the Governor-general and Council, to form military
establishments, to array them, and to detach them for
whatever purpose, and under whatever sanction, into
the country.

I doubt the rights of the Court to constitute a form
of process for pleas to the jurisdiction, because I find
no such process described or right expressed in the
charter, and I understand that pleas to jurisdiction
bear a different meaning in England, where they are
expressly constituted, and are intended to mark the
lines of separation between the different Courts which
administer the English law, not to exempt any de-
scription of them altogether from the authority of the
English law.

And I doubt the right of the Court to exercise any
jurisdiction, or to perform any act as a Court, without
an express sanction for it in the charter.

This is difficult and tender ground for me, and I
own ] walk with diffidence and with pain upon it. It
is a gervice into which [ have been pressed against my
will, and I have exerted all my invention to avoid it.
‘When the Board passed their first resolution on the
first opinion of the Advocate-general I sent for Cos-
sinant Bobboo, the plaintiff, stated to him the con-
sequences of his persevering in the suit, by which he
would be the instrument of a division between the
Government and the Supreme Court, and I earnestly
besought him to withdraw it. He solemnly promised
to withdraw it, but did not.

In an early period of this Government and of the
rcign of the Court, I bailed the Rajah of Bissinpoor,



248  MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS.

who had been, unknown to me, three or four months
a prisomer in the common gaol. I bailed the zemindar
of Meyhetty ; »and the Dewan of Rajashahee, an aged
man who had survived his intellects. And on every
occasion which was likely to involve the Board in
contests with the Court, I have taken a moderate and
conciliating part.

On the late occasion the Board has been unanimous.

I still hope, though faintly, that in the course of
these disagreements, some expedient may be proposed
to reconcile them ; but this is very difficult, for what-
ever is done on one side is an indispensable duty, and
on the other supposed purely optional. Of one thing
1 am pretty certain, that unless it is clearly proved
that the Court may lawfully exercise such a power as
they claim over the zemindars, this Government will
never abet them in the practice of it, or be parties in
dragging the descendants of men who once held the
rights of sovereignty in this country, like felons, to
Calcutta, on the aflidavit of a Calcutta banyan, or the
complaint of a court serjeant. And for these proofs
1 shall, for my own guidance, have recourse to a second
reading of the charter. To that I shall most im-
plicitly conform ; but I shall pay nd regard to rules of
construction, or to precedents drawn from the practice
in England.

Here 1 shall close my subject and myletter. I have

,much more to say respecting my own sitnation, but
this must serve for another letter. Adieu, believe me
ever, my dear Sir, your most affectionate and faithful
servant.

While labouring under the pressure of these
difficulties, and hopeless of relief from any quarter,
an opening was all at once made for Mr. Hastings,
into which, with his strong sense of public duty,
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he felt that be had no choice exeept to enter. On
the speedy and suecessful termination of# the
Mabratta war, he believed that the very existence
of the British Empire in India depended. He
bad no powér of carrying it on with vigour, for
Francis and Wheler systematically opposed him,
Sir Eyre Coot¢ was not to.be depended upon, and

Ir. Barwell fretted to escape from the thraldom
of a thankless office. What could he do? He
shall again speak for himself. The following
letters, written at the moment, while the impres-
sions were fresh on his mind, and everything like
an inducement to decéive ‘was wanting, set at rest
for ever, if indeed they be not set at rest long ago,
all doubts as to the causes of his personal quarrel
with Mr, Francis.

To Lavmence SuLivan, Esq.
Fort William, 30th Janmary, 1780.

1 think it proper, though rather premature, to ad-
vise you of an event which is likely to take place in
the course of a few days. I have assented to an
accommodation with Mr. Fraueis, the essential points of
which are agreed en, and only two remain which I do
not suppose will prove lasting obstacles; they will not
depend on me, as I am bound by ties which cannot be
loosened, and they are in themselves triffes. Why
should I not tell them? I cannot recall Purling. It
would render me an object of universal reproach. But
Bristow must and shall make this sacrifice to the
public peace. I will make some other provision for
Fowke, or if the Company in their next letter decide
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that he shall go back to Benares, he shall go; on no
other terms will 1 allow it.

I am told, true or false, that the Commander-in-chief
means to propose the recall of Purling, and Bristow’s
restoration. If he does, I am almost determined to
yield to it as his act, as the appointment of Purling
was his. But I cannot yet credit it, capricious as he
is and unaccountable.

Mr. Barwell, on the strength of this negociation,
has half taken his passage in the Swallow (our Suez
packet), which will be despatched express to England,
as soon as this point is defermined, the squadron
arrived, and we have some more decided or eritical in-
telligence from Goddard, all which are events to be
expected in the course of ten or fifteen days.

I hope that no man will blame me for making sacri-
fices of my own interests to those of the public, although
1 own, and have too dearly learnt, that my own involve
those of the public. This occasion, however, it will
prove a clear exception.

Perhaps James Boston, under whose charge I send
this, and who is I believe much in Barwell's confidence,
may be able to tell you more of this.

Our treaty expires with the remaining interval of
this Government, as constituted by the Act of June
last.

I almost tremble for the effects of this Act, as it
seems unhappily calculated, and most perniciously, to
annihilate the very Government which it was pro-
fessedly made to constitute, without producing, even
for a day, its ostensible purpose ; for the 5th of April
is already so near, that if the Act arrives within a
month, there will not be time left for its promulgation,
but it will proclaim the dissolution of the Government
appointed by the Court of Directors, aud I know that
the legality of our acting as a Government will be a
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doubt with many in high authority, though I believe
that few will be disposed to dispute it ; and in thigstate
we shall probably remain from the 5th of April to the
middle of August.

To LAURENCE SuLivaN, Bsg.
’ Fort William, 4th March, 1780,

My dear Friend,—You will be surprised, perhaps, to
hear that a reconciliation has taken place between Mr.
Francis and myself. It was first urged to both parties
by Sir John Day, who laboured to accomplish it with
a solicitude that does honour to his public character,
and entitles him to more than an equal portion of ap-
plause for the future successes which the Company
may derive, if any shall be derived, from the effect of
the union which his mediation has introduced into our
councils. A continuation of the same warfare between
the’ members of administration, when assailed by so
many foreign and internal difficulties and dangers to
which all our endeavours most cordially united are
scarcely equal, would have proved our ruin.

The conditions of this agreement are as follows:—

Ist. Mr. Francis will not oppose any measures
which the Governor-general shall d for the
prosecution of the war in which we are supposed to be
engaged with the Mahrattas, or for the general sup-
port of the present political aystem of this Government.
Neither will he himself either propose or vote with
any other member who shall propose any measure
which shall be contrary to the Governor-general’s
opinion in these points.

2nd. In the conduct of business, the Governor-gene-
ral shall take the lead, and Mr. Francis will yield him
his support.

3rd. Mr. Fowke is to be restored to the residency of
Benares, and Mr. Graham recalled.
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This condition has been fulfilled, Mr. Fowke has
received his appointment, and is on his way to take
charge of it, and Mr. Graham has received the order
for his recall.

4th. Mr. Joseph Fowke has been formally advised
of the licence granted him by the Court of Directors,
to return to and remain at Benares, which leaves hims
free option to make use of it, but Mr. Francis has pro-
mised to use his influence effectually to prevent it, and
he will be provided for. This clause, however, is not
a stipulation.

Sth. The Governor-general will endeavour to effect
a reconciliation between the Nabob Mobarck ul
Dowla, and Mahomed Reza Cawn, and to obtain the
Nabob’s consent to Mahomed Reza Cawn's appoint-
ment to the office of Neabut, on such terms as shall be
judged suitable, on the one hand, to the Nabob’s dig-
nity and rights, and to his youth and inexpericnce on
the other. Mr. Francis will not require more.

This condition has been fulfilled even beyond the
terms of it, and beyond the Company's ordcra.  The
Nabob's consent has been obtained, and the Board
have ordered Mahomed Reza Cawn to be formally
invested. The Nabob did indeed contend for the
distribution of his own income, but he has been re-
quired to submit to the full restoration of all the offices
which Mahomed Reza Cawn enjoyed in the year 1775,
such being the intention, though certainly not the
expression, of the Company's orders.

Gth. The order for Mr. Bristow's re-appointment
to the presidency of Lucknow is not to be enforced.
The whole negociation remained for a long time sus-
pended in the view of gaining his acqui 10 this
concession, but the length of his stay at Madras, and the
uncertainty which the advices from thence at length threw
on the time of his arrival, obliged us to terminate this
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point without him. It was agreed that he should
remain as he was, and wait the issue of the new settle-
ment of Government, and I undertook to satisfy him
as far as 1 could undertake for such an event; not
doubting of his assent even to make it his own act,
rather than fo assume the unwarrantable consequence
of making his private interest the bar to the public
peace, especially as it could affect him but a few
months, of which three at least would be consumed

efore he could take charge of his office if it was agreed
to replace him in it.

I have had some conversation with him upon the
subject, but he comes hard bitten from the land of
party, and I am not yet certain whether he yields or
not. He has promised me his final answer in a day
or two, which isdeed are past, but I think he will yield.
If he does not, the agreement is concluded without him,
and must be maintained, though on less pleasant
ground on our part, and less creditable on his.

7th. This engagement is to subsist till the 20th of
October next, or till such time as the new settlement
of this Government shall take place after the expira-
tion of the present Act of Parliament ; butit shall not
be understood to preclude either party from entering
such opinions, and using such other fair means as they
shall think proper to obtain the future adjustment of
these or any other points by higher authority.

It was proposed by me as an additional article, for 1
know by dear experience how much the temper of
public business is influenced by the gratification or
disappointment of personal attachments on such occa-
sions, that in the distribution of all offices and other
emoluments of the service, each party shall be allowed
that participation which shall be judged adequate to
their respective ranks, and the degrees of weight and
responsibility annexed to their respective stations, but
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Mr. Francis refused to listen to such a condition, lest
it should subject him to the imputation of an interested
or personal bias in the part which he took in this en-
gagement, and declared that he should leave the nomi-
nation to all offices unconditionally, and without re-
serve, to the Governor-general, to whom it belonged as
a constitutional part of his office. I consider it, how-
ever, as an engagement on my part, and have declared
as much to him.

Mr. Barwell, who was privy to the treaty in all the
stages of it, has determined to return to England in
consequence, with my free consent, and release from
any engagement as binding on him from his connexion
with me to remain in the service. In this instance 1
have proved the sincerity with which I have acted, and
my reliance on Mr. Francis's faith and honour, and I
must add in testimony of both, and in justification of
my own discretion, that he has behaved so openly, and
with solittle of the reserve and caution ofa man actuated
by indirect views, that I am certain, and venture to
promise you, that I shall suffer no loss of power or
influence by Mr. Barwell's departure, though I shall
miss and greatly regret the want of that aid which 1
might have derived from his friendship, bis judgment,
and his official resources, had he staid, and that I shall
find Mr. Francis both true to his engagements, and
ready and willing to give me his support and assist-
ance to the period destined for our acting together as
joint members of this administration; I am not the
least fearful of the reverse.

Mr. Wheler has on his part given me assurances of
his support, and that he should consider himself here-
after as detached from every deed which should pre-
clude his affording it in the most cordial manner, and
I have promised him the most confidential conduct -
towards him on my part.
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It was well for Mr. Hastings that just at this
time a breathing space, however insecure, from
party squabbles at the council board, was afforded
him ; for the disputes between the Government and
the Supreme Court of Judicature becameday by day
more angry, till amid their turbulence the ties even
of private friendship ran great risk of being broken.

find, for example, in Mr. Hastings’s correspond-
ence of this date many and grievous complaints of
the conduct of Sir Elijah Impey. Thatheand Sir
Elijah still loved each other at heart, and mutually
gave and took credit on all occasions for sincerity
of purpose, is indeed quite apparent; but it is not
in human nature that, even on questions of public
duty, men should dispute long and acrimoniously,
without experiencing in the end the miseries of
personal alienation.

“I suffer beyond measure,” he says in one of
his letters to Mr. Sulivan, « by the present con-
test, and my spirits are at times so depressed as to
affect my health. I feel an injury done me by a
man for whom I have borne a sincere and steady
friendship during more than thirty years, and to’
whose support I was at one time indebted for the
safety of my fortune, honour, and reputation, with
a ten-fold sensibility. And under every conscious-
ness of the necessity which has influenced my own
conduct, and the temper with which I have regu-~
lated it, I am ready to pass the most painful
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reproaches on myself on the Jeast symptom of
returning kindness from him. Such is my weak-
pess, if this be a weakness.” “ We are both of us,”
he continues, after avowing his determination at
every cost to oppose the mischievous encroachments
of the Court, ““ we are both of us unhappily situated
and associated ; myself linked in the same cause
with a man equally his enemy and mine ; he with
one man who has made no scruple to avow himself
my enemy—God knows why—and another, who,
though not personally indisposed to me, but go-
verned by a harsh and petulant temper, and pos-
sessed of the most extravagant opinion of the
omnipotency of his office, is the acting justice of
the peace, and issues almost every preparatory
process of the court, which his colleagues must
maintain, or their authority and dignity suffer by a
diminution of bis. In him our present controversy
originated, and from acts of which, however the
Chief Justice may now think of them, I in my
heart believe it impossible for him to have been the
author.”

I do not feel that I am required to dwell more at
length upon transactions which have long ago taken
their place among the details of general history.
It is well koown that matters came by degrees to
such a pitch, that throughout the whole of the
dominions subject to the Presidency of Fort Wil-
liam anarchy seemed tobe at hand. The Supreme
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Court issued its mandates, arrested and threw into
prison whom it would, called upon the Governor-
general and the members of his Council to answer
as individuals for acts performed in their public
capacity, and set both remonstrances and threats at
defiance. On the other, the Governor and Council
bailed the Court’s prisoners, refused contemptuously
{o plead, opposed the sheriffs in the execution of
their duty with regular troops, and meditated steps
still more decisive. There was no time to wait for
any decision from home, because the very springs
of social life were poisoned ; yet the ground of
quarrel may be reduced to this, that neither the
Supreme Court nor the Supreme Council knew
how far the authority of the former was meant by
the late Act of Parliament to extend. Under these
circumstances Mr. Hastings, with as much of
prudence as of liberality and fairness, determined to
get rid of the difficulty by a compromise. He
separated, in the first instancé, the courts of Duanny
Audawlut from the Provincial Councils to which
they bad heretofore been annexed ; and leaving to
the latter the entire superintendence of the revenue,
he set up the former as separate tribunals, under the
superintendence, in each provincial capital, of a
covenanted servant of the Company. By this
means the gentlemen who formed the Provincial
Councils were delivered from a great deal of vexa-
tious business, while to individuals the avenues to
VoL, IL s
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justice in civil actions were rendered much more
accessible. But from the courts of Duanny Au-
dawlut there had always been an appeal to that of
the Suddeer Duanny Audawlut, at Calcutta; and to
the latter tribunal also he gave a new construction,
by placing at its head the Chief Justice of the Su-
preme Court, in the room of the Governor and
Council. The results were, that taking entirely out
of the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court all questions
affecting the revenue, he gave to zemindars, renters,
as well as to every class of the Company’s subjects,
the full benefit, whatever it might be, of having
their private disputes settled,should they carry them
by appeal so far, according to the decisions of the
first law authorities in the province. Moreover, as
the office of judge of the Suddeer Duanny Audawlut
was one of considerable labour, a handsome salary
was attached to it, which was declared to depend
on the good pleasure of the Governor and Council ;
a salve to the dignity of that body, with which the
party accepting could not be dissatisfied, because it
marked the readiness of Government to acknow=
ledge, in every thing unconnected with the collec-
tion of the revenues, their sense of what was due to
the principle of justice, as well as to the person of
the individual by whom it was to be administered.
It is scarcely necessary to add that Mr. Hastings's
scheme was violently opposed by Mr. Francis and
Mr. Wheler, both of whom recorded strong
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minutes against it. But Mr. Barwell, who had
not yet retired, gave to it his support; and being
carried, it restored at once peace and tranquillity
to the province.

It may not be amiss to state here, that not in
the Court of Directors only, but in the House of
Commons also, the device was in a strain of un-
Jnitigated severity attacked. In the face of an
opinion signed by three of the ablest lawyers of the
day, that there was nothing contrary to the spirit
of the Act in any part of the proceedings, both
Mr. Hastings and Sir Elijah Impey were accused
of gross corruption; and the latter, being recalled,
was subjected to an ordeal not dissimilar in its nature
to that through which, as the reward of his long
and important services, the former in his turn was
condemned to pass.

s2
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CHAPTER VI.

Conti of disag AL the side of Carnatic—Duel with
Mr. Francis—Correspondence,

IT is necessary to a right understanding of the
subject on which we are going to touch, that I
should carry my reader back a few months in the
order of time, and show him how, in the spring of
1779, that is, after the hostile designs of the French
were ascertained, and the Mahratta war had taken
an unfavourable turn, Mr. Hastings found himself
circumstanced. The following letter, though a long
one, tells the tale in clear and forcible language,
and 1 therefore make no apology for inserting it :—

‘To Laczewce Scrivaw, Feq.
Fort Willism, 186 April, 1779.

My dear Friend,—I foresee that this will be a long
letter, but I will comprise the subjects of it within as
close a compass as they will admit, and treat of each
distinctly, that you may easier retain them.

Sir Eyre Coote, afler a very long stay on the coast,
arrived at Calcutta on the 23d of last month. He was
received with every military honour that could be paid
to him, and more, perhaps, than he expected. On such
an occasion I judged it best to exceed, rather than to
incur the hazard of offending by doing too little. In my
personal eonduct to Sir Eyre Coote 1 bave endeavoured
to gain his friendship by an official support of his pre-
tensions. by an unreserved surrender of the military
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department, and by other more important concessions.
I have consented to the removal of Mr. Middleton from
the residence at Lucknow, and to the appointment of
Mr. Hosca in his stead, a young man of lively parts,
but not equal judgment. Mr. Middleton has the option
to make the first his own act, and he will have no right
to complain. This point I had preconcerted with Mr.
Barwell long before the General’s arrival. It will add
greatly to his q and iofl whenever he
Jtakes the immediate command of the army in that
quarter, and in the present constitution and state of
our government it will diminish little of my own. He
proposed the appointment of an Adjutant-general for
Bengal. I supported the motion by my voice, and by
reasons that unanswerably justify the measure. For
the proceedings on this subject, see the Enclosure
No. 1. T have formed an establishment for his ex-
penses in the field on a very liberal scale, viz., table
allowance 7,500 rupees per month, being 50 per cent.
above that allowed by the Court of Directors to Colonel
(since General) Stibbert, and a discretional liberty to
draw for boats, elephants, and other contingent charges,
to the amount of —— more for himself and all his
staff. This is not much, and incomparably less than
the allowed and assumed charges of his predecessors in
the military command of this presidency, General Cla-~
vering not excepted, because he never was in the
situation to which these allowances are applied. No. 2
contains the debates on this subject. I hope my conduct
in it will receive your support. General Clavering, who
never intended to take the field, might content himself
with & gratuitous salary of 60,000 rupees per annum;
but you must be convinced that the Commander-in-
chief could not possibly support the indispensable
- charges of his rank and command with soscantya sum;
and it is a dangerous maxim to connive at unauthorised
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perquisites, the inevitable consequence of too close an
economy. Sir Eyre Coote hasaclaim to the house and

djacent lands of Gheretty, in virtoe of & sunnud which
1 formerly procured for him from Cossim Ally Cawn.
He has applied for and obtained the remewal of it.
No. 3 contains the particulars of this transaction.

These acts have all passed with opposition from
Messrs. Francis and Wheler, and will no donbt be
represented in the worst colours in their private letters
to England, by Francis at least. For this reason 1 bave
dwelt so much wpon them.

The General took a very wlyocmwnto declare
his resolution to act an ind t part, to confi
himself as much as he could 1o the line of his own de-
partment, and to regulate his conduct in all matters
which were brought before the Board by these two
principles, to which he vowed that he would iuflexibly
and undeviatingly adhere—an implicit obedience to the
Company's orders, and an avoidance of all retrospec-
tions Mr. Francis undertook to force him from this
moderating plan by a motion to recall Mr. Grabam from
Benares, and o appoint Mr. Francis Fowke in his stead,
in conformity to the Company's orders of the 30th,
June 1778. This was intended to produce an irreparable
breach bet the G andme and by a decision
so well adapted to the underst g of the public,
whwhhadseelJoaeph Fowke the ongmal incendiary
and the prime instrument of all our past dissensions,
to hold out the General as the determined follower of
the same party, Happily, though not at first aware of
the snare, he was at length convmeedoflt,mdrefuned
to give au opinion upon the stion, as & resolation
hadpasednpunltbd‘orehehadrewnedlmappmnt-
ment to the service, and had been formally referred
back to the Court of Directors, whose may be
expected by the early ships of this season. See En-
closure No. 4.
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The rule which Sir Eyre has prescribed to himself to
decline all matters of former controversy will, if he can
adhere to it, do him infinite eredit. I will not be the
cause of his departing fromit. On the contrary, Lhave
assured him that I will never bring on any business at
the Board when he is present which can revive our past
disputes, or oblige him to declare himself on the side
of either party, and that I will apprise him whenever
any subject shall come in Council before us which has
such a tendency. In this respect I have been so deli-
cate that, in the many and long conversations which I
have had with the General, I have never mentioned the
name of Francis, or alluded to the man, except on the
occasion of the question concerning the residency of
B when itb y to warn the General
of the design which it covered- And this reserve I.
shall continue to maintain, not so much on Sir Eyre
Coote’s account as my own, for I disdain to support my
influence by means which I could not reconcile with the
principles of honour. I know that Francis has no
scruples of this kind, that he is a complete master of
all the secret artifices by which confidence is allured
and friends set at variance, and that he will not fail to
practise them. But here, I think, he will miss hisaim.
All the eyes of our world were fixed on the General on
the late occasion, and if I can judge, his decision has
given uuniversal satisfaction. I will also add, for his
honour, that in a great political question we have been,
for the first time, unanimous. Francis is miserable, and
is weak enough to declare it in a manner much re-
sembling the impatience of a passionate woman, whose
hands are held to prevent her from doing mischief. He
vows he will go home in November, but I do not believe
that his resolution is so fixed as he pretends.

I have informed you in some of my former letters of
the design of Mr. Barwell to resign the service. This
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he intimated in a minute at the Board on the 11th of
January, and assigned it as the principal reason for
insisting on the immediate commencement of the prose-
cution, which the Court of Directors had ordered to be
instituted against him. This suggestion, which was
indiscreetly exaggerated by Mr. Francis’s adherents,
produced such an alarm, and I thought it so dis-
creditable both to Mr. Barwell and myself that we
should part so abruptly, with so short a period remain-
ing of the present system, that I prevailed upon him
both to relinquish all thoughts of depa.rting this season,
and even to avow his resolution to stay in a minute of

il. His li was cheerful, friendly, and
honourable, as has been the whole temor of his beha-
viour. What passed at the Board upon this affair you
.will find in Enclosure No. 5.

The tide of popular opinion, which for a long time
ran in favour of the judges, has lately turned against
them. A mean fellow, one Creassy. being the defend-
ant in a’ civil action before the Court, thought fit to
demand a trial by jury, which the judges refused, not
having the power (which I believe to be really the case)
to grant him one. This excited the public attention,
and a petition was presented by a large majority of the
English inhabitants to the Court, praying to be allowed
that privilege. At the same time another petition was
prepared to be laid before Parliament, enumerating
this and many other real or fancied grievances arising
from the present constitution of the Court. The con-
tents of this are as much a secret as a secret entrusted
to 250 breasts can be; and I fear that it will be the

of much mischief, as the judges are greatly irri-

tated at it, and I foresee many unhappy consequences
of their resentment both here and at home, which I very
.much dread Respecting the Court, I have my own
personal feelings ; but these, though they may influence
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my resolution in the most critical period of my public
life, 1 ghall never suffer to pass my lips or my pen.

am hurt greatly at these petitions, and more so because
many persons of my own family, or officially dependent
on me, have been subscribers to them, and it will be
obviously inferred that I approved and secretly pro-
moted them. Thate things done in secret, and solemnly
declare to you, and through you to my other friends,
that I had no knowledge nor even the slightest suspicion
of these performances till they were signed by almost -
the whole of the subscribers, nor of one till the morning
on which it was presented.

It is unnecessary to tell you that all my political
plans have been blasted by the precipitate and mise-
rable enterprise of the presidency of Bombay, the
event of which will force all the circamstances of that
transaction into the knowledge of the public. I regard
it as a measure no less hostile in its design to this go-
vernment than to that of Poona; yet if the humour lasts
of heaping abuse on me, I shall not be surprised to find
myself made a party in it. On the first intimation of
the project at Naugpoor, Moodajee at once renounced
all engagements with us. The distance of time between
the letter written on the news of Elliott's death, in
which he eagerly solicited the prosecution of the nego-
ciation entrusted to Elliott, and the letter to Colonel
Goddard, in which he expresses his disinclination to it,
could not be more than six weeks, if so much; but
light and darkness could not be more opposite. The
first must have been written about the middle of Octo-
ber. The last was dated the 23d of November. On
the 12th of October the resolution of conducting Rago-
naut Row to Poona was taken. It was certainly known
within that month at Poona, and of course at Naugpoor
soon after, the ordinary time of communication being
about ten days. Compare these letters; you have them
both. The first was enclosed in mine of the 10th of
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December, and the last I sent to you by the way of
Suez with aletter of the 31st of December. Read them
together, and you will want no argument to convince
you that Moodajee was as heartily and firmly bent on
prosecuting the design which was proposed to him as I
could wish him to be until he saw that he should have
a competitor in Ragonaut Row, supported by the same
power which had offered its aid to him, and by that
part of it which had the executive charge of its po-
litical operations in its own hands; and that this was,
as he professed it, the chief, if not the sole cause of the
sudden and apparently abrupt change in his disposi-
tion to a connection for which he had before shown so
great an impatience. I was strongly tempted, at the
time of drawing up Elliott’s instructions, to propose
that an absolute restriction should be laid on the presi-
dency of Bombay during the course of his negociation ;
but my friend Barwell, who, I believe, was equally
aware of the consequences of lesving them a latitude
to defeat our was of opinion that it eonld not
be Just]ﬁed against the positive orders of the Court of
Directors in the event of a breach with the Mahratta
ministry to renew the tion with Rag t Row,
and either convinced me, or I wanted courage to take
upon me so hazardous a responsibility against such
authority, and against the certaimty of being severely
censured for it, although there was then no prospect or
chance of executing the plan prescribed by them, and
although the most splendid advantages had eventually
attended that which I bad projected. I have since
received a fresh evidence of the propriety of Mr. Bar-
well's judgment in the heartiness with which the Court
of Directors have expressed their approval of the firsg
plan formed by the gentlemen of Bombay for the resto-
ration of Ragonaut Row, and even gone beyond it in
their orders, at all ts, to p te it

The defeat of the Bombay army has furnished Mr.
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were so meant) as an expedient intended to avoid the
harshness of an absolute refusal to engage with us. I
thanked him for his past kindnesses, which I enume-
rated, expressed my regret that he could not accept
the offers which I had made him, and intimated that,
if we were ever to treat again, he should meet the
same friendly disposition in this Government which he
had hitherto experienced, but it should be his turn to
make the advances. Thus this affair rests, and will
probably rest during Moodajee's life, which seems
not likely to be of long duration, having had two
attacks of a distemper which proved mortal to his
father, in the short period which has elapsed sinee the
death of poor Elliott. This infirmity in the Rajah,
and the jealousy which exists between him and his sen,
the constitutional head; and again between him and
his Dewan; may in part account for the timidity which
has lately too manifestly prevailed in his councils, and
which is by no means a part of his character.

If ever the house of Moodagee shall assert its pre-
tensions to the ruje or sovereignty of Sittarra, and
shall solicit our aid to obtain it, I hope it will be
granted. It will prove the most fortunate connexion
that was ever 'made by the British nation in India, and,
properly managed, may ensure its lasting dominion
over this empire, virtually, though not actually held.
I never wish it to be otherwise; but this is a subject
too extensive for the narrow bounds of a letter.

Before T quit this subject, perhaps for ever, let me
furnish you with one observation, which I hope you
will not suffer to remain useless in your hands, that
however my superiors, or the world, may judge of the
policy of the measure which I have thus unsuccessfully
projected, it is impossible to ascribe it to any other
motive than a zeal for the interest of my employdrs,
and for the sggrandizement of the British name and
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dominion. I could not have had a personal. interest
in it. The first design which suggested the measure
of'sending a military force across the continent was
formed without my participation or “knowledge by
people with whom I searcely corresponded, and with
whom I had not the slightest acquaintance. - When
that failed, I had. recourse to another, and I made
advances to obtain it. This was not the way to serve
myself, had I been capable of involving the Company’s
political interests in such extensive and possibly hazard-
ous engagements on so base a principle. Pecuniary
benefits are acquired by yielding, not by soliciting
favours. That this design was not unadvisedly or
Pprecipitately formed, you know. You know that it was
the sequel of a plan formed so early as the year 1773.
The expectations which I entertained from the succes-
sive changes of our conmexion with Moodajee were
declared on our proceedings, and were all literally
verified till the last and unfortunate measures of the
Presidency of Bombay. These, I own, escaped my
penetration. I could not conceive that the gentiemen
of that Presidency would rashly undertake an adventure
of such mighty consequence without a plan or asso-
ciate, and at the very crisis of an affair in which they
knew this government was at that instant engaged,
when they had suffered so many opportunities to pass
them of effecting the same purpose with the aid of ready
and powerful friends, and with our full and unreserved
sanction for it. In all the other parts of this compli-
cated and unfortunate history, my conjectures will be
found to agrec with the events which followed them.
To the world, the unprejudiced part of it, at least, I will
acquit myself most fully if I live, and it ehall be neces-
sary for me to provide a public defence for my conduct.
In the n time I expect the same spirit of malevo-
lence which has hitherto prevailed against me to involve
my credit even in the measures which were undertaken
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with a view to the defeat of mine, and in the infamy
which has attended them.

When the Court of Directors received the first notice
of the Rohilla war, they approved it. When it was
reprobated by General Clavering and his colleagues,
the same Court of Directors inveighed against it in
terms of the utmost severity. Perhaps I am to expe-
rience the same duplicity on the present occasion.
They were informed by advices received before the
despatch of their last letters, that the gentlemen of
Bombay had formed a plan in December, 1777, for the
restoration of Ragoba, that we had authorized it, had
given them instructions for the conduct in it, had sent
them an aid of money, and had promised to supply
them with a military force for their support in the
eventual consequences of it. In their general letter of the
31st August last to Bombay, they express their entire
approbation of the plan, urge in strong and in the most
unequivocal terms the prosecution of it, and use these
remarkable words:— And we further direct that, in
settling the terms of compensation to be made to the
East India Company for their service on such account,
you conform as near as may be to the propositions laid
down by our Governor-general and Council in their
letter of the 2d of February, 1778 They add that
they had ordered their other Presidencies « to afford
such immediate aid as may be requisite to enable you
(the Presidency of Bombay) to re-establish Ragonaut
RBow.” A more complete approbation of the part which
we had in this transaction could not have been given
to it, nor could I have wished for a more flattering
encomium on my own conduct than to see it prescribed
as the rule and means for the attainment of a favourite
projeet by the Court of Directors in the same breath
with which they extol the character of my late opponent,
and obliquely contrast it with mine.

How they will contrive to change their judgment on
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this transaction, I cannot guess; but I expect it. As
to the march of Goddard’s detachment, I will forgive
them if they pronounce it a rash enterprise. It was
new and hitherto untried. 1Its way was long, through
regions unknown in England, and untraced in our
maps; and I alone knew the grounds on which the
facility of its success depended. Could it have failed
from ordinary causes, Colonel Leslie would have de-
feated it. Colonel Goddard no sooner obtained the
command than he proved that the difficulties which had
so much impeded his predecessor were all illusions or
impositions. He gained Berar with a continued but
unavailing opposition. He there met with that hos-
pitable welcomo which I had promised him, and had he
not been counteracted from that quarter, which in gra-
titude and in duty ought to have supported him, he
would, I venture to pronounce that he certainly would,
have placed its constitutional ruler on the throne of the
Mabhratta state, and rendered it a virtual dependency
of the British empire. In this stage of our undertaking
we were foiled by means which it was not in our power
to control. Yet it has not, therefore, proved either a
losing or an useless attempt. Its original and pro-
fessed objects have escaped it ; but it is certainly, in its
present state, the most fortunate of any possible con-
tingency which we could have hoped for in its influence
on the safety of the Company’s possessions on the other
side of India, which I am convinced would be exposed
to the greatest risk of being utterly lost, Bombay itself
not excepted, but for the powerful protection afforded
to them by the pr of Colonel Goddard's detach-
ment.

On the 25th of February we received the first news
of the defeat of the army at Futtegong. It was not till
the 18th of March that we received the confirmation of
it from Bombay in & very short letter, which said scarce
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_more than that the army had been defeated and was
returned, and that a treaty had been made which they
would disavow. We have heard no more from them
since; but letters arrived yesterday (the 27th) from
Poona, conveying a copy of the treaty, which almost
made me sink with shame while I read it. It shall be
sent after the ships which now carry our last despatches.
The silence of the government of Bombay is inex-
cusable, though table. However it t do
much harm, as we cannot give them, nor Goddard, any
instructions that can regulate their conduct before the
rains, and there is yet time enough to direct what they
shall do six months hence, if they will inform us of their
situation, and propose the means of extricating them-
selves from the effects of their late disgrace. Ourlatest
orders are contained in the encl No. 6, which 1
recommend fo your perusal as being important. It is
also a curiosity, for it passed without a dissentient voice.
The merit of this prodigy 1 mnbe wholly to the as-

dant of our milit

I cannot part with this aubJect mthout testifying the
entire satisfaction which I bave received from Goddard's
conduct. 1 cannot find a single ervor in it. His
activity, his prudence, his addresl and temper, have
been equally consp and equally serviceable. In
his march to Berar he was closely followed by a large
body of horse, but his detachment moved in such order
that they never durst approach it. He was so careful
to conciliate the good-will of the inhabitants, and to
prevent disturbances from the licentiousness of his
Ppeople, that he would not suffer even an officer of his
camp to enter the gates of Berhanpoor, though he lay
many days within a mile of that city. The country
people supplied him abundantly with provisions through
the whole coorse of his march from thence, which was
exceedingly rapid; and this circumstance alone is an
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undisputable proof of his attention to the behaviour
beth of his troops and their followers. From Berhan-
poor to Surat I understand that his route lay through
the most fertile and best cultivated fields of Hindostan,~
and exhibited a scene hitherto unknown to those
regions, a_powerful army scattering the blessings of
peace as it passed, and the people, instead of flying
from its approach, pursuing their occupations, or throng-
ing to relievélits wants by a traffic equally beneficial to
themselves. {All the private letters from his camp are
filled with expressions of affection: for its commander
and of unbounded confidence in his conduct ; nor is it
a trivial advantage, or a speculative one only, that we
have been able at such a time to exhibit to the people
of Hindostan a contrast between the powers of the
capital government of the British nation in India, and
the feeble efforts (since they have so terminated) of an
inferior Presidency. Be assured, my dear sir, that the
successful and steady progress of a part, and that known
to be but a small part, of the military force of Bengal
from the Jumna to Surat, has contributed more than
perhaps our more splendid achievements to augment °
our military reputation, and to confirm the ascendant
of our influence over all the powers of Hindostan. To
them, as to ourselves, the attempt appeared astonishing
and impracticable, becauee it had never before been
made or suggested. It has shown what the British
arms are capable of effecting, and it has afforded a most
seasonable aid to the Presidency of Bombay when it
most stood in need of a foreign support.

What reward will our superiors bestow on the man
who has been the bappy instrument of retrieving the
recent dishonour which had tarnished the English
name? Let me receive my customary portion of censure
for having projected the expedition; I expectit. But
his conduct in the execution of it, which has no relation

VOL. II. T
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to the principles of its formation, must surely entitle
him to universal applause. A fortunale opportunity
presents itself. The command of the forces on the
Bombay establishment is likely to become soon vacant.
It cannot be better bestowed than on Colonel Goddard.
Such a retribution to his services would do honour to
the Court of Directors, and place him in the station in
which his abilities might be the most usefully and
effectually exerted for the future advancement of their
interests. [ myself would dit; but I should
fear that my suffrage would rather impede than advance
his success with minds so long habituated to set their
judgments against mine. Yet let me entreat that you,
my friend, will nse your interest to promote my wishes
in this instance. You cannot do me s greater kind-
ness, and you may do it without a supersession; for
surely Colonel Goddard may lay claim to a common
share in the rights of the service which he has so noto-
riously supported, and has added so powerful an addi-
tion to it; and next to Colonel Egerton, he is senior by
commission to any officer on that establishment.

I shall now close my letter with the last subject which
I wish at this time to communicate to you, my own
situation and prospects.

I am told that the probable conjecture of the new
settlement of this government is, that the present will
be renewed, or rather continued, without any change
either in its constitution or in the members composing
it, and that I may be suffered to etand at the head of
it merely to avoid the pain of removing me. On this
footing I will not hold the government, nor would 1
eontinue the pageant that I am another year for all the
rewards and honours that the King could give me. I
am not Governor. All the means I posscss are those
of preventing the rule from falling into worse hands than
my own, and for these I am an absolute dependant. 1
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came to this government when it subsisted on borrowed
resources, and when its powers were unknown beyond
the borders of the country, which it held in concealed
and upprofitable subjection. I saw it grow into wealth'
and national consequence, and again sink into a decline
that must infallibly end it, if a very speedy remedy be
not applied. Its very constitution is made up of dis-
cordant parts, and contains the seeds of death in it. I
am morally certain that the resources of this country,
ju the hands of a military people and in the disposition
of & consistent and undivided form of government, are
both capable of vast internal improvement, and of
raising that power which possesses them to the do-
minjon of all India (an event which I may not mention
witbout adding that it is what I never wish tosee); and
I believe myself capable of improving them and of
applying them to the real and substantial benefit of my
own country.

It will be seen from this letter, that neither
the reverses on the side of Bombay, nor the
wayward temper of the Commander-in-chief,
nor the continued hostility of Mr, Francis, nor
the absence of & just support from the Court
of Directors, were able, in his hour of greatest
trial and difficulty, to depress the courage of
Warren Hastings. Strong in the assurance
that his policy was the wisest that could be
adopted, he resolved to persevere in it; and
that too in the face of another impediment, in
some respects more formidable than all the rest.
Mr. Hastings turned to his treasury, and found
that it would soon fail him. The surplus which

T2
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it was his pride to have accumulated during a sea-
son of troubled peace the first demands of a com-
plicated war had swept away; and in proportion
88 his enemies increased in numbers and influence
and fresh exertions on his own part became neces-
sary, the means of providing for these exertions
fell short. Mr. Hastings pondered the diffi-
culties of his situation with much anxiety. He
could not increase the burthens under which the
British provinces luboured, for they were already
taxed to the utmost extent of their capabilities. He
dared not withhold the Company’s invesunents,
except in the last extremity. He was very un-
willing to re-establish agaiu a bonded debt, his
absorption of which had earned for himself so much
credit, and proved so beneficial to his employers.
Something, however, must be done, otherwise the
ruin of the Company’s affairs, if not the total loss
of India, was certain. Under these circumstances
he determined to make use of the privileges which
the constitution of the country, and the usages of
the Mogul empire, gave him; and to call upon
his dependent chiefs, the rajabs and nabobs and
greater zemindars, whom he protected, for such
aids as the eritical condition of the empire might
render indispensable.

Had the Mahrattas stood alone as the enemies
of the British name, it is probable that he would
have made little use of this, his acknowledged
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right. He did not hold them in any great re-
spect, and the tone of his correspondence shows
as much ; but the Mahrattas by no means stood
alone. A war with France was actually begun,
and though success had attended its first operations,
no one could tell how soon the arrival of a fleet
and army from Europe might give a totally dif-

rent aspect to the face of affairs. Moreover the
worse than blundering of the Madras Government
had given great offence both to Hyder Ally, the
formidable sovereign of Mysore, and to Mahommed
Ally Cawn, Nizam of the Deccan. Now a breach
with Hyder and the Nizam, coming upon the back
of the Mahratta and French wars, was a contingency
on the possible occurrence of which he bad not
counted. When the peace of British India was first
broken, the Mahrattas and Hyder were at variance.
The Deccan, likewise, had been invaded by them,
8 measure certainly not calculated to conciliate
its chief, so that the two greatest of the native
powers were in some sort the allies of the Com-
pany. But should the grounds of this intestine
quarrel fuil, and a reconciliation among the belli-
gerents be effected, then the situations of the
English and their enemies would be exactly re-
versed. The latter would be supported by all the
powers of India; the former would stand alone
It must be confessed that the prospect was abund-
antly alarming, and that it was by no means
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illusory, the following statement of facts will
show.

1 have purposely avoided taking any particular
notice of the squabbles and contentions which for
some years previously had agitated the presidency
of Fort St. George. These were doubtless to be
attributed in part to the delicate position of the
Company in its relations with the Nabob of Arcot,
for as yet the evils of a double government were in
full force in the Carnatie, and the Nabob was by
no means & docile pageant in the hands of the
presidency. But a more direct and efficient cause
of these difficulties may be found in the interested
and grasping designs of individuals ; to the working
out of which the weakness as well as the improvi-
dence of Mahomed Ali gave ample scope. Un-
willing or unable to provide for the military pro-
tection of the country, to the sovereignty of which
the English had advanced him, he transferred the
power of the sword unreservedly to his allies,
and allowing them a sum out of his revenues pro-
portionate to the expense, he placed himself in ab-
solute dependence upon the Company. It soon
appeared that his revenues were by no means equal
to the demands that were made upon them. The
country was oppressed by the severity of his ex-
actions, and instead of being fostered, after the
tedious sufferings of a war, it was scourged by all
the evils of a government at once insatiable and
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neglectful. When his revenues began to fail, be
had recourse to loans. Money was advanced to
him at exorbitant interest ; frequently by English-
men and servants of the Company. He paid
them, generally, by a species of assifnment called
in India tuncahs, which entitled the holders to the
revenues of specified portions of the territory, and
authorized them to draw these iromediately from
the collectors. I need not go on to describe the
results of a system so improvident and iniquitous.
The Nabob’s embarrassments increased from day
to day; theremnants of his power went from him ;
his revenues were absorbed by greedy and merci-
less creditors, and he and the presidency became
mutually discontented with one another. He. ac~
cused the English of acting towards him with ex-
treme injustice, they charged him with concealing
the amount of the sums which he drew from the
country, and of impairing its produce by his
private extravagance, and by the vices of his
imbecile and wicked government.

With the history of those transactions in which
Mr. Paul Benfield played so conspicuous a part,
I have no concern, neither is it necessary for me
to detail at length the motives which led to the
reduction of the state of Tanjore and its absorption
in the common realm of the Cernatic. Tanjore,
though as much independent as any other of the
petty principalities which paid tribute to the
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Mogul, through his representativés, the Nizam and
the Nabob, had unquestionably been reckoned,
during the vigour of the Mogul sway, an integral
portion of the empire. It was managed, indeed,
by a descendunt from the line of its ancient Hindoo
rajuhs ; yet his rank on the list of the Duan was
that of a zemindar merely, and he was liable, like
every other zemindar or manager of the revenues,
to increased demands, as often as the exigencies
of the state might require. There can Be no
doubt, therefore, that the rights of the Nabob of
the Carnatic, considered as the representative of the
Mogul, now a shadow, were, towards the Rajah,
those of a liege lord, if indeed they approached not
more nearly to those of direct and absolute sove-
reignty. But we may fairly question both the
honesty and wisdom of the grounds on which the
Nabob thought fit to exercise them. Still the
measure was one, of the expediency of which the
English either were not, or assumed that they were
not, competent judges. Having been required, by
virtue of their treaty with the Nabob, to assist
him in the reduction of a refractory vassal, they
marched an army against Tanjore ; and carrying
the town by siege, they put both it, and the terri-
tories dependent upon it, under the iinmediate con-
trol of the sovereign of the Carnatic.

The Rajah of Tanjore so far deserved his fate,
that, lying out of the reach of immediate injury from
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invasion, he haa contributed neither money nor
troops, proportionate to his stake in the country,
for the defence of the Carnatic when harassed by
Hyder and the Mabrattas. It was well known,
moreover, that he had held with Both powers
friendly communications, and he was much in arrear
with his peschuch or tribute, which, on one"
retence or another, he refused to pay. He had
{esidés made war upon certain chiefs who claimed
protection both of the English and the Nabob;
and by various other acts displayed the reverse
of a spirit of obedience in quarters where it was
expected : still the measure of his deposition was a
harsh one, and the Court of Directors—who might
have prevented it but did not—iwere compelled, by a
decision of the proprietors, to order its reversal.
Accordingly Lord Pigot, who in 1775 assumed
the Government, proceeded, not without strong
opposition on the part of his Council, to undo all
that, in reference to this matter, his predecessor had
done. Of the disputes to which his precipitancy
led, some notice has been taken in an earlier part of
this work. The Rajah was restored, and disposi-
tions made to establish at his court & British resi-
dent,—a measure sufficiently easy of accomplish-
ment one would think, yet, as the event proved,
not so accounted of at the presidency. For out of
that question, as well as of another affecting the
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arrangement of a military corhmand, animosities
arose 8o bitter, as to threaten at one time the Com-
pany’s possessions in the Carnatic with the horrors
civil war. Finally Lord Pigot was arrested by
order of a Mmajority of his own Council, the ma-
jority was acknowledged as a legitimate Govern-
ment by the Supreme Government at Bengal, and
order was restored, if the term can with propriety
be used in reference to a province where every
man seemed to do exactly what was right in his
own eyes.

The proceedings of the Courts of Directors and
Proprietors with reference to these matters are,
equally with the movements made in the House of
Commons, foreign from the design of this work.
The first mentioned body, wavering and unstable
as usual, approved and condemned the same
parties, for the same acts, well nigh in the same
breath. They ordered Lord Pigotto be restored ;
desired that he should immediately resign ; again,
directed the majority to be suspended from the
service, and forthwith recalled them. They then
sent out Sir Thomas Rumbold to assume the helm
at Madras, Mr. John Whitehill, second member of
Council, acting for him till he should arrive, and
nominated Sir Hector Munro as Commander of
the forces, with civil rank as third member of
Council. Of the whole of these gentlemen,
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further notice will be taken in the course of the cor-
respondence which follows ; for the present I must
briefly advert to other matters.

Annexed to the presidency of Fort St. George
were certain tracts of country called the Northern
Circars, which, in 1766, had been made over by
the Nizam to the English, the latter agreeing to send
troops to his assistance whenever they should be
required, and to pay him annually a tribute, or quit
rent, for the territory. One of these, however,
called the Guntoor Circar, had been granted in
jaghire, for the term of his life, to Bazalut Jung,
the Nizam’s brother ; and over it and its resources,
the Company had of course no claim, except in
reversion, But in the year 1774, it was an-
nounced to the presidency by letters from the
chief of Masulipatam, that Bazalut Jung had
taken into his service a body of French troops, un-
der the command of M. Lally, and to obtain the
dismissal of them became forthwith an object with
the English of the first importance. Accordingly,
having treated the Nizam as a principal in the
treaty of 1768, and a party cousenting to all
the agreements between the Company and Baza-
lut Jung, they now desired his co-operation in
compelling his brother either to dismiss these
Europeans from his service, and trust to the Eng-
lish for the defence of Guntoor, or to make over
to them that Circar at a rent which should be de-
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termined upon by amicable valuation. The
Nizam replied, in friendly terms, that every article
of the treaty should remain fixed to a hair's-breadth,
and promised to send a person of distinction to
procure the removal of the obnoxious foreigners
from his brother’s pr Nevertlicless from
the beginning of 1776, up to the month of June,
1778, nothing effectual was done in the matter.
The French corps continued to do duty in Guntoor,
and the Madras presidency, anticipating a rupture
with France itself, became exceedingly uneasy.
They opened a negociation with Bazalut Jung
himself, whom certain hostile demonstrations on the
part of Hyder Ali had intimidated. They so far
succeeded, that without any reference had to the
Nizam, the French troops were dismissed, and the
Guntoor district ceded ; while the English, un-
dertaking to protect Bazalut Jung against all his
enemies, marched, in April, 1779, a force under
General Harpur towards his country.

On the 27th of January, 1779, a gentleman was
despatched from Fort St. George to Hyderabad,
for the purpose of obviating any unfavourable im-
pressions which the management of this treaty
might have made, and of ascertaining, as far as pos-
sible, how the Nizam stood affected towards both
the French and the native powers with whom the
Company were at variance. Up to that moment
the Nizam had avowed his determination of main-
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taining a strict neutrality. He made no secret,
indeed, of his distaste for Ragoba, and his pre-
ference of the infant Peishwa or dominant party
at Poona; while he could not but regard with
jealousy the projected alliance with the Rajah of
Berar, confirmed, as it was said to be, by a
promise on the part of the English to restore to
him certain districts of which the Nijzam had de-
prived him. Still his language was friendly
throughout; and if he did afford an asylum to the
French corps which his brother had dismissed, ke
accounted for the circumstance by declaring that
there were no other means of preventing them from
taking service under Hyder Ali. No sooner,
however, wus the treaty with Bazalut Jung laid
before him than he expressed himself exceedingly
indignant. The English had no right to negociate
with one of his vassals, keeping him in the dark
all the while. It was a direct infringement of the
treaty of 1768 ; and he should be constrained so to
regard it, unless the troops now on their march
into Bazalut Jung’s territories were recalled. But
his ground of complaint was not confined to this.
Mr. Holland, acting on the instructions conveyed
to him from Madras, had the imprudence, in the
name of his government, to require that the
peschuch, or tribute, of five lacs, which the Com-
peny were bound to pay for the Circars, should
be remitted. The Company were already two
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years in arrear ; they did not choose to pay up the
balance, and desired to be set free at once and for
ever from the burthen. The Nizam eould not brook
so groes an insult, and made no disguise of his
feeling before Mr. Holland. He declared his con~
viction that the English were seeking a pretext
for the violation of the treaty, and added that no
alternative was left to him but to prepare for war.
Whatever the infatuation might be under which
his superiors laboured, Mr. Holland appears to
have been fully alive to the delicacy of his own
situation. He therefore opened a correspondence
with the Supreme Government at Bengal, and
solicited their advice on the matter. The Supreme
Government condemned without reserve the whole
series of transactions which had conducted the
sister presidency to the brink of a war with the
Nizam, and issued orders, based upon the authority
with which the late Act invested them, for the im-
mediate abandonment of such extravagant preten-
sions. Yet there were other grounds of anxiety
for Mr. Hastings than these. As if they were bent
upon involving themselves with every power in
India, which was capable of doing them a serious
iujury, the authorities of Fort St. George chose
this unlucky moment to provoke the jealousy of
Hyder Ali. After the reduction of Pondicherry,
which took place in October, 1778, there remained
to the French in all India but one sea-port—
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Mahe, an inconsiderable fortress and settlement
on the coast of Malabar ; of which it was resolved
without delay to deprive them. Unfortunately for
those who planned this enterprise, they did not
take sufficiently into account that any attempt to
reduce Mahe must inevitably excite the suspicions,
perhaps draw on the hostile intervention, of the

ysore government ; for Mahe, if not a portion of

yder’s dominions, was everywhere surrounded by
them, and be, who had long been on friendly terms
with the French, regarded it as placed under his
especial protection. Accordingly ‘the troops set
out, nobody pretending ignorance that the first
gun fired against Mahe might bring a swarm of
Mysorean invaders into the Carnatic. The imme-
diate object of the expedition was doubtless gained,
for Mahe fell ; but Hyder became forthwith the
bitter enemy of the English, and, patching up his
differences with the Nizam and the Mahrattas,
prepared to join both in a great effort to drive these
restless strangers into the sea.

It was while thus circumstanced, having his
hands full of the Mahratta war, and threatened,
most unexpectedly and most unnecessarily, with
the wrath both of the Nizam and Hyder, while he
was ignorant too of the designs of France, further
than that an attempt would infallibly be made ‘to
re-establish a French influence in India, that Mr.
Hastings felt himself called upon to make, upon
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the chiefs who enjoyed the protection of the British
government, a demand for such an addition to their
subsidies, both of men and money, as the state of
public affairs seemed to require and the eonstitu-
tion of the country had from time immemorial
authorized. Among these there was one in par-
ticular, Chyte Singh, the Rajah of Benares, to
whom be judged it expedient, in the first instance,
to apply; and he was accordingly required to
furnish a body of two thousand horse, as well as to
increase his annual payments by five lacs of rupees.
Of the family to which Chyte Singh belonged a
full account has been given in another part of
this memoir. He was the son and successor of
that Bassalut Jung, who, by the treaty of 1775,
became transferred from a state of immediate de-
pendence on the King of Oude to a similar state
in reference to the Bengal government ; and as he
held his province on very easy terms, and was
koown to have accumulated a vast amount of
treasure, Mr. Hastings was not visited by any
compunctious misgivings as to the propriety
as well as the justice of demanding that the
English should at this juncture derive some
benefit from his superfluities. Nevertheless, he
took care to advertise the Court of Directors of
his intentions ; he repeated that advertisement
periodically for three successive years; and pot
receiving any bint that the measure was dis-
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pleasing to his superiors, he pressed it on Chyte
Singh with determined resolution. Chyte Singh,
a man of an intriguing and avaricious temper,
delayed, on various pretexts, to comply with the
requisition. Mr. Hastings argued, persuaded,
threatened, and prepare(f to strike ; on which the
Rajah so far yielded that the money was supplied,
though only in part and by tardy instalments.
The troops, however, were kept back, as the event
proved, for a very different purpose ; and the seeds
of a rebellion were carefully sown in the provinces.

Mr. Hastings was exceedingly indignant with
Chyte Singh on his first refusal to pay the sum
required of him; and Chyte Singh was not slow
in ascertaining the fact. He became alarmed, and
following the usage of Indian chiefs in general,
he sent a confidential Vakeel to Fort William
with a sum of three laes, which Mr. Hastings
was entreated to accept as a mark of respect,
and a peace-offering from one who had offended.
I shall take occasion by and bye to insert a
letter, in which mention is made as well of
this circumstance as of the motives which in-
duced Mr. Hastings to accept the present, as of
the uses to which it was {proed. In the mean-
while, it may be well if we resume at once the
thread of our correspondence, which has been too
long interrupted, and leave Mr. Hastings himself

to carry on, as he is admirably qualified to do, the
" VOL. IIL u
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history at once of his own mind and of the opera-
tions in which it engaged itself.

The following I insert because it entirely exone-
rates the writer from the charge of having repro-
bated a line of conduct in Lord Pigot precisely
similar to that which he had himself pursued in
the early part of his government. There was no
more semblance between the proceedings of
the two men, than between the natures of their
powers, and the strength of their respective
understandings,

To Jouw Pourrng, Eeq.
FPort William, 14tk March, 1780.

Dear Sir,—I have had the pleasure to receive your
favour of the 25th of January, 1779, and I beg you will
accept my hearty thanks for the support you have given
me at the India House.

There is one part of your letter to which I could
wish to reply very fully, although the subject may
probably no longer attract the public notice; I mean
my letter to Mr. Stratton. You tell me I have been
much blamed for writing that letter ; that I have lost
many friends by it; and you yourself wish that I had
not written it ; at the same time, that you blame Mr.
Stratton for making it public without my consent.

The proceedings in England on the revolution at
Madras have, I confess, filled me with astonishment.
1 did not conceive mew's judgments could have been
so much warped by party disputes as I find they were
in this.

A president of a Council, the majority of which
council is the government, by a most weak and flimsy
device, attempts to get rid of two members, by giving
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is himself the accuser. He thinks be has effectually
suspended them, and governs with his minority. As

this was a recent ease, extraordinary and violent steps

'mofeounelofollov. Themz_‘ontylgamgetpoa—
their ad 3] all

otdeuofmen,andnendnsan ‘ofthese*

tions. What were we to do? It was absolutely neces-
sary to support either the one party or the other. In
this particular we all agreed, that the majority of the
Council was the government, a fact indeed never before
called in question. What would have been the conse-
quence had we written to Lord Pigot and the minority
on the one hand, and to Mr. Stratton and the majonty
on the other, that in certain instances each party had
been to blame? We determined eflectually to support
Mr. Stratton and his Council If we could have had
any doubts, they were all removed by the letter we had
JnstreeelvedftomtheConrtofDmcm I did but

to dissolve the C il when they p ded to
d:emodnnplecedenwds(epeverheudof.andre-
an tion inst their president, the

Govemor—gem-alol'lndu,ﬁomthemodabandoned
of mankind. 1 was reprimanded for declining to be
present when this wretch was called upon; and 1 was
reprimanded for breaking up the Council, although
the occasion might appear to justify it. We were in-
formed that the majority of the Couancil was the govern-
ment, and their orders were to be obeyed in every
point. What were Lord Pigot's merits that I should
submit to the homiliating measure of allowing him
privileges as President and” Governor of Fort St
George which were denied to me as Governor-general
of Iudia; or how could I venture, with the Court of
Duednnnenhmenunclaﬂybefnreme,(omppm
s man who bad attempted by the lowest artifice to

u2
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subvert the government? For once, General Clavering
subscribed to my opinion; and our resolution thus
taken, it became my duty to encourage Mr. Stratton
and his Council by every in my power. I saw
they were sinking, and apprehensive of personal safety.
1 dreaded the consequences of another revolution
brought about by military violence. I dreaded, too,
the danger from an invasion of the Carpatic by I1yder
or the Mahrattas, while the Presidency of Fort St.
George was torn by civil dissensions. There was
another evil, too, which I dreaded : I plainly perceived,
from the appeals which were before made to us, that
the majority had personal interests to attend to, which
might influence their public conduct ; and I wished to
guard Mr. Stratton against yielding to the importu-
nities of individuals, meaning Mr. Benfield and others
who had tunkas upon Tanjore. 1 believe many hene-
ficial consequences followed from my advice; but it
was unpardonable in him to publish extracts of my
letter. My friends have since printed it: and I am
informed it has been favourably received. Indeed, it
would be difficult to conceive how I could be personally
interested in the acquittal or condemnation of Mr.
Stratton; but I will venture to declare that the Com-
pany are indebted to the firmness of the Supreme
Council in supporting the government of Fort St
George for the preservation of their settlements on the
coast. I hope by this time the heat of party has sub-
sided ; and in that case, I am sure my conduct, as well
as the acts of our Board on the revolution at Madras,
will be approved by all good and reasonable men.
Our despatches by the Swallow packet and the
Ceres contain so full an account of public affairs, that
it is unnecessary for me to mention them here. I
sincerely lament our difference with the judges; but it
was unavoidable. Let me entreat you to read with at-
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tention all we have written on this subject; and in par-
ticular my minute in consultation of the 4th of March,
and our petition to the House of Commons. I think
you will support us; if you do not, be assured Bengal,
and of course India, will be lost to the British nation.

On the arrival of the Swallow, you would hear of my
accommodation with Mr. Francis and Mr. Wheler, and
1 dare say it will give you pleasure. Some months
before this coalition took place, I had appointed your
nephew resident at the Vizier's Court. He will pro-
bably, in his letters to you, express his apprehensions
of being recalled; but I assure you they are without
foundation. It was the first condition of our agree-
ment that Mr. Purling should remain at Lucknow
until the new arrangement of government took place ;
and 1 am sure his conduct will entitle him to my
future support, on which he may depend.

By our last accounts from General Goddard, he had
taken the first steps to procure a revenue of twenty-
seven lacs per annum, and was pursuing his successes.
The Mahrattas are at variance, and too jealous of each
other to take the field. Peace is our object; and I

.have not a doubt but that we shall soon be able to
accomplish it on terms honourable and advauntageous
to the Company. Our wish is to procure such a
revenue for the Company on the Malabar coast as shall
serve to defray the expenses of the Presidency of Bom-
bay, and prevent a further drain of silver from Bengal.

I with great pleasure attend to your recommenda-
tion of Mr. Gilbert.

T am with great truth, dear Sir, your obliged and
faithful servant.

One of the first results of the confederacy into
which Hyder and the Nizam had entered with the
Mabrattas was to detach entirely the Rajah of
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Berar from his English alliance, and to unite him,
at least in appearance, with the grand confederacy.
The following, to Mr. Sulivan, sets forth the
writer's views on this subject.

Fort William, 4th April, 17%9.

My dear Friend,—1I address this to you,and in con-
fidence. [ am informed, that if it were officially
written to the chairman, it would not be in his power
to hold back from such communication of it as would
or might eventually bring it before the public; that
I may not be the instrument of exciting popular alarms,
and depreciate the credit of my employers, I choose
to entrust the subject which I have to impart to you,
my confidential friend, with the fullest latitude to make
whatever use of it you shall think fit, knowing that
you will not employ it in any way that shall affect
either the Company or myself.

I have certain intelligence that Moodajee Boosla,
the Rajah of Berar, bas completed an army of 35,000
men in pay, consisting mostly of new levies, besides
15,000 Pindarries, a species of Mahratta, whose only
service is plunder, for which, instead of receiving pay,
they pay a stipulated monthly sum to their government
in the natare of a revenue.

This army is to be formed mto two dmslonl,
Chumma Babboo, the Rajah's d son, will
one, which is to march towards Orissa under pre-
text of quieting and adjusting the disorders of that
provinee; the other division will be conducted by
Moodajee in person, attended by his Dewan, Dew-
angur Pundit; his design is to employ it in the re-
duction of Mundela, a district situated on the northern
bank of the Nerbudda. belonging to him in virtue of
a late grant of the Peshwa, but not yet in his pos-
session.
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What may be the event of these movements it is
impossible to foretell, but each will bring them so near
to our borders as to require every resolution which
prudence can suggest for preventing, or, if this cannot
be effected, for repelling the danger with which they
threaten these provinees.

From the character of Dewangur Pundit, whose
councils have directed the affairs of the house of Boosla
for many years past, I eonclude, that whatever his de-
sign may be, it has not been lightly formed. I am,
indeed, persuaded that nothing hostile is yet decidedly
intended against these provinces, yet such may be the
event.

The letters which I have received from the Rajahand
his Dewan, but more especially one written by the
latter to his minister at this place, and expressly de-
signed for my perueal, both profess and strongly mark
the embarrassment of that governwent, arising from
the contending claims of the administration of Poonah,
to which, besides the rights of constitutional supremacy,
it is bound by the ties of a public treaty,—and of this
government, with which if has maintained an uninter-
rupted friendship of twenty years, cemented by the
stronger bonds of mutual conveniency and
interest. The former has made a formal demand of
the assistance of the Rajah of Berar against the English,
termed the common enemy of the Mahratta state.
This call has been repeated by Nizam Ally Cawn and
accompanied with threats if rejected; Bengal is the
preseribed scene of the Bajah’s operations. This is the
cause assigned, whether real or ostensible, to the
Peshwa for the late military preparations in Berar;
to the same cause they are assxgned by the Dewan in
his letter, but with a professed with respect
to their future objects. He confe an
solicitude to avoid a rupture with this government, and
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has proposed, as the only practicable measure of recon-
ciling the many difficulties with which he has at this
time to contend, that I will afford him a meeting at
Benares, to which the neighbourhood of Mundela may
afford him a pretext for repairing as the effect of a
religious obligation. 1 have encouraged the proposi-
tion, and intend, with the rence of the Board, to
accept it, in the hopes that it may not only prove the
means of averting the dangers with which we are
threatened, but of converting them into the instru-
ments of enlarging our political influence and strength.
To me it appears most probable, and almost certain,
that the issue of these appearances will be to this
country the decided alliance or enmity of one of the
most powerful of all the states of India. You will rea-
dily conclude what choice I shall make in such an alter-
native. The fair season is so far advanced and affords
a prospect of quiet till the opening of the next. This
is the sum of my wishes, for the distraction of this go-
vernment at this time renders it unfit for enterprise,
and, I am sorry to add, almost for resistance. I am,
with the most unalterable regard, my dear friend, your
faithful, &c &e.

The following speaks for itself. Captain
Palmer, alluded to in the opening sentences, was
Mr. Hastings’s aide-de-camp, whom he sent to
Hyderabad in the hope that even yet the Nizam's
anger might be appeased by a frank avowal of the
condemnation by the Supreme Government, of the
measures adopted under the Government of Fort
St. George. For the rest, the letter is full of interest,
and needs from me no introductury explanation.
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Fort William, 30th August, 1780,

My dear Friend,—I have only received two letters
from you since the first arrival of the ships of this
season. These are dated the 6th of November and
5th February last.

The first of these conveys something like a reproach
which afflicts me much, because if I had deserved it I
deserved the ignominy of afelon. 1 allude to your com-
plaint of my silence concerning your son. Believe me,
my dear friend, I have never felt an indifference to his
interests or to your solicitude for them, nor am I ca-
pable of it. Mr. Barwell has it in his power to justify
me most amply upon this subject. I have never men-
tioned him in my letters to you, because I have always
found it difficult to do it. Professions of what I would
do were I possessed of means I abhor even with
strangers, and 1 believe, in my long and voluminous
correspondence with you, I have not frequently if ever
been guilty of them. Allow me on this occasion to
instance Mr. Graham, whom I have considered as pos-
sessing & relation to you almost equal to the nearest
tie of blood; yet I have neither neglected him, nor,
that I remember, made him a subject of my letters.

With respect to your son, there was but one possible
way by which my influence could be of use to him, and
this intercepted by difficulties and hazards of a peculiar
kind. The Nabob has always had traitors in his own
family by whom his closet secrets have been revealed
to the governor for the time being. I have never ven-
tured to write to him any but guarded letters, knowing
that they would pass his hands, and that the worst use
would be made of them if they fell into those of the
late president. I had no confidential friend through
whom I could establish a personal communication with
him, unless I except Mr. Ste. Sullivan, who was cer-
tainly disqualified to introduce such an intercourse by
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the immediate subjects of it. An ostensible oppor-
tunity offered in August last, and I deputed my mili-
tary secretary, Captain Palmer, 2 man in whom I place
an uncommon reliance, for this sole and express pur-
pose to go to Madras, though other less important
points were, added to his instrnctions. He took his
passage in the Stafford which was lost, and he returned,
having narrowly escaped with his life. Thus my de-
sign was defeated at that time. Other causes pre-
vented my resuming it immediately and other expecta-
tions since. I did not choose to detail my plan to
you, but waited the effect of it. I desired him to
advise you of the issue of it, and, merely for the purpose
of giving a credit to his letters, I remember, in 2 post-
seript of one which I wrote to you at the same time, I
told you that I had sent Captain Palmer to Madras,
and ordercd him to write to you from thence.

One word let me add as it arises out of this subject.
You greatly overrate the influence of the Governor-
general of Bengal if you attribute to it the power of
serving any man, except by availing himself of an
opinion which the ideas obviously annexed to his title
and supposed authority may excite in the minds of
those who are too remote to view the nakedness and
pitiful imbecility of his office. Yet could 1 see your
son, I might derive some improvable means from the
interview, and he has promised me that satisfaction, of
which no doubt he will tell you.

I neither like the propositions which were made to
Government ner those which were offered by Govern-
ment. Bengal has been too much neglected in both,
‘We cannot much longer subsist on our vital resources
and with intestine contention.

_ The sentiments which you ascribe to the Governor-
general and Council of Bengal respecting the future
arrangement of the Carnatic’ differ totally from all
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that I recollect to have ever been written by us even
in our most discordant times apon -that subject.
On the 7th of December, 1775, I drew up a sketch,
which the Board unanimously adopted and agreed to
recommend to the Court of Directors, containing the
outlines of a treaty to be formed with the Nabob of
Arcot, and my opinion has unalterably and invariably
been, that the Nabob has a right to the possession of
the couniry of Tanjore. I am sure we have none.
These opinions were fully conveyed to you in my
letters written during the contest which arose between
Lord Pigot and the Nabob, and more strongly in one
which I wrote, perhaps too freely, to Lord North. The
right is clearly the Nabob’s, but if not his, the Rajah's.
We have not a shadow of title. In policy the posses-
sion ought to be the Nabob’s or Company’s, if policy
were to decide.

¥ am happy that Goddard’s merits will be rewarded ;
he deserves sll that you can give him and infinitely
more than you have yet known. I hope that Captain
Popham too will have his recompense: we shall give
him a majority, which is not much, as he is now but
two removes from it in the regular course of suc-
cession.

1 now proceed to a subject which will startle you if
this shall give you the first information of it. I have
been compelled to meet Mr. Francis in the field in the
odious character of a duellist. I will relate the occasion
of it. My letter of the 4th March, which was written
by the Swallow, contained the conditions of an engage-
ment which passed between Mr. Francis and me, on the
faith of which I yielded my consent that Mr. Barwell
should leave us. Mr. Barwell will doubtless have told
you how it was concluded. No formal instruments
were interchanged between us; I regarded it as a deed
of faith and honour, not of law, and I zequired none.



300 MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS.

Yet, to prevent misconceptions and future cavils, I re-
duced it to writing and to separate articles. I showed
the paper containing them to Mr. Francis. To the first
article, which was the only one on which my heart was
fixed, and for the sake of which I yielded to the rest,
he without hesitation cheerfully assented, and without
reservation, adding that he meant not to take any ad-
vantage of Mr. Barwell's departure, nor to attempt to
carry any point which he could not effect were Mr.
Barwell still present, or words to that effect.

To the articles which respected Fowke and Mahom-
med Reza Cawn he objected, and I gave them up ; and
a third article, respecting the distribution of appoint-
ments, was omitted or rather qualified in the manaer
which 1 have explained in my letter to you by the
Swallow. All the other articles stood unchanged, that
especially which I considered as the principal was most
firmly agreed to. It engaged my whole attention, nor
could I have been mistaken had T not committed it to
writing, so strongly was 1 p d of the ity of
obtaining it and so strongly was Mr. Francis's consent
to it impressed on my mind.

I am told that he asserts that he only agreed to it
conditionally ; that it should be limited to the war on
the other side of India and to measures already adopted.
This X most solemnly deny, and as strongly afirm that
his was itional. Besides, the treaty
with the Ranpa of Gohud, of which the measures pro-
posed by me were the necessary consequences and pro-
vided for in it, was formed before Mr. Barwell's de-

parture and before our dation, and so were
the first orders to the Commander-in-chief to send a
detach t in q into Gohud. The treaty
was, therefore, a dopted in all its points. But

1 cumbat a phantom in the dark. When "he delivers
his vindieation, X will reply to it: I conclude that he
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will keep it back till these ships are gone, and therefore
I have said thus much on the supposed contents of it.
This is a grievous digression, let me resume the thread
of my story where it broke off.

The only immediate use which I made of this en-
gagement was to repeat the order to Sir E. Coote, to
comply with the requisition of the Ranna of Gohud for a
‘militaryaid. Ihad no other occasion to put Mr. Francis's
faith to an early test, because the General’s ill humour

ade me cautious of proposing any measure not abso-
qlllxtely and immediately necessary, lest he should de-
feat it.

When the General himself had reprobated the con-
struction of Popham’s detachment, and pronounced it
unfit for the service in which it was employed, which it
certainly was; when the complete successes which we
had obtained in the prosecution of the two firat points of
the treaty left a fair -opening for attempting the third,
and Goddard's letters repeatedly urged a diversion on
our side; I then resolved to take upon myself the part
which the General had abandoned to the Board.
I drewup my first minute, proposing the relief of
Captain Popham by Major Carnac, and that Captain
Popham’s corps should be ordered to join Goddard ac-
cording to its original destination.. I communicated
this disposition to Mr. Francis ; he approved of the relief
but not of the order proposed for Captain Popham,
insisting on his being recalled and his corps returned
to the battalions from which it had been drafted. I did
not choose to contend for my right, but yielded. My
intended minute was suppressed, and, I believe, de-
stroyed. The order passed for the relief of Captain
Popham and his recall on the 29th May.

Having given you a detail of these proceedings in a
separate letter, I shall endeavour to confine the sequel
of this parrative to those points which relate to my
claims on Mr. Francis in virtue of his engagement.
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On the 12th June I moved the Board to unite Captain
Popham's corps to Major Carnac’s and to allow them
to march against the country dependent on Mahdajee
Scindia, the extremes of which lay contiguous to Gohud.
My motion was rejected, and a joint minute entered
against it by Francis and Wheler ; this was an aggra-
vated breach of faith, but I took no notice of it.

I must mention an anecdote here, which will show
how much I laboured to conciliate my colleagues to my
views, and how much they were af this time confede-
rated against me. When I had resolved on my plan,
I commissioned Major Carnac, who was on a footing of
great confidence with Mr. Wheler, to break it to him,
letting him know that I would call on him and give hima
fuller explanation of it in the morning. He did so, but
Mr. Wheler received it with much agitation, doubted Mr.
Francis's assent, and expressed an unwillingness to see
me, fearing, | suppose, to it himself before he had
received his instructions.

The next morning I ealled oo Mr. Francis, imparted
to him my design, went through a long discussion of all
the motives, objects, and probabl q of it,
and concluded by giving bim my minute to read. He
heard me with the cool and vacant attention of & man
already informed, made his objections, and T left him.
I ordered one of my attendants to run before to Mr.
‘Wheler’s and give bim notice that I intended him s visit.
The man, and half a dozen voices joined to his, informed
we that Mr. Wheler was with Mr. Francis when I arrived
at the house and was still with him, so that the poor man
must have lain concealed during the whole time of my
visit, which lasted a full hour and a balf.

Thus foiled, I drew up instructions for Major Carnae,
empoweriog him to p d on the proposed expedition
with his four battalions only. This motion was made
on the 19th June.

To this appeared another and stronger reply, signed
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like the former by Francis and Wheler ; the motion was
overruled, and even the prior order for the reliefso quali-
fied as nearly to make it adequate to one for with-
drawing our aid altogether from the Ranna.

As the arguments of both the preceding minutes
were drawn from the low state of our treasury and our
inability to support the expense of a new expedition, I
made use of a very new and perhaps such as will be
d d an tionable expedient to overthrow them.
The objection of the expense could only apply to the
contingencies. The pay and batta would be the same
whether the troops remained in their original quarters
or marched to Oojeen : the difference could not, on the
most exaggerated computation, exceed two lacs: I
offered to indemnify the Company for this expense.
That my sincerity in this tender might not be sus-
pected, I paid the amount into the treasury while I
made it. Do not be surprised, nor misinterpret my in-
tention. I had ne secret view of catching the public
applause by an ostentatious display of supererogatory
virtue and the temporary sacrifice of my own fortune
in the hopes of future repayment; the money was not
my own—it was a peace-offering from the Rajah of
Benares, which he had deputed his most confidential
servant to Calcutta to make to me, and to solicit my
pardon for all bis past offences. 1 gave the man as-
surances of my forgiveness, but refused to accept the
money, and he was on the point of returning when
these debates in our Council began. It occurred to
me to convert it to a public use; I gave him an oppor-
tunity of repeating the offer, and accepted it. directing
it to be delivered to Mr. Croftes, our sub-treasurer,
and him to receive it as & deposit in my name. It has
been since recoined, and turns out about two lacs of
Sicca rupees. I believe 1 shall communicate this
fact to the Court of Directors; but if I do not, I give
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you permission to make what use of the above relation
of it you think proper, declaring upon my honour that
I never will reclaim the money, and that 1 disclaim
any title to it, as I should not have taken it but for
and on the occasion which induced me to receive it, or
one similar to it.

But this circumstance will show how nearly I had
the project of the expedition at heart, and with what
eagerness and solicitude I pursued it. I now for the
first time took mnotice of the two joint minutes, re-
minded Mr. Francis, in language he would understand,
but which could not be understood by those who were not
before apprised of our treaty, of his engagements, and
concluded with the offer which I have just recited.
This minute I delivered on the 26th June.

Mr. Francis wrote a long, laboured. and, 1 think, un-
candid minute inreply. Mr. Wheler signed it, as he had
doue the foregoing, and Mr. Francis added a postseript
in his own name; it was dated 27th June, I received
it on the 28th. I debated with myself s long time
how 1 should act. I pow saw plainly that Mr. Francis
had deceived me, and that I had no alternative but to
let him take the rule and laugh at my credulity, or to
make it a matter too serious for derision, and to expose
the fallacy which he had thus unworthily practised
upon me. This J did in a very strong but deliberate
and temperate charge, which I had prepared for the
next Council-day, whick was Monday the 3rd July.
In the meantime, Sir J. Day, who had been the instru-
went of our reconciliation, hearing of our disagreement,
and wishing, if possible, to prevent a total rupture,
came to me and entreated me to allow him to talk
with Mr. Francis, and that I would in the meantime take
no decided lotion. I ted: he went, and re-
torned witha proposal from Mr.Francis that I wouldagree
to suspend Carnac’s expedition till the receipt of the
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expected advices from England, which were to decide
the future arrangements of this Government, and
which might be expected in the course of two months,
solemnly promising to allow me to dictate what mea-
sures I pleased, if after that time I remained confirmed
in the government. I abruptly and peremptorily re-
jected the proposition, both b it implied a dis-
solution of the passed agr t and b 1 had
calculated the expedition into Malwa for the very
season in which he wanted me to suspend it, in which
we could act and the Mahrattas could not. Sir J. Day
carried back this message to Mr. Francis, and supported
it by a etrong vremonstrance against his conduet, stating
the good faith with which I had acted in parting with
my only support, and the ill appearance it would have
in the eyes of the world if, under such circumstances,
a rupture should take place between us.  Mr. Francis
defended himself for a little while, but at last said,
that he should be obliged to absent himself for some
time for the recovery of his health (being at that time
seized with an epidemic fever), but that I might avail
myself of that interval to propose and carry what re-
solution I pleased by my casting voice: all that he
wanted was, not to be concerned in aets to which he
could not consistently assent. Not choosing to disturb
Mr. Francis, who seemed to be in pain, by lengthening-
the discourse, and having obtained what he thought
would be effectual, Sir John returned to me with this
answer, which he thought definitive. I thought other-
wise, unless Mr. Francis would at the same time agree
to withdraw all the minutes. This, he said, he under-
stood; but to be certain, he returned and asked Mr.
Francis whether he would consent to suppress the
minutes. Mr. Francis replied, with all his heart; and
this information Sir J. Day carried immediately to
Mr. Wheler, and myeelf and Mr. Wheler with great

VOL. II. X




306 MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS.

satisfaction assenting, the minutes were accordingly
withdrawn, and I renewed my motion for Major Car-
nac’s instructions as I had before proposed them,
letting the first opposition stand. It passed without
objection. A few days after Mr. Wheler received a
letter from Mr. Francis, expressing his astonishment
to hear that the minutes had been withdrawn, and
that it had been asserted to have been done with his
consent, absolutely disavowing it, and declaring that
he had consented to withdraw the minutes on the ex-
press and only condition, that Major Carnac’s opera-
tions should be confined to the province of Gohud
until the arrival of the despatches from England noti-
fying the future Government. Sir John swcars that
no such condition was either expressed or implied, and
that he had precluded it by my peremptory rejection
of it when it was first proposed, which he had con-
veyed in my own words. I do not pretend to judge
between them; but this much I must observe, that
this difference in the relation of the fact could not
possibly have been a mistake on the part of Sir John
Day. It must have been design, and it is scarce pos-
sible to ascribe a motive for such a design, because it
must have been immediately and inevitably discovered.
Look back to this part of my narrative and you will
see the ity of my lusi

The minutes were accordingly replaced, and I en-
tered a short one claiming a place for that which I had
prepared for the 3rd July, but which I thought not
proper to record in Mr. Francis’s absence. He was at
Chandernagore, whither Sir J. Day followed him in
expectation of convincing him, he said, that he was
wrong. Mr. Francis did not choose fo stay for this
conviction, and proceeded upon his party up the river,
which, I am since informed, and I trust to my autho-
rity, was not so much in quest of health as of a meeting
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with Sir E. Coote, which Le had appointed to give him
at the distance of three days from Calcatta, Sir J.
Day of course lost his labour; and the General not
choosing, if such was Mr. Francis’s design, to give
him a meeting and intending to make some stay at
Mongheer, Mr. Francis suddenly returned, and on the
11th or 12th of this month arrived in Calcutta. I was
absent on a visit at Chinsura, and on the Monday
following, which was the 14th, I also returned to the
presidency. Judging it unbecoming to surprise him
with a minute at the Council table, or to gend it first
to the secretary, I enclosed it in a note to him that
evening. The next day, after Council, he desired me
to withdraw with him into a private apartment of the
Council-house, where, taking out of his pocket a paper,
he read from it a challenge in terms.. I accepted it,
the time and place of meeting were fixed before we
parted, and on the morning of the Thursday following,
being the 17th, between the hours of five and six
we met. We exchanged shots at nearly the same
instant ; mine entered his side just below the right
shoulder, and lodged in the opposite side under the
left. He fell, and was conveyed to a house in the
neighbourhood, and I had the eatisfaction of learning
in two hours after that he was in no manner of danger.
He is now, as [ am told, recovered from every effect of
the wound but the want of strength.

1 relate the following circumstance, of itself of no
consequence, lest I should be censured by my friends
in England, as I am told I have been here, on account
of a misrepresentation of my behaviour to Mr. Francis
since his confinement. On the same day on which we
met, I sent Mr. Markham, my secretary, to visit him,
and to intimate my desire to see him also, when he was
well enough to receive me. A few days after Colonel
Watson came to me with a message from Mr. Francis, to

X 2
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the following purport :~— That Mr. Francis desired him
to express the sense which he had of my attention to him
on the late occasion of my daily inquiries after his
health, and of the wish which 1 had expressed to visit
him, for all which he made his acknowledgments ; that
he should always behave to me with every degree of
respect, but must decline the offer of my visit and
every kind of intercourse with me but at the Council
table, desiring me to believe that this resolution did
not proceed from any remains of resentment, but from
the consideration of what he owed to his own cha-
racter.” To this unexpected message I returned a
civil answer. I have not scen him since, of course,
and have been blamed, I believe not generally, for not
having visited him.

As to what has passed in this affair I expect to be
blamed for it; I shall be taxed with imprudence in
trusting to a verbal agreement. Mr. Wheler assures
me that he has been much conversant in instruments
of law, and has been a Director seventeen years; that
he is qualified by such an experience to pronounce no
engagement is binding that is not committed to
writing and signed by the parties, and that every man
in England, as well acquainted as he is with legal and
official terms, will be of the same opinion. 1 fear he

overlooked this requisite, and the ity of inquiring
for it when he ined the evid of my resigna-
tion.

It will be imputed to me that I sought the issue
which terminated our contest. I certainly expected
it, but I did not seek it. My intention was solely to
prefer a public charge against him, and to give him a
fair opportunity of refuting it. For my other reasons
I refer to my minute itself, which is undoubtedly strong
and pointed, and I intended that it should be so. 1
never said or wrote anything in private against Mr.
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Francis, so much against him ; which, I fear, is more
than he can affirm of his conduct towards me.

The only reproach which with any shadow of reason
can be cast upon me for having hazarded my life in
such a manner (for the two preceding objections have
no other relation to me than as an individual) is, that
I placed myself in a situation inconsistent with my
public trust and the duties annexed to it. To this I
can only reply, that if I were really possessed of that
/trust, no consideration or provocation should make me
"abandon it to the chance of a personal quarrel. This
was a point which I well weighed before. 1 proceeded
to the lengths which drew from Mr. Francis the defiance
which he made me. I considered myself as a mere
name, supplying, perhaps, the place of real substance;
that I have no right to expect any essential change in
my situation, having experienced in it for these six
years past nothing but reproach or abasement, and
that my removal would probably make room for some
person less obnoxious who might be appointed to
succeed me, and whom his employers might judge
worthy to p their confid and the powers
which appertain of right to the executive member of
every government. In the meantime nothing would
be lost. My antagonist could not have assumed the
place which had devolved to him by such extraordinary
means, and though I am not so humble as to place my
own local qualifications below or even on a level with
those of the gentleman who stands next in succession;
yet his government would have been a quiet one, and his
measures consistent. What I have done has been by
fits and intervals of power, if I may so express it, and
from the effccts let a judgment be formed of what this
state and its resources are capable of producing in
hands more able and better supported.

My dear friend, be my advocate with my friends and
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with the public on this occasion ; if it requires one, and
you approve my conduct. If not, let this vindication
of it make its way to both, and take its chance for the
impression which it may carry with it.

Mr. Francis is preparing a reply to my minute, and it
is said that it will be temperately written. I shall rejoin,
and with temper also; but it is not easy to qualify
affirmations opposed to denials, or to soften the charge
of a forfeiture of honour, and it is possible that I may
be again summoned to the same disgraceful trial, for
such I must confess it ; but yet I must submit to it,
and let the shame fall on those who have permitted,
and on those who have excited, the intestine divisions
which have so long preyed on the vitals of the first
great body dependeat on the British empire.

T hope Mr. Francis does not think of assuming any
merit from this silly affair. I have been ashamed that I
have been made an actor in it, and I declare to you,
upon my honour, that such was my sense of it at the
time, that I was much disturbed by an old woman
whose curiosity prompted her to stand by as a specta-
tress of a scene so little comprehended by the natives
of this part of the world, and attracted others of the
same stamp from the adjacent villages to partake in
the entertainment.

The papers which I have referred to in the course of
this narrative I have thought proper to give yon at
large in the Enclosures.

I shall refer Mr. Pechell and my other friends to
you for the above particulars, and request that you
will communicate to them so much of this letter as
contains this separate subject. [ am, &e.

To Larzence SvLivas, Baq., in continnation of the History.
Fort William, 27th Augnst, 1750,

My dear Friend,—As it has ever been my practice

to give you the most early and eonstant intelligence of
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all events which happen in this part of the world, I
take the opportunity of a Danish and Portuguese ships
sailing to give you an accounit, such as the scantiness
of my time will admit, bothsof public affairs and of my
private situation as they now stand.

I shall begin by reciing to you the event of the
greatest importance, as it is the subject uppermost and
most agreeable to my own thoughts. You have re-
ceived long ago an account of the alliance which we
formed with the Ranna of Gohud, and an expedition,
commanded by Captain Popham, in consequence of
that alliance. This shall be mentioned in a regular
detail. I now only mean to give you an account of an
enterprise which most signalized his determination,
and for which it is impossible too much to applaud his
conduct. Indeed he 1s a noble fellow.

On the 4th of this month he undertook and accom-
plished the escalade of Guallior, and .obtained posses-
sion of it without loss. I enclose, for your satisfaction,
his letter to me of the 3d instant, as also his letter to
the Board.

This is a success which I hope will prove decisive ; I
look upon it as one of the best concerted and most
gallant enterprises that has ever been performed in
India; nearly, if not equal in its advantages to the
battle of Plassey. In Europe it cannot miss of its
effect. The name of Guallior has been long famous in
history. In this country its effect is not to be de-
seribed.  Other congratulations which I have received
on the many important successes of our arms were but
coldly offered, but scarcely a man mentions this with-
out enthusiasm. The advantages which will result
from it are obvious. It is the key of Indostan. It
will entirely exclude the Mahrattas from that part of
the country, and opinion, which in every region of the
world has considerable influence on public affairs, and
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in none so much as in this, will raise the credit of the
English arms and strength beyond the effect of any-
thing which has yet been achieved by them. That the
consequence may be peace §s my firm hope, but this
will depend entirely on Mahdajee Scindia, whose
country lies immediately open o our next assault, and
whose neighbours will be all ready to join us in the
prosecution of any plan against his dominions. Such
a junction may perhaps make him fear for his own
property, and this may induce him to consent to our
terms of dation. If Mahdajee Scindia can once
be brought to this point, the Poonah minister must ne-
cessarily comply, for he of himself is nothing.

I must now direct your attention towards Bombay
and the Guzerat. Goddard’s campaign has been as
successful as I could wish it, though it will be gene-
rally accounted more splendid than attended with sub-
stantial advantages. But this is not a true state of it.
Our first point was to retrieve our disgrace at Woor-
gaum. That has been most completely effected, and
this was worth crores to purchase it. We have com-
pleted both the conquest and p ion of G t
Some revenue we must immediately get from it, and
more as the gentlemen at Bombay attain the habits of
a new business, and when we are less disturbed in the
management of it. The loss of the enemy is total, and
they eanill afford it. Their army, unused to the hard
treatment it has met with, discouraged, reduced in its
numbers, and what a Mahratta feels most sensibly,
their horses all either killed or taken, or disabled, is
returned to Oojeen, whence I have this account of
them.

I hope to prevent their returning to disturb God-
dard in the next season by a powerful diversion on
this side.

The principal events of the campaign are the fol-
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lowing :—The conquest of Ahmedabad, and conse-
quent reduction of all Guzerat. The rapid march of
our detachment to meet the army of the Mahratta
state, consisting of 60,000 hogse, which had taken the
field under the command of Tuckojee Holkar and
Mahdajee Scindia, to oppgse it. The attack of their
camp on the 3d April, a most spirited and well-con-
certed enterprise. The gallant and successful stand
made by a little foraging party under Captain Camp-
bell against 20,000 men, and their two principal leaders
in person. The reiterated approach of our troops, and
the retreat of theirs. The action of Captain Forbes,
and lastly the incomparable behaviour of Lieutenant
Welch. These transactions will, I hope, be followed
by the reduction of Bassein, which Goddard has de-
clared his intention to besiege when the violence of the
rains is abated, and if he undertakes it I am confident
of his success. For the particulars of the actions re-
cited above, I refer you to the enclosed extracts.

The government of Berar continues still to tem-
porize. A proposal was made to send Dewangar
Pundit, the Dewan, to this quarter to negociate a peace,
and an application was certainly made to the Poona
administration for credentials, but it met with a posi-
tive refusal and a declaration that they would not con-
sent to peace. Our professions were termed delusory,
and if my letter was sent in its original form to Poona,
the minister was right in suspecting that the negocia-
tion might terminate to the prejudice of his cause, if it
did not in the conclusion, which was its declared ob-
ject, as my letter expressed a strong expectation of the
continuance of the friendship of Moodajee in any event.
In the meantime Moodajee has levied a great force,
and is increasing it. He has sent his second son
Chimnajee with a body, said to consist of 30,000 horse,
to Cuttac. Their real number does not greatly exceed
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half of their reputed strength. There they have ar-
rived some time, and there they lie quiet. What their
destination may be I will not venture to conjecture.
Moodajee and his Dewan, however, profess friendship
and a determination to avoid a rupture with us. They
have, with much apparent candour, informed me regu-
larly and progressively of all their intentions, ascribing
all their movements to the requisition of the Peshwa,
backed with the threats of Nizam Ally Cawn and Mah-
dajee Scindia, and their apprehensions of their all
joining to lay waste their country if, unprepared as
they were for resistance, they directly refused to yield
to their demands. They pressed Moodajee to march
his forces early in the season into the province of
Bahar. Much time was consumed, his Dewan says,
purposely in the commencement of the march ; much
more in the way in the settlement of Sumblepoor, and
otherrefractory zemindars, purposely, as he also affirms,
to gain time for the expiration of the fair season, and
for the plea of the rains to defer the prescribed opera-
tions till a more distant period, in the hope either that
some accommodation might in the meantime be
effected, or his government enabled to ressme and
support its independency. What the real views of
that government may be, or what line they may finally
make choice of, 1 eannot say; but its actions have not
hitherto “falsified its professions, and their troops,
though they have been lying these two months within
marauding distances of our borders, have been as quiet
as a herd of cattle.

The eonfederacy against the English was originally
formed by Nizam Ally Cawn. The design was this:
The grand army, under Scindia and Holkar, to be
opposed to General Goddard; Moodajee to invade
Bengal and its dependencies ; Nizam Ally the Circars ;
and Hyder the Camnatic. Scindia and Holkar have
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performed their part of the engagement ; Moodajee
ostensibly his; and Hyder his with a vengeance. I
shall say nothing of him, because you will have more
recent and more authentic advices concerning the
Carnatic from Fort St. George. 1 hear nothing pri-
vately from thence but what I am ashamed to bear,
and publicly nothing. With respect to Nizam Ally, I
have no doubt of his having been the projector of this
alliance, and he had sufficient provocation for it. Yet
I doubt his present disposition. He has mot yet
{moved, or made any preparation for moving. We
have promised him complete reparation for the injuries
of which he formerly complained, and he would lose
much more by the forfeiture of the effect of these pro-
mises than he could possibly gain by going to war -
with us. Mr. Holland was sent by the senior com-
mander of Fort St. George, as resident at his court,
to reconcile him to the negociation with his brother
Bassaulut Jung, and to erase from his mind any sus-
picions which he might have formed of their designs.
He was ordered to correspond with the Supreme
Council, and give every information in his power. But,
contrary to his first instructions, he was directed to
propose to the Nizam the abolishment of the Peshcush
and a rupture of his treaty with his brother Bassaulut
Jung. This the Nizam declared to be equal to a de-
claration of war. Being informed of this, we wrote to
Mr. Holland to suspend any further negociation, and
to the Nizam that we would end to
the disputes between him and the Madras -Council,
sending them orders at th same time to desist from
such an application. Upon this Mr. Holland was or-
dered to return to Madras, but he stayed at Hydrabad
till he had informed us of his recall. 'We immediately
wrote to Fort St. George desiring that he might be
continued there some time longer, and to him to wait
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their answer. But they immediately suspended him
from the service on the accumulated charge of his
having betrayed the secrets of his trust to the Go-
vernor-general and Council of Bengal; and defer-
ring the exccution of their orders for his recall on
our request, that he would stay for the effect of our
application to them for his continuance. On the in-
stant receipt of this information we sent him fresh cre-
dentials, and appointed him our minister for the affairs
of this Government alone, and gave the Nabob at the
same time assurances that the Circar of Mortuzanagur
should be restored to his brother, and the Madras
detachment withdrawn from it. Of these resolutions
we advised the select committee, in a letter dated 12th

- June, to which they have not replied, and perhaps ex-
pect to elude our authority by withholding the only
evidence which a refusal under their hands could yield
of their contumacy. I know not how my colleagues
may take this. My line is determined, and I will adhere
to it though single.

In the beginning of this letter I promised you a de-
tail of our Gohud business, and of Popham’s successes ;
and though I sent you formerly a copy of the treaty with
the Ranna, I now enclose it to you, lest you should
have mislaid, or perhaps never received it.

You will in this treaty observe three principal points,
the first and greatest, the expulsion of the Mahrattas
from the open country of Gohud, which they had en-
tirely overrun, and the revenues of which they either
themselves collected, or prevented the Ranna from col-
lecting. The second, to make additions to his domi-
nions by conquest of territory from them ; and thirdly,
to carry the war directly against them in conjunction
with him.

Orders were sent by the Board to Sir E. Coote,
to comply with the first requisition which the Ranna
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should make for the aid of our troops. Against this
measure he protested, but at the same time sent
Captain Popham with a detachment of 2,400 men, foor
field pieces, an howitzer, and two squadrons of horse.
This detachment had been originally formed for the
purpose of recruiting Goddard's army, and consisted
of the officers belonging to that corps, and of drafts
made for it. By forced impediments and affected de-
lays, it was prevented from beginuning its march till
‘the season was so far advanced, that the Board, in a
reference made to them, as I recollect, from the Com-
mander-in-chief, forbad, or offered an opinion to that
effect, that it should proceed.

This force, though fully adequate for the service for
which it was originally intended, was by no means so
to this from the want of heavy artillery, nor was it in-
deed reconcileable to the treaty. The Rabna com-
plained that he was charged with a force which was not
supplied, 2,400 men not being equal to four battalions;
and as for horse, he had neither applied for nor wanted
any.

The two first points of the treaty Popham has amply
fulfilled. He attacked and drove the Mahrattas from
the country with great slaughter, and fairly cleared it
He attempted the fort of Lehar, which, though the
walls were of mud, made such a resistance as to require
a battering train to demolish them. He bad none.
But to avoid the disgrace of a repulse, he was com-
pelled to assault it under every disadvaotage. He
miued the wall in two places; one of which was coun-
termined by the garrison, the other had its effect, and
made a breach scarcely practicable. It was stormed
and carried, but with great loss, and the sacrifice of
two most gallant officers, Lieutenant Logan and Cornet
Gardiner, the latter a relation of mine, who insisted on
leading the forlorn hope.
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By the capture of this place, a district of no small
consequence, named Cutchwagur, was acquired for the
Ranuna, and the Mahrattas were by subsequent pursuits
totally expelled, excepting from Guallior, the only
place which remained in their hands.

The General inveighed as usual against the treaty,
abused the Ranna for drawing Popham into such a
snare, and declared the detachment to be unfit for such
purposes. We thought so too, but said it was of his
construction, and as we were so far united in opinion
we resolved to change the detachment for a better ; in
effect the impossibility of adjusting the treaty was with
me a forcible argument, and besides, I wanted to im-
prove the advantages which we had acquired by pur-
suing the war into the districts of Mahdajce 8cindia,
for which the detachment was not qualified, and Pop-
ham had shown so much fear of offending the Con-
mander-in-chief, that 1 could not rely on him for a
service in which my own reputation was i Jiately
staked. Besides, all the army had exclaimed against
such an unprecedented preference shown to a young
officer, and as it now rested with me fo form the suc-
ceeding plan, 1 did not choose to incur the obloquy of
such an unpopular selection. I proposed that the new
detachment should be formed of three regular batta-
lions. Browne's light infantry added its complement
of field picces, the howitzer, and two brass twelve-
pounders ; and I r ded Major Carnac for the
command.

Yet, unwilling to hurt Captain Popham, whom 1
esteemed, 1 recurred to his original destination, and in
a minute which I drew ap for the occasion, I proposed
that he should be ordered, as soon as relieved, to march
through Joudpoor to Guzerat to eomplete Goddard's
deficiencies, to enable him to retarn the Bombay troops,
and that presidency to reduce two battalions which
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they had raised to supply their place; in this, I had a
farther view to engage the Rajah of Joudpoor [V.
Meerta, his capital in the map] in the way; but it
made no part of the proposed design.

I showed the minute to Mr. Francis, but he expressed
s0 much reluctance to it that I suppressed it, and pro-
posed only what I could easily carry, that is, the relief
of Popham’s detachment by Carnac's. It was insisted
that Popham’s should be disbanded ; I yielded, greatly
against my will and judgment. Soon after the army
from Naigpoor arrived at Cuttac, Hyder was preparing
to invade the Carnatic, and had declared this to be his
intention. Other troubles were gathering all over
India. T then proposed to umite Captain Popham’s
corps to Carnac's, and to allow them to. march into the
province of Malwa. My motion was rejected.

For the subsequent transactions, I refer you to my
other letter. 1 am, &e.

8th September,

P. S.—Since writing the above, we have received
advices of Goddard’s further successes, which you will
find in the enclosure No. 7.

I have been reduced to the mortifying necessity of
proposing to open our treasury for loans at the usual
rate of interest.

The General is friendly, and we are confidential.
He is for vngorous measures, but we do not yet look
the same way; some mischievous person having la-
boured to convince him that the first and most necessary
measure was to drive the Naigpoor army from Cuttac.
I have had the good fortune to remove the greatest
port of these prejudices, if I have not entirely con-
vinced him, and I have hopes that, while he is w1th us,
I shall find him not inimical.

I have a letter from Dewangar Pundnt in which he
tells me he has made a peremptory demand for creden-
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tials from Poona, which he expected about the middle
of last month, and should purpose to set off on the
instant of their arrival, being resolved at all events to
come to Bengal, and give me the long proposed meet-
ing. Again, my friend, adieu.
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CHAPTER VII.

Progress of the War—Great exertions of the Bengal Government—
Correspondence.

Jx is not my province to describe the progress of
the war in the Carnatic, or to notice the gross
_blunders, both in the council chamber and in the
field, that led to the misfortunes which in the
earlier stages attended it. As_ slow to remedy
their own errors as they had been prompt to incur
them, the Madras government not only persisted
in keeping possession of Guntoor, but discredited
every report of the preparation which Hyder and
the Nizam were making to invade the Carnatic.
The results are well known. One hundred thou-
sand armed men from Mysore broke like an
avalanche upon the Nabob’s provinces. Colonel
Bailie's detachment was cut off. Sir Hector
Munro was worsted at Canjeveram, and Fort St.
George itself had well nigh fallen into the hands
of the enemy, whose foragers plundered the very
country houses of the European gentlemen within
sight of its walls. In a word, ruin seemed to
be at band, which there was neither courage to
face, nor means adequate to avert; and which cex-
tuinly never would have been averted, had there
voL. Ii, v
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not been at the head of affairs in Bengal, one,
whose energies seemed but to rise in proportion to
the demands that were made upon them, and who
never appeared so great as when the difficulties of
his sitvation were at the highest.

I take it for granted that with the broad outline
of Mr. Hastings’s measures at this juncture, every
readér of history is acquainted. I therefore tran-
scribe the following letters without comment, not
so much on account of the detail of facts which is
contained in them. as because they bring the great
actor himself in a distinct and conspicuous point of
view before us. I beg to call attention to the
concluding paragraph, in the former of the two,
because it relates to the Rajah of Benares’s gift, and
the purposes to which it was applied. Yet Mr.
Hastings was accused, among other bigh crimes and
misdemeanors, of rapacity in the acceptance of
presents, and malversation of the public money, of
which he had the charge!!!

FPort William, 25th October, 1799,

My dear Friend,—A most distressing and provoking
accident has befallen me, no less than the loss of all
my despatches for the Tryall in a storm. To relieve
it, 1 have set every hand to work that I could employ
to make copies of the most material papers, of which
the most material are the enclosures of this letter.
These contain all our p dings, from the first ad-
vices of the defeat of our army on the coast, which were
received on the 22d ultimo, to the departure of Sir E.
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Coote on the 22d instant. I have joined to these my
correspondence with the government of Berar, because
I think it the most essential of our political instru-
ments; and have derived my best hopes of success from
it. T have kept no copy of my letter to you, nor is it
material, as T trust to your son for the fullest and
clearest information that can be given to you: but-1
will epitomise what we have done, ns this will best show,
by bringing all the facts into a small compass, the
{diligence which has been exerted on an occasion which
so much required it.

On the 23d September, yout son arrived with public
advices of the loss of Colonel Bailie’s detachment, and
the flower of the army, and of General Munro’s pre-
cipitate flight from the face of Hyder.

On the 25th we met (I made it a point to defer our
meeting on the recent impression), and I proposed that
we should instantly fit out an armament of European
infantry and artillery, to send to the relief of the
Carnatic; that Sir E. Coote should be solicited to go
thither and take the command; that we should send
with him fifteen lacs, not for a civil supply, but for the
sole use of the army; that we should offer peace and
alliance to the Mahrattas, not by negociation, but by
8 treaty executed on our part with the guarantee of
the Rajah of Berar.

These points were all agreed to. The treaty was
drawn up, translated, and executed and despatched
with all the voluminous letters which were necessary
to accompany it, by the 12th instant; on the next day
the General departed. On the 10th of October I moved
that Mr. Whitehill should be suspended for persisting
in keeping possession of the circar of Guntoor, after
we had given our faith to Nizam Ally Cawn, and had
ordered the Select Committee of Fort St. George to
surrender it. It passed unanimously. In the mean

vy 2
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time we had formed three plans for raising money by
loan, one simple at eight per cent. ; the second at four

" per cent. ; the interest, with one ﬁfth of the principal,
payable by bills on England; and the third on an-
nuities.

By the 14th all our troops were embarked, I mean
from Calcutta. This was the last of our measures;
the rest depended on the winds, weather, and other
natural contingencies: so that the whole embark-
ation, and all the measures projected for so great
an occasion, were concluded in the exact space of three
weeks from the day on which we received the notifica-
tion which gave birth to them.

The General sailed on the 23d, and on that night
and the succeeding day we had a violent storm; it
blew from the north, and though it shifted after some
hours to the south, yet the Deputy Harbour-master who
attended the Duchess of Kingston, assures me that she
was advanced into such fair sea room that she could
not have suffered much by it. Two of the vessels had
sailed on the 21st. They will all be at or near Madras
by this time, for the weather has been clear and settled,
and the wind due north ever since. The tempest was
equally violent here and in the roads.

My packet was lost in the storm, and T shall send
this by a sloop despatched on purpose.

Since the close of my last despatches I have received
letters from Naugpoor, written on the knowledge of
Hyder’s first successes, in so liberal a style, and so
decisive, that I know they will give yon pleasure, and
therefore I send you a copy of them, with the foul
drafts of a minute which I delivered to the Board on
the 13th of last month, which may serve as a preface
to it. Pray read both with attention. My corre-
spondence with that government has been principally
carried on through the Vackeel and the Dewan. | have
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dictated all the material letters written by the former
to the latter, which has been the employment of many
hours of my time, and the Dewan’s answers to him
have been in effect replies to me. This method has

- introduced a freer intercourse, without the stiffness of
a mounshee’s pen, between me and the instrument of
the Berar government, without exciting the jealousy of
the principal by an application passing.him to his
minister.

I haveseverely felt the mortification of being checked
in the design which I had formed for terminating the
war with the Mahrattas on very different terms, and
be assured, my dear friend, that I should have accom-
plished them. But all my hopes of aggrandizing the
British name, and enlarging the interests of the
Company, gave instant place to the more urgent call
to support the existence of both in the Carnatic; nor
did T hesitate a moment to abandon my own views for

- such an object. The Mahratta war has been, and is
yet called mine, God knows why. I was forced into it.
It began with the acts of others unknown to me. I
never professed any other design but to support the
presidency of Bombay, if it had succeeded in the plans
which it had formed, or to protect and save them if
they failed. The world, even the Indian world, re-
garded the attempt with apprehension. You know
how confidently I undertook it, and foretold all the
successive events of it—all but the wild and precipi-
tate expedition to Poona, and the infamous surrender
at Wargaum. These were events lying beyond the
reach of human foresight. -

Perhaps, when I shall cease to be an object of per-
secution, the preservation of Bombay may be ascribed
to me; and the part which I have taken in the concerns
of that presidency may be well understood tohave been
no more than a salutary interposition of extraordinary
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means for the correction of effects derived from the
blunders of others. .

A similar occasion has compelled me to bear a part
in the concerns of the Carnatic. The war with Hyder
may be in like manner called my war; but whatever
may be the event of the war and of the measures which
have been taken to convert it to our advantage, I shall
have the conscious satisfaction to reflect that if the
Carnatic is saved, it is saved by my exertions; and
even in the worst event, that I did all on my part that
could be done for its preservation.

1t was yesterday moved and resolved to put in orders
a detachment of six battalions of sepoys and one com-
pany of artillery, to march by the way of Cuttac to the
coast. Lieut.-colonel Pearse, the commander of artil-
lery, commands it. He is a man of bravery, and of
great professional knowledge. Major Edmondson is
his second, and has been nomiated by me without his
knowledge or expectation. I shall expect a part of
the Naugpoor cavalry which is at Cuttac to join this
party. It will be ready to move at thefarthest by the
Ist of December, and long before that time I shall
expect to know the result of our treaty, and its recep-
tion at Naugpoor.

I have professed to leave the detail of all the past
transactions to your son, and here am I imperceptibly
led into the midst of it myself. It is time to stop. To
Mr. Pechell, to Mr. Barwell, and all my other friends,
I beg that you will communicate the enclosures, and
this to the Pechells. Ican write to no one, nor indeed
did my last letters contain much more than references.

I had written a letter to the Court of Directors, in
which I told them the story of the two gratuitous lacs
provided by me for the extraordinary expenses of Major
Carnac’s detachment, and another something like it,
which notwithstanding my hurry, [ mustrelate in brief
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to you. You know that the army at Cuttac arrived
there about the end of May. There it has been quietly
ever since. It marched on the Duserra, on the 12th
of October last. It has consumed all the money pro-
vided originally for its subsistence. Its resources are
next to nothing, and the means of remittance from
Naugpoor impracticable, The Rajah and his minister
urged me to relieve them. I mentioned the subjeet to
the General. He with some opposition promised his
consent if I proposed. Mr. Wheler did not like it.
‘I said nothing of it to Francis; but resolved, as the
best expedient, to take it upon myself. -1 aecordingly
sent three lacs of rupees to the commander of the army,
with a promise of more whenever } eould propese it
as a public gratuity, that is to say, when his father
shall have either given orders for his return, or fo join
us. I have represented this both to him and toithe
Rajah as a private act of my own, and as such three
lacs have the merit of ten, nor is the dignity of govern-
ment committed by it, of which indeed I have no idea,
even if it had been publicly done. I have borrowed
two lacs of this sum, and supplied the other from
my public cash: and I intend to charge the whole to
the Compeany.
Fort William, 10th November, T780.

My dear Friend,—Enclosed is a duplicate of my last
and with it I shall send copies of the papers which ac-
companied the original. I wrote to you a separate
letter of the same date, but I cannot give yon a du-
plicate of it, not having copied it. It contained only
one subject, namely, my views respecting your son. I
am happy that I can now inform you of his being de-
cidedly fixed with me by a formal act of the Board,
and an application from them fo the government of
Fort St. George, to grant him their licence to remain
here as my assistant. I cannot express to you how
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much I am pleased with this arrangement, nor am I
less in the belief that it is agreeable to him. Your
colleagues have been so much habituated to pass their
censures on my actions, and to discountenance those to
whom I have shown any degree of confidence, or who
have given proofs of their attachment to me, that it will
" poesibly occur to them thatin thisinstance I have been
" guilty of a flagrant breach of orders in seducing one
of their servants from the station which they had al-
lotted to him. Such is the treatment which I have ex-
perienced with respect to Elliott, Bogle, Belli, Richard
Sumner, and Sir J. D’'Oyly, men of eminent merit,
and universally respected, but unfortunately known to
have attached themselves to me.

Perhaps the spirit which dictated these malevolent
acts may at length have subsided, and it may be al-
lowed me at a time like this, and after the labours of
80 many years, performed almost with my own hands,
to make one election of my own assistant in the first
and most arduous department, under the superior ad-
ministration of the British empire. Few are the privi-
leges which I have hitherto received, or assumed. I
have never called the members of another presidency
to compose the government of this: my name has re-
ceived no addition of titles, my fortune of jagheers, nor
my person any decorations of honour. I was intro-
duced into this government without any cost of ships
to transport me, nor has any provision been assigned
me of a domestic surgeon, nor a domestic chaplain.
Neither my constitution nor religious principles have
been a charge to the Company. These and other dis-
tinctions have been the lot of others my inferiors, nor
upon my honour has my envy been excited by them.
1 only mean by this comparison to furnish you with
an answer, which ought to shame those who require
one.
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Mr. Francis has announced his intention to leave us,
and had engaged a passage in a Dutch ship, which 1
sirice hear he has left for one in the Fox. His de-
parture may be considered as the close of one complete
period of my political life, and the beginning of a new
one. After a conflict of six years I may enjoy the
triumph of a decided victory, and many are the con-
gratulations which have been paid upon it: but what
a victory! an exhausted treasury, an accumulating
debt: a system charged with expensive establishments,
4nd precluded by the multitude of dependants and the
curse of patronage, from reformation; a government
debilitated by the various habits of inveterate licen-
tiousness. A country oppressed by private rapacity,
and deprived of its vital resources by the enormous
quantities of current specie annually exported in the
remittance of private fortunes, in supplies sent to
China, Fort St. George, to Bombay, and lately to the
army at Surat, and by an impoverished commerce;
the support of Bombay with all its new conquests, the
charge of preserving Fort St. George, and recovering
the Carnatic from the hands of a victorious enemy ;
the entire maint of both presidencies; and lastly,
a war either actual or depending in every quarter, and
with every power of Hindostan : these, and many more
evils which I could enumerate are the appendages of
that authority which is devolving to me, and the fruits
of that spirit of discord which has been permitted—
how unaccountably. Ithas prevailed in this government
without an instant of remission, since the 19th of Oc-
tober, 1774, to the present hour. This assertion I
could easily prove, but the application of it to every
consequence which I have particularized would of
itself exceed the proper bounds of a letter. Yet, to
you, my friend, I will venture to affirm with proof,
that if it had pleased the wisdom of Parliament to have




330 MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS.

removed me from my office in the year 1774, and to
have supplied my place with &2 man to whom the su-
perior administration and Court of Directors could
have given their confidence, had he but possessed a
moderate understanding with experience and integrity,
all the ills which have befallen the country might have
been prevented. The treasury of Bengal would have
continued to accumulate, until it had required a check
to its exuberance; a regular and economical system of
office had been established ; the anthority of this go-
vernment had never suffered any diminution ; easy and
equal fortunes had been acquired by mdividuals without
diseredit to the service, or injury to any; the miserable
expedition which terminated with the infamous con-
vention of Woorgaum had never happened; Hyder
Ally had not thought of invading the Carnatic; every
state would have courted the Company’s alliance, and
the influence of the British name had been felt ac-
knowledged and respected in every region of Hindostan
and Deccan.

Yet though I bhave not the fairest prospect before
me, Mr. Francis’s retreat will certainly remove the
worst appearances of it; | shall have no competitor to
oppose my designs; to enecurage disobedience to my
authority ; to write circular letiers with copies of in-
struments from the Court of Directors, proclaiming their
distrust of me, and d ing my 1; to excit
and fi t popular odium against me; to urge me to
acts of severity, and then abandon and oppose me ; to
Lkeep alive the expectation of impending changes; to
teach foreign states to counteract me and deter them
from forming connexions with me. I have neither his
emissaries in office to thwart me from system, nor my
own dependants to presume on the rights of attachment.
In a word, 1 have power, and I will employ it, during
the interval in which the credit of it shall last, to re-
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trieve past misfortanes, to remove present dangers, and
to re-establish the power of the Company, and the
safety of its pommons.
The principal spnngs by which these effects are
pected to be p d are already in action. A
very powerful reinforcement of military strength has
been seut to Madras.
Sir E. Coote has been prevailed upon to accompany

it
/A great detachment of mative troops is forming to
.assist i the same service.

A capital supply of treasure—fificen lacs—has been
sent to Fort St. George, and appropriated exclusively to
their military expenses. A treaty has been formed,
executed on our part, and tendered for acceptance to
the Mahratta state.

The Rajah of Berar, the principal state inconnexion
with the Mahrattas, has been solicited to become a party
to it.

The Circar of Mort gar or Guntoor, forcibly
taken by the presidency of Fort St. George, in violation
of the treaty of 1768, has been returned to its pro-
prietor, and other taken to iliate the Nabob
Nizam Ally Cawn, who was on the point of declaring
war against us, and was the original author and insti-
gator of the confederacy planned for our extirpation.

‘We have opened our treasury for loans of maney,
the most mortifying act to me of my government, after
having been instrumental in discharging a former debt
of one crore and a half of rupees, and of filling their
treasuries with near double that amount. The sum
raised by this time is C. rupees 64,44,601.

To these I will add another domestic arrangement,
calculated both for the effectual administration of
justice, and for the prevention of future comtests
between the government and superior ecourt, by the
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appointment of the chief justice to the office of judge
of the Sudder Dewannee Adawlut. This measure
was received by the public with all the prejudices which
might be naturally expected to influence the minds of
men heated by the late acts of the body of which Sir
Elijah was the chief, and who, regarding it as an acces-
sion of power to the court itself, conceived themselves ex-
posed to the worst effects of its resentment ; but the
most intelligent, and many even of the most violent,
begin already to moderate their opinion of it. Indeed,
1 should wonder if they did not, for it requires very
little sagacity to discover that an exclusive advantage
conferred on one member of the court is by no means
likely to increase either the authority of the whole
body, or to strengthen its animosities. The chief
justice, whose heart, though warm in both extremes, is
animated with as much natural benevolence as that of
any man living, not having the actions of others to
defend, but left to his own impulse, will soon regain in
this office the popularity which he once acquired and

lost. The court will find him a milder advocate for

-an extension of authority which certainly did not be-

long to it, and which is now rendered less y

even on their own grounds, than it was when, by the
terrors hung over our judicial as well as ministerial
officers, the course of justice had in effect no free
current but in the channel of the Supreme Court.

1 must hasten the conclusion of this letter, that I
may not miss the packet. Perhaps I may write another
to follow it.

This is the 2d of December. Mr. Francis departs
to-morrow. He has replied to my minute 3d July : I
have answered him. He has written a third, and 1
have rejoined to that. He has made a surrejoinder, as
1 am told, which 1 suppose he will p t at parting,
and I suppose that will be the last, for he can say
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nothing new, and will only attempt to draw the argu-
ment into foreign matter. My friend, I am ashamed
of it, but unless I am mistaken, his own vindication will
tend more to mine, in its impression on candid and un-
prejudiced readers, than to his. For the rest of this
subject I refer you to your son.

Let me intreat you to support our r dation
of Mr. Holland.

In a letter which I have written to the secret com-
mittee, I have recommended Major Popham for some
“public testimony of your approbation. He deserves it.
1 beg you will promote it.

In my catalogue of good things done for the salva-
tion of the Carnatic, I ought to have inserted the sus-
pension of Mr. Whitehill. It has taken effect without
trouble, though the creature made some show of re-
sistance, and with the universal satisfaction and general
joy of the settlement. I took special care to separate
the real and legal cause of his suspension from the
motives which might obviously be assigned to it : but
that being answered, I may be allowed to rejoice, and I
do most sincerely, that the government of Fort St.
George has been, by whatever means, rescued from the
hands of a man, who, if he had been allowed to retain
it, would have completed its ruin ; nor was his military

. coadjutor much better. This act of justice will, if
any thing can, determine Nizam Ally in our favour;
for he has complained in terms of great severity, and
almost of contempt, that our professions were contra-
dicted by facts, and that if we were sincere, we wanted
the power to enforce them, since the only effect which
our orders had yet produced, had been the vindictive
dismission of Mr. Holland for having been instru-
mental to their being issued. The Circar of Guntoor
has been since evacuated, but we had passed our sen-
tence, the General, who signed it, had left us, and
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we had before waited longer perhaps than we ought for
the effect of our orders. For our reasons at large see
our minute, and the letter to the secret committee.

Sir E. Coote in the Kingston, the last ship of our
armament, arrived in safety at Fort St. George on the
5th November, in just fifty-two days from the return
of Sir Hector Munro to the Mount after his defeat.
Let us have credit equally for the substantial aids
which we have granted to our sister presidency, and for
the despatch with which they were furnished—a de-
spatch unequalled but by the equipment of the Char”
lotte and Resolution,

Colonel Pearse’s detachment will certainly move off
in the course of the next week, and his artillery and
stores will be transported to Balasore by sea, which
will quicken as well as lighten his march. The roads
are yet scarcely passable.

Sir E. Coote gives us a dreadful account of the state
of the Madras army, and represents the sepoys to a
man a8 unfit for service, from their despondency. He
is too apt to view things in their worst light, but I fear
mauch is too true. He estimates the monthly expense
of the whole army at seven lacs and a half, which we must
provide ; for the Carnatic will not, he says, yield a rupee.
Hyder is the complete and acknowledged master of it.

‘With our past drains of the current specie of this
country, which 1 compute at one crore of rupees in
each year ; with both the presidencies of Bombay and
Madras to maintain, and a heavy war to carry on for
each with our own unassisted funds; with other
enemies threatening these provinces, and the necessity
of guarding against them by at least the replacing the
battalions which we have sent to the Carnatic ; it will

‘be impossible to provide the mvestment. I know the

personal consequences to which I shall expose myself
byso g 1l a di intment, but I am without a

Yy
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remedy. It will be no act of mine, but of 2 necessity
ariging from caunses independent of me and of this go-
vernment. I have neither engaged the Company in
a war with the Mahrattas nor with Hyder Ally; nor
has any act of mine encouraged the court of France to
send a squadron and armies from Europe to assist in
effecting our destruction. -Pray see my letter. I
would have kept back the notice, but Wheler, whose
‘sentiments on this subject are literally the same as my
awn, has told me that if I do not apprize the Court of
Directors of the probability of this event, they will
have taken the shipe for the next year, the month of
August being the time allotied usually for that dispo-
gition. I had rather incur a personal risk, than keep
back an unplessant report toa greater distanceof time,
with such ill consequences attending it.

1 intend to change the whole system of the collec-
tions, and bring them to Calcutta, according to the
plan which [ formed in 1773, but which my council
then would not permit me to execute- I hope by this
and some other arangements to make some addition to
our revenue, and some retrenchments in our expenses.

I have also thoughts of visiting the province of Oude,
which is most dismally wasted and disordered by the
effects of the disjointed control which has hitherto
prevailed in it. Its resources have already begun to
fail us, and the Nabob himself, the vizier of the em-
pire, has been at times destitute even of the necessaries
of life. 1will not go unless I am certain that I can
relieve the distresses of the country. I will, if I can.

We shall immediately raise six new battalions in
the place of those which compose Colonel Pearse’s de-
tachment, and hope to be able to accomplish this
without much loss of time, and with a part at least
not new recruits.

Mr. Wheler has written to his friends in favour of a
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plan for keeping the Company's ships in employment
by allowing individuals to freight their goods in them
on the footing of the present privilege allowed to the
captains and officers. This is what I have alluded to
irr my letter to the secret committee.

The wretch Bristowe is gone to Lucknow. If he
attempts to do mischief there I will recall him. For
God's sake help torid me of so unworthy an antagonist,
and to gain me the privilege of employing my owr'
instruments, if the future salvation of the Company is
to be left to my care. [ will not employ Bristowe
though my life should be the forfeit of my refusal. *

I hope to effect the removal of Fowke from Benares
with his acquiescence.

I can write no more. I am, most sincerely my dear
Sir, your affectionate, faithful, and devoted friend.

There is but one more of Mr. Hastings’s public
acts at this period to which, before adverting to
other matters, I find it necessary to refer ;—1I allude
to his negociation with the Dutch East India
Company for the hire of a body of troops, of whom
a thousand should be European infantry, and
two hundred European artillerymen. The nego-
ciation led to no satisfactory results, for the Dutch,
as usual, procrastinated, and ere a treaty could be
drawn up and ratified, there was war between Great
Britain and Holland ; but the measure was surely
not deserving of the censure which was attempted
to be cast upon it, seeing that the ery of the autho-
rities at Fort St. George was for European soldiers,
without a large addition to whom they declared
that it would be impossible any longer to maintain
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the war. I admit that the terms offered to the,
Dutch were somewhat extravagant. They included
not only the pay of the troops while employed, but
the cession, in perpetuity, of the province of Tinne-
velly, together with permission to make conquests
in the neighbourhood of Cochin, and an exclusive

.right to the pearl fishery along the whole of the
coast south from Ramiseramn. Nevertheless the
case was so urgent, that Mr. Hastings would have
agreed to the arrangement had not the Madras
government refused its sanction ; and the Dutch,
as I have just said, defeated their own views by the
delay which they exercised in working them out.
In every other respect, however, they were Mr.
Hastings’s councils which prevailed to the salvation
of the Carnatic. For he did not hesitate, by virtue
of the authority invested in him, to remove Mr.
‘Whitehill from the President’s chair, or to throw
the influence of that office into the hands of one, on
whose hearty co-operation with Sir Eyre Coote he
believed that he might with confidence rely. I need
scarcely add that the struggle, though desperate,
ended triumphantly for the British name, and that
the bitterest of Mr. Hastings’s personal enemies
were forced to acknowledge that, by the vigour of
bis counsels be saved at that time the Carnatic to
the Nabob and to the Company.

VOL. II. z



338  MEMOIRS OF- WARREN HASTINGS.

CHAPTER VIII.

Intrigues in the Cabinet—Deputes Major Scott to be his Agent—Exposition
of his system of Government—Marks of decision of Character.

It js necessary to turn now, for a brief space, from
a contemplation of the personal proceedings of Mr.,
Hastings, that we may inform ourselves of the
manner in which his character and interests were
dealt with at home, as well by such as loved the
man and approved of his system of government, as
by others who hated the one and utterly condemned
the other. For Hastings belonged to that ilustrious
throng whose eminence never fails to excite as much
of envy as of admiration, and whose views on all
important subjects go so far beyond the compre-
hension of ordinary men, that by ordinary men they
are uniformly distrusted. Hence, doubtless, not
less than by reason of the political cabal that was
against him, his course had been held, ever since
the passing of the Regulating Act, through obstacles
such as none but transcendant abilities could have
enabled him to surmount ; and though, so early as
1779, popular prejudices were in some degree
softened, there were not wanting still both at Court
and in the India House numbers who desired
nothing more ardently than to bring about his
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degradation, On the other hand, few public men
have ever been supported by truer, or steadier, or
more influential friends. Among these I may
enumerate, in addition to the beads of his party in
the Court of Proprietors, Lord Mansfield, Lord
Bathurst, Dr. Markham Archbishop of York,
with many more, whose support, as it was given on
‘Public grounds alone, so it did not for many years
afterwards bring them into intimate or personal
communication with the object of it. Moreover it
is a striking fact, that though a prodigious mass of
talent and of genius was arrayed against him,
wherever experience happened to be added to these
accomplishments he uniformly found a supporter.
Thus in opposition to Edmund Burke, at that time
an East India proprietor and a regular attendant
at the meetings of the Court, were ranged such
men as Mr. Pechell, Mr. Sulivan, General Caillaud,
and others, who to strong natural sense added a
knowledge of the matters under discussion, which
they derived, not from books but from long and
faithful service in India. Though the battle was,
therefore, sharp, and seemed often to go against
him, there was always some new ground on which
he and his defenders could fall back, and from
which not all the violence of party—and it never
showed itself in more odious colours—succeeded to
the last in driving them. Yet let the truth be told.
Mr. Hastings certainly owed as much, in the end, to
z?2
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the fears as to the good feelings of the minister, who
ceased to intrigue for the possession of Indian power
and Indian patronage only afier he had virtually
lost America to the British crown.

By the arrangement of 1773, the government of
India, as therein constituted, was to continue both
in its form and in the persons of these by whom it
was administered, for the space of five years, un-
changed. Individuals were indeed liable, by the
joint will of the Company and of the Crown, to be
recalled ; whilst it was competent for them, at any
period, to resign, should circumstances arise to
require a resignation. But failing either or both
of these accidents, the power of controlling the
affairs of British India was for a space of fiveyears
secured by Act of Parliament to those whose names
bad been in 1773 submitted to the King, and by
him approved. We have seen that more than one
bold attempt was made between the periods of the
passing of the Act and its expiration to deprive
Mr. Hastings of his authority. Not succeeding in
the endeavour to get up an address of removal to
the Crown, his enemies took advantage of the pre-
cipitancy of Colonel MacLeane, and accepting a
resignation which had pever, in point of fact, been
tendered, made dispositions to transfer the reins
of government to other hands. But here again the
personal firmuess of Mr. Hastings withstood them ;
and they were too conscious of their own lack both
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of right and of power to force matters to an ex-
tremity. It remained to be seen what part the
King’s minister would play, now that the time for
which his authority was secured to Mr. Hastings
was drawing to a close, and many and baseless were
the speculations to which a consideration of the
subject gave rise. For Lord North’s hostility to
Mr. Hastings was understood to be as determined
as ever. He spoke of the policy pursued in India as
ruinous, and did not scruple, when excited, to
declare that Mr. Hastings deserved to be impeached
for its adoption. Was it probable that he would
permit the first opportunity of effecting the recall
of so obnoxious a governor to pass unimproved ?
Was it within the compass of possibility that he
would continue in power one whom he bad so often
censured, and thereby affix the seal of his appro-
bation to all that individual's measures? The
following, which I insert because of the picture
which it draws of the state of parties at the time,
will show that, according to the judgment of Mr.
Hastings's warmest friends, the scales hung so
evenly, that a trifle would turn them to either
side :—
From Mr. Prcuxit.
Landon, 13th May, 1779.

Dear Sir,-—As every act of yours which can afford
the least doubt becomes matter of censure to your
adversaries, it is not to be wondered at that your pro-

dings in g the detachment under Colonel
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Leslie, and your instructions to Mr. Elliott, have been
s0. Before your last letters arrived, the news had been
spread that the detachment had been surrounded,
mostly destroyed, and the remainder obliged to sur-
render to the Mahrattas, and the whole compared to
the misfortune at Sa.ratoga Your disobedience of the
orders of the Directors in regard to young Fowke has
been magnified and made a pret

but T hope that has been too bold a step for them to
ventare ; but as Mr. Sulivan and Mr. McPherson will
no doubt give you very full information upon these
points, I shall drop them. In the beginning of the
winter I wrote to Sir Grey Cooper, telling him that
during Clavering’s life, knowing his connexions with
that family, I, out of discretion, would not talk to him
upon India affairs ; but that at present, as the scene was
changed, I should be glad to renew our former freedom.
He answered in a very friendly manner. We met and
had a long conversation, the whole whereof was on your
subject. I found my Lord North was totally averse to
your continuing in the government, and I ended by
representing that your friends made a considerable
body, from which the minister might meet help or
obstruction according to his treatment of you. This
seemed to have more effect than anything I had men-
tioned. My friend Lord Clarendon advised me to see
Lord North myself. Accordingly I asked an audience,
and it was granted. I went at twelve and waited till
three before my turn came. I began with representing
the great services you had done, and from thence drew
my lusions of the ity there was of your con-
tinuing to serve. He heard me, in the usual manner,
with great attention, but all the while playing with a
letter which lay upon his table. When I had done, he
Tooked up, =1 thought Mr Hastings intended to resign.”

I d, that ag t Mr. MacLeane
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might have entered inio with his lordship, it could
relate only to the succession of General Clavering ; that
now he was no more, it could not be expected that you
should resign in favour of Mnr. Francis, and I made
some remarks on the manner in which advantage had
been taken of MacLeane’s imprudent step, He next
complained that yon had not stemmed corruption, but,
on the contrary, had counteracted the effortg of your
colleagues for that purpose. I then answered with some
earnestness, that though great endeavours had been
{used to blacken your character, no instance could be
found where they could fix the least bribery upon you;
that I would put the whole on that point, and if any
one instance could be produced wherein you had acted
contrary to the strictest rules of honour, I never would
act in your cause. I then rep ted the illiberal
manuer in which your enemies bad acted, the date of
their accusation, which was before they could know
anything, &ec. He told me, «“ You know I had agreat
opinion of Mr. Hastings, aud that made me place him
at the head of that government, and that drew on me
the resentment of Lord Pigot, who wished to have been
in that station.” The rest of our conversation was con-
cerning the plan that might be formed in renewing the
charter. I mentioned the help Government had re-
ceived from your friends; thatbutfor that Mr. Clavering
could not have gone out ; and ended by representing the
pleasure they would have in thinking that, whilst they
forwarded the views of Government, they served you,
and how disagreeable their situation mast be if they
were obliged to act otherwise. I asked another audience
during the holydays ; he granted it, and promised no
hostility should be committed in the mean time. Ae-
cordingly, the Saturday in holyday week he sppointed
me at three, at Bushy, where I dined with him. Our
conversation was much the same as before, only he
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‘mentioned somethingeof the manner in which territorial
acquisitions should be arranged. I advised him to take
care he did not make a colony. “However, upon the
whole, I could not find that I had made any impression
,on him. Two days after your last letters arrived. I
" thought it for your service to communicate the sub-
stance of them to the proprietors, if a General Court
should §e called. You will see the performance ; the
letters of which you will find copies herewith accom-
panied those I sent the Cabinet ; and I am sure, by the
mediation of a friend, that the King has seen one of
them. I can add nomore of importance. Be assured
I am on the watch to prevent as much as in me lies the
machindtions of your enemies. I am, dear Sir, your
faithful humble servant.

I omitted mentioning in my letter that I told Lord
North that he lost the occasion of winning a man of
honour, whom he might trust,and who was incapable of

_ingratitude. I insisted much on the advantage of such
a friend. He made no answer ; but when I mentioned
the assistance be might have from your friends in
General Courts, he seemed struck with it. He then
complimented me on the assistance he had found from
me; I used that as a ground of his befriending you.
Some very civil messages have passed from Lord Sand-
wich tome. I will try if he is to be convinced, that he
may find it his interest to espouse your cause. Francis's
friends are working hard, and endeavour to prevail by
throwing out a threat that he will immediately return
if he is not governor. 1 have not heard from Robinson
since I sent him the letter, of which you have the copy
herewith. Mr. Stanley and I are become acquainted,
and I have sent him one of the pamphlets. I was to
bave dined with him yesterday, but was prevented by
an attack of asthma. 1 am better to-day. The aim of
Robiuson was to get the Directors to have made an
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appointment of a new government €pon
of the Act of Parliament, in which you woul
left out and Francis made President; and I am sure
something of that kind was in contemplation, for Wilkes,
the secretary, who to me professes himself strongly your
friend, told me it was apprehended that upon the expi-
ration of the five years you ought to come home. The
disobedience of orders was to have operated wenders,
and perhaps if then it had been put immediately to the
vote, something strong might have been the result;
t that seems over at present. Sulivan has quieted
my fears, which led me to call a General Court, and
there move that it should be recommended to the
Directors to continue you in the place you arein. “ Lord
North told me all that would be done this year would
be a short bill to continue the government ag it was,
till a provision should be made by Parliament, and that
next year they would take in hand the charter, &c.

It would appear from this letter that Mr.
Pechell’s anticipations pointed to a continuance in
Mr. Hastings’s hands of the powers which he
possessed at the moment; and the result showed
that his calculations had not been lightly formed.
In the early part of the session, a bill was passed
through Parliament continuing the Company’s
privileges for one year, on the. plea that so much
time wguld be required to adjust the terms of a
pmﬁ/n:lt renewal of the charter ; and by that
bill it was provided that no change should take
place in the persons of those who formed the
- Governor-general and Council at Fort William.
A similar measure was adopted in 1780, and again
in 1781, though not without an attempt on the
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part of Mr. Durtlas, afterwards Lord Melville,
and the select committee, to remodel the entire
plan of Indian administration. Yet though these
several acts must be taken as evidences of Lord
North’s approval of the system on which Mr.
Hastings conducted his government,—though they
gave to his policy the stamp of a national approval,
and placed him beyond the reach of inquiry, far
more of censure, in after years, for anything done
previous to their passing,—there is evidence before
me, which I should consider it unjust to withhold,
that the fears of the minister were at least as
much effectual in producing them as any sense of
what was due to a distinguished and meritorious
public servant. The following quaint epistles
place Lord North in no very elevated point of
view, and are besides exceedingly curious :—
From Mr. Pecamr.
London, 27th November, 1781

Dear 8ir,—Nothing material has happened in your
affairs here since I last wrote to you, except the arrival
of Mr. Francis, and I do not apprehend any real mis-
chief from him. He was received by the King and
Queen with that graciousness natural to both (the same
1 saw shown to the Duke of Northumberland the day
after he had left the government to follow Lord Chat-
ham), and thence he concluded he should carry all
before him, and of course be thanked publicly by the
Court of Directors; but he has had to do with a longer
head than his own. Our old friend was upon the
watch—nec talia passus Ulysses. He obliged him to
write, refusing to carry any verbal message, or to take
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upon himself to communicate to that Board anything
imparted to him; upon which Francis wrote him a
letter, desiring to have an admission to that Board.
This Mr. Sulivan presented; and Gregory, not moving
anything directly, but rather by way of conversation,
mentioned his deserts, and threw ont a question
whether it would not be proper to receive him. This
he prefaced with an assertion that he had no eommu-
nication with him. He had received a letter from him
that moming, which he owned to Salivan, who, before
the Court eat, carelessly showed him that he was to
exhibit. This hint of doubt what might be proper to
be done seemed to have some effect, till Sulivan put
them in mind that Mr. Barwell had not received such
honour, and that such a distinction was proper only to
high rank. This called up Barwell's friends, and the
issue was, that Miller moved the motion (which, no
doubt, is transmitted to you), the effect of which was,
that Mr. Francis was upon the same footing as any
other person who, from his rank and service, was com-
petent to give information concerning the affairs of the
Company. He did in consequence attend and deliver
in a memorial on those affairs, in which everything is
represented in the worst light. The answer to this
will be a clear statement of facts, without anything
pointed to any particular part of his minute. The
Nizam's letter to you of the 17th January, 1780, will
be a full to the end r of throwing all the
cause of the confederacy and Hyder's march on
Elliott’s instructions. As I suppose you will have
copies of all papers transmitted to you, it will be
wasting your time to write any more on this particular.
Next General Court will probably show what they
intend, for I reckon that Geueral Smith will lead the
band of your adversaries. If I continue as well as I
am at present, I shall probably be able to encounter
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them. I was poorly in the summer, but Bath has
restored me. The Archbishop of York is an active
and steady friend, and such as 2 man should be who is
thoroughly grateful for the favour you have shown his
son. Lord Mansfield, through him (if he was not so
from his particular esteem of your abilities), will be so;
and Lord Stormont is convinced that you are the only
person who can, in the ticklish state of the Company's
affairs, manage them to advantage. Indeed, I bave
likened the present crisis to the state of Turenne’s
army after his passage of the Rhine; he was sure of
his adversary being worsted, and leaving him in the
enjoyment of the fruit of his déep concerted scheme :
when he was killed, the maréchals who commanded
were happy to repass the Rhine without being de-
stroyed. I am convinced the comparison is just.
Fortunately, you are now free to execute your pur-
poses, and I hope the consequence of it will be, that
your opponents may be answered as the philosophers
were who argued against motion—a plain man walked.
Thus, a happy peace with the Mahrattas, by which
Bombay will be in a situation of being a profitable in-
stead of a costly settlement, the Nizam satisfied and
depending on us, and Hyder reduced within proper
limits,—this, together with the dependence of the
princes of Indostan on the Company, established, will
be a full answer to all their invective assertions. By
the bye, as to Hyder, read 2 Kings xiii. 18 and 19.

I am very sorry you have had so obstinate and wrong-
headed a man 1o deal with as Bristow. 1 cannot but
approve the method you took to show him his insigni-
ficance, and I wonder not at your indignation. The
treatment you met with from that set, and their cor-
tespondents in the Direction, was not to be endured,
It is happy for the Company that the eyes of our
governors are opened. Iam informed by Lord
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Bathurst that his relation, who bears his name, is a
great sufferer by the change in Mr. Bristow's office.
Your own friends think that he no wise merited to have
his emoluments lessened. I ventured to assure Lord
Bathurst that he would not long remain a sufferer;
and that if he was, as represented, innocent of all
cabal, you would soon find means to indemnify him.
As Lord Bathurst is a strong friend, I doubt not but,
if it still remains at your reading of this to be done,
you will make good my assurance to my Lord.

{ You no doubt judge that, from the knowledge the
world has of your friendship for me, I must be often
solicited to give recommendations; and that, in most
cases, they must be founded on the report of others.
In some cases ] cannot refuse; either a strong personal
regard for the asker, or the use they or their friends
may give to our cause, are irresistible arguments: but
be assured it is with this salvo, that they prove de-
serving, and that their promotion does not require
injustice to merit and well-founded claims. In this
way I have recommended Captain Metealfe and
Captain Anstie; the first being espoused by Lady
James, who, very deservedly, has a great ascendant
over her husband, and for whom I really have a great
regard; I imagined you would, upon Sir William's
own recommcudation, afford your protection. The
Baronet hath been ever well inclined to our cause; and
though, when ministry drove him the other way, he
yielded to act for them, it was unwillingly ; and I dare
say his approaching chairmanship will be favourable to
‘us; and I look on that seat as a very material thing.
Mr. Austie, the father of the Captain, is a man very
much esteemed, and somewhat feared, having & turn
for versification, which he may if he pleases wound
with. My friend Mr. Sargent, who has been so these
thirty-five years, was so earnest for the Captain that I
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could not refuse him, especially as I could trust his
representation of his good qualities. Introductory
letters are of no further consequence than the degree
of importance they give the b g his fellows.

I know not what conjecture to form on the melan-
choly catastrophe which hath just happened to Lord
Cornwallis. Some among the ministry look on it as a
decisive stroke, and probably will be for abandoning
the southern provinces. 'Tis well, in the dejection it
occasions, if we do not yield everything to France. Yet
we are in the same situation as that from which De-
mosthenes drew comfort: our misfortanes are not
owing to the real impossibility of success, but to our
own mismanagement both here and abroad: the
inactivity of a greatly superior army for three years,
when the enemy might have been crushed, and the
continuing such a general because of the importance of
his relation to the Duke of Newcastle We want the
spirit of your Pophams and Goddards. ‘When Arnold
got to the quarters of Sir H. Clinton, he could not
forbear expressing his wonder that Washington should
have been so long suffered to remain. It has been the
reigning idea among the ministers to lock upon the
East as an indemnification for the loss we are likely to
suffer in the West. I will not indulge in melancholy
reflections.  Probably Lord Cornwallis was injudicious
in the plan of his campaign; bat in the beginning of
September he gave Clinton notice that the post was
not tenable, and warned him that if be did not give
quick relief, he (Clinton) must be answerable for the
consequences ; and yet you will see by the dates how
much time was lost Washington’s march was un-
known—chance discovered it—and not the least at-
tempt to distarb it. If they mean to keep the East,
they have a plain way before them, and they pow
know it.
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From the same.
London, 28th November, 1781,

My dear Sir,—Mr. Dunkin having called upon me
this morning, I add a few words to what I sent to the
India House yesterday. The misfortune of Lord Corn-
wallis has had the effect that must be expected from
such a stroke. The ministers, utterly dejected and not
knowing what to et in compensation for the loss, have
thought to show forth the East. Robinson sent for
our friend, and told him this. The time was short, and
the affair pressing. Francis's representations made
the state of India appear very differently from that
which was requisite to be deemed a counterpoise.
Robineon owned that as yet not a paper had been
read. Fortunately, the answer I have mentioned had
been prepared by Wilkes. Our friend sent for him,
and immediately they drew up such a statement of ac-
counts and dates of letters as enables them, who are to
undertake it, to answer very fully. It happened that
whilst Wilkes (who was sent with this to Robinson
that he might explain it fully) was at work, Lord
North came in, not knowing which way to turn, and
almost in despair. Robinson showed him Wilkes's
work, and Wilkes explained to him. This revived
him, he quickly took everything, expressed his thanks
to Wilkes for his diligence and to our friend for his
assistance ; and after he was gone, Robinson desired
Wilkes to tell our friend that it was an obligation
never to be forgotten. This, I think, ties Lord North
firmly to you. He is sensible that you are the only
person who can conduct the affairs in India; and as
such will, no doubt, stand by you. That part of the
inquiry of the secret committee that relates to the
Mahratta war is particularly under the examination of
Mr. Thomas Ord, a very sensible, clear-headed man,
who has got credit by his speech yesterday in the
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House on seconding the address. I shall, I think, be
of great use to him in his researches, in helping him to
those very materials which Lord North was so happy
in. Iam to goto the India House on purpose; so
that I doubt not we shall get the better of detraction
and malice.

I hope the present system of ministry to support you
will not make a revolution in those who supported you
in the year 1776. Though one cannot answer for any-
thing where the passions of men guide, the true interest
of the nation is every day so much forgotten for partial
views and party schemes, that I shall not be surprised
to see Francis the darling of the minority. Be that as
it will, our ground is firm: pure and untainted by any
low selfish consideration, the truth will appear.

The great push of the opposition will be against
Lord Sandwich. Charles Fox talks of impeaching him.
Faulty as his administration may be, particularly in
his partiality to his own friends, which it is probable
there is some ground for, the sum of his acting will be
found great: his spirit and activity have done more
than could be expected; and where can they find a
man equally knowing and capable? Lord George
will be, no doubt, also struck at; but this will be but
secondary. If the ministry are firm to each other, they
will stand, notwithstanding their adversaries; but I
doubt their courage in this, though the king will he so.

Lord Shelburn crossed the street the other day to
thank me for the instruction he had received from the
account of Bombay and the Mahratta war. [ know,”
says he, « you are partial to Hastings; so, in truth,
am L.” 1 replied, “ I am partial as much as it be-
comes a friend to truth; and I assure your Lordship
that that tract contains ouly truth.” He allowed that.
I added, «“ We have been uniform; they who were
against us have at last been obliged to open their eyes
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to the only means of safety; but, whoever espouses Mr.
Hastings, the cause is still the same.” He acknow-
ledged this. I threw it in because I think it probable
that party may interfere. Lord Shelburn and Barry
have been remarkably moderate, whether looking to
come in, or tired, time will show; some have suspected
another cause: but, whatever their hearts wish, I dare
say they have been cautious.

1 know not whether you will receive any letters from
Caillaud by this conveyance; probably you will by the
¢hips. I have already, written you my opinion and
wish concerning his return in any light to India: am-
bition should not disturb a tranquillity so well esta-
blished as his; and for my own, I confess I choose to
enjoy him zow. A few years must put an end to that;
and, should he go abroad, I must naturally conclude
our separation must be for ever. My dear Sir, you
will now act freely, disencumbered from selfish and
unjust misrepresentations, and you will not need his
assistance. Mucte virtule est et vale.

Rusiness agrees with Mr. Sulivan ; I never knew him
in better health.

Meanwhile the return of Mr. Francis to
England with a spirit chafed and fretted by the
remembrance of so signal a discomfiture, threatened
pot a little to increase the difficulties of Mr.
Hastings's position, by adding to the number and
the virulence of his enemies. For Mr. Francis
was a determined hater, and there were no inea-
sures at which he could be expected to stop short
for the purpose of gratifying his revenge. Mr.
Hastings accordingly resolved, after mature deli-
beration, to send home some person in whom he

VOL. 1L 24
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could repose unlimited confidence, and to furnish
him with the means of refuting whatever calumnies
Mr. Francis might circulate against him, as well
as of instructing both the Cabinet and such less
prominent circles as it might be judged expedient
to enlighten in the true nature and object of the
system on which the Bengal government was con-
ducted. Such a man Mr. Hastings found in
Major John Scott, better known a few years subse-
quently as Major Scott Waring ; and however the
intimacy of these two gentlemen may have termi-
nated, it is an act of bare justice to state that, as
the agent of the Governor-general, Major Scott
was indefatigable. But of the nature of his
services, and of the results to which they contri-
buted to lead, a better idea will be formed after
we shall have traced up to a somewhat later date
the progress of affairs in the country where
Hastings’s talents were exercised.

The year 1781 dawned upon Mer. Hastings in
the midst of all the troubles and difficulties of
which mention has been made in another place.
Sir Eyre Coote, with 640 Europeans, all the dis-
posable force at his disposal, a large body of
volunteer sepoys, and fifteen lacs of rupees, was
gone by sea to save the Camatic from the ruin
which seemed to threaten it. Colonel Pearse’s
detachment, organized and equipped, set out upon
its arduous march. The corps of Colonel God-
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dard, Colonel Parker, and Major Carnac, were
recruited, supplied, and kept in motion ; while at
the same time an attempt was made to negociaté;
through the Rajah of Berar, a separate peace with
the Mahrattas, Meanwhile, the neutrality of the
Rajah himself was purchased by the advance of
large sums of money, at a moment when a breach
with him might have been fatal ; for one of his
larmies lay in the very line which Colonel Pearse
wmust of necessity follow, and another was ready to
penetrate through Oude into Bengal itself. All
this could not of course be accomplished without a
heavy drain on the public resources, to meet which
it became absolutely necessary that extraordinary
steps should be taken. Accordingly, Mr. Hast-
ings, with equal prudence and courage, stopped at
once the whole of the Company’s investments.
He opened at the same time a book for loans, and
raised by this means a very considerable sum;
after which he prepared to exercise with a strong
hand his undoubted right over the resources both
of Oude and Benares. Yet, strange to say,
neither the anxieties attendant on the progress of
the war, nor the necessity under which he was laid
of sketching out with his own hand every plan that
was devised for its management, hindered him from
devoting as much attention as was necessary to the
improvement of the country, and the consequent in-
crease of the revenue, The following long paper,
242
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arddressed by him to Mr. Scott, and drawn up for
the purpose of enabling that gentleman to oppose
with effect the designs of his enemies, gives an ac-
count so clear,and at the same time so honest, of his
own proceedings, and those of his government of
which he was at the head, that I cannot resist the
temptation of inserting it. It is the work of a
masterhand. The Dutch treaty referred to I have

already explained.
Fort William, 28th April, 1781,

My dear Scott,—1 shall endeavour to methodize the
subjects of this letter, and to keep it within the nar-
rowest compass, avoiding as well as I can all unessen-
tial detail, for which I shall refer you to authentic
papers. With this view J will arrange them under
distinct heads; but as I must write principaily from
memory, and, as you know, with much’ interruption,
many circumstances will, of course, be omitted in their
proper places. These I shall add in a miscellaneous
paragraph at the end: and this method I shall pursue
in all my future letters.

Dutck Treaty—You are already well acquainted
with the mofives of this project, nor could 1 wish for a
stronger justification of it than that which you offered
in the conversation which you had with Mr. Smith, of
which 1 hope you kept notes. 1am glad that it was

jected, b the ty which gave birth to it
has long ceased; but they should have been thankful
for our endeavuurs, however exerted, to save them, not
have treated them with reproach. The measure itself
was the product of their despondency, and their judg-
ment of it the effect of that levity with which little
minds vibrate with every successive touch of adversity
and prosperity. They had represented the Camnatic as
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lost; their army unable to take the field, by reason of
the unconquerable dejection of the sepoys, and the
reduced pumbers of their Enropean infantry. Without
a great augmentation of the latter, Sir E. Coote said
he could not risk an engagement. Twelve hundred
European soldiers were to have been added to our
army by the treaty, and a territory ceded in return
which could scarcely be called our own, and which I
could easily foresee would have rendered the Dutch

ependent on us, had they possessed it, instead of
giving them a dangerous interference, in so remote a
corner, with our own possessions. But it was tuncah
land, and the interests of many would have been dis-
turbed by it. This, I believe, was the real objection.
As to the ostensible ones, the first I have answered ;
the second is, that the Dutch soldiery is contemptible,
and would have proved of no use to us. This I deny
for the best soldiers that we ever had in India have
been Dutch, that is Germaus, especially those who
took service with us after their defeat in Colonel Ford’s
campaign. Their officers, indeed, are bad, because
they have so scanty a pay that gentlemen will not
engage with them, and therefore we stipulated that we
should receive none of a higher rank than captains,
and these had an honourable incentive to good be-
haviour in the prospect of promotion by issions
granted from our Government. A third objection is,
that there was a prospect of an impending rupture
with the Dutch; so much the better. Iam no casuist ;
but I believe that, in such an event, their soldiers
would rather continue to serve us than return to their
own colours, and I certainly would not force them to
leave us. We, therefore, in that case should have been
doubly gainers by what we had, and what our new ad-
versaries had thus lost.

1know no other objections. I forget whether I gave you
a copy of the treaty: it shall be sent to you with this.
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Colonel Pearse’s Detachment.—As soon as the an-
swers were received from Naugpoor to our proposals of
a treaty with the Peshwa, through the mediation of
Moodajee, and with his guarantee, we instantly gave
orders for the march of the detachment, because we
plainly saw that the refusal had been dictated by an
opinion that our affairs were desperate; and that
though our ruin might eventually prove the cause of
much evil to the Government of Berar and the house
of Boosla, yet it would be unsafe for it to join with us
at such a time, in the improbable chance of averting
the threatened destruction. Acts that proclaim confi-
dence, and a determined spirit in the hour of adversity,
are the surest means of retrieving it. Self distrust
will never fail to create a distrust in others, and make
them become your enemies ; for in no part of the world
is the principle of supporting a rising interest and de-
preseing a falling one more prevalent than in India.

‘We ordered Colonel Pearse to march and to prose-
cute his way in defiance of all opposition, but to use
every studied precaution that might prevent a rupture,
which we still wished above all things to avoid with
the Government of Berar. At the same time Mr. An-
derson was deputed to Cuttac to notify these orders to
Chimnajee Boosla, the commander of the army there,
and to recommend the same caation to him. His ne-
gociations and their consequences shall be related in a
separate detail. Colonel Pearse d the Soob
chain good order. Cbimnajee very readily signified his
assent to the passage, and by his authority Rajah Ram
Pundit, the Naib of Cuttac, deputed a person of rank,
pamed Moraree Pundit, to attend the detachment, and
to minister to all its wants, which he did most abun-
dantly, as their b was al pplied with more
than the consumption. Colonel Peane, who is not apt
to be pleased without praises Moriree Pundit,
and says that he is much of a gentleman. The march
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to Gunjam, was quiet and easy, but not without deser-
tions. These had originated with Gfant’s battalion,
which had been (improperly I think, and I thought so
at the time, but submitted to professional authority)
reduced to make up the other battalions of the detach-
ment on their augmentation to regiments. Grant,
when be drew out his battalion to make known to them
the order for their reduction and incorporation, told
them that it was a punishment for their mutinous be-
haviour. Resentment, or the dread of carrying such a
stigma into other corps, produced the immediate effect
of driving them from the service. Great numbers de-
serted that night, The contagion of this example
seized the other corps, and they have continued to de-
sert ever since, though the evil has gradually subsided,
Grant has been tried for attempting to defraud his
men of their pay, and for making false returns. He
was convicted and sentenced to lose the service. Iam
resolved that he shall not return to it.

What follows is too horrid to detail; a contagious
distemper seized the detachment at Gunjam, and
threatened to anmihilate it. It exactly resembled the
disorder called Mordeche, or Mordecheen, in Europe
Cholera Morbus; but seems to be a species of the
plague, and to have been caused by exhalations from
the rains, which have fallen almost incessantly, and
with great violence, during two months. It has tra-
velled since to Calcutta, where it made an alarming
havoc for about ten days. By a report, which I ordered
to be made to me, of the number and names of inhabit-
ants who perished by the distemper between the 11th
and 2lst of this month, there appear to have died in
all 879, multiplied by reports into many thousands.
The weather has cleared and the mortality abated.

I do not recollect whether Colonel Pearse’s letters
mention the number that he has lost, but I fear that of
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sepoys alone it has not fallen much short of & thousand.
By the last advices he was near Vizagapatam, and his
men fast recovering.

I hear that Sir E. Coote has sent General Stewart
to take the nd of the detachment. I hope it is
not true, but it is too like the man.

Deputation of Mr. Anderson to Cuttac.—1 have said
that the subject of this deputation was to notify to
Chimnajee, that the detachment had received its orders
of march, and to request his authority for its supplies
of provisions, and due precautions to prevent hostility
by the too near approach of the two armies. This
led to a megociation, which is so fully detailed in one
of the enclosed extracts, that I shall not recapitulate
it. The sum is, that we agreed to relieve the distresses
of the army, which were indeed very great, by com®
pleting the sum which you may remember I promised
as a gratuity to the Government of Berar for this
purpose, namely, sixteen lacs of rupees, upon the con-
dition of its complying with the propositions which
were sent to it in September, of which sum I had my-
self privately advanced three lacs. Ten lacs more we
lent to them, payable in two years, on the personal
security of Rajah Ram Pundit, the Naib of Cuttac.
Chimnajee has agreed to furnish 2,000 horse, to be
under the orders of Colonel Pearse, their pay to be
issued by us at the rate of one lac per month; and we
have further agreed to assist the Government of Berar
in the conquest of Gurra Mundela, which Nanna
Furneess had given to Moodajee, and afterwards re-
voked the gift.

This accommodation, while it frees us from a very
disagreeable suspense, is a double proclamation of the
decision of that Gover t in our favour.

We have mutually termed it the preliminary of a
treaty of alliance, which Rajah Ram Pundit has offered
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to go himself to Naugpoor to promote. He is a fit
person for it, and if good humour, perseverance, and
per jon can plish it, he will. I intend te de-
pute Mr. Chapman on the ostensible commission. I
regret that I canoot spare Mr. Anderson, whose abili-
ties are certainly the fittest of any for such a trust, but
1 want them for one more important; and Chapman,
inferior only in kuowledge, language, and personal
consequence, possesses as large a portion of integrity
711(1 of firmness as any man I know.

The result of this negociation I cannot foresee. 1
have endeavoured to excite the ambition of Moodajee
to the acquisition of the Rahje ; but I am apprehensive
that he will not undertake any plan that shall be
deemed hostile to the young Peshwa, to whom he con-
sidérs himself attached by very sacred ties, which su-
persede even his own avowed rights. On the death of
Righoojee, Ballajee Pundit, who was at that time
Peshwa, had it in his power to reduce the influence of
the family and to reannex its possessions to the so-
vereign state; but he healed the divisions of the
brothers, confirmed them in the possession. and was,
while he lived, their protector. They t, therefore,
in gratitude or justice abandon, much less assail, the
interests of his posterity. Besides, when young Réghoo,
the son of Moodajee, was with Dewangur Pundit a few
years past at Poonah, Nanna Furneess (or Sachharam
Bobboo, I forget which) placed the little Peshwa in his
lap and declared him his protector. These instances
are quoted as conveying. of course, obligations of the
most solemn kind ; and I like to repeat them, because
they are evidences of a generous principle, so little
known in our political system, that though I think I
am as susceptible of the nicest feelings as any Mah-
ratta living, yet I am not sure that I should venture to
avow in all cases their operation.
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Perhaps they may find a salvo to zeconcile their
scruples with their pretensions. Perhaps they may
compel Nanna Furneess to accede to a treaty on our
terms, which will not be hard, though we shall certainly
keep Bassein, and to join us against Hyder. Perhaps ~
they may content themselves with making conquests,
through our means, on Mahdajee Sindia; and for their
encouragement in such a design I have offered to send
our forces against Burhampore and Asseer, the two
capital fortresses of the province of Khandeish, and
with concluding a freaty of defensive alliance with us.
Either way we shall be gainers, but my great aim is to
unite the whole Mahratta state in one common cause
with us against Hyder Ally, whom I will never quit,
if I have the power, till the war is ended with his ex-
tirpation. Would to God that I had better instru-
ments.

General Goddard.—The reduction of the fort of
Arnall followed that of Bassein, and seems to have
completed the conquest of the territory dependent on
the latter. It lies about twenty miles north of Bassein,
and on a point projecting into the sea.

General Goddard marched immediately afier to the
pass of Boorghaut, which opens to the plains of
Poonah, and got p ion of it afier a repeated but
feeble resistance. There he was on the 6th of March,
which is the date of the last letter received from him.
Hence he appears to have made overtures to the
minister for peace on the terms which we had pre-
scribed in October. The minister’s answer was reeeived
on the 6th of March, and contained a refusal which
may be considered as definitive, since the 9th was the
period fized for their acceptance of it, nor was it in
Goddard’s power to treat beyond that term. This I
am not sorry for, as it enables us to mend our offers,
and to withdraw that of Bassein. I am inclined to let
all the rest stand.




MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS. 363

T onderstand that General Goddard got possession
of the Ghaut about the 7th of February. The latest
intelligence on which I ean place any reliance is dated
the 10th of March, and says that Nanna Furneess held
a council on that day with all the Mahrada chiefs,
wnhwhomxtmdetemmedtnmakeagenenlmk
on our army, for which great p were
and that our camp was stmnglyﬁ)thﬁed_ Wlnle[
write 1 gain new intelligence: General Goddard writes .

he had eollected two months’ provisions to enable

im to prosecute the war, but he does not intimate
what his plan was. Poonah is mot an object; Poor-
under would be a wonderful acquisition, if it could be
gained as Gualior was.

Cocan is oure and in peace. Our possessions in
Guzerat and Sarat as quiet, to use the expression of a
letter from Bruen, which I will send if 1 can find it, as
the twenty-four perg andar of thirty lacs
realized from them. What Cocan yields I know not;
but Mr. Hornby writes that they are miserably dis-
tressed for money. Goddard says nothing of money,
We shall not readily supply either. I leave a vacant
space for subeequent advices.

By recent letters from Bombay, the select committee
there write that they have resolved to confine the war
to the defence of their new acquisitions, and have or-
dered Colonel Brown, with the Madras infantry, to
return to Bombay, intending to send them by sea to
Tillicherry and thence by land into the Carnatic,. We
have no letters from Goddard of so late a date, nor
does this correspond with those which we have from
him, but looks like a resolution formed withont con-
sulting him. It is certainly ill timed, when Goddard
was 50 near Poonah and the war to a crisis, which re-
quired a more vigorous exertion than at any other time.
They say, we have resolved, &e. &e., which looks as if
Goddard had no share in it
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Major Carnac’s detachment.—This man has most
grievously disappointed me. He began his operations
successfully by the conquest of the fort of Sippree (or
Sipparee), lying beyond the pass of Narwar. He pro-
ceeded to Sironge, an open town, without interruption.
Here Sindia met him, and Major Carnac, apprehending
the loss of the short provisions which he had, and
which were only for fifteen days’ consumption, or, which
. I think more probable, distrustful of himself, suffered
himself to be confined in this place by the enemy, and
even cannonaded without retaliation. This conduct
brought on the evil which he dreaded, and he was at
length compelled, by the extremity of want, to leave
Sironge; Captain Bruce alone advised their advance
to Bopaul. The chief of that place was in our interest,
and had done us material service when General God-
dard traversed his country. His other officers advised
a retreat, a e in my opinion equally impolitic,
ignominious, and desperate, for every peril becomes
multiplied by a confession of inferiority. The retreat
was wretchedly conducted, and little better than a
route. Our baggage was pillaged, and the wretched
followers of it cut to pieces. In this disgraceful scene
Major M‘Clary and Captain Bruce maintained the re-
putation of our arms, the last in a most distinguished
manner.

At Callaross (you must find it in the map) Major
Carnac was with difficalty prevailed upon to make an
attack upon the enemy. He did eo on the night of the
25th of February, and, after many hesitations in the
different periods of his success, it terminated, most com-
pletely and decisively, by the capture or destruction of
a great part of Sindia’s grain and baggage, the capture
of ali his guns, tumbrils, and ammunition ;—that is,
eight guns: tumbrils all equal to the best of ours,
and three howitzers, one of them said to have been
part of the pillage of our army at the memorable
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defeat at Wargaum: add to these his standard
elephant.

In the meantime Colonel Carnac had written from
Sironge, and repeatedly afterwards, to Colonel Mor-
gan for succours, pointing out Colonel Muir, a senior
officer, as the person whom he wished to command
them; and in his precipitation, which would not leave
him time to reflect that he was at too great a distance
to obtain the effect of this relief in the situation which
suggested it, he wrote in like manner to Colonel
Muir himself, urging his instant departure without
authority. Colonel Morgan very properly considered
this a case of extraordinary necessity, that would not
admit of his waiting for authority; he ordered Colonel
Muir immediately to march, and to join Colonel Car-
nac with three regiments of sepoys, the grenadiers of
a fourth, a regiment of horse, Carnac having one
already detached to him, and a company of artillery.
The orders were issued the 10th March; perhaps it
would have been better judged had he sent the rein-
forcement from his own brigade and replaced them
with Muir’s detachment; but in the event it is Likely
to prove as effectual. Nothing material bas happened
since; Colonel Muir was within four coss of Sipparee
on the 14th ultimo, and sixteen from Carnac, who
seems too late to have discovered his error, and to fly
from Colonel Muir, whose junction will, of course, de-
prive him of command. This evasion will not avail,
for, on the knowledge of Colonel Morgan’s orders, we
confirmed and approved them; and, to prevent the
hazard of a competition, sent orders to Colonel Carnac
to deliver his command to Colonel Muir, and to Colonel
Muir to receive it. These were despatched above a
month ago and in duplicate. They have been received.

I have the highest opinion of Colonel Muirs mili-
tary capacity, experience, and spirit, but I fear for the
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infirmities of his constitution, and have, therefore, given
him Forbes Auchmuty to be his d in command.
We have desired him to return all the troops and guns
which he can spare after his junction, and especially
one of the regiments of cavalry. He will have a suf-
ficiency with Colonel Carnac’s original force and the
regiment of horse destined for him. It will be for his
credit to send back the rest, which I shall privately
insist on, though not in orders.

After all, Colonel Carnac’s campaign, with all its
errors, has fulfilled its professed object, by drawing the
whole of Sindia’s attention from the new conquests in
Guzerat, aud from General Goddard. It haa virtually
been the cause of the reduction of Bassein, the pos-
session of the paases which lead to Poonah, and of the
quiet collection of & large but unknown revenue. It
has proved what our sepoys are capable of even under
the worst conduct; and even to the misconduct and
timidity of the commander, we are indebted for a more
signal and decisive success, than any that the activity
and enterprise of General Goddard could obtain over
an enemy that dreaded and respected him, but de-
spised his present oppouent, and bas therefore given
him all the advantage of which the latter has happily
availed himself against him.

As to other advantages, I know of none. You saw
my instructions to Carnac. These recommend his pro-
ceeding directly to Oojein, to endeavour to reduce or
invite the neighbouring states into subjection to the
Company, and to draw a revenue from them ; to hesitate
before he began to move, but never to stop or take
post after he had moved, nor to make detachments.
Not one point of these has he regarded.

You know the general opinion of Colonel Carnac’s
character. No man stood in higher credit Now
every one piques himself spon baving foreseea that he
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would miscarry; and I expect to be blamed for my
want of judgment: without cause surely. I am de-
prived of the regular means of discovering the charac-
ters and talents of the military officers, by the care
which has been taken to preclude any intercourse
between me and them; and besides how contracted is
the sphere of my choice! Those whom their rank
admits of holding great commands are very few, and
these either distributed to other services, or invalids, or
incapables. It is less easy fo select a Goddard from
the summit of the list, than a Bruce or a Welsh in the:
inferior ranks, which are precluded from my choice.
Nor am I circumstanced alone by rank. I am com-
pelled to pay some regard to private attachment, the
want of which, and the prevalence of an adverse interest,
may often operate against me even with officers of the
first merit. I could exemplify this by an instance not
very distant, and you will recolleet it.

Champion was not my choice, but 1 formed the
design of his expedition, and it succeeded almost in
despite of him.

Leslie was my choice, because I had no other.
Goddard was entirely mine, and I superseded Parker
to make room for him. Carnac was my choice, and the
public voice justified it, but he has discredited it.
Pearse, Edmondson, and Forbes Auchmuty are mine,
and the event will, I trust, show them to have been
well selected. If it should prove otherwise, I do not
know where I could have picked better men.

Subsidiary Operations.—We have taken possession
of the fort of Calpee, and have summoned the chiefs
and Rajahs of that district to submit themselves to the
Company, and pay the same tribute to our Government
that they have paid to the Mahrattas. I mean to
employ Colonel Cummings in enforcing this measure,
and hope to be able to introduce a new system of war
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which shall pay its own expenses. His command (as 1
now intend it) will include Calpee, Bundelcund, and
the other lands lying between the Jumna and Ner-
budda, Gohud excluded. At present he stands ap-
pointed to the forces stationed in Rohilecund, with a
declaration that he shall succeed to the first vacant
brigade ; and be is satisfied. To save Hampton, and
indeed for my own relief, I propose to make him fixed
commandant of Fort William.

Of Major Popham I shall speak under the following
head :—

Moodajee Boosla—(This is repetition, but do not
regard that—read on.) You already know that he re-
jected our treaty. His answer arrived about the 14th
January. He objected to every article, and because he
kuew (as he said) that it would not be accepted by the
administration at Poona, and a term of five months
had been allowed for its acceptance, he had therefore
kept the originals to be disposed of as I should direct,
in hopes that I would amend them; and at the same
time, that they might not mise their chance of producing
a better effect than he expected on the mind of the
minister, copies of them had been instantly despatched
to the latter. Ineed not give you more particulars, as
you have the entire letters, which I sent to you from
Looksaugur. You will probably have observed in
reading them that they contained, as usual, liberal
professions, but dictated in short language mixed with
reproach, in a manner which marked disappointment,
and an opinion that our affairs were grown so desperate
as to warrant the assumption of the tone of superiority.

This lusion further appeared in a letter received
abont a fortnight after from Dewangur Pundit to
Beneram, telling him of our inst B

and the defeat and death of Ramchunder Gunnis, and
desiring him to give me a caution not to discredit what
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they had before written, if this fortunate change should
produce a different reception of our proposals by the
minister, from that which they had before predicted.

We had no alternative left but to manifest the con-
fidence which we placed in our own strength, as the
means of acquiring the public confidence. We in-
stantly ordered Colonel Pearse to march, and pursue
his march against all opposition, but carefully to avoid
both actual hostilities, and whatever might tend to

roduce them, which he most rigidly observed. At the
same time, to preserve our footing with the government
of Berar, and with a view to open a new negociation,
we deputed Mr. David Anderson to Chimnajee, the
son of Moodajee, who commanded the army at Cuttac,
to notify the orders which had been given to Colonel
Pearse, to apologise to him for the necessity which had
compelled us to this measure, to desire him to move
his army from the line of our route, lest its neighbour-
hood, or its situation in the direct road, might occasion
hostilities ; and to request him further to furnish the
detachment with provisions.

About this time Chimnajee had led his army against
Dekkanaul, a fortress, the capital of a zemindarry of
that name, situated to the westward among the hills,
the proprietor of which bad proved refractory. In
this expedition he met greater difficulties than he ex-
pected, and when Anderson arrived at Cuttac. he found
the ication with Chimnajee totally precluded.
He had expected to meet Bi ber Pundit here, whom
I had despatched thither early, but he was gone with
the Rajah, and Rajah Ram Pundit, the naib of Cuttac,
too, as I recollect. Of this he advised us, and as the
ostensible purpose of his mission had been fulfilled,
and I did not choose to show too eager a solicitude
upon the occasion, we ordered him to leave his com-
mission with the highest person in office at- Cuttac,
and return, which he did.

VOL. II. 28
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In the meantime, Chimnajee, having ded in
bringing the zemindar of Dek} I to submissi
was on his return to Cutiac, and wrote to stop Mr.
Anderson, both to him and to me. I accordingly
despatched orders to Mr. Anderson to go back, but
these went by a different route, and missed him. Mr.
Anderson and Bissumber Pundit arrived in Calcutta
about the middle of February.

As the Rajah continued to press the reappointment
of Mr. Anderson, he was a second time deputed to
Chimnajee, who advanced to Balasore to facilitate their
meeting. The detail of this negociation you will
find in the voluminous enclosure, which you must
read, and read with attention, for it contains much
weighty matter, aud demonstrative of the propriety of
the measures which terminated these conferences.
The sum, however, I must add. Mr. Anderson left
Calcutta the 1st or 2d of March. On the 22d he re-
turned, accompanied by Rajah Ram Pundit, the Naib
of Cuttac, with whom an agreement, as a preliminary
to a more substantial treaty of alliance with the supe-
rior government of Naugpore, was concluded in the
name of that Government, and executed in Council the
2d April. The terms were these : —

1. The Rajah was to join 2,000 effective horse to
Colonel Pearse’s detachment, to act under his orders :
their pay fixed at one lac per month.

2. The rest of the army to march forthwith to Gurra
Mundala, where they should be joined by a body of
our troops who shall assist in reducing that place for
Moodajee.

3.'1“‘., 3 IJI‘”J.'AJ' J.-‘,lo
Naugpore by the Governor-general and Council to
treat on the proposed alliance, and Dewangur Pundit
come to conchude it.

4. Orif the Dewan cannot come, the treaty may be
concluded at Nangpore.
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1t had been before agreed to present Chimmajee
with thirteen lacs of rupees, the sum remaining of the
sixteen promised for defraying the arrears of his army
in October last, on the condition of their acceding to
our treaty, and ordering the army to join us. Three
lacs were at that time sent privately to him by me as a
temporary relief to his troops, which were then in great
distress.

This not being sufficient, we agreed to lend them
ten lacs more on Rajab Ram’s security, payable in two
ears. Thus we have converted an ostensible enemy
into a declared friend, and transferred the most formi-
dable member of the confederacy, next to Hyder, to our
own party; saved Bengal from a state of dangerous
alarm, if not from actual invasion, and all the horrors of
a predatory war, and have completed the strength of
Colonel Pearse's detachment by & body of horse suffi-
cient for any service that can be required from it. It
will be censured by cavillers; but 1 am happy in
having so well terminated this busi and no less so
in the consciousness that 1 have achieved what no
other in my place would have achieved, or perhaps
attempted.

For the rest I refer to the detail.

Carnatic.—On the same day, the 2d of April, was

luded and ted at the Council table another
agreement with the Nabob Wallajah, through the
channel of his Dewan Assam Cawn, and Mr. Richard
Sulivan, whom he had deputed to us with joint creden-
tials for that purpose.

The circumstances of this engagement are curious
and extraordinary, but I wait for its issue to verify
their present appearance.

Since the commencement of the war, the Nabob has
pleaded absolute poverty, and the President and Select
Committee have uniformly represented him as unable,

282
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or determined not to assist them with a pagoda, and
the resources of the Cammatic as irremediably lost to
them. At the time the Dewan came away, they ac-
quainted us that the Nabob's creditors had offered to
make over to them the assignment of Angoli, and
other lands equal to a yearly revenue of five lacs of
pagodas, provided the Board would obtain the Nabob’s
assent to it, and would allow them credit for the collec-
tions, by which the Nabob's faith would be preserved,
their rights secured, and the money appropriated, as it
ought to be, to the expenses of the war. The Select
Committee demanded the assignment, but without
specifying the conditions, and the Nabob refused, so
that, as the creditors have observed in an address to us
upon the same occasion, the money, whatever its amount
may be, is lost to all parties, for to the Nabob it can
be of no use, if his inheritance is forfeited by the want
of means to save it.

By the agr t now luded, the Nabob assigns
the whole revenue of his country for the charges of the
war, under proper checks and regulations ; credit is to
be given by the Company to the creditors for the col-
lections made in the lands of their assignment, and to
the Nabob for the rest. The rest of this transaction,
with the agreement at large, you will find in the enclo-
sure.

What appears astonishing to me in this business is,
that the Dewan, who had despaired of success, is the
happiest man living, for my having consented to take
his master’s money; and Richard Sulivan assures me
that the Nabob will be equally delighted with it. 1
shounld be as well pleased as either, if I could see the
end as clearly; but the fact is, that the Nabob aims
only at independence, that he is willing to purchase it
with the sacrifice of all his wealth, provided he can en-
sure its undiminished passage to the Company, and its
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entire appropriation to the defence of his country, and
the discharge of his debts. I dare not trust myself,
even to my most confidential friend, to pursue the sub-
ject. 1 should have told you that we have provided in
the same adjustment for the discharge of the Nabob's
debts, by payment of the principal and interest fixed
in aggregate sums to the month of November, the in-
terest ever after to cease, the principal of purchased
bonds to be reduced, and the whole to be paid off by
instalments. The creditors will (as I am assured) be
thankful for this arrangement, the Nabob no less so,
and I am sure the Company ought to be. I hope to
have the thanks of all parties for so effectual and simple
an expedient. Mr. Wheler is much pleased with it.

To give effect to this measure, and to establish a
free intercourse between the Nabob and this Govern-
ment, we have constituted Mr. Richard Sulivan our
Minister at his Court,

What a world of enemies have I submitted to the
hazard of creating by the disregard of personal conse-
quences in the adoption of such unusual measures as
have appeared to me necessary to retrieve our past
misfortunes and losses! In this establishment 1 have
deprived the bulk of both military and civil servants of
their settled means of acquiring rapid fortunes. At
Fort St. George I have taken, or done my utmost to
take, the Nabob out of their hands, and to establish an
immediate and internal control over their political con-
duct. I have, for aught I know, given equal offence to
the Company, the government of Madras, and the
creditors, by one arrangement. I have excluded the
men of Madras from one profitable commerce, the im-
portation of coast salt to Bengal. The proposed
diminution of the investment will hurt my credit with
numbers in England, besides the Board of Trade and
all its connexions :—The Commander-in-chief is irri-



374 MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS.

tated at me beyond reconciliation, for I know not what,
nor seek to know:—and the most important acts of
this Government are constituted on principles diame-
trically opposite to popular and established opinions.
Add to all, the infinitude of claimants for posts of
profit, the disappointment of nineteen in the proportion
of one who can be gratified, and the consequent odium
thrown upon me for being the sole distributor in the
general estimation, because I have the casting voice.
But to resume my narrative. I choose to close the
preceding subject by observing that the business with
Assam Cawn and Rajah Ram Pundit was all nego-
ciated and concladed in one week, and on the same
day. Let this serve as a proof that I am not idie, nor
uselessly employed when I withhold myself from private
importunity, or from public view, which I often am
compelled to do, and am often employed in secret con-
versation, or in listening to volumes of letters read to
me by my moonshee for hours, and even days together,
while matters of inferior consideration lie neglected.
In my departmmt the proper choice eonsists not so
much in wbat is to be done, as in what can be with least

left und And you know, Scott, that
whenever any work is to be executed that requires a
more than common attention, or to be guarded by nice
collateral provisions, I always make the task my own.
Few are the moments that 1 give to relaxation; my
amusements are quiet and domestic, and they preserve
me in temper, health, and spirits, by which I have been
enabled to go through as great a load of business,
with what ability or effect let others judge, as the most
able of my predecessors.

Military Regulatins.—You are in possession of
those which we formed on the constitution of sepoy
regiments. I am grieved to say that they have been
productive of great discontents and of improper eompe-
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titions between the majors and their captains, besides
(what most affects me) avowed complaints of the appro-
priation of such emoluments as no officer ought to take,
or without shame confess. The line of authority is now
accurately drawn, and will preclude the possibility of
future ts by the subsidiary regulations which I
shall send you, and let them speak for themselves.
They are drawn by General Stibbert, and I am ex-
" tremely pleased with them. They contain additional
hecks on the paymasters, but these are not to be kept
rn order by any rules, nor denunciation of public dis-
grace; for slthough it has been declared that any
paymaster who neglects to send his accounts monthly
to the Board, shall be instantly dismissed, they are
all but two in arrears ; some for two, more for three
months, and Goddard’s for nine. I eannot yet punish
them, for they are protected; but I will conquer this
presumptuous spirit, and Mr. Wheler shall support me
in it.

Revenue—We have abolished all the Provincial
Councils, and have given the general administration of
the revenue to a committee, consisting of four persons.
‘The present members are Anderson, Shore, Chartres,
and Croftes. They have no fixed salaries, and are
sworn to receive no perquisites. In lieu of both they
are to draw a commission of one per cent. on the monthly
amount of their net collections, and that commission
is doubled on such sums as are paid immediately to the
treasury in Caleutta. By this plan we hope to bring
the whole administration of the revenues to Calcutta
without any intermediate charge, or agency, and to
effect a saving of lacs to the Company, and to the ze-
mindars and reyatts. I hope. also, to make a large
i in the collections, and to add to that increase
in the next year. The increase made this year will be
about twenty-seven lacs, and the saving of expenses
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twelve : in all thirty-nine lacs. I have left the chiefs
for a time as collectors. The others have been allowed
to retain their salaries till they get other employments,
and, with the addition of new courts of justice, distri-
buted at equal distances throughout the provinces, and
by other means, I have fortunately provided for many
of them. Read the plan, and the minute introducing
it. "It will not discredit me, but the event will put
those to shame who condemn it.

Courts of Justice—1 have said that T have established
other courts, that the distribution of justice may be
equal. The judges are all sworn. They have a
fowjdarry jurisdiction added to their former powers,
that is, the power of apprehending robbers and other
capital offenders against the public peace. This duty
was before vested in fowjdars, who were appointed by
Mahommed Rizza Cawn, subject and accountable to him
only, and maintained at an expense of five lacs a-year,
besides what they drew by oppressive exactions from
the poor reyatts, of which there have been great com-
plaints. The judges are young men, as well chosen as
they could be. They are under the instruction and
control of the chief justice, and therefore less liable than
they would be to error if they acted with no other check
than that of the Board, which has too many occupations
to give the requisite attention to them; and being
under his protection, they will not be discouraged from
the discharge of their duty by the apprehension or
threats of prosecution in the Supreme Court.

Investment.—We have agreed to allow the Board of
Trade to grant certificates for sixty or sixty-five lacs
(1 forget.the exact sum), to be raised on their credit ;
and these will be exchanged for Company’s notes.
This will keep up the sum of their investment, and it
will not interfere with our credit. In true policy the
investment had better, perhaps, be suspended, for the
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French have, at least, an equal chance of getting it;
but Mr. Wheler, who knows the subject (I do not),
assures me that no consideration or arg t would -
satisfy the proprietors, or reconcile them to a disap-
pointment of their annual cargoes, and 1 have yielded.
Cust ‘We have abolished the collectors, that is,
" Petrie’s office, and established a new one, ander the
manag) ¢ of three issioners, who are to be paid
by a commission on their monthly collections, like the
_committee of revenue. The Company’s goods provided
"in the provi will be subject to the same duty as
others, but a drawback allowed on their t when
made part of their cargoes. This is to prevent the
trade of individuals from being covered by the Com-
pany’s dustucks Petrie and Mackenzie are the two
first commissioners. Had new men been nominated
to the charge, it would have furnished a plea to tax as
with baving eonstituted a new department for the sake
of providing for favoured men at their expense; and
Petrie is unquestionably the fittest person to preside
over it. My objects in this al ion are to free the
trade of the country from unanthorized exactions, and
to make the duties equal and certain, ultimately to
produce an increase of trade, and of the revenues arising:
from it in consequence
Salt—The for facturing salt is from
November to June. In February, 1780, the Council
of Revenue of the division of Calcutta told us that no
one would contract to provide the salt of the twenty-
four pergunnas, which used to yield an annual quantity
of five lacks of maunds, but at a rate below the price
which it then bore in the market (I write from memory,
but I know that I am right in substance). I recom-
mended to provide it by agency. To this every member
objected. I then entreated the Board to allow the trial
to be made on my single responsibility. They consented.
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1 nominated Mr. Griffiths the agent. The scason was
more than half elapsed before he took charge. He
realized four lacs of maunds, and raised the price
from 80 or 90 rupees to 190 per 100 maunds. This
success encouraged me to propose the extension of the
same plan to the whole sea coast for this year. Ishould
have mentioned that the salt business had failed in
every part of the province where that article is made,
in the same manner that it had declined in the twenty-
four pergunnas. Six agents have been appointed, two
only of my nomination, and Vansittart (nominated by
me) is at the head of the office. These, too, are all
sworn and paid by & commission on the net produce.
Vansittart told me some time ago that he expected to
clear thirty lacs certain for the Company in this year.
If he does, it will be more than thirty lacs clear profit ;
for hitherto, what with the various and multiplied
cookery of the Provincial Councils, salt agents (as they
were then called), Board of Trade, our own Board
(which was as bad as the rest), contractors, and the
Supreme Court of Judicature, the Company has sus-
tained an annual loss by this article of their revenue
for some years past. If they gain by it hereafter, the
merit is exclusively and peculiarly mine.

Buzey Connah~—This office is abolished, and 2

imple pay-master appointed in its stead, with s com-
ission on his payments. The post-office has been
regulated on the same principles, but this is scarce
worth enumerating.

I now return to the political subjects, for besides
those which I have omitted through haste, new matter
grows upon me as 1 write.

Guallior—On the 2d of April, the same day on which
the preliminary ag; t was ted with Rajaram
Pundit, orders were passed and issued for the delivery
of the fortress of Guallior to the Ranna of Gohud. You
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must have heard me espress the regret which I con-
tinually felt at the necessity which compelled me to
keep the possession of this place against a solemn
condition of a public treaty. The necessity was a poli-
tical one in its most contracted sense. It was the fear
of popular reproach that prevented my proposing to
relinquish it; and had I proposed it when it ought to
have been yielded, it would have been ineffectual, for
I sounded Sir E. Coote upon it, and found bim vehe-
ment against it. Mr. Francis would have opposed it
n system, and Mr. Wheler was then in his traces. Al
the English world was proud of the conquest, and
seemed to think it dishonourable to part with it, and
imposing terms were used to justify the usurpation.
It covered Carnac’s expedition. It was the key of
Hindostan. It opened a e ication to Malwa ;
it was a pledge for the -Ranna’s fidelity, and (God
forgive them that have said it) it was an advantage
to hold out in treating with the Mahrattas. It has
proved the reverse; it has impeded the expedition.
We possess by it no more ground than the rocks on
which it stands, and of an influence not an inch.. It
has attracted the avidity and encouraged the expecta-
tions of the Mahrattas, and it has alienated the Ranna
from us. Besides these oppositions, it has deprived us
of the services of an entire regiment of sepoys, and of
one of the best officers in the service. To counteract
its bad tendency I did all I could do. I wrote to the
Ranna the most solemn promises, that I kept the
fortress but for his use, and that he should have it,
end | sent him an extract from our proffered treaty
with the Mahrattas, in which we stipulated that it
should be reserved to him, because our faith was pledged
to it; but he was not satisfied. He murmured, com-
plained, intrigued, counteracted us(at least he is charged
with it), and was upon the point of abandoning us and
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leaguing with Scindia against us. In all this time
there was a general outcry against him that he was
disaffected to us, and even Palmer has at length joined
in this reproach. And what title had we to his attach-
ment? We have conquered for ourselves. We treat
him with contempt. We withhold from him the rights
which we ourselves had given him, and yet resent every
symptom which he betrays, or which we choose to impute
to him, of indisposition towards us. I never looked for
so disinterested a character in the chief of any state or
people, nor would it have excited my indignation so
much as my compunction bad he declared himself
openly our enemy.

Besides, I had other fears; fear for its influence on
the general credit of our faith; and to obviate such an
effect I have taken especial care to make it known,
wherever I thought it necessary to be known, that it was
our firm determination to deliver Guallior to the
Ranna. It was critically necessary to guard against
this consequence when we were upon the eve of a nego-
tiation with the government of Berar, which in its effect
might prove the foundation of a mew political system,
and decide the future fortune of the British interests
in India. 1 had the satisfaction to find Mr. Wheler
most cordially of my opinion, and we agreed to give up
the point in the handsomest manner by a positive and
unconditional order to Major Popham to deliver over
the fortress of Guallior to wh the Ranna should
appoint to receive it, at the same time that we signed
the agreement with Rajaram Pundit, to whom I took
care to make it immediately known. 1 believe he was
in the council-room at the time. Major Popham was
ordered instantly to proceed to the service assigned him
in Gurra Mundelah. This was sufficient for Rajaram
Pundit. 1 left him (o make his own comment on the
first part of the order. I wait to see what effect it has
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produced on the Ranna. If good, so much the better;
if bad, I will at some period or other, not very distant,
make him repent it, and exact ample vengeance from
him. He is not an object of a nicer management. As
to the rest, I have ever manifested so steady an attach-
ment to my engagements, that T am sure this instance
of it will do my influence no hurt, and as far as my own
personal credit is concerned, I rely on its giving the
greatest weight to all my negociations. I heartily
wish that the law would declare it felony to break
kreaties. Nothing would contribute more to the per-
y of our influent

Carnatic.—] omitted under this head to speak of
Sir Eyre Coote’s progress against Hyder. It may be
reduced to a very narrow compass. His return from
Wandewash on the advice of the French squadron
was unfortunate in its consequences, if not ill judged.
1t was too precipitate, and surely unnecessary, had the
worst happeuned that could have been expected from
such an armament. It retrieved Hyder's credit, and
he has made the most of it in his circulatory commu-
nications. It enabled him to pass the station which
our army had gained, and to carry his ravages into
Tanjore, for it was impossible to recover the ground
and advantage of time which we abandonmed. At
Cuddaloor the General drew out his army in view of
Hyder’s, which he calls offering battle ; but there he
has stuck ever since, incumbered with an unmanageable
load of artillery, not less (as I learn, for he has not
told us, nor sent us any returns) than sixty pieces;
unable to move for want of bullocks and provisions.
What he will do when Pearse joins him, I know not;
but it appears to me that, from his mode of conducting
the war, which may yet be right, for I profess myself
not sufficiently informed to judge of it, every accession
of strength will be an addition to his difficulties, and
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rivet him the more strongly to the spot where he must
remain to get provisions. He has written a letter of
great ill humour to the Board, which I will send you.
1t does not require or merit a comment.

Myr. Holland.—Some time ago he solicited our per-
mission to resign his station on the account of his ill
health. We gave it, and made him a present of
10,000 rupees for his services. We had before inter-
ceded with the President and Council of Fort 8t.
George to revoke his suspension. This they did pre-
viously to the receipt of our letter, which was doubly
honourable for Mr. Holland. Mr. Holland
appearances of a duposmon in the Nizam to renew
his alliance with us, and to join us against Hyder, has
expressed a desire o stay, and to be the instrument of
concluding it. He will stay of course. Dewangur
Pundit advises me to gain this Nabob to be a party
with us, which will make his master's part so much
easier. How this design may terminate I cannot yet
foresee or conjecture, because it is the growing policy
of Nizam Ally to excite others to fight his battles,
and himself to look on and take the advantage of their
losses. But it is at least probable, almost to a degree
of certainty, that he will not take a part against us.
His Buzxey, and secret adversary, Fazil Beg, is dead,
as Mr. Holland relates, although Moodajee’s letters
of a very late date speak of him as living. Fazil Beg
is nearly cted with Moodajee, who is (or was)
a kind of protector to him ngauut the designs of
Nizam Ally, and will consider his death as a loss.

Lucknow.—-This bead will eomprehend many. It -
is my intention to visit Lucknow. I may set out
about the beginning of August, and shall travel partly
by water and partly by land with the laid bearers. I
dread the thoughts of it, for I see infinite need of
reformation in that quarter, and am afraid I shall want
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both time, materials, and a vigorous hand to support
what I may have accomplished. Something too will
be required at Benares, and something more than I
shall dare to attempt; for if it were left to my option,
I would restore that zemindarry to the Nabob of Oude.
Either that ought to be dome, or the Rajah reduced to
the condition of a zemindar.

But my principal and ruling motive for this ex-
pedition is to determine Dewangur Pundit to a meeting
with me. He has been writing about it these two
years, and his letter expresses a more earnest desire
for it than he has ever intimated before, but he is sick,
he says, and must wait the return of bealth. Calcutta
is at a most discouraging distance, and while he only
intends the visit, and the time of performing it is not
prescribed by some point of necessity, it may be pro-
crastinated till the occasion which requires it is past.
Benares is near, and its sanctity has inducements to a
Hindoo, and yet greater to the superstition of age and
infirmity. If I give him the opportunity of seeing me
there, and appoint the time, he must come, or for ever
relinquish all thoughts of an interview, which I am
sure he wishes. Nothing can be stronger than an
expression to this point in his last letter. I have
great designs,” says he, « to propose to you when we
meet. What they are I will not relate, because what
you shall hear and see, or, in other words, what you
will receive on the evidence of your own senses, will
render every promise that I can now make super-
fluous.” These are not his words, but their sense in
my recollection of them.

1 shall go with a very light retinue, and intend to
return within three months. As I can subsist with
few conveniences and with little state, I shall not find
this a matter of much difficulty.

Mr. Wheler—My conduct towards Mr. Wheler may
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be termed by some political, by others liberal, and by
many too attentive. I have made it a rule to give
him the first option in most vacant appointments, and
have provided handsomely for all his friends. I treat
him with an unreserved confidence, and he in return
yields me as steady a support as I could wish. I like
his manners and temper, and have only to complain of
bis attachment to people whom he ought to shun. the
lees of Mr. Francis. Such are Mr. Bristow, Mr. Shee,
Mr, Ducarell, and Mr. Livius, and to these he has
added others, to whom bhe has allowed a consequence
which they do not deserve, by the practice of a strange
policy of bearing whatever any man bas to say, and

ially against public es. This he supposes
will afford him the meaus of obvmtmg all ob;ectlom,
and he compares it to having spies in an enmemy’s
camp. But the fact is, that these spies, instead of
giving him an insight into the desigus of his enemies,
give him false intelligence, and practise upon the
pliancy of his disposition. Besides that, they acquire
the habits of confid and thereby gain bis pro-
tection, which encourages them to intrigue against me
with the assurance of impunity. About two months
ago, Mesers. Livius, Murray and Ducarell took it
into their heads to reform the state on the suggestion
of Mr. Livius, who called it an mpromptu,—a block-
head. They endeavoured to convince Mr. Wheler
that I was engaged in a policy which would lead to
certain ruin, and that nothing could prevent it but the
recall of Carnac and Pearse, and the offer of peace
to the Mabrattas on any terms which they should pre-
ecribe. From him they proceeded to Sir E. Impey
with the same propositions, and with his eonsent to
state them as points which he was not disinclined to
consider. Sir Elijah brought them to me, but without
mentioning by whom they had been suggested. In
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the mean time they had been tampering with Mr.
Dacres, Colonel Morgan, and Colonel Watson, and
had proposed meetings with them and others, on the
hint of the associations of your western wor]ld. Colonel
Watson, who mortally hates Murray, informed me of
their design, and I told it to Mr. Wheler and Sir
Elijah. Mr. Wheler received it strangely, as if he
had been charged with having joined in the plot, and
therefore refused to credit it. Sir Elijah was alarmed,
and thought I ought to punish the intriguers. But
{having well reflected on the q and g
that it would be impossible to take a public notice of
the affair without an irreparable offence to Mr. Wheler,
and exposing both his name and Sir Elijah’s to many
disagreeable suggestions, which would arise out of a
formal inquiry, and the depositions of persons not well
affected to Sir Elijah, nor perhaps to either,—and as I
knew that no danger could possibly ensue from such
plots, or such plotters, I suffered my resentment to
subside, and yield to the policy of forbearance. To
Livius I make large allowances for his folly and
vanity, which I believe prompted him more than malice.
Murray has no excuse. Ducarell has made the best
for himself that the case will admit, and has protested
to me that he suggested no danger but what he really
apprehended, and thought Sir Elijah and Mr. Wheler

the most ptionable ch ls for conveying his
sentiments to me, because they were nearer to me than
any in confid and attachment. This is partly true

and partly false, for he has access to me himself and
needed not the agency of another to convey to me his
opinions. Having consented to pass over his beha-
viour, I have been under the necessity of making a
liberal provision for him as an indemnification for the
loss of his late office of superintendent of the Calsa
records, which had been abolished by the institution of
YOL. 1L 2¢c
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the C ittee of Revenue. This I did to gratify
Mr. Wheler, who had it much at heart, and has ex-
pressed himself much indebted to me for it. Asto
Murray, I cannot eo easily forgive him. Mr. Wheler,
though averse to the removal of Shee and Bristow,
has endeavoured to induce both to remove themselves.
Bristow has peremptorily refused it, and Mr. Wheler
has agreed fo join me in recalling him, which shall be
done immediately. His continuance at Lucknow
against my will, at & time when 1 have so much occa-
sion for all the influence of my station, would defeat
all my purposes. As to Shee, an indiscreet promise
of Middleton’s to Mr. Wheler, and some other causes
not worth detailing, bave afforded Mr. Wheler & just
cause to object to his immediate recall, and I have
admitted if. He must, however, be removed, not from
my objection to the man, but to the office. 1t is dis-
honourable to our Government, which has no right to
exercise a control in that quarter, nor to abet the
Nabob in his usurpation.

I believe you already know that Markham has
Fowke's place at Benares.

From the length of the preceding narrative, you will
be induced to attribute to me a more passionate in-
terest in the facts related in it than I really feel, or
ought to feel. They have mever occupied much of
my thoughts, nor were they worth the time which I
have bestowed in writing them. But they are written,
and shall therefore stand.

I will add a few words more concerning my present
colleague, and with them conclude my letter. He has
received an intimation from England, that it would be
an acceptable service to administration if he yielded
his support to me. He has returned an answer by the
same channel, that, from the time that he thought
himself at liberty to give me his support, he had given
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it, and was cordially disposed to continue it. He has
assured me that such is his firm determination. I
believe it implicitly, and I believe too that his incli-
nation has some share in his present attachment, on
whatever policy it may be founded. For this reason
1 shall make it a request to my friends that they will

pport him against any attempts that may be made
to supersede him. I cannot desire an easier associate,
or a man whose temper is better suited to my own;
g:ld I am certain that he will never find himself so

uch at his ease, or so creditably situated under any
change of interest, nor even of station.

The attention which I have shown to Mr. Wheler
1 consider as a political duty, independently of what I
may voluntarily sacrifice to the love of ease and (may
I say s0 much of myself?) to a natural benevolence of
temper, which even impels me to sentiments of kind-
ness towards those with whom 1 daily converse, and am
placed in a situation to improveit. Itis true that I
eould, if I chose it, assume all the powers of the
gover t, aud exclude him from any share in it;
but what should I gain by it? He would be my enemy
and opponent. Business would be clogged with for-
malities, and obstructed by frequent Councils and
minutes of controversy. I should be obliged to guard
every measure with ostensible pleas, and labour through
a tedious detail at the Council Board to get at it,
instead of producing it by a private and summary
process, and bringing little more than simple resolu-
tions on our public proceedings. He would have his
partisans, who would be bold under his banner. Every
discontented man, and many there must be, would
flock to him with contributions of abuse, and perhaps
of just censure. Every person, whether of public or
private character, whose interests were affected by my
acts, would make his appeal to him,and expect, though

2¢2
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not & redress from his present power, some immediate
support in an opposition to me, and & complete repara-
tion from his representations to England, or from an
accession of influence here on the arrival of the first
new member of the Council appointed to fill one of
the vacancies in it. This instability and uncertainty
would particularly affect our political concerns, for
every state has a vakeel or spy in Caleutta, and these
know everything that passes, except the secrets which
are confined to our own breasts. Every zemindar of
our owu provinces would assume an independence, as
the Rannys of Radshahee and Burdwan have long
done, women, and even old women, as they are. Our
public enemies would acquire a confidence, and the
support of popular opinion, and our public friends
would be fearful of binding themselves by a decided
connexion with a doubtful interest. These and many
more would be the consequences of my assuming the
whole power of government by violence, and yet I
know there are many who are astonished that I bave
not. I have done better. I have carried every essen-
tial point, with the concurrence of Mr. Wheler, which
I could have effected without it. His judgment has
literally accompanied mine in every measure, and in
many it has added improvements to them, and eome it
has suggested. His union with me has added great
strength to the government, and enabled it to produce
its resources; and the conclusion universally drawn
from it is, that my authontyluu acquired support from
home, and that what is done under it will be consisteni
and permanent. Iam easy, and my colleague satis-
fied, and the public will reap the fruits of the good
understanding which subsists between us.

Reflections on the late Alterations.—Read what we
have written in the revenue letters concerning innova-
tions in general. That in the system of the collections
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is none but the execution of my own plan projected
and recorded in the year 1778. The other reforma-
tions, as well as this, are all founded on principles
which I have invariably recommended both at this pre-
sidency and while I was there at Madras, and which I
once took the liberty to recommend in a long letter to
Lord North, which you have read, for the ground of
every establishment in the service. These are, to bind
men to the faithful discharge of their duty by the ties
of honour and acknowledgment ; to abolish fixed sala-
ries, which are the scanty pay for dead and unprofit-
able labour, and to eradicate every temptation and
pretext for perquisites, embezzlements, and corruption;
to draw the emoluments of office out of the labours of
it, and proportion them to the success attending it;
and to unite the interest of individuals with that of the
public. On these grounds I have substituted commis-
sions on net receipts, which are equally a recompense
for money gained, and for expenses saved, and fees, in
the place of monthly fixed allowances. These emolu-
ments are liberal, and will frighten those who judge of
them by custom, and by the comparison of them with
ostensible salaries. But they are far short of former
profits; and those who enjoy them are satisfied, and
happier in the creditable possession of the allowed
means of acquiring a reasonable provision for their
future independence, than in the accumulation of lacs
by indirect practices, accompanied with the perpetual
fear of detection and shame.

Another point T have laboured to accomplish, which
is, to divide the weight of business, to lessen the fatigues
and occupations of the superior government by trans-
ferring the detail, which it could not manage, to other
hands, and reserving to it the control which is its
proper duty, and such others as require, by their mag-
nitude or urgency, its special and unparticipated atten-
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tion. We had so much to do before, that we did
nothing well. “Those to whom we have delegated the
portions of our former concerns are certainly more
capable of managing them, with their whole time de-
voted to them, than we in & few hours hastily bestowed
to each in the course of a week or month.

Simplicity is another principle which I have endea-
voured to introduce into all our business, and I flatter
myself that it is the distinguishing character of every
plan and composition of mine of whatever kind. Even
the intricacies of salt accounts have been unravelled,
and that branch of the revenue rendered as intelligible
a8 the sales of broad cloth and copper.

I am compelled fo say more in my own praise than
modesty would warrant, were it not necessary even to
the success of my acts, and that the public might
derive from them the benefits which I have devised,
that the principles on which they are framed should be
known, for I am not sure that they are obviously per-
ceptible, though I am not certain that, when shown,
they will be acknowledged. I now conclude. I bave
written a long letter, but I have omitted many things
which might have been added. It bas been written
in different periods of time to the present date, which
is the 15th of May; I am afraid you will meet with
apparent inconsistencies ia it, though not real contra-
dictions. If I can get all the papers finished which
should accompany it, these will afford you s more
authentic information, and will be necessary to explain
parts of this letter. I desire you will show it to my
confidential friends, and be yourself its commentator,
for it will want one. Mr. Sulivan will eopy it for his
father. Adieu, my dear Scott. 1 am ever affec-
tionately and most truly yours.

There are but few matters referred to in this
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masterly paper which seem to me to stand in need °
of elucidation, and on these few the ct;rrespondence
still to be inserted will touch. I may, indeed,
observe in passing, that the remarks headed
“ Military Regulations” refer inainly to certain
changes which were at this time introduced into
the constitution of the Indian army, by which the
establishment of each battalion was fixed at a thou-
{sand men, and two battalions allotted to each
regiment. Of these the command was given to
majors, a new regimental rank in the Company’s
service, where battalions used to be commanded by
captains, and promotion beyond that step conferred
by brevet; while from the commanding officers all
perquisites arising from the payment of the troops
were taken away. In like manner it may be
necessary to remind the reader that, under the
head “ Mr. Holland,” the writer takes notice of
his own untiring efforts to return to terms of
amity with the Nizam, his anxiety to accomplish
which, as well as his determination to arrest the
gross blundering of those at the head of the Madras
government, had induced him to deal rigidly, per-
baps sternly, first with Mr. Whitehill and after-
wards with Sir Thomas Rombold. But these are
subjects into which it is not necessary to go at
length. Mr. Hastings felt that he was struggling
for the very existence of the Company’s power in
India. He knew that vigorous measures alone
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could save it; and he did not allow the thought of
personal responsibility or personal danger to ope-
rate for one moment as a restraint on their exe-
cution.

As a specimen of his firmness and decision, in
the conduct not less than in the formation of an
important plan, take the following answers to cer-
tain queries which Colonel Pearse sent to him.
Colonel Pearse had already received his commis-
sion, and was not therefore ignorant of the object
which he was expected to accomplish ; but various
minor difficulties presented themselves to his mind
after the expedition had set out, and he applied for
further counsel. This was not withheld, though
the language in which it is conveyed is somewhat
peculiar.

You will perceive, from the accompanying papers,
that I have but one object, and that I earnestly recom-
mend it to your attention, namely, to prosecute your
march with all possible expedition, till have fairly
entered the Carnatic, not suffering y%u view to be
withdrawn from it, nor your progress checked or di-
verted by any consideration whatever.

From that point I can give you no instructions or
advice, but rather wish you may be left wholly to your
own judgment, excepting the continuation of the same
general design of your expedition, which is to effect a
junction of your detachment with the army which is
under the immediate command of Sir Eyre Coote. This
you may not be able to accomplish without an engage-
ment with Hyder's whole force, for it appears morally



MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTiNGS. 393
impossible for#he General to meet you, or to reinforce
you, except by detachments of Europeans sent along
‘the coast by sea. May that event happen! I most
anxiously wish it, from a conviction that it will be more
likely to terminate in our success than by the union of
the dispirited sepoys of that establishment with yours.

Enclosed are two of the march routes which I pro-
mised you. IfI can find the other, which is that from
Cuttac to Ganjam, I will forward it in time. I will
desire the acting chief of Massulipatam to furnish you

dywith another for the road from thence to Fort St.

George.
servant.

I am, sir, your most obedient humble

Points submitted to the consideration of the Honour-
able the Governor-general relative to the march of the

Detachment.

QUESTIONS.
1. By what route, there being
two, one by Jawnpore and the
other by Jellasore.

2. The Mahrattas being in
the country, will, if they are
friends, supply us with provi-
sions and necessaries, and dis-
pose of their army out of our
route; but supposing they dis-
semble, possibly they may not
choose to engage, and in that

case they will get away from

our route until we are passed,
and then get between us and
the borders of the provinces,
and possibly attempt to harass
our rear or flanks.

If we should want provisions
and they refuse us, it will be

Answegs, 29th January, 1781,
1. That of Jellasore is at this
time preferable, as being ata
greater distance from the Mah-
ratta detachment, and in. the
way of supplies from Balasore,
2. If you have no other means
of supplying yourself with pro-
visions but force, you must use
force ; which, however,I much .
doubt will never be found very
effectual. Anattention to your
bazaar, that no one commits
extortions on the vendors of
provisions, or interrupts them
on their way, for whatever
purpose, seems to promise the
surest effect of obtaining a
plentiful and regular supply.

. Mr. Wordsworth, at Ballasore,

has orders to prepare a store
againat your approach onrequi-
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sition from you; and similar
lications have been made,

and pay for it; t fore in-
structions on this head will be
necessary, because taking it by
force and paying for it may
bring on a quarrel and end in
war.

3. If the Mahrattas do get
between us and our borders as
800R a8 we pass, are we to take
any notice of it, or march on?

4. If the Mahrattas should
oppose our march, shall we
force our way, and to that effect
attack them after having tried
fair means and negociations ?

5. If we should be forced to
come 1o action with them, shall
we, after having opened our
paseage, proceed on our march,
or attack Cuttac?

6. If we take Cuttac, it will
be necessary to leave troops in
it, but they must be supplied
from the provinces; therefore
provizion must be made for that
and for recruiting our Josses.

7. Shall we, sapposing we
are forced to come to extremi-
ties after taking Cuttac, march
on our destination, or change it

both public and private, to the
chiefs of Ganjam, Vizagapatam,
and Massulipatam, who, if you
want, may send supplies to
meet you. You are not likely
to meet an enemy before you
pass the Kristna,
3. March on.

4. Force your way. Give
them due warning, and avoid
being the aggreseor ; butdo not
stop to negociate.

Your prescribed object is to
reach the Carnatic as expedi-
tiously as possible. Fix your
attention on this point, nor
suffer any cause, of whatever
pature, to divert it. If other
instructions shall eventually be-
come necessary upon this ques-
tion, in consequence of Mr.
Anderson’s deputation, these
may be given hereafter.

5. No; march on.

8. Answered above.

7. No; march on.
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towards Berar or some other
place, and what other place ?

8. Supposing all peace and
friendship with the Mahrattas,
are we to take any of them with
us, and how many, and are they
to be under their own officers
or ours? but at any rate they
must be as much under my
command as the rest of the
army. If they go with us, how
1re they to be paid?

9. Supposing the detach-
ment fairly passed through
Cuttac and drawn near the
Nizam’s country; if he be at
peace with us and offer to send
a body of forces with us, are
we to take them ?

10. If he benot a friend, are
we to enter his country, or
march on?

11, Supposing him 2 friend,
and that he should offer to enter
Hyder’s country by the Hydra-
bad route and call for our as-
sistance, shall we change our
route or proceed straight on to
Madras ?

12. When is the detachment
to be under the orders of the
Madras President and Council,
if ever?

13. If the matters before
mentioned are subject to occa-
sional orders; from whom am I
to receive them?

14. If by any fortunate event
Hyder Ally or his sons should
fall into the hands of the de-
tachment, shall he be sent to
Bengal or Madras, or rather,
shall he be idered as the
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8. On thishead you will hav
instructions whenever the case
shall require it.

9. Yes; exercising your own
discretion and using such pre-
cautions as, from circum-
stances, appear necessary.

10. March on.

11. March on.

12. Never. Youare to obey
1o order but that of the Com-
mander-in-chief.

18. From the Commander-
in-chief.

14. I donot choose to sup-
pose 8 case 80 unlikely in the
present state of affairs to hap-
pen. In all cases the powers
?vhich you derive from your

instr and the authority
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prisoner of the Governor-gene-
ral and Council, or of the Ma-
dras President and Council, or
of the Nawaub?

15. When the detachment
shall join General Coote, are
the Bengal troops now there to
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of the Commander-in-chief,
will be competent to dictate to
you what you may do with the
exercise of your own judgment,
and to give validity to all your
acts,

15. Your detachment will re-
main in all cases & separate
corps with respect to its lmme-
diate d, its

b part of my detach
or remain separate ?

16. If we should joio Gene-
ral Goddard, are we to mix
entirely with his Bengal de-
tachment and cease to be s

body, or to inue as
a distinet detachment, eerving
with him and under his com-
mand?

17. The same question as to
Major Carnac’s detachment, if
it should join mine.

18, In case of junction with
either or both of these detach-
ments, is the Deputy Commis-
sary. ] of my detach
by virtue of his office, to audit
the bills of the others, suppos-
ing they remain as distinct de-
tachments under their present
commanding officer?

19. Parker is & colopel by
brevet, but he is a junior Jien-
tenant-colonel ; in case of junc-
tion, how is our rank to be
settled?

20. It will be to

detail, and pay. Therest must
depend on the will of the Com-
mander-in-chief,

16. This is answered above.

17. Answered above.

18. Answered above.

19. Your rank is settled be-
yond a possibility ef a dispute.

20, You have such a power;

give me aperwntodmwmmy but I hope you wiil have no
for the detach to use it, a8 we have
by any accident mt it; and desired the chiefs of Massuli-
for this particular instructions patam and Vizagapatam tokeep
will be requisite. what money they may have
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21 If I join Goddard and
become a simple part of the
Bengal detachment, are my al-
lowances to cease?

22. I think Colunel Owen
z:ay join us; if so, it will be

ecessary to guard against the
discontent that will prevail,

23. We may have occasion to
carry a store of provisions with
us, in which case we shall be
obliged to bire & number of
additional cattle. I beg to
mention it, that if such a con-
tingency should occur, it may
not be supposed inexpedient.
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sccumulated from their reve-
nues for the service of your
detachment, and to the Presi-
dent aud Select Committee of
Fort St. George to order pay-
ment of it acrordingly.

21. Your allowances will re-
main the same, with your
command.

22, To this I cannot reply at
present. ’

23. You have the power of
authorizing whatever contin-
gencies you shall find necessary
for the service.

W.H.
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CHAPTER IX.

State of Affairs at Benares—Journey of Mr. Hastings thither— Rebellion—
Its result.
Ir it be true that the characters of men are as fully
displayed in the mapagement of aflairs compara-~
tively trifling as in their mode of conducting the
gravest matters, we need no further evidence than
this paper affords of the firmness which belonged
to Mr. Hastings. He has taken hisline and resolves
to keep it, let happen what may, whether the
obstacles opposed to him arise out of the hostility
of open enemies, or the treachery of professed
friends, or the mutual jealousies of his own
officers. But there was another point then at issue,
which made, far more than the march of Colonel
Pearse’s detachment, demands upon his temper and
his courage. Cheyt Sing, so far from yielding with
a good grace to a necessity which was apparent,
became from day to day more refractory. He was
constantly in arrear with his payments, and so
continued, on one occasion, till the march of a body
of troops threatened to enforee them. The cir-
cumstance, bowever, which filled up the measure
of his delinquencies in the eyes of the Governor-
general was the refusal, on the plea of inability,
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to furnish for the public service two thousand
horse. He offered, indeed, to raise five hundred,
and proposed to strengthen them by the addition of
as many matchlockmen ; but two thousand cavalry
far exceeded his means, and he positively refused
to supply them. Now, if the Rajah of Benares had
been in poverty, and affected neither magnificence
in his domestic arrangements, nor pomp and state
{n the conduct of his public affairs, these excuses
might have been accepted ; but Mr. Hastings was
perfectly well informed of the reverse of all this.
I find, for example, in the voluminous correspon-
dence that lies before me, letters from various
officers, all of which unite in representing Cheyt
Sing as at this partieular juncture both wealthy
and disaffected. “It is impossible for me,” says
one of these, bearing date 25th of June, 1780, “ to
start any new idea to you on this subject (the Mah-
ratta war). The only difficulty we can possibly
feel in the prosecution of the war will be from a
want of money, and this difficulty may, I think, be
easily obviated by your insisting upon Cheyt Sing’s
contributing his quota to the expenses of our
advanced army, in lieu of being ordered to join it
at the head of his own forces. Were he a zemin-
dar, dependant on any other government than our
own, this would be insisted upon; and as his ability.
to advance a large sum seems to be universally
acknowledged, why should he alone be exempted
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from the expenses, as well as the devastations of
war?’ Another, dated 18th October, of the same
year, is still more explicit :~—

« Cheyt Sing,” says the writer, “ very ill repays you
for the state of independence and affluence which he
has enjoyed from the time he became a tributary to the
Company. All his measures tend to impress the
natives of this province with an idea of our injustice and
rapacity. You know how strongly he objected to the
payment of the five lacs last year. He then made it
a plea for raising his rents, by which he has carried &
much larger sum, if I am rightly informed, into his own
coffers. This year he has played the same farce over
again, has offered his jewels to pawn, and says that he
is curtailing his expenses and straining every nerve to
comply with our demands ; and it is only two days ago
that he most solemnly declared to me his absolute in-
ability to make the payment in future, and begged me
to intercede for a remission of it to you when 1 went to
Calcutta ; and by the way of impressing me with an
idea that every thing which he had urged was true, he
begged me to accept of a present of two thousand rupees
for my little girl, which he has not sent, because he
wants that sum to complete his payment of five lacs
to the Company. But the mischief is more important.
These are little arts which are casily detected and seen
through. The shock which public credit has received,
and the failure of almost all the capital bankers at
Benares, is attributed, and I think very justly, to his
withdrawing all the money which he had in their hands
from them, and lodging it in his fort. 1 have taken all
the pains in my power to procure information as to the
quantity of specie he is possessed of, and no person
rates it at less than a erore and a half, most people at
two crores, of rupees.”
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From these extracts, and I might greatly add to
their number, the reader will be able to judge how
far the Rajah’s plea of poverty was admissible.
With respect, again, to his lack of horsemen, it
was proved, on the occasion of Mr. Hastings’s
visit to Benares, that his body-guard alone, the
mounted men whom he kept about his person for
purposes of mere show, exceeded by several
hundreds the total amount of the force which he
had been requested to employ against the common
enemy. And to sum up all, his disaffection to the
British government, his intrigues to produce dis-
affection elsewhere, his preparations for actual war
by secret enrolment of troops, and his threats of
resistance should a force be sent against him;
these were matters peither hidden from the
Governor-general nor overlooked by those on
whom he depended for accurate intelligence.
Can we be surprised if, under such circumstances,
Mr. Hastings should have entertained strong
feelings of indignation towards the Rajah? Was
there any just reason why he should not visit .
offences so grave and so wanton with punishment ?

I am not going to argue here the question of
moral fitness, as that was assumed at the period of
Mr. Hastings’s trial to be affected by the terms of
existing treaties. Enough has been said elsewhere
to show that, whatever might have been the Nabob
Vizier’s claims upon the Rajah of Benares, these

VOL. IL 2D



402 MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS,

were in 1775 transferred to the East India Com-
pany ; and that they included the right of sove-
reignty, in its fullest and best understood sense,
nobody, while the arrangements with the Vizier
were going forward, entertained the shadow of a
doubt. It is true that, in consideration of certain
services rendered to the Company when they were
at war with the Nabob Shujah Dowla, the Com-
pany had taken Bulwant Sing, the father of Cheyt
Sing, in some degree under their protection, by
stipulating that he should thenceforth pay a certain
amount of rent for his zemindarry, and that the
Nabob should engage mnot to increase it. It is
equally true that Cheyt Sing, when handed over
by Shujah Dowla’s son to the English, came under
the sovereignty of the East India Company, sub-
ject to the same amount of yearly rent, and no
more. But neither the one nor the other of the
parties assenting to this agreement ever gave up
the right which is inherent in all sovereigns—of
asking for additional aids from their vassals as often
as the necessities of the state may require them.
Accordingly, Shujah Dowla, when hard pressed by
the Company for the payment of a debt in 1766,
called upon his dependent zemindars to assist him,
to which call Bulwant Sing, among others, re-
sponded, by contributing as his quota three lacs of
rupees.

Here then was a precedent for the demand
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made in 1778 by Mr. Hastings, as well as an
explicit admission on the part of the Rajah that
he was not exempt from the common liabilities of
all zemindars ; for the point was established by it,
that the Company’s guarantee neither affected, nor
was ever intended to affect, the mutual relations
of sovereign and vassal. Therefore, as Bulwant
Sing, supposing him to have refused to make the
ladvance after a clear case of necessity was made
out, would have exposed himself, in 1766, to be
treated by the Nabob as a rebel and a traitor; so
the refusal of his son, in 1778, to comply with
the Governor-general’s demands, at a moment
when the Company’s affairs were in a very critical
state, amounted to an offence, the proper punish-
ment of which would have been not less than con-
fiscation.  Did Mr. Hastings proceed with the
haste of an Oriental sovereign to inflict that
punishment and to supersede the Rajah ? He did
nothing of the sort. He was too wise, as well as
too humane, wantonly to engage in an enterprise
which he could not hope to carry through without
some loss of life and much confusion. But he de-
termined to teach the Rajah a lesson of greater
prudence in time to come, by muleting him of a
portion of the treasures which he bad accumulated,
and of which he clearly did not know how to make
a proper use,

The amount of the fine which Mr. Hastings

202
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resolved to impose upon his refractory vassal was
fifty lacs of rupees; a considerable sum, doubt-
Jess, but not exceeding one year's rental of Cheyt
Sing’s zemindarry. He was desirous, likewise, of
levying it with as little stir as possible; and
having further in view a plan for the better ad-
ministration of the affairs of the district, he found
himself considerably impeded by the absence of
a fit instrument wherewith to work. For Mr.
Francis Fowke, the resident at Benares, was not
the man of his choice; he bad been forced upon
him by circumstances which I have elsewhere de-
tailed, he had never given to him any share of bis
confidence, and he was now informed that over
the Rajah himself Mr. Fowke exercised no in-
flueuce whatever. Under these circumstances,
Mr. Hastings judged it expedient to remove Mr.
Fowke; and he made an effort to accomplish that
end by a private arrangement, which failed. He
could not, however, permit considerations of indi-
vidual feeling to impede the progress of public
business. He therefore recalled Mr. Fowke,
found for bim employment in another line, and
sent Mr. Markham, son of the Archbishop of
York, a young man of talent and greatly devoted
to himself, to supply his place.

This preliminary step being taken, Mr. Hastings
proceeded to communicate to his Council the out-
lines of a scheme which he had for some time been
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meditating. The affairs of Oude were, as might
have been expected, in great confusion. 'The
Nabob, cruelly wronged at the beginning of his
reign, had never been able to lift his head above the
waters, but sank year by year more deeply into
difficulties, from which by any ordinary means
escape was now impracticable. Far be it from me to
justify the man on the score of prudence or judi-
cious management; a more foolish person never
occupied a throne: while his private vices are re-
ported to have been as detestable as his weakness
was conspicuous throughout. But, had he been
the reverse of what he was, it may be questioned
whether, pauperized and. imposed upon at the
outset, it would have been possible for him to
maintain order in his own provinces, and at the
same time liquidate the debt which he owed to the
Company. Moreover, his English allies, whether
as a government or as individuals, showed him no
merey. The government, as has been stated, im-
posed upon him terms far more stringent than
those to which his father had been subjected;
while ite servants robbed him without scruple, by
loans advanced at an exorbitant interest, and
pensions and jaghires wrung from him in return.
The consequence was, that, long before the period
at which our narrative has arrived, he had become
utterly useless to Bengal as an ally ; for his pay-
ments were all in arrear, and the state of his
country was such that nothing save the presence
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of a British force among them kept his subjects
from rebelling.

It had been a subject of anxious thought to Mr.
Hastings for some time how the state of Oude
ought to be dealt with. He was not, indeed, in
any doubt as to the real causes of the existing
evils, but there were serious obstacles to the
removal of the greatest of these, which very much
hampered him in his deliberations. But Mr.
Hastings was not the sort of man to be diverted
from any important enterprise by obstacles, how-
ever serious. “ If I cannot accomplish all that I
wish, I will at least do what I can,” was a rule
which he had established for himself in every condi-
tion of life; and on that rule he determined to act in
reference to the point before bim. Accordingly, he
submitted to the Supreme Council, consisting at
this time only of Mr. Wheler and himself, a pro-
position that he should be permitted to visit the
Nabob Vizier in his eapital, and arrange with him
on the spot some better plan of proceeding, as well
in the management of his domestic concerns as in
his dealings with the Company. Moreover, 8s
Mr. Hastings’s designs extended to a sweeping
revocation of all the grants which, whether by
Englishmen or by natives, had by improper
methods been obtained, he felt that it would be
necessary to begin by establishing near the Nabob’s
person an agent or minister on whom he could rely.
Now such an agent he had not in Mr. Bristow,
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who, like Mr. Fowke, had always been opposed to
the Governor-general’s policy, and held his ap-
pointment, by a direct order from the Court of
Directors, in defiance of the Governor'’s will. Mr.
Bristow, therefore, must in the first instanee be
removed, and he was removed. And then, having
trustworthy agents both at Benares and Lucknow
—Mr. Markham at the former station, Mr. N.
Middleton in the latter—Mr. Hastings set about
the arrangement of his ultimate schemes, not only
without hesitation, but in the full assuranee of
suceess.

Mr. Hastings was too much of a politician not
to be aware that the issue of great movements
generally depends at least as much upon the secrecy
and skill with which arrangements are made
before hand as upon the decision wvhich may be
exhibited in the actual conduct of the game. He
was, therefore, very guarded in the language which
he held while yet in Calcutta, speaking only to
Mr. Wheler and the most confidential of his
friends of the fine which he meant to impose upon
the Rajah of Benares, and stating vaguely his
belief that in Oude some sweeping changes must of
necessity be effected. He did not, however, make
such preparations for his journey as could induce a
belief that he anticipated the smallest opposition.
His escort consisted of little more than the body
guard which generally attended him; and Mrs.
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Hastings, recently an invalid, but now so far a con-~
valescent that she was able to travel, bore him
company as far as Mongeer. There, bowever, she
halted ; and the event proved that it was well both
for herself and her husband that she had not been
tempted to proceed further.

The fact of the Governor's resentment had long
been known to Cheyt Sing ; and no sooner was he
informed of Mr. Hastings's departure from Cal-
cutta than he hastened, by professions of deep re-
gret for the past and promises of better behaviourin
the future, to avert the threatened storm. He
offered, moreover, to advance for the use of the
Bengal government a.sum of twenty lacs, and
otherwise conducted himself as a vassal might be
expected to do who is conscious of having incurred
the anger of his superior and dreads its effects.
But Mr. Hastings, resolving to take Benares on
his way, rejected the whole of these advances;
and even when met by Cheyt Sing, who came as
far as Buxar, at the head of six hundred
cavalry, to do him honour, he refused to hold with
him any familiar communication. 1In like manner
the Rajah’s proposed visit on the day of Mr.
Hastings’s arrival in the city was declined ; for
Mr. Hastings was determined first of all to make
him aware of the nature of the ground on which
he stood, and thea to treat him either leniently or
the reverse, according as he should exhibit a spirit
of meekness and submission, or its opposite.
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On the following day, the 15th of August, Mr,
Hastings transmitted to the Rajah a paper, in
which the various grounds of complaint against him
were set forth, and an explanation of his behaviour
and motives in each particular case was demanded.
The Rajah replied to this paper ; but his explana-
tions were so little satisfactory, that at ten o’clock
the same night Mr. Markham, the resident, re-

eived instructions to place him under arrest.
This he was directed to do at an early hour in the
morning of the 16th, when two companies of sepoys
would be present to support him, and put down
any disturbance, should such arise. But no oppo-
sition was offered to the resident’s proceedings;
the Rajah, on the contrary, sent a submissive mes-
sage to Mr. Hastings ; and Mr. Markham, who
afterwards paid him a visit at his own desire,
reported that all was peaceable and quiet.
Nevertheless, during the interval which elapsed
between the execution of the arrest and Mr. Mark-
bam’s second visit, large numbers of armed men
had crossed the river, who, passing by groups of
three or four within the gates of the palace, now
crowded all its courts and blocked up its avenues.
It is worthy of remark, moreover, that these were
not a mere rabble, hastily called together by ap-
prehensions for their chieftain’s safety ; they con-
stituted a portion of the extensive levy which for
some time previously the Rajah had been or-
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ganizing; and they came prepared to execute
any orders which they might receive from their
master. Accordingly, wrangling and disputation
soon arose between parties of these warriors and
the British sepoys, which led first to individual
contests and scufiles, and by and bye to a general
tumult, It is well known in what a tragical
result this tumult, as it has been called, resulted.
Through some unaccountable pegligence the two
companies of sepoys had come to their post without
ammunition ; and being unable to defend them-
selves against the attacks of superior numbers,
they were, after a stout resistance, cut to pieces.
The tumult in the palace soon became known
both to Mr. Hastings and the inhabitants of the city,
and the former directed two additional companies
to support and reinforce the detachment on duty,
while the latter ran in great crowds to intercept
these supplies and assist the rebels. Unfor-
tunately, the officer in command of the reinforce-
ment held the rabble to whom he was opposed
somewhat too cheap. He marched straight
towards his point, through narrow streets, com-
manded on either side by numerous windows, and
was with bis people utterly destroyed ere he could
penetrate to the precincts of the palace. Thus, in
the space of two hours, the entire force, on which
the Governor-general depended for protection,
suffered annihilation. Yet neither the Governor-
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general nor the gentlemen in attendance on him
lowered their tone of confidence for a moment,
though reduced to the number of less than fifty
persons. 'They barricaded the house in which
they were assembled, and prepared to sell their
lives, should an attack be hazarded, at as dear a
rate as possible. .
Had Cheyt Sing been gifted with ever so
{noderate a share of active courage, he would have
dared everything at that moment to get possession
of the person of the Governor-general. With
such a hostage in his power, he might have dic-
tated his own terms, if he lacked hardihood
enough to go further, by throwing himself at once
into the arms of the Mahrattas. Some blood
would bave doubtless been shed; for the forece
round the Governor-general, though small, was
composed of resolute men, all of whom were pre-
pared to die in his defence. Yet fifty persons,
however brave, could have offered no effectual re-
sistance to an army, more especially as their stock of
ammunition appears to have been limited, and they
were entirely destitute of cannon. Happily for
the interests of British Indis, however, Cheyt Sing
either did not perceive or was too much agitated to
avail himself of the opportunity. On the contrary,
be took edvantage of the affray to escape through
a postern gate : and letting himself down the steep
bank of the river, by means of a rope of turbans
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tied together, he hastened across to the opposite
side, whither the bulk of his retainers immediately
followed. The consequence was, that no attack
was made upon the position which the Governor-
general had taken up ; though the insurgents still
held together in overwhelming sumbers, and, occu-
pying all the outlets from the town, kept him in
a state of close blockade,

Desperate as such a situation might well appear,
the firmness of Mr. Hastings was in no degree
shaken by it He took no notice whatever of a letter
which the Rajah hastened to convey, and refused to
treat on any other terms than those of unconditional
submission. Yet be did not all the while eit with
folded arms, as if exertion on his part were either
uncalled for or impossible. Carefully guarding
against the excitement of umnecessary alarm, as
well in Calcutta as at Lucknow, he yet contrived
by means of hircarrahs, who passed through the
enemy’s lines, carryiug in their ears quills into
which letters were introduced, to open a commu-
nication with the officer in eommand at Chunar,
and to acquaint him with the dangers that
threatened. Moreover, he took care by the same
conveyance to set the mind of Mrs. Hastings at
ease in reference to his own personal safety. And
what is more remarkable still, as bearing testimony
to his rare strength of nerve, as well ax to the
command which be never ceased to exercise over
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all the faculties of his mind, he sent, through the
same channel, instructions to Colonel Muir, who
was at that time negociating a treaty of peace with
Mahdagee Scindia, the Mahratta chief. Such re-
solution, such perfect presence of mind, “eould
hardly fail of carrying the Governor-general
through all bis difficulties. Colonel Popham, with
a battalion of four hundred men, hastened to the
scene of action, and Colonel Morgan, the com-
mandant at Cawnpore, moved without orders on
the same point; while from Lucknow, and indeed
from every other station within reach, corps after
corps set out with all haste, to deliver the Governor
from the perils which menaced him. I need not
go on with the story. A premature and ill-
managed attempt to reduce Ramnagur, ere suf-
ficient force had come up, failed. The horizon
became in consequence more dark than ever. Mr.
Hastings escaped by night to the military post at
Chamnagur, and there set himself to arrange
what might thenceforth be described as the plan of
s campaign against a confirmed and still extending
rebellion. .

I do not think that I am required to give of the
transactions that followed any minute or detailed
account. Influenced by a principle which will be
best explained in the correspondence of which by
and bye I shall transeribe a portion, Mr. Hastings
resolved not to listen to any propositions which
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Cheyt Sing might make, but to push the war
against him to the extreme point of depriving him
of all further share in the management of the
country. Accordingly, the Rajali's army, consist-
ing of not less than forty thousand men, was de-
feated in two separate actions. His fortified
camps at Patuta and Suttufpoor were stormed,
and himself reduced to take refuge with a handful
of followers within the hill fort of Bidgegur.
Having seen bis enemy thus stripped of the
means of offering further resistance, Mr, Hastings
left Major Popham to conduct the siege, and re-
turned himself to Benares, for the purpose of
establishing there a new and permanent govern-
ment for the province of which it was the capital.
From Cheyt Sing all authority was of course
taken away. Having been publicly proclaimed a
rebel and a traitor, he was, with due formality,
deposed ; and a grandson of Bulwant Sing by one
of his daughters, a youth of eighteen or nineteen
years of age, became Rajah in his place. But the
management of so important a province being a
charge too weighty for the shoulders of so young a
man, Mr. Hastings gave the new Rajah and his
domestic concerns into the hands of his father, as
Naib; while Ibrahim Ali Cawn, a native of great
talent and integrity, was appointed to preserve
order in the city, as head of the police. Finally,
the rent of the zemindarry was raised from twenty-
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two to forty lacs per annum; the right of coinage
was taken away from its chief, and all doubt
thereby removed as to the sort of relation in which
he was thenceforth to stand towards the East India
Company.

Meanwhile Major Popham pressed the siege of
Bidgegur with great vigour. e was not, indeed,
so fortunate as to shut up the Rajah within its
avalls ; for Cheyt Sing entertained too ‘great re-
spect for English prowess to abide the issues of an
assault, and escaping ere they came, to the court of
one of the petty princes of Bundelcund, removed
thither the great bulk of his treasures. But the
wife and mother of Cheyt Sing were hoth in the
fort, and they defended themselves for a while
with considerable resolution. At last, however,
terms of surrender were proposed, whick would
have secured to the ranny or widow of Bulwant
Sing the undisputed possession of the wealth, as
well as the occupation, in a state of comfortable
independence, of the valuable pergunnah or district
of Hurlak ; but to these Major Popham would not
agree till after reference should have been made to
the Governor-general, and the Governor refused
on any account to sanction so gross an usurpation.
“ With respect to the booty,” continued he in a
letter, never meant to be taken for more than the
unguarded communication of friend with friend,
« that is rather your consideration than mine. I
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should be very sorry that your officers and soldiers
lost any part of the reward to which they are so
well entitled ; but I cannot make any objection, as
you must be the best judge.” There can be no
doubt that Mr. Hastings committed a serious error
in thus dealing with a subject of such grave im-
portance. He ought to have remembered that the
lightest word which is written by one in authority
passes current for all which it can be supposed to
imply ; and that if it shall seem to sanction, no
matter how remotely, proceedings out of which
profit may accrue to individuals, the individuals
interested in giving to it any particular interpreta-
tion will, as a matter of course, take care so to
receive it. Accordingly, Major Popham, having
made himself master of the fort, untrammelled by
auy conditions save the assurance of personal pro-
tection to the prisoners, seized with a strong hand
upon all the treasure contained in it, and proceeded
without delay to distribute the amount as prize-
money to the troops by whom the conquest had
been achieved.

Mr. Hastings was exceedingly arinoyed by such
a termination to the enterprise. He never pre-
tended to conceal that one great object of his
journey to Benares was to exact from Cheyt Sing,
in the shape of fine, such an amount of treasure as
would place at his disposal for the general uses of
the government fifty lacs of rupees. And when
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Cheyt Sing, instead of complying with the de-
mand, hoisted the standard of rebellion, then Mr.
Hastings considered himself at liberty to confiscate
and apply to publie purposes whatever money
might be found in his coffers. But, Major Pop-
ham and his brother officers came completely in
the way of this arrangement.  They appropriated,
without reserve, every coin that fell into their
ihands, and left the government which they served
not only as embarrassed as it was ere the expedi-
tion began, but loaded with fresh debts, contracted
in order to equip and put the troops in motion.

1 subjoin two letters written at Benares, and re-
ferring almost exclusively to the subjects nmow
under discussion. The former shows that Mr.
Hastings entertained serious appreheosions lest his
motives should be misunderstood, and a false
colour put upon his conduct at home; the latter
fully bears me out in all that I have asserted
relative to his wishes and designs regarding the
treasure found in Bidgegur. Not that this evi-
dence was in reality needed; for it ridi-
culous in the extreme to suppose that the head and
representative of a government which stood upon
the brink of bankruptcy should have meditated a
proceeding so suicidal as the surrender to Major
Popham and his detachment of treasure found in a
place not carried by assault. Yet even with this
offence malignity has charged Mr. Hastings; and

VOL. IL 2k
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it is therefore due to his memory that the question
should be set at rest for ever.

To Major ScorT.
Benares, Ist January, 17682,

My dear Scott,—As ill news commonly flies with
more speed than good, you will probably have heard
long before this can reach you of the troubles and
dangers which have attended my visit fo this quarter,
How the world may judge of me with respect to them,
I only conjecture at random. My friends will sce
nothing in the past which will discredit their opinion
of me; and that the malevolence of others may not
avail themselves of my first calamities to misrepresent
me, and to impute them, as the public are apt on all
occasions to impute misfortunes, to misconduct, I have
drawn out a minute narrative of the whole, authenti-
cated by copies of official papers, and affidavits of the
most material facts, taken mostly before the Chief
Justice. The narrative wasbegun in the midst of the
events which it relates, and while my mind was affected
by them. To you, and tomy other confidential friends,
1 do solemnly repeat the erations contained in it,
that it was written in the spirit of truth, and that I
believe, and am morally certain, that every material
fact, and I believe every less essential circumstance,
related in it, are strictly and literally true. I have
endeavoured to make them appear so to others by sim-
plicity in the narration, and by authentic evidence.
The last was collected in a burry, and on the sugges-
tion of Sir E. Impey, who told me that facts of the
most stamped notoriety here would be doubted at
home, unless such means were taken to establish their
reality. I could have collected a larger fund of evi-
dence, and the evidence of more important facts; but
I wanted time for it; and besides the carel of
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some, and the fears of others for the consequence, have
caused them to suppress many things which are .more
pointed and strong than anything which has been de-
posed. An instance of this occurs in the last of all,
which was accidentally produced by conversation with
Colonel Hannay. Middleton sent me a narrative of
the Gorookpoor insurrections, which makes a number
in the first part of the Appendix. I desired him to
verify it on oath, which I knew he might de, for the
original letters which he quotes, and which compose
the principal matter of it, were all or almost all shown
to me, and read by me when he was with me at Chunar.
Instead of this, he delivered to Sir Elijah the unmean-
ing affidavit which I bave placed at the head of the
others upon the same subject.

Observe, nor let them escape the observation of
others, the following points:— .

1. I have not only avoided all obscurity in the nar-
rative, but I have written it in so plain a style that
every intelligent old woman in England may under-
stand it without reference, and without prior acquaint-
ance with the subject.

2. The calamities which befell me turned on three
essentinl points:—my arrest of Cheit Bing; the de-
fenceless state of the guard which was placed upon
him; and lastly, the precipitate and unexampled teme-
rity of Captain Mayaffre. I have taken gome pains to
justify the first of these measures. The other two are
not my own. I had nothing to do with thesecond, nor
knew the circumstance till its effect was past. - The
last passed both against my precautions and against
orders.

3. It will appear toevery impartial reader that what
happened from an accidental cause would, had this
cause not intervened, have happened at another time,
and from the effect of a concerted and mature plan.

22
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It was a mine sprung before its appointed time, and
therefore it failed of the mischief for which it was
intended.

4. My conduct after these events will, I presume,
escape even the most inventive malice; for I cannot
with all my skill recur to a single circumstance in it
which by the most tortured construction will Justify
censure, nor recollect a single thing which ought to
have been done that was left undone.

5. 1 am told that my situation caused violent alarms
in Calcutta. I excited none by my representations,
nor by my applications. My letters to Mr. Wheler,
then the only efficient member of the Board, simply
recited what had passed, and promised the most pros-

ous issue from it.

6. 1 added nothing to the embarrassments of the
presidency; I asked neither for money nor troops, but
left Mr. Wheler to the free management of his separate
share in the administration, reserving the exclusive
charge of my own.

7. 1 forbad the Nabob Vizier to come to my assist-
ance both in my letters to him and to Mr. Middleton,
that the dignity of our Government or its credit, might
not suffer by the opinion of its requiring an extraneous
aid to suppress its internal disturbances. Hyder Beg,
in recapitulating the past transactions in conversation
with me, dwelt more forcibly on this than any other, as
a public evidence of the power of our Government,
and of our firm assurance of it.

8. 1 rejected every advance from Cheit Sing for
peace, even when he had 40,000 men in arms, and I
had not 2,000 to oppose them; and even when I was
at his mercy at Benares, if the wretch had known his
advantage; because 1 thought it dishonourable totreat
on equal terms with a vassal and a murderer; and be-
cause I thought that the future existence and perma-
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nency of our state depended on the issue of this first
instance of open defection in its own subjects; and
this reason I assigned to Mr. Wheler in a doubtful
period of the contest.

9. I claim some merit in the impetuosity with which
the officers and even the men flew to my assistance.
The cause was, it is true, a common one,—but I do
not believe that Sir Thomas Rumbold or Mr. White-
hill would have attracted so prompt an assistance, had
either held my station, and experienced the like per-
sonal danger in it.

10. T lost the zemindarry with 2 rent of twenty-two
lacs. I recovered it with a revenue of forty. The
Company possessed only its stipulated rent under Cheit
Sing. It is now as much a member of their Govern-
ment as the zemindarry of Burdwan, and more effectually
theirs than many parts of Bahar.

11. I negociated and concluded a treaty of separate
peace with Mahdajee Sindia in the midst of a despe-
rate rebellion, from which the opinions of all ranks of
men immediately spectators of it, except my own
countrymen, denounced my personal destruction, and
theeventual ruin of the national interests.

12. 1 have been the instrument of making known
to all the Indian world the constitutional union and
resources of our Government, and of proclaiming an
example which will deter future attempts to oppose its
authority.

13. The Berar Government tock no advantage of
my distresses, though solicited by powerful offers from
Cheit Sing ; but, on the contrary, Moodajee expressed
every testimony both public and private of his concern
for my safety and success ; and while he knew only of
the rebellion, but not of its issue, requested that an
English gentleman might be deputed to go tohim, and
assist in negociating a peace with the administration
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of Poona: and yesterday a man of credit came ex-
pressly deputed by him to present me with offerings of
cloths and jewels in congratulation of my success; and
to see with his own eyes, and report my actual condition.
He arrived in eighteen days from Naugpoor.

1 could add that our influence and credit are at this
time as high as they have ever been in any period of
our dominion ; but this being an opinion, however esta-
blished and known where I am, it may be disputed in
England. I might also add a circumstance much in
my own favour, which it is possible you may hear from
others, although it is a point less within the compass
of that knowledge which men derive from each other
within the confined precincts of Caleutta. I havebeen
assured that the danger to which my own person was
exposed in the late troubles afforded matter of much
apprehension to many, and I donot attribute the whole
of this information to flattery.

I have desired my friend Larkins to send you a com-
plete copy of the narrative by the Swallow, which has
been detained for the public copy. I desire that you
will obtain the permission of the Court of Directors,
if you can, for printing it. I have written it with that
view, and therefore made it as intelligible as I could ;
and I think that the events are so much out of the
common road as to excite and gratify the curiosity
of those even who are not interested in them. My
friends, i. e. my confidential friends, must first read it:
but make a point of publishing it, unless they shall
unanimously oppose it. Perhape I consider the subject
of it of more importance, from the natural bias of the
part which I personally bore in them, than they de-
serve; and perhape I have been too ingenuous in my
declarations and professions for the public opinion.
The first I admit a valid objection. The last must not
operate against the publication ; for I trust implicitly
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in the justice as well as integrity of my actions and
intentions, that they will do me credit hereafter, let
what will be the present judgment of them.

Be yourself corrector of the press, and be particularly
attentive to the punctuation ; for it is inconceivable
how differently negligent readers, and such is the bulk
of readers, judge of the sense of what they read from
the facility with which they read it, and its easy con-
nexion. Make an alphabetical list of proper names
for the composer, that they may be all spelt uniformly.
Take the spelling as you find it in the narrative itself,
because that was corrected by myself, though I have
left many of the names variously spelt, where the dif-
ference was not very great. Do not allow too large a
margin, nor let the paper be too white:—And let the
whole, though the divisions of the parts composing it
should be well marked, be bound in one volume.

The first part of the Appendix consists of little dis-
tinct narratives of unconnected subjects. The first
part is my agreement with the Nabob Vizier. This
has excited a world of elamour against me. Even Mr.
Wheler has been infected by it. If Mr. Middleton
does his duty, the event will justify and acquit me to
the public; but I confess he has hitherto disappointed
me, and to such a degree that I am at this instant de-
bating with my own mind whether 1 shall not go
myself to Lucknow to execute the purposes of this
agreement; and while I write this, my resolution must
be formed. If I go, I shall not be surprised to find
myself involved in a scene of troubles as great as those
from which I have recently escaped; I am certain of
accumulating ill will and reproach, whether 1 succeed
or not, and I am pretty certain of doing some good.

One thing will be expected from me which I will
not do. If the Nabob opposes my measure, I will at-
tempt nothing by violence, but exact from him assets
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for the discharge of his debt to the Company, and
leave him to himself. I think he is not likely to push
me to that extremity, especially if I am with him my-
self; but I am not so desperate apolitician is to usurp
his authority, and to divest him of all his rights,
because I can doit; nor do I think it good policy ; for
I fear that our encroaching spirit, and the insolence
with which it has been exerted, have caused our
alliance to be as much dreaded by all the powers of
Indostan as our arms.

The police which I have established for the town of
Benares is all after my own heart. The men of busi-
ness in England will not know what to make of it;
and my enemies will sneer at it. But the people are
pleased, and if it smy expectations, its influence
will extend my reputation to the remotest parts of
India. All India could not furnish a man so equal
to the charge of it as Ally Ibraheem Cawn, and his
conduct and character are equally approved by the
inhabitants. Hitherto there has been no police in
Benares since the death of Bulwunt Sing, except the
infamous marketing which was introduced by Captain
Smith, or rather his infamous minister Collichurn.

The best comment, both on this establishment, and
on the settlement of the zemindarry, which is the next
work, is the Board’s letter upon both, which I wish to
have printed with them. 1 am highly gratified by it,
and delighted with Mr. MacPherson, who is the un-
doubted author of it.

In my negociation with Mahdajee Scindia, my merit
is so small that, in the comparison with Colonel Muirs,
it is imperceptible. He has shown no less zeal for the
service in this transaction, and forbearance in his
conduct towards the Ranna, who is a traitor. Another
would have ted And 's issi Muir
received him with kindness, and assisted him with the
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most liberal communications. I am much pleased with
him.

The regulation of customs is trivial, and hardly
merits a comrment, nor requires one.

I must return to the main subject of the narrative :
you will observe in the Rajah’s letter a repeated allu-
sion to the insolent language -of a chubdar of Mark-
ham’s, named Cheitram. I have no doubt of the
fellow’s insolence, but I have taken no notice of it in
the narrative, because it had no necessary relation to it.
The chubdar did not arrive at Shawalla till the
tumult had almost begun. This 1 know, because he
accompanied a Vackeel of the Rajah's, whom I ordered
to go to the Rajah, and to tell him that if any blood
was spilt, his should answer for it. I had then heard
of the forces that had crossed and landed at Shawalla.
1 addressed this message both. to the Vackeel and the
chubdar. The latter delivered it in his own fashion,
and added some impertinence. He lost his life for it,
and he deserved it; for he had been, as I have since
learned, guilty of frequent instances of ill behaviour.
There were also two men styled moolavies, who had
acquired too great a share of the resident's confidence,
and abused it by acting an incendiary part between
him and the Rajah. These fellows, with the chubdar,
Markham inherited from Grabam, and with them too
many of Graham’s prejudices. 1 had occasion, in
Graham’s §me, to take notice, of the conduct attributed
to the moolavies, and intended to have obliged Mark-
ham to remove them. I gave him an early account of
the character which they bore with the people, and the
injury which they had done to his, and with difficulty
convinced him of it. He was astonished, for he assured
me that he regarded them as patterns of fidelity and
virtue. I did exact his promise to hold no further
intercourse with the survivor, and intended to have
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banished him from the country: but it was unneces-
sary. One fell in the massacre of Shawalla, a marked
object. The other was murdered by the order of Cheit
Sing, at Bidjeygur. Both deserved their fate; but
the rancorous revenge taken of the latter, stamps the
sanguinary character of the wretch who ordered it.
What I meant by the introduction of this subject
was to obviale what might possibly be reported, and
what indeed the Rajah seems to affirm, the supposition
of this massacre having originated from the chubdar.
The chubdar was there by accident, Cheit Sing’s
armed men were appointed, and in readiness to cross
at a moment’s warning, and were the same who at-
tended him to Buxar. They had actually crossed, and
bad become so tumultuous, a full hour before the
chubdar went from my presence, as to hsve excited my
apprehensions of what did actually ensue. 1t was not
possible for any provocation of the chubdar to have
given rise to a design actually formed before he ar-
rived, and then ripe for execution; or to have brought
over the armed multitude which had arrived before he
came. Neither was it probable, if possible, that what
he eaid to the Rajah should be heard or known by the
mob on the outside of the house. Neither the
hubdar nor the lavies had the slightest concern
or participation in the bloody deeds of this day. Nor
could I mention the guilt imputed to them without
departing from the purpose of my narrative, and
producing an y chargeagainst them. They
have paid the forfeit of their crimes. Those of Cheit
Sing are purely his own, and bear no affinity to them,
nor are derived from them. Neither does it appear
that he ever considered them of much moment; for
he never complained of them to me, and it was from
the report of others, that I was informed of their cha-
racters. Do not publish these anecdotes, unless you
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find it mecessary for the refutation of any conclusions
predrawn from them and given alrea.dy to the public;
because they might otherwise injure the man whose
influence enabled these fellows to do the mischief im-
puted tothem.  He is innocent of it, and is incapable
of an ungenerous action. With many of the failings
of youth and inexperience, Markham possesses all the
ingenuousness and generosity of the former, and I shall
leave him in charge of his office without fear of his
discrediting my appointment of him.

i I am much pleased with my mew associate, Mr.
MacPherson ; and by the agreement of all the private
reports concerning him, I find every one equally pleased
with him. I only lament that I could not see him,
and furnish him with all my opinions and views, and
receive his corrections of them, so as to be able to leave
him with one common and uniform plan of measures
mutually agreed on. For want of that, I dare not
venture on any undertaking that is likely to keep me
long absent from the presidency, lest any misunder-
standing should arise between us, or he should grow
cool in my support, or, not intimately possessing all
my motives, be unequal to defend my measures; or
Coote come round, as he is expected, and embarrass
me by captious propositions dictated to the Board, and
either from indifferepce or inadvertency admitted ; for
I do not believe that Mr. Wheler will readily abandon
me, and I am sure that Mr. MacPherson will not.
This is my strongest objection to my proceeding to
Lucknow. Add to this, that Mr. Middleton has de-
clared in a solemn manner that he is of himself able to
effect every measure prescribed to him, and that my
going will produce opinions that will counteract the
present authority and obstruct the collections.

17th January.—I am now near Dmapoor I shnll
stay one day at Patna, and if the Nabob. in answer to
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the letter which I believe I told you I had written to
him on the lst of this month, does not arrive in that
time, I shall go on. I shall proceed by the post
bearers from Baugulpoor, and hope to be in Calcutta
in a fortnight from this day. Adieu, then, for the
present. Yours, my dear Scott, most affectionately.

To Major Scorr,
Port William, 21st February, 1783,

My dear Scott,—I have said nothing to you yet
concerning the Bidjeygur prize money. It has given
me infinite uneasiness, and I am no less mortified
at the rapacity which the officers of Major Popham’s
corps have shown on that' occasion than at my
public disappointment. I had not the shadow of 2
suspicion that Popham would have taken any de-
cided step in a maiter of such concern without an
authority from me, especially as 1 was so near.
Judge of my astonishment when I tell you that
the distribution of the plunder was begun before I
knew that the place was in p ion, and finished
before I knew that it was begun. A very uncandid
advantage was taken of a private letter written by me
to Major Popham on another occasion during the heat
of the siege, at which time I made it a point to answer
all his letters on the instant of their receipt, and ge-
nerally by another hand, and often in the most familiar
style. The faet is, that, instead of receiving my letters
as authority, they were afraid that I should stop or
qualify the distribution, and therefore precipitated it
to prevent me. I referred the matter to the Board,
but they chose to wait my return, and we have since
publicly called upon the sharers to refund, and submit
their pretensions wholly to our decision. If they re-
fuse, 1 shall propose to try whether the law may not
compel them. Popham’s fault in the business was a
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want of resolution, and he has avowed that he could
not withstand the universal cl and veh of
his officers for the scramble.

The officers sent a very elegant sword as a present
to me, and a set of dressing boxes for Mrs. Hastings,
all beautifully inlaid with jewels: I returned them all.
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CHAPTER X.

Trasactions with the Nabob of Oude and the Begums—Letters ou these
subjects,
TuoucH the rebellion at Benares was thus effec-
tually put down, and the prospects of an increased
revenue from the province in all time coming
appeared excellent, Mr. Hastings was too well
aware of the state of parties at home not to feel
that his conduct from the beginning to the end of
the outbreak might, and probably would, expose
himself to serious personal inconveniences. He
knew that the charge of being actuated by an
overweening ambition lay heavily against him in
Leadenhall Street, and the fact of having set aside,
by force of arms, a chieftain, between whom and
the Company something like a treaty of alliance
subsisted, was not, as he could easily perceive, cal-
culated to do away with the impression. Under
these circumstances he determined to collect and
to arrange such a body of evidence as should force
conviction upon the minds even of his enemies;
and Sir Elijab Impey happening at the moment
to be engaged in a tour of inspection among the
provincial courts, he gladly availed himself of the
offer of assistance which the Chief Justice made.
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Accordingly Sir Elijah repaired to Benares,
where a multitude of witnesses, a8 well native as
European, met him. These were carefully and
separately examined upon ocath; and their several
depositions being taken down, a sort of appendix
to the Governor-general’s narrative was produced,
the most cursory examination of which will not
now fail to convince every impartial inquirer that
from first to last Mr. Hastings had to deal witha
traitor to the English government and influence in
India.

It is not, however, to be supposed that the con-
duct of these matters, important as, in a public
point of view, they doubtless were, and personally
to himself of the deepest interest, gave to the mind
of Mr. Hastings full occupation, even when the
adjustment appeared to be the most remote. During
the very height of the rebellion, while he was suf-
fering a species of imprisonment at Chumar, Mr.
Hastings dictated the terms of a treaty of peace
with the Mahrattas, and gave instructions to his
agents relative to the manner and temper in which
it was expedient that they should comport them-
selves in its negociation. Moreover he received
in the same place, and at the same moment, a visit
from the Nabob of Oude, who came to offer
assistance, and give evidence of his own fidelity,
and who stayed to arrange with the Governor-
general a plan for the better administration of his
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kingdom, where, as 1 have already taken occasion
to show, the utmost confusion prevailed. To what
end the conferences between Mr. Hastings and his
ally pointed will best be shown in the sequel. For
the present, my business is to make the reader
aware, that if any act were meditated of which it
can with truth be said that it jarred, in ever so
trifling a degree, with the dictates of abstract right,
Mr. Hastings was not only not the proposer of that
act, but that, in giviog to it his sanction, he but
obeyed a political necessity, to which, circum-
stanced as he then was, it became bis positive duty
to render all other considerations subservient. For
the state of the case was this:—

When Mr. Hastings began his journey to Be-
nares, the British empire in India stood upon the
brink of ruin. The resources of both Madras and
Bombay were completely exhausted. The treasury
at Calcutta was empty ; a furious war preseed them
on every side, and there were no means at the dis-
posal of government wherewith to pay the troops
already in the field, far less to equip more, and
send them where their presence was needed. It is
idle to try a man, placed at the bead of a nation
thus circumstanced, by such tests as we are
Jjustified in applying to the cases of rulers, whoee
countries are struggling for anything less vital than
their very existence. Mr. Hastings had one great
object to attain, before which all minor duties must
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of necessity disappear. He was bound to save the
empire, let the effort cost what it might, and he
could not save the empire without money. Whence
was the money to be procured? There was no
parliament at hand to which he could appeal ; no
legislative body by whose decree fresh taxes might
be imposed upon the people; no people under his
rule capable, if so taxed, to sustain the burden.
He could not draw upon the Company at home,
for the system of bills had been carried to its -
utmost limits ; he could not borrow, because public
credit, never in India very extensive, was at an
end. What was to be done? Purchase an inse-
cure truce by concessions which would but tempt
his enemies to renew their attacks so soon as they
should be better prepared for the struggle, or give
up the game at once, and with the English settlers
withdraw from a country where they could nolonger
maintainthemselves? Mr. Hastings could not bring
himself to contemplate either expedient, yet there
was but one alternative left. If the empire was
to be saved at all, it must be saved at the expense
of individuals. The chiefs and nobles dependent
on the British Government for protection must be
called upon to supply the Government with the
means of continuing such protection,—by fair
means, wherever a legitimate ground of appeal
could be discovered, where such might be want-
ing, as a measure of stern though melancholy
VOL. IL 2r
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necessity. There can be no doubt that Mr. Has-
tings would have gladly avoided this extremity,
had any other course been open to him, for Mr.
Hastings was mild and humane, as well as vigorous
and clear-sighted. Yet these very qualities of
mildness and humanity urged him to proceed, and
he did proceed, in defiance of the heavy personal
responsibility which he was bringing upon him-
self. 'What had he to gain by the plunder of chief-
tains whose treasure was to be expended in defence
of the state? What amount of censure could apply
to him for adopting this method of defending it ?
The Court of Directors might merit blame, so
might the Imperial Parliament, inasmuch as by
neither had provision been made for such an emer-
gency as had arisen. But Mr. Hastings's acts
were those of one who, having a great empire to
preserve, is compelled to sacrifice for its preserva-
tion his own personal feelings, as well as the pro-
perty, and in some instances the rights, of indi-
viduals. Was he singular in this respect? nay,
does not the same thing occur in all cases where
the safety of the state and the rights of individuals
come into competition? The Parliament of Great
Britain never votes a new tax without offering an in-
jury to the properties of British subjects in general.
The houses which would afford shelter to an enemy
near the glacis of a beleaguered city are pever
burned down without doing an outrage to the rights
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of their proprietors. Yet nobody thinks of de-
nouncing either the one act or the other, so long
as the necessity for its performance can be shown
to be imminent. In like manner I must be per-
mitted to repeat, that had Mr. Hastings been the
originator of the schemes of spoliation which, by
the bye, did not originate with him, I can perceive
in the circumstance no ground at all for censure.
The country could be saved only by levying forced
contributions upon its gentry ; for the salvation of
the country Mr. Hastings was responsible ; and he
would have merited and incurred both the indigna-
tion of his superiors, and the total loss of reputa-
tion as well as of self respect, had he scrupled to
adopt the single expedient that lay open to him,
however revolting the course might be to all his
preconceived ideas and feelings.

It would be absurd to deny that, oppressed and
harassed as he was, Mr. Hastings had often looked
with a wistful, and therefore a covetous, gaze
towards the enormous wealth of the Begums or
Princesses of Oude. He remembered that of these
overgrown sums the Begums had originally pos-
sessed themselves by dishonest means; that, in the
first place, they had never produced the will, nor a
copy of the will, under which they claimed to in-
bherit ; and that, in the next, had such a document
been forthcoming, it would have passed in their
case, as in all cases similar to theirs, for mere waste

2r2
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paper. Sujah Dowlah had no right to alienate from
his successor the funds which were necessary to de-
fray the expenses of the government, more espe-
cially at a time when the government was deeply in
debt both to its ally, the East India Company, and to
the troops and civil functionaries which served it.
On the other hand, the English Government for
the time being, that is to say, General Clavering
and his majority, had committed a grievous blunder,
not to call it by a harsher name, in espousing the
cause of these Begums against the claims of Asuph
ul Dowla; while the bargain into which they had
induced the young Nahob to enter, when he ac-
cepted fifty lacs as a compensation, was altogether
iniquitous. Still there lay the guarantee, signed
and sealed, by which the English pledged them-
selves to protect the princesses against all new
demands on the part of their sovereign; which
gave to them the unquestioned enjoyment of some
crores of rupees ; which left them in possession of
a very rich jaghire, with the powers of sovereignty
attached to it; which enabled.them, out of their
savings, to purchase other estates from the needy
Vizier, till in the end they stood forth rather as
independent princes than as subjects. There can
be little doubt that the contemplation of such a
state of things bad given to Mr. Hastings many
an anxious hour, and that he had repeatedly eon~
sidered with himself whether or not the mischiefs
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arising out of it were beyond the reach of cure. I
cannot indeed find any written evidence to show
that he ever seriously meditated an infraction of the
agreement, absurd and iniquitous as it was. Yet
I discover numerous applications from the Vizier
to this effect, enforced by urgent assurances that
from no other source than this, the ill-gotten and
ill-used gains of his relatives, would it be possible
for him to provide a fund for the liquidation of his
arrears to the Company. At the same time, I will
not undertake to affirm that Mr. Hastings never
entertained 2 project of the kind ; for the substitu-
tion of Mr. Middleton in the room of Mr. Bristow
as resident at the durbar seems to imply that he
meditated some important changes. Be this, how-
ever, as it may, the necessity of taking the lead
was completely obviated by the bearing of the
Nabob, who, at Chunar, earnestly renewed his
entreaties, and gave many and excellent reasons
why they should be attended to; while the scruples
which had heretofore kept the Governor-general
irresolute, the conduct of the Begums themselves
removed. Itcame out in the course of the inquiries
which were instituted into the behaviour of Cheyt
Sing, that the Begumns had not only been privy to
his designs, but bad assisted him to ecollect the
means of carrying them intoeffect. They bad fur-
nished him with money to a considerable amount ;
they had raised men and sent them to his army ;
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they had encouraged other petty chiefs to adopt a
similar line of proceeding, and made themselves
in every respect parties to his plot. These were
points to which their own vassals bore testimony,
some of whom were taken with arms in their hands ;
nor was the smallest reason assigned either then,
or in after years, why the credibility of the witnesses
should be questioned.

As soon as he was put in possession of these
facts, on authority which appeared.to be suffi-
ciently conclusive, Mr. Hastings made up his mind
to deal with the Begums as they deserved. He
announced to the Vizier that the Company’s
guarantee in favour of the arrangement of 1775
was withdrawn; and that the Nabob was in
consequence free to demand from his relatives
both a surrender of the jaghire and a portion at
least of the treasure which they had so long
usurped. But Mr. Hastings’s benefactions to his
overloaded and helpless ally did not end there.
He agreed to relieve him from the expense of
maintaining the extra, or, as it was called, the
temporary brigade, with which a recent treaty had
burdened him, and put a stop at once to the heavy
payments which he was accustomed to make to
multitudes of Englishmen who, on one pretence
or another, contrived to render themselves pen-
sionaries on his bounty. Moreover the Vizier was
permitted to resume such jaghires within his own
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territories as he himself might judge expedient,
subject only to this condition, that wherever the
Company had pledged themselves to maintain the
occupant in possession, he should Le pensioned off
with a sum equal to the net annual rental of his
lands.

Such is the substance of an arrangement entered
into between Mr. Hastings and the Nabob Asuph
ul Dowla, when the latter, desirous of showing his
fidelity to the Company, went up, during the pro-
gress of the Benares revolt, to visit the Governor-
general at Chunar. Though perfectly justifiable
on the ground of what was due to a prince in
alliance with the British Government, who, partly
through his own folly, partly through the miscon~
duct and chieanery of others, had become a pauper
in the capital of his own dominions, it seems to
be still more susceptible of defence when we take
into account the desperate state of the Company’s
affairs at the moment. Yet this very treaty, out of
which arose in due time a long state of compara-
tive prosperity to Oude, as well as a large acces-
sion of wealth to the English, without which they
would have found it impossible to sustain the
burden of the war for another year, was charged
against Mr. Hastings as an act of the grossest op-
pression. What ground of reason was there for
this? It hasbeen shown elsewhere that the Begums
obtained possession of their enormous wealth by a
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fraud; that in this fraud the majority in the Su-
preme Council supported them ; that Mr. Hastings
protested from the first against arrangements which
were not sanctioned either by justice or sound
policy, and was restrained from setting them aside,
80 soon as he regained his influence, only by the re-
spect which was due to the honour of the British
name, however inconsiderately pledged. Surely
Mr. Hastingy, believing all along that the position
of these women towards their sovereign was a false
one, was not bound to support them in it after
they had given proof of their hostile feeling towards
the English, by raising and equipping troops for
the service of a rebel? And as to the mode by
which the terms of the agreement were carried
into effect, let the subject be considered in con-
nexion with the usages of the country, and the
well-known tempers and habits of the individuals
concerned, and the outcry which was raised by the
personal enemies of Mr. Hastings will, I appre-
" hend, meet with very little encouragement. For,
in the first place, the eruelties, such as they were,
of which the Begums and their ministers became
the victims, were not the act of the Governor-
general, and, in the next place, to what did they
amount ?

The Begums, or Princesses of Oude, like women
in all countries, and especially in the East, could
be considered as little else than the creatures of the
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ministers or favourites to whom they entrusted the
management of their affairs. These ministers were
two eunuchs, Jewar Ally Cawn and Rehar Ally
Cawn, men crafty, intriguing, selfish, and merce-
nary ; who encouraged their mistresses to resist
the demands of the Vizier, not only because com-
pliance would have materially affected their own
interests in the meanwhile, but because their views
extended to an appropriation of the funds in ques-
tion by themselves or their personal connexions,
so soon as the Princesses should have passed from
the stage. Moreover, the Begums, though nomi-
nally owners of the late Nabob’s treasures, exercised
over these treasures no control whatever. Not a
rupee was in their own personal keeping ; nor could
any order from them secure the disbursement of the
sums necessary for the daily expenditure of the
pulace, till by one or other, or both, of their
ministers it had been countersigned. To speak,
“therefore, of the arrest of the eunuchs as a mea-
sure sanctioned by no law of reason or of right,
far more to represent the mistresses of these
eunuchs as yielding to a cruel demand because
their sympathies were touched and their generosity
awakened, is to employ language which is calcu-
lated only to deceive. There was no such thing as
an awakened sympathy in the case. The eunuchs,
like the majority of their countrymen, loved money
more than they loved their own persons: and stoutly
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held out against imprisonment and the privation of
food till the uneasiness occasioned by the latter be-
came insupportable. I really must be pardoned if
1 venture to characterise assomething pre-eminently
ridiculous and wicked, the sensibility which would
strive to balance the well-merited sufferings of thoze
usurpers against the preservation of British India,
The eunuchs deserved death for having advised their
mistresses in the line of crooked and unwise policy
which they followed. They escaped with a little
personal suffering, which was applied only so long
as they refused to surrender up a portion of that
wealth, the whole of which their own and their
mistresses’ treason had forfeited.

It was in the month of September, 1781, that
Mr. Hastings and the Nabob mutually pledged
themselves to the treaty, of which the substance has
been given above. The Nabob, after settling this
important matter, returned to Lucknow, where,
with the assistance of Mr. Middleton, then resident
at the durbar, he proceeded to carry into effect its
several terms. The arrangements for dismissing
the extra brigade and withdrawing from the
English their ill-gotten pensicns, were easily car~
ried into effect. Neither was much difficulty en-
countered in recovering from his own subjects such
of the jaghires as the Nabob judged expedient to
claim. But when he addressed himself to the
Begums, he was met by a decided refusal. The
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Nabob hesitated. There were some minions of
his own who still retained the jaghires which in
moments of weakness or wickedness he had con-
ferred ; it was impossible to press his demand
against the princesses without at the same time de-
priving these men of their possessions. Wherefore,
and not through any feeling of compassion for a
mother and a grandmother, both of whom he held

small account, this imbecile prince scrupled to
enforce the only conditions in the treaty of Chunar
which promised to afford to the distressed govern-
ment of Bengal the immediate relief of which it
stood in need. It appears, too, that Mr. Middleton,
whether misled by mistaken sentiments of compas-
sion, or that his judgment was overclouded from
some other cause, did pot exert his influence as he
ought to have done in the matter; so that Mr.
Hastings, disappointed in the supply which he
expected to have found in Benares, returned to
Calcutta as destitute as ever. But this was a state
of things which could not be permitted to last.
Mr. Hastings wrote strongly to the resident;
the resident remonstrated with the Nabob, and
threatened, in case further delays were practised,
that he would take the business absolutely into his
own hands. Upon this the Nabob directed a por-
tion of the English brigade to enforce compliance
with his claims; and the palace at Fyzabad was
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invested. Still the Begums adhered to their deter-
mination of not disbursing a single rupee, and the
troops proceeded to occupy the palace. They en-
tered it without bloodshed, and carefully abstaining
from intrusion upon the zenana, they arrested the
two eunuchs, and the Nabob cast them into prison.
Neither by threats nor by entreaties could these
men be prevailed upon to write such a letter as
should ensure the surrender of the coveted treasure.
They were, therefore,/subjecwd, according to eastern
usage, to torture—that is to say, food was refused to
them, and they were loaded with irons. Now it
would be vain to deny that such a proceeding was
both harsh in ijtself, and at variance with all our
notions of humanity and of law. To compel men
by the fear of starvation to disgorge their wealth,
even if it be needed for the uses of the state, is in-
deed a refinement in severity of which we know
nothing ; yet the practice was then as common in
India as arrest for debt used to be among our-
selves, and in cases similar to that of the Begums’
ministers it was to the full as rational. For if a
man be unable to satisfy his creditors while at large,
he is surely not in a better plight for doing so after
he shall have been shut up in prison; whereas the
prospect of a lingering death by hunger can hardly
fail of subduing the firmness of the most obstinate,
inasmuch as wealth becomes worthless even in the
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miser’s eyes, if such be the sole condition on which
he is permitted to retain it. Accordingly, the eu-
nuchs had not suffered long ere their resolution gave
way ; thenecessary order for a payment was issued,
and within a day or two of the application of this
discipline Mr. Middleton was put in possession of
treasure sufficient to cover the arrears that were due
from the Vizier to the Company up to the close of
the year 1780.

Having thus traced down the history of Mr.
Hastings’s dealings with the Nabob to the date at
which his correspondence was last interrupted, I
would refurn at once to the excellent practice of
leaving him to tell his own tale, were I not anxious
in the first instance to bring what may be called a
remarkable episode in his biography to a close.
In few words, then, let me state, that having still
the arrears of 1781 to make good, the Vizier did
not release the ministers from confinement, though
he permitted food to be regularly supplied to them.
On the contrary, he kept them in ward, and
was soon driven, by the refusal of the Begums
to make good this fresh demand, to a renewal of the
system of torture. On this occasion the eunuchs
themselves undertook, out of their own funds, to
supply the necessary sum within the space of 3
month. Surely such an undertaking was marvel-
lous on the part of men who professed to subsist
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entirely upon the bounty of their mistresses ; yet
the Vizier did not scruple to accept it. In like
manner the Begums, mother and daughter, re-
mained under a guard, and were subjected to con-
siderable privations whilst so dealt with. Never-
theless, the result showed that, in the adoption of
these severe measures, neither the Nabob nor the
British resident bad gone much beyond the line
either of prudence or necessity. Once more the
money required was paid ; once more those per-
sons who professed to have sold their household
goods in order to satisfy the first demands of an
oppressive government were seen to have at their
disposal resources amply sufficient to meet the
second; while by and bye it came out that a
residue remained after all, which, in rough num-
bers, may be stated at twelve bundred thousand
pounds sterling. Surely two women had nothing
to complain of who, though compelled to sur-
render up a million of that which, in point of equity,
never ought to have been treated as their own,
were yet left in the undisturbed possession of
twelve hundred thousand pounds sterling.

Such, divested of the high colouring which
party prejudice and personal malice have given to
it, is the true history of transactions which sup-
plied the Supreme Government at a moment of
extreme peril and poverty with funds, through
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which, and through which alone, it was enabled to
save India to the British nation. It was a business
in which Mr. Hastings was no further concerned
than that he consented to what was termed the
spoliation of the Begums ; in other words, that he
permitted the Vizier to extract from them who .
had waged war against the Company’s troops the:
funds that were requisite for liquidating his own
debts to the Company. But as Mr. Hastings did not
direct the means to be used in order to compel the
surrender of these funds, so is he free from the
responsibility, whatever it may be, which attaches
to their adoption. Moreover, it is worthy of re-'
mark, that the Court of Directors, after ordering
in 1782 an inquiry to be made into the matter and
justice to be done, approved in 1783 of the whole
series of transactions, and gave directions that
Mr. Hastings’s final arrangement with the Vizier
should be considered as binding and permanent.
Yea, and more than this; the Begums themselves,
the parties said to have been wronged, lived many
years afterwards in contentment and tranquillity
under the dominion of their relative, and were
among the number of those from whom, at the
period of his trial, Mr. Hastings received strong
letters of friendship and commiseration. I think
that, after this, Mr. Hastings’s memory will be
cleared from the stain of having acted without the
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plea of right, far more of having acted cruelly.
He punished certain rebels, it is true, and brought
into an exhausted treasury a certain sum of
money ; yet these very rebels, after the- bitterness
of the moment was passed, spoke of him as their
friend ; and India remained to be what it still is,
“ the brightest jewel in the British crown.”

1 subjoin now a brief series of letters which
Mr. Hastings wrote during the progress of these
transactions, 'They exhibit him in the light of one
who never for a moment ceased to have his
country’s welfare in view, and set all considera-
tions, even of personal influence, at nought in order
to secure it. It will be seen, too, that they speak
well of the new colleague with whom, as a
member of the Supreme Council, the authorities at
home had supplied him; and, altogether, breathe
a spirit of hope and cheerfulness which is not
always to be found in his correspondence; for he
bad free scope for action, he knew how to deal
with it. and was not distrustful of the issue either
at home or abread.

To Majar Scorr.
Port William, 20th Febraary, 1762,
L-dy dear Scott,—My letters are desultory, and the
subjects of the first in date grow obsolete before the

last are written. You must piece, and compile, and
combine them.
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Since my arrival most of my objects are either ac-
complished, or in prosperous train.

Middleton, whose activity I have been compelled to
rouse, by letters written in a style of the greatest seve-
rity, has exerted himself so far as to induce the Nabob
to give his effectual sanction to the resumption of all
the jaghier lands, and to reclaim the treasures of his
father, of which his mother had retained the possession.
The latter have amounted to fifty-five lacs, and have
been assigned by the Nabob in payment of his debt to

{the Company. There will remain nearly the same sum
to discharge the whole of his balance; and I have
pledged my word if Mr. Middleton failed to accomplish
it, I would myself go to Lucnow and charge myself
with it, with an assurance that I would perform it.

I left Benares in perfect order, and with every rea-
sonable expectation of receiving the complete revenue
from it in the course of the year.

Mr. Aunderson has been received by Mahdajee Sindia
with every public demonstration of joy and cordiality,
aud every private symptom of sincerity, and of a desire
to improve his alliance with us.

Chapman has reported his arrival at Naugpoor,
where he was received with equal marks of good will.

General Goddard had despatched Captain Wither-
ston as his agent to Poona; but lest this act should
counteract or embarrass Mr. Anderson’s negociations,
we have directed his recall, and forbidden General
Goddard to negociate. 1 am sure of Anderson, but -
cannot trust an army contractor to be an instrument of
peace. A cessation has taken place. The presidency
of Bombay is in quiet possession of all its acquired re-

, and has passed a resolution, communicated to
us through General Goddard,—but not by them,—to
appropriate them to the expenses of their own esta-
blishment, and to exclude the Bengal detachment from
a participation in them.

voL. IL 2a
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A reinforcement sent from Bombay, since the cessa-
tion. to Tillecherry, enabled Major Addington (or
Abbington) who commanded in that place to make a
sally with his whole garrison, three battalions, on
Hyder's army which besicged it, with the most com-
plete and decisive success. The particulars you will
read in all the papers before the receipt of this. If the
presidency of Bombay follow this advantage as they
ought, and the peace with the Mahrattas is finally
ratified, as there is a moral certainty that it will,
Hyder’s destruction is inevitable. The same despatches
" bring advice of the arrival of General Meadowes, and
of the fleet at Bombay.

Our arms in the Carnatic have been repeatedly suc-
cessful. No decisive advantages have been gained,
and we lose men by every victory; but Hyder gains
nothing from our losses, and destructive as the war has
proved to the Carnatic, and to our resources in it, he
certainly suffers in a greater proportion than we, nor
is it possible that he can maintain the war much longer,
or find means either in his hoarded treasure, or carrent
revenue, to feed and subsist so great a force at such a
distance from his own capital, and with his other great
disbursements.

We shall form a detachment i diately which will
either act with Nizam Ally Cawn, if he will take so
fair an occasion to invade Hyder’s dominions, to which
he appears perfectly disposed; or it will assist the war
in the Carnatic by such other means as the circom-
stances and occasions of it may suggest, if this design
fails. Popham will command it. 1 experience in Mr.
MacPherson every aid and support that I expected, and
an ease with a b 1 disposition ding—
even far exceeding—m expectations, and even my own
knowledge oil:im? . y v

With Mr. Wheler I am upon the most friendly and
confidential terms. Such ap union, and I am sure that
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it will last, is of more substantial worth than the ac-
quisition of a crore of rupees to our treasury witha
divided Council.

In my letter of the lst January, 1 enumerated such
-points as appeared to me to merit a particular con-
sideration as they relate to my late proceedings at
Benares. To these T add the following reflection :—
although the forces of this Government have been
sent to the most distant guarters of Hindostan and
Deccan, and it has afforded all the means to the other
presidencies of maintaining their wars with the two.
most powerful states of India, and has in a manner
directed the operations of both; and although a con-
federacy had been formed for a combined attack of
Nizam Ally Cawn, the Peshwa, Hyder Ally, Mahdajee
Sindia, and Moodajee Boosla, or, in other words, of all
the Indian States against our possessions, and our own
provinces were threatened with an invasion actually
projected and ostensibly begun; yet these provinces
have continued in an unvaried state of profound peace
with armies surrounding them ; and the only calamity
which at any time threatened their tranquillity was con-
fined to the person of the Governor-general alone, and
to the scene in which it originated ; and its extreme
duration was but thirty-one days.

You will have heard of the bravery, zeal, and activity
of those whose professional duty called on them for an
extraordinary display of these qualities. Let me for a
moment indulge my warmer feelings in adding one
name—that of a person most nearly connected with me,
whose conduct displayed as exemplary a fortitude, and
as generous a zeal for the public service, as any of the
most applauded of its supporters. 1 need not add
that I mean Mrs. Hastings. 1 am too proud of her
virtues not to wish that my friends should know them,
and I am happy even in the reflection of her sufferings

262
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which furnished such an occasion to call them forth. 1
know them only by report, and though I know that
report to be genuine, yet I cannot trust to the fairness
of my own repetition of it. I have desired Captain
Sands, who attended her through the whole of that
trying scene, to give you the history of it, and I have
made him promise upon honour that he will not exag-
gerate, but adhere most rigidly to truth in his relation.
Let my confidential friends see it. She rejoined me at
Benares in health, went with me to Chunar, and returned
to Benares with an indisposition which hung on her for
many days, and greatly alarmed me. She is now well,
but wants much of her former strength. I had left
her at Baugulpore, from whence I proceeded by the
post to Calcutta, and arrived here on the 4th of the
month. She followed, and arrived on the 15th, after
an absence of eight months from Calcutta. I am
almost superstitious when I reflect on my journey to
Benares; 1 left her at Mongeer, more from a secret
impulse than any solid reason ; and what would have
been my condition had she been a witness of the bloody
events which followed at Benares, and my companion
at such a time! Her coming to Benares afterwards
had its political uses, as it was a demonstration of the
tranquil and secure state to which the zemindarry of
Benares was restored.

She desires me to assure both yon and Mrs. Scott
(to whom I beg you will present my compliments) of
her affectionate remembrance, and Lizzy of her love.
I am ever, yours most affectionately.

To Lavnency SoLivax, Esq.
Fort William, 21 Pebruary, 1783,
This is the first letter which I have written to you
since my late expedition. It has proved a perilous and
critical one, and required in me so wary a conduct to
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steer me through it, and extricate me from the embar-
rassments into which I was thrown, that I feel an un-~
common degree of anxiety to receive the sentiments of
my friends upon it. I have flattered myself that they
will see nothing done which ought not to have been
done, nor anything left undone which ought to have
been done; that the troubles, alarming as they were,
were confined o my own person, and the territory of
which I made the central point; that I neither excited
the fears or difficulties of the presidency, nor demanded
either men or money, though for a time destitute of
both ; that I rejected all extraneous aid ; that accidents
sprung a mine before its time, which was laid for the
most desperate crisis; that I obtained my rescue more
from the affection than obedience of my officers; that
(to use a elassical phrase) I did not despair of the safety
of the state, but supported its dignity, when I lay-at
the mercy of the rebel, had he known his advantage;
and that I conducted a successful negociation of peace
with Mahdajee Sindia, in the most desperate period of
my distresses ; and finally, that I converted the most
dreadful calamity that ever threatened our possessions
in India since the war with Cossim Ally Cawn, into the
instrument of increasing the reputation of our consti-
tutional power, annexing a valuable and defensible
principality to our dominion, and of raising a precarious
revenue from twenty-two and a half lacs to forty.

I have written a narrative of these transactions,
which Major Scott will deliver to you for your perusal,
and afterwards for that of my other confidential friends.
Be not discouraged by the size of it. It is of conse-
quence to me that you should read it, and I have
written it with such plainness that it will neither per-
plex nor fatigue the attention. I have desired Major
Scott to petition for the leave of the Court of Directors
to print if, if you see no public objection to it. I am
indifferent about personal consequences.
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My late engagement with the Nabob Vizier will de-
mand your close attention, for I expect much abuse for
it, because I have hurt the intercsts of many individuals
by it.

yThese are points in which it becomes the Company
and the Government to give me their fullest support,
as they wish to see their administration here exert
themselves in the defence of their interests against
private competition. Let me enumerate my claims on
this principle.

1. The disavowal and repeal of the treaty made by
the presidency of Fort St. George with Bazalut Jung,
and their breach of faith with Nizam Ally Cawn.

2. The restitution of the Sircar of Guntoor to Nizam
Ally Cawn, and our pledge given to him for the pay-
ment of his arrears of Peshcush.

3. Our suspension of the Government of Fort St.
George.

4. The assertion of the powers of this Government
against the dangerous encroachments of the Court.

5. The dissolution of the provincial councils, and
establishment of the new system of revenue.

6. The abolition of the control exercised by the
commanding officers of the sepoy corps, in the payment
of their men, the prevention of arbitrary stoppages,
and false musters; evils at this time universally known
and acknowledged to have existed to such a degree as
to have d a vast diminution of our real strength,
and a continual fluctuation in the identity of the indi-
viduals composing it

Lastly, the recall of lucrative commands too remote
for control, and the annihilation of the Nabob Vizier's

I migbt have put at the head of the catalogue the
conduct of this Government (which was notorionsly
my own) in its decision on the resolution at Fort St.
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George in 1777, a decision to which the Company owe
the tranquillity which followed that dreaded convulsion,
and prevented a civil war, which a temporizing or more
guarded conduct on our part would most probably
have excited. I have not had that justice done me on
this occasion, nor in the transactions passed on the
commencement of the war in France, which the Com-
pany ought for their own interests, and for the sake of
example, to have dealt to me.

For other matters I must refer you to my letters
written to Major Scott, which are in effect written to
you; and to all the motives of them.

P.S. I ought to inform you that by the seizure of
the treasures which were in the possession of the
Vizier's mother, the Nabob was enabled to pay fifty-
five lacs of his balance to the Company, and the re-
sumption of the jaghiers will yield a sufficiency far
more than the discharge of the remainder. I beg that
you will always bear in mind these two points, either
of which is a justification to the Nabob, and the last an
obligation on me for these confiscations. The Begum
was entrusted by the  Nabob, Shuja Dowlah, with the
charge of all his treasures. At his death she kept them
for herself, nor durst her son reclaim them though his
undoubted right. With Bristows help he obtained
from her thirty lacs, and gave her a written promise
to take nomore. Wewere made the guarantees of this
engagement. On the revolt of Cheyt Sing, she and
the old Begum, Shuja Dowlah’s mother, raised troops,
caused levies to be made for Cheyt Sing, excited all
the zemindars of Gorookpoor and Bareich to rebellion,
cut off many parties of sepoys, and the principal Aumil
and a favourite of the younger Begum openly opposed
and attacked Captain Gordon, one of our officers
stationed in his neighbourhood.

Let this be an answer to the men of virtue who may
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exclaim against our breach of faith and the inhumanity
of declaring war against widows, princesses of high
birth, and defenceless old women. These old women
had very nigh effected our destruction.

Our extra resources of this year are as follows, viz :-—

Lacs,
1. The treasure recovered from Bow Begum as
above . . 5
2. The revenues of the reaumed )agluen, the
amount unknown ; I rate it at the balance
remaining of the Vmer sdebt. . . . 26
3. Increased revenue of Benares . . . 17
4. Increase made in our own revenue by the
new establishment . . .. 4
5Thesahfund,expeﬂed30,lrneal . .2
158

To this I might add a saving in the investment, as
we shall have more than a sufficiency for one complete
year’s tonnage lying in the warehouses, after the ships
of this year are all gone, including the despatches of
November or December next.

I subjoin to these a letter, earlier in point of
date than either of the preceding, and of the maiter
" of which a brief explanation is pecessary. The
truth is, that while Mr. Hastings and the Nabob
were together at Chunar, the latter, acting on the
recognised policy of all eastern chiefs, offered to the
former a gift of ten Jacs of rupees. Mr. Hastings -
was then absolutely penniless. Neither in his own
escritoir nor in the public treasury was there an
available rupee wherewith to meet the current ex-
penses of the bour, while the troops were all in
arrears—some, and these actually engaged in sup-
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pressing Cheyt Sing’s rebellion, to the extent of
six months. The offer of ten lacs, even though it
came in bills, was not by 2 man so circumstanced
to be rejected, and Mr. Hastings did not scruple to
avail himself of it. But he committed, at the same
time, the only act throughout the whole of his
political career of which it is impossible to deny
that it was, at least, injudicious. He communri-
cated to the Court of Directors the fact of the
present having been made, and while he set forth
his mode of applying it to the public service, he
hazarded a request that by the Court it might be
given back to himself as a token of their approval
of his conduct. What can I say about this? It
was clearly not the act of a dishonest man—for
such an one would have pocketed the money with-
out so much as alluding to it in his communications
with the India House. It was not the act of a mer-
cenary man—for Mr. Hastings's character was the
reverse of mercenary. It could not be the resul:
of wealtness—for of weakness no one will accuse
him. And, which is more extraordinary still, it
was a proceeding of which, almost to his dying day,
he used to speak as if there could be but one opinion
respecting both the justice of his claim, and the
hardship of having it rejected. I am inclined to
think, therefore, that he must have entertained on
the subject views peculiar to himself, of which, never
having heard them discussed, I can give no account.
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To Major ScorT,
Patna, 20th Janoary, 1782,

My dear Scott,—I have written a letter to the Secret
Committee of the Court of Directors, which will be
thought extraordinary; indiscreet by my friends and
presumptuous by my enemies—at least these will affect
to think so. Enclosed is a copy of it. 1 am ncither a
prude nor a hypocrite. Had 1 succeeded, as I had
reason to expect, in the original objects of my expe-
dition, 1 should have thought it, perhaps, allowable to
make some provision for myself when I had filled the
Company's treasury ; but I am disappointed. I have
added, indeed, a large income to the Company’s reve-
nue, and, if Middleton does his duty, I have provided
for the early payment of the debt due from the Nabob
Vizier to the Company. But these are not acquisitions

" of ecldt. “Their immediate influence is not felt, and
will not be known at all till long after the receipt of
these despatches. It will be known that our receipts
from Benares were suspended for three months, and
during as long a time at Lucknow. It will be known
that the pay and charges of the temporary brigade
have been thrown on the Company, and that all the
Nabob's pensioners have been withdrawn; but the
effect of my more useful arrangement, thanks to Mr.
Middleton, yet remains to be plished. 1 return
to an empty treasury, which I left empty. 1 will not
suffer it to be said that I took more care of my own
interests than of the public, nor that I made a sacrifice
of the latter to the former.

As to my attempting or boping to deceive or seduce
by the offer, if I was, indeed, capable of such a poor-
pess of mind, it would have surely prevented my
making it at all, and especially at a time when I have
every reason to believe that the many private interests
which I have excited to ition against me will be

vy
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most prevalent in the new bedy to which I have sub-
mitted my pretensions, particularly the connexions of
Mr. Wombwell, which include the whole body of the
Court of Directors, besides their eventual patronage
at the same mine of oppressive rapacity.

I am afraid that few men in England would under-
stand me if I were to ask by what right or policy we
levied a tax on the Nabob Vizier for the benefit of
patronized individuals, and fewer still, if X questioned
the right or policy of imposing on him an army for his

{protection which he could not pay, and did not want.
With what expression of features could I tell him, to
his face, “ You do not want it, and you shall pay for it "
The first was a scandal to our government; for every
Englishman in Oude was possessed of an independent
and sovereign anthority. They learned and taught
others to claim the revenue of lacs as their right, though
they could gamble away more than two lacs (I allude
to & known fact) at a sitting.

Our encroaching spirit, and the uncontrolled and
even protected licenti of individuals, have done
more injury to our national reputation than our arms
and the credit of our strength have raised it. Every
power in India dreads a connexion with us, which they
see attended with such mortifying humiliations to those
who have availed themselves of it; and in my heart I
always believe, and always did believe, that this was
the secret and sole cause of the hesitation of the Go-
vernment of Berar to accept of our alliance, although I
had carefully worded the conditions of it so as to obviate
that objection. More I need not say on this subject.
On that of the enclosed I have but a word: be you
passive—solicit no one. Only prevent, if you can, the
refusal from being accompanied by abuse.
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CHAPTER XI.

State of Parties at Home—Changes in the Administration—Hostility of Fox, .

Dundas, and Burke—Letters to Mr. Hastings,

It will be necessary at this stage in our narrative
to advert to certain circumstances whicl, though
belonging more to the province of general history
than to that of biography, were yet so closely eon-
nected with the personal fortunes of Mr. Hastings,
that to pass them by unnoticed would involve all
that might hereafter be detailed in obscurity.
* Happily for the reader, as well as for myself, a brief
and hurried explanation will serve every purpose
which I have in view, and beyond this it is not my
intention to proceed.

First, then, in reference to the governments of
Bombay and Madras, it must be borne in mind that
by the Act of 1773 these Presidencies had become,
in all the important matters of war and peace, and
treaties of alliance and friendship with foreign
powers, absolutely dependent on the Supreme Go-
vernment. Whatever their relations might be with
the native states around them, the right of making
changes in these was taken away, till their plans
should have been submitted to the Governor-
general and Council at Bengal for consideration,
and by them approved. o the management of the
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internal affairs of their provinces, indeed, such as
providing the investments, collecting the rents,
levying taxes, and maintaining order, the Governors
and Councils of Bombay and Fort St. George were
still free to exercise their own discretion; but in
every question which might appear to affect the
interests of the British empire in India, properly
so called, the will of the Supreme Council was to
be by them accepted as law.

Of the little attention paid by the Bombay autho-
rities to the spirit of the Act of Parliament, as well
as of the consequences which resulted from their
infraction of it, sufficient notice has been taken
elsewhere. Their precipitate support of Rogobah
involved them in a war, which they conducted
without vigour, and from which they must have
withdrawn with disgrace had not the power of
Bengal been put forth to support them. In like
manner allusion has been made to the ill-judged
attempt of Sir Thomas Rumbold and Mr. White-
hill, at Fort St. George, to place their government
in a novel relation towards the Nizam of the
Deccan, by withholding from him the tribute which
the Presidency was pledged to pay, and negociating
directly with his brother and vassal, for the transfer
to themselves of one of his provinces. Ihave shown
that to this attempt, and to the indignation which
it excited in the mind of the Nizam, the Company
were indebted for the formation of theleague which
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joined Hyder to the list of their enemies; and
would have further brought against them the force,
not inconsiderable, of the Deccan, had not the
Supreme Government interfered to prevent it. But
the Madras Government, under Sir Thomas Rum-
bold, had been guilty of other extravagances than
this. They chose to deal with the Nabob of Arcot,
not as with a soveréign prince, whom they were
bound by treaty to protect in the just exercise of
his prerogative, but as a vassal and dependent, from
whom it was lawful for them to wring as much as
possible, and whose wishes, in the management of
his own affairs, they were quite at liberty to dis-
regard. In a word, the policy of Sir Thomas Rum-
bold and Mr. Whitehill had tended to reduce the
Nalbob of Arcot to the condition of the Nabob of
Bengal, that is to say, they desired to stand forth
in their own persons as the acknowledged rulers of
the Carnatic, and to allow to its chief, out of the
rents which by their own agents they should col-
lect, a mere pension or stipend for the support of
himself and his family.

Mr. Hastings entirely disapproved of this
scheme, and opposed it throughout on the two-fold
ground of abstract injustice and particular inex-
pediency. He did not offer himself as the apologist
of the Nabob’s extravagances, far less encourage
bim in withholding from the Presidency the pay-
ments which were due. But as he could not upon
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principle permit & prince, especially named in the
treaty of Paris, to be reduced to the rank of a
private person, 8o he was not ignorant that the act
of thus reducing him must, if carried out, tell
against the Company’s interests with all the
powers of India. He accordingly leaned to the
side of the Nabob in his controversy with the Rajah
of Tanjore, combated the plans proposed by his
enemies to degrade him, and suggested more than
one expedient for extricating him from his diffi-
culties, without offering the smallest injury to
his honest creditors. For this he was not thanked
at the seat of the Madras Government. But when
hostilities with Hyder began, and the Nabob,
harassed at home, applied to Mr. Hastings for pro-
tection,—wben Mr. Hastings afforded him this
protection, and accepted an sssignment of his re-
venues, not as Sir Thomas Rumbold would have
done, in perpetuity, but only during the continuance
of the war,—when this treaty waé by the Nabob
urged as a sufficient exemption from the demand
of a total surrender of his authority into the hands
of the Madras Government, and he openly declared
himself to be in communication with the Governor-
general and Council,—then was there excited a
feeling which the progress of each new day ren-
dered more bitter, till it brought about by and bye
an open rupture between the Supreme and the sub-
ordinate Govermmnents. Neither was this the sole
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ground of offence which Mr. Hastings had given.
When the Madras Government, indignant with
Mc. Holland, because he, too, bad presumed to com-
municate with Calcutta otherwise than through
themselves, recalled that gentleman from his situ-
ation as resident at Hyderabad, by Mr. Hastings, -
acting as the organ of the Supreme Government,
he was reinstated. Of such proceédings as these
the consequences were immediate and inevitable.
Sir Thomas Rumbold returned home in disgust,
the jealousy of his colleagues was excited, and the
sufferings of the Carnatic, which their own impro-
vidence had occasioned, were attributed by them,
and their friends, to the Mahratta war, and to Mr.
Hastings's reckless ambition.

The Court of Directors, though generally well
pleased to espouse the cause of any man who set
himself in array against their Governor-general,
saw enough in the conduct of Sir Thomas Rumbold
to demand their censure. They, therefore, sent
out an order of recall, which, by a voluntary
resignation, he anticipated; and then, taking the
advice of the proprietors, they resolved to choose
for him a successor, not as had heretofore been
done, from among men brought up in their own
service, but out of the general list of British sub-
Jects distinguished in public life for practical abili-
ties. The individual on whom their suffrages fell
was Lord Macartney, a nobleman who bad recom-
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mended himself to notice by good service rendered
in the adjustment of a Russian treaty, and for
twenty years of employment in various situations
under the Crown; and the appointment gave the
more general satisfaction, that the friends of Mr.
Hastings anticipated from the new Governor a
willing eo-operation in carrying out the views of
him whom they regarded as the saviour of India.
It would appear, from the tone of such portions
of their correspondence as has come into my posses-
sion, that there was at the outset a disposition on
the part of these two functionaries to act heartily
together. Mr. Hastings, indeed, was prepared by
the letters of Mr. Pechell and others, to find in his
Lordship a zealous as well as an able colleague,
and writing to him on his first arrival with perfect
frankness, was answered in a spirit which seemed to
correspond with his own. But it is next to impos-
sible for a person, circumstanced as Lord Macartney
was, not to imbibe some portion of the feelings of
those around him, and he too began, by degrees, to
exhibit tokens of jealousy.on the score of inter-
ference. Mr. Hastings, eager to conciliate the
Nizam, and holding the value of the Circars exceed-
ingly cheap, had proposed that they should be re-
stored, on condition that his Highness would join
the English in the war against Hyder. Lord Ma-
cartney took quite a different view of the question,
and pronounced the Circars to be by far the most
VOL. II. 2n
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valuable of the Company’s possessions on that side o f
India. Inlikemannerheentirely underrated both the
military power and the personal faith of the Nizam,
and instead of adopting the plans of one who knew

far better than he how the balance of power in India
was to be preserved, he suggested projects of his
own, and stoutly, though with perfect politeness,
adhered to them. Moreover he, too, adopted the
idea that the Mahratta war was of Mr. Hastings's
seeking, and that fo it all the misfortunes which had

befallen the Carnatic were attributable; and cla-
morous for peace with that nation, neither he nor
the members of his family were at all careful to keep
back their opinions, however groundless and unjust,
from their correspondentsia England. Then, again,
there was extreme umbrage taken at the mode in
which their own war was conducted. Depending
absolutely on Bengal for every rupee in money and
every measure of rice,—supported solely by the
troops which Bengal had furnished, and, above all,
sustained and directed by the Commander-in-chief
whom Bengal had sent to them in their hour of
greatest despondency,—they yet murmured and
complained, and strove to thwart Mr. Hastings
in his favourite measures, because to Sir Egre

Coote, and not to the Governor and Council of
Fort St. George, the Supreme Government had
entrusted the management of funds, which were
supplied from the revenues or the credit of Bengal
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for the sole purpose of enabling the General to carry
on the war with vigour. It will be seen by and bye
that the behaviour of Lord Macartney in this respect
was neither overlooked nor misunderstood by Mr.
Hastings, and that the estrangement created by it
grew intp something like personal hostility ere the
public life of the Governor-general came to an
end.

Meanwhile the state of parties at home, subject
to almost daily changes, with each of which
Mr. Hastings’s proceedings were in some shape or
another mixed up, presented as strange a spectacle
as ever came under the observation either of the
politician or the philosopher. It would carry me far
beyond the limits of my present undertaking were
I to give of these a comprehensive detail ; but I
am bound to notice them as far as they are seen to
affect the personal fortunes and public character of
Mr. Hastings, and the materials out of which my
brief sketch shall be formed are happily abundant.

Enough has been said concerning Lord North’s
views and sentiments to show that they bad never
been very favourable to Mr. Hastings’s general line
of policy. Like his predecessor in office, the great
Lord Chatham, Lord North desired nothing so
much as to obtain an unlimited control over the
Indian patronage, and as this was not to be done
except by bringing the Company’s government into

282
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disrepute, he lost no convenient opportunity that
offered of placing it in an unfavourable light before
the public.

In this spirit the nomination of Messrs. Cla~
vering, Monson, and Francis, to be members of the
first Parliamentary Council, took place. They were
all open and avowed friends of the minister, well
acquainted with his objects,and well disposed to for-

“ward them, for which indeed they possessed ample
opportunity ; for so long as they acted together
their voices must needs prevail, according to the
terms of the law which vested all power in the
majority. Aceordingly they entered at once upon
a course of factious opposition to the plans and
devices of their chief, which may be described as
having had but one object in view, namely, so to
discredit the characters both of the Company’s local
governments in general and of the individuals to
whom they were entrusted in particular, that the
people of England might become disgusted with
both, and demand an entire change of system.
With what zeal the majority laboured to aceom-
plish this object, and how very nearly they had
effected it, I have been able in the course of these
pages to explain.  Yet their failure was complete
in the end, insomuch that Lord North himself, if
he never laid aside his desire of change, ceased by
degrees to avow it, and supported the very man,
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through the misrepresentation of whose acts he had
expected to secure for himself the great prize at
which he was aiming.’

For the triumphant issue of the struggle, in which
during four long years he had been engaged, Mr.
Hastings, doubtless, stood principally indebted to
his own firmness and integrity. Something, how-.
ever, as has been shown elsewhere, he owed to

| what the world calls chance ; for the minister who
had lost America, did not care to risk the loss of
India likewise, and therefore sought to represent
matters as great and prosperous there by way of a
counterpoise to the evils which bad overtaken the
nation  elsewhere. .Hence in the Act of 1781,
Hastings was by neme continued in office, with
powers neither diminished nor enlarged, nor with
any important change effected in the constitution
of the Company which he served. Still Lord North
was at the best lukewarm. Of the Directors very
many were hostile, while the people at large con-
tinued to cherish suspicions, which, considering the
care that had been taken to excite them, were
neither extravagant nor unnatural. Aceordingly,
" when Mr. Francis departed for England, with a
‘mind inflamed rather than softened by the issues of
his personal quarrel, Mr. Hastings felt that the
dangers which menaced his own reputation and
honour were largely increased. He, therefore,
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determined to send over a person to whom his
entire confidence should be given, and who, appear-
ing in London as his avowed and accredited agent,
might have always at hand a body of facts where-
with to refute the calumnies, of whatever nature
they might be, with which his public and private
character should be assailed.

I have elsewhere explained that this delicate
trust was confided to Major John Scott, who, ar-
riving in London towards the close of 1781,
watched, during four whole years, with exceeding
care over the interests of his principal. Happily
for me the correspondence between these gentle-
men has been preserved; and I shall not hesi-
tate, as often as occasion may require, to make use
of it.

Though the minister professed at this time to be
friendly, and his secretary, Mr. Robinson, talked
of a peerage, there were various eircumstances
which militated against Mr. Hastings both in the
House of Commons and in the Court of Directors.
By the former body the appointment of Sir Elijah
Tinpey to be head of the Adawlut Courts was
regarded as a flagrant job. Mr. Burke in par-
ticular, who was in close communication with Mr,
Francis, inveighed vehemently against the ar-
rangement, and found ready listeners among many,
who—by what principle swayed it is not my busi-
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ness to determine—seemed, like Sir Rqbert Wal-
pole, to believe that all men have their prices. To
be sure, Mr. Hastings bad his defenders both in the
House of Commons and elsewhere, conspicuous
among whom were his old friends General Caillaud
and Mr. Pechell,—Lord Mansfield, Lord Stor-
mont, Lord Thurlow, and Sir Gilbert Elliott. Yet
Lord North, while be avowed a conviction that the
motives which swayed the Governor-general were
pure, refused to stand forward as his advocate.
Again, the Directors were furious, as well on this’
account as because he had presumed to remove from
their situations certain personal favourites of their
own, among whom Mr. Fowke and Mr. Bristow
deserve especially to be enumerated—so petty
were the grounds on which the representatives of
the East India Company judged it not unworthy
of the high office which they held to array them-
selves against the man who. for nearly thirty years
had served them faithfully, and whose servxgs

more than those of any other individual on record,

had tended to secure to them and their constituents
the rank which they still held as an independent
and a ruling body. On the other hand, the King
exhibited, by his cordial reception of Major Scott,
a friendly feeling towards Major Scott’s employer.
Lord Mansfield, too, was particularly kind, often
expressing his anxiety that the powers of one who
knew so well how to wield them, might be enlarged ;
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while Mr. Francis, bowever busy and unscrupulous,
met, except from Mr. Burke, a reception the reverse
of flattering in almost all influential quarters. The
results were, that Mr. Scort’s early letters repre-
sent his client’s cause as flourishing, even while
they express fears of a different issue by and bye,
to be brought about rather by the timidity or
indolence, than by any hostile feeling on the part
of the minister.

Thus paseed the month of January, 1782, in 8
“sharp and almoet universal contest, out of which,
however, no consequences arose that could mate-
rially affect either the immediate situation or future
prospects of Mr. Hastings. For the Court's angry
letters were matters to which be had long been
accustomed, and the nomination of Mr. Stables
to be of the Council at Bengal, seems to have
been regarded by his friends in the Direction
as, at least, not injurious to his interests. In
Feébruoary and March, however, thicker clouds
began to gather. The former of these months saw
General Smith bring up the report of bis com-
mittee on Sir Elijah Impey’s ease, in which strong
language was used and heavy reflections cast on
Mr. Hastings’s character : the latter witnessed the
sittings of the select and secret committees on
Indiaaffairs, of which Mr. Dundas,afterwards Lord
Melville, was at the head. However the circum-
stanee may be accounted for, it is very certain that
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both these committees were conducted in s spirit
of bitter hostility towards Mr. Hastings. Not
content to investigate his proceedings with s mi~
croscopic eye while wielding the destinies of the
Indian empire, they went out of the way to call for
papers in which, with respect to his supposed resig-
nation, they expected to find matter whereof to
accuse him, and gave, as i§ well known, such a
‘colouring to the whole transaction, as left it long a
subject of doubt even with the unprejudiced. Mean-
while Lord North, professing to be his supporter,
and avowing his conviction that the Governor-
general's authority ought to be extended, either from
a deficiency of moral courage or because he shrank
from the labour that would attend it, abstained from
introducing a measure to that effect into Parliament..
Indeed Mr. Hastings’s position became, by degrees,
as little eatisfactory as it is possible to conceive.
For the verymen, who were most prompt to acknow-
ledge that by the grandeur of his schemes he had
saved India, seemed, equally with the crowd, eager
to discover some acts on account of which they
might affix a stigma to his private character.

Lord North’s administration, which bad for some
time previously existed only by sufferance, eame,
on the 16th of March, 1782, to an end. It was
succeeded by & cabinet, of which the Marquis of
Rockingham and the Earl of Shelburne were at the
head, both, in former times, strenuous supporters
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of Mr. Hastings, yet neither, as the result proved,
inclined at this critical period in his career to take
him by the band. Of the good will of Lord Shel~
burne nobody appears, indeed, to have entertained
& doubt. Mr. Dunning, also, now created Lord
Ashburton, made an open avowal of his predilec-
tions, while the Marquis of Rockingham could not
himself entertain personal hostility to one whom
on former occasions he had patronised. But
Lord Rockingham was entirely in the hands of Mr.
Burke, and Mr. Burke's political opposition to
Mr. Hastings had degenerated by this time into
rancour. He threatened to resign office as pay-
master of the forces, unless the strength of the
Cabinet were put forth against his enemy; and
the Cabinet, not very cordial upon any point,
yielded to his viol in this. “What can we
do?” was the language both of Lord Shelburne
and Lord Ashburton ; “we entertain the highest
personal respect and regard for Mr. Hastings, but
‘the interests of the nation are at stake, and we
cannot, to save an individual, however meritorious,
ruin our party and break up the government.”
In like manner, so fearful were private members
of disturbing an order of things from which they
expected much public benefit to arise, that they,
too, began to grow lukewarm in his cause. Mr.
Thomas Pitt, for example, afterwards one of the
most earnest of his defenders, made no secret of his




. MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS, 475

motive, namely, that he could not, at a juncture so
delicate, introduce disunion into the King’s coun-
cils ; and hence, though he should never appear in
the list of Mr. Hastings’s accusers, Mr. Hastings’s
friends must not, at that moment, look to him for
support. All this amounted, as I need not explain,
to a declaration of open war on the part of the
Cabinet and the legislature, and an election of
| Directors happeniug to take place -while the
feeling was at its height, the influence of govern-
ment was thrown into the scale against Mr.
Hastings, and greatly prevailed.

Time passed, and on the 15th of April the Lord
Advocate, Dundas, delivered his. famous speech,
in which Mr. Hastings’s most conspicuous acts of
government were one by one condemued; from
the withdrawal of the Mogul tribute to the proposed
Dutch treaty. Mr. Dundas was supported by Mr.
Burke, who, on each fresh occasion, seemed to go
beyond his former display of violence; and these,
carrying the passions or the fears of the House along
with them, proposed that an entire changeshould be
effected in the constitution of the East India Com-
pany. Itis worthy of remark, too, that leave was
sought for and obtained, to bring in a bill for the
accomplishment of this purpose, without one tittle
of the evidence on which the Committees pro-
fessed to have grounded their report having been put
into the hands of members. Now there was such
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flagrant injustice in this ; it savoured so completely
of a determination to legislate, not for the correc-
tion of any acknowledged evil but for the sheer
purpose of throwing patronage into the hands of
the minister, that Mr. Hastings's friends, whose
activity was sleepless, gained rather than lost by
the proceeding. Major Scott, acting under the
advice of Mr. Sulivan, importuned not only the
Lord Advocate bimself, but a majority of the
members on both sides of the House, and earried
his point without any great difficulty, so far, that
the bringing in of the bill was deferred. Mean-
while a Court of Proprietors having been sum-
moned, in order to pass a vote of thanks to Sir
Eyre Coote and Sir Edward Hughes, advantage
was taken of the opportunity, and an allusion being
made to Mr. Hastings’s great and distinguished
services, a burst of enthusiastic cheering followed.
8o far, then, they who took the liveliest interest
in his concerns, received comfort from the convie~
tion, that there was at least one body in the king-
dom which had not swerved from its old epinions.
And men felt, that, should matters be pushed to
an extremity, in the Court of Proprietors, if no
where else, Mr. Hastings was sure of finding
support.

The devices resorted to by the enemies both of
Mr. Hastings and the Company to blacken the
character of the one and bring the other into dis-
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repute, were as full of art as their zeal in turning the
impression to account was indefatigable. In Parlia-
ment Mr. Hastings was described as a man of bound-
less ambition; arbitrary, extravagant, cruel,-yet
possessed of talents so commanding that the autho-
rities whom he affected toservecould neither remove
nor restrain him. OQut of Parliament, again, he
was spoken of as the most mercenary and heartless
monster of his age, whose private fortune already
exceeded a million sterling, and who thought no-
thing of an expenditure of five hundred thousand
pounds, or more, so long as he could purchase by
it the support of senators as venal as they were
needy. It is past dispute, moreover, that though
answered and refuted both within doors and with-
out, these and similar calumnies worked upon the
public mind ; more especially when it was found
that the Court of Directors, of whose capability
of judging aright the public entertained a.very
mistaken ides, were against him. Still his party
was strong, especially in the rank, station, intelli-
gence, and personal conduct of the individuals com-
posing it. -Nay, in the Government itself, notwith-
, standing the bondage under which Burke’s vehe-
mence brought it, a majority was with him ; inso-
much, that while anticipating his fall, both Lord
Ashburton and Colonel Barrie declared that bis
oply fault lay in this, that his abilities were of an
order too lofty to be understood, or rightly appre-
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ciated by his employers. So also Lord Shelburne
and the Chancellor professed themselves entirely .
satisfied even with the much censured arrangement
into which he had entered with the Chief Justice,
- and would have gladly put a stop to further pro-
ceedings in the matter, had their influence been
equal to their will. But Lord Shelburne, though
powerful in the Cabinet, was in the House of Com-
mons exceedingly weak. There Burke and Charles
Fox carried every thing before them ; and, for the
furtherance of schemes which did not fully develope
themselves till the following session, they ceased
not in this to labour for the ruin of the man whom
they justly regarded as the most formidable ob-
stacle in the way of the accomplishmeat of their
purposes.

Mr. Burke and Mr. Fox undeniably carried all
before them in the House of Commons, that is
to say, their declamations were feebly answered
and their plans generally assented to; yet the
wretched attendance on the day when Burke's
forty-four resolutions were brought forward seems
to imply, that the hearis of the multitude scarcely
went with them. There were but twenty-six
members present to vote a string of resolutions,
the last of which declared, ** that it was the duty
of the Court of Directors to address the Crown
for the removal from India of all those whom the
House of Commons had censured.” But such s



MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS. 479

vote, proposed and carried under such cireum-
stances, fell powerless to the ground. -The Pro-
prietors of East India stock immediately met, and,
in a crowded Court, it was carried by an over-
whelming majority, « that the Court of Directors
were not bound to attend to any suggestions which
might emanate from any one branch of the legis-
lature.”

In the face of this declaration on the part of the
Court of Proprietors, the House of Commons could
do nothing. The consideration of Mr. Hastings’s
affairs, and those of the Company, was, therefore,
permitted to drop; nor would they have been re-
vived again, at least for a season, had not a garbled
account of the revolt of Cheyt Sing, and of all that
befel at Benares, bappened at this time to reach
London. The story, so told as to conviet Mr.
Hastings of tyranny, deceit, and injustice, was
taken up with great vehemence in the House. Mr.
Burke became more rabid than ever; and though
Lord Shelburne endeavoured for a while to stem
the torrent, he was at last obliged to yield. Aec~
cordingly, on the 27th May, the Lord Advocate
again appeared in the van to present a report on
the Benares business. He gave notice at the
same time that he should next day move for the
recall of Mr. Hastings, and being supported by
Mr. Burke and General Smith, the first of whom
spoke, by the bye; in terms of great personal
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respect of the delinquent, it was finally deter-
mined to attempt once more the attaioment of
their end through the Court of Directors. But
Mr. Hastings’s friends were not to be taken by
surprise : they waited upon the Chairman, pointed
out both the injustice of these proceedings, as far
as the individual was affected by them, and
the tendency of such votes to supersede the
Charter, and requested that he would either give
a pledge not to obey the wishes of the Commons,
or refer the case, as he was bound to do, to the
Proprietors, The Chairman, Mr. Gregory, though
professing himself Mr. Hastings’s friend, played
but a doubtful part on the occasion. An appeal was
accordingly made to the Proprietors, who met
in full Court, took the matter into consideration,
and once more saved, by their decision, both the
Governor-general and the East India Company.
After an animated debate, a large majority re-
solved, that “the Court of Directors be recom-
mended not to take any steps for the removal of
the Governor-general, without laying their pro-
ceedings before a General Court, to be specially
called for the occasion.”

Nothing could exceed the rage of Mr. Hastings’s
enemies when this second act of interference on
the part of the Proprietors became koown. Sir
Adam Ferguson, a member of the secret com-
mittee, complained loudly in his place as if an
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insult had been offered to the whole House of
Commons, and expressed a hope that during the
recess some sweeping measure would be proposed,
by which the management of India might pass
“into more competent hands. Mr. Fox, likewise,
felt exceedingly sore, and stated, that when they
met igain some decisive steps would certainly be
taken. But it may be well, perhaps, if I permit
§ Major Scott to tell at this juncture the tale both of
his own proceedings and of the state of parties as
it seemed to affect the interests of his principal.
The following letter is at least a curiosity; I
think also that it is a document of some value.
FProm Major Scorr,
London, Holles-street, 26th June, 1782.
My dear Sir,—~On the 24th instant, & motion was
made by General Smith in the House of Commons for
a censure upon Sir Robert Chambers, for accepting
the office of Chief Justice of Chinsurah, and it was
intended to follow this with a resolution for his recall.
Some debate passed, and Sir Adam Ferguson, a Scotch
member, and one of the secret committee, observed,
that no man could be ignorant of what had passed
the other day at a Court of Proprietors, or of the in-
dignity with which the resolution of the House of
Commons had been treated; that he had the honour
to be nominated a member of the secret committee:
that their proceedings, which were very voluminous,
had been laid before the House; that various resolu-
tions, growing out of those reports, had been voted ;
but that now, if these resolutions were to be mere
waste paper, the laborious researches of the secret
committee, instead of doing good, would be attended
VOL. IL 21
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with the most mischievous effects ; that the present ses-
sions was so far advanced, that nothing decisive could
be done; but he earnestly conjured His Majesty’s
ministers to turn their thoughts to this important
subject during the recess, and to have a fixed and
permanent system adopted early in the next session.
I was in the gallery at the time: Charles Fox got up
and observed, that he well knew the proceedings to
which the baronet bad alluded, and that, late as it was
in the sessions, something undoubtedly must be done
by the House upon that subject; and so the matter
passed off.

This is Wednesday, and Monday the House ad-
journs until the Lords are ready, and then the Parlia-
ment is to be prorogued; a dissolution of it will in all
probability soon follow.

Whether, in the present temper of the people, or
disunited as the ministry undoubtedly are, they will
attempt so strong a measure as bringing in a Bill to
deprive the East India Company of their chartered
rights, is a matter of very great doubt with me. Sir
Robert Palk, and others with whom I have conversed,
say that they certainly willnot ; but I do hear from other
quarters that it is absolutely fixed and determined that
Lord Cornwallis shall succeed you, and that they de-
pend upon the popularity of his character, to reconcile
the Proprietors to a measure certainly harsh and un-
justifiable.

We have fairly knocked up Smith and Francis, and
whenever you do come away, my dear Sir, it will
surely be to your honour, that a man of the highest
rank almost in this country is pitched upon to succeed
you. That Smith or Francis would have been the man
I have not a doubt, had we not fully and clearly ex-
plained their characters to the public; and in my
opinion, it is not the mere matter of being removed
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from Bengal that you are so solicitous about, but it is
that your character might be rescued from those base
attacks which (as was foretold) have been made upon
it. All wen in this country are now sensible that you
confer an obligation upon the Company by remaining
in Bengal, not that the station is an eligible one to
yourself—it is certainly a point of honour with you
neither to be bullied nor cajoled out of office. Both
have been long and ineffectually tried.
In a few words, my dear Sir, I will recapitulate
{bat has passed since my arrival in London on the
17th December, 1781. The ministry were at that
time so firmly fixed, and the present men so per-
sonally obnoxious to the King, that there appeared
no prospect of a change ; Lord North, merely to
employ some troubled spirits, had consented to
establish two committees, a secret and select: they
were sitting on my arrival, and their principal aim was
to deprive yon of the government of Bengal. The
minister professed his determination to support you in’
unequivocal terms; upon that principle he avowedly
sent out both Mr. Macpherson and Mr. Stables. Lord
Hillsborough pr an esteem for you, and Lord
Stormont a very sincere personal friendship; so did
Lord Mansfield, who had at that time great weight;
Lord Bathurst and the Chancellor were also your pro-
fessed friends, the former very much so. To a settled
determination of the then ministry to support you, X
attribute the extraordinary gracious reception I had
the honour to meet with from His Majesty; perhaps
Lord North, perfectly indifferent to the personal abuse
that has been heaped upon himself, thought that pro-
vided you kept your station in India it was of no
consequence what was said of your administration.
Francis arrived 2 month before me, big with resent-
ment, disappointment, spleen, and envy; he flew to

212
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the Directors with information, carefully arranged
during a long voyage. Not being so well received
there, or by the ministers as his vanity induced him to
expect, he threw himself into the arms of Mr. Burke,
the select committee, and the opposition.

I had the good fortune completely to destroy his
little remaining credit at the India House, and to ex-
Pose his misrepresentations. At the west end of the
town all went well, and you would have been supported
as vigorously as it was in the nature of Lord North to
support any man, His Lordship, with wit, knowledge,
integrity, and abilities equal to any of his successors,
was certainly so indolent, as to be the worst minister
for the public this country has ever had. An unex-
pected change took place. In the moment of despe-
ration almost, the opposition, by the desertion of the
Tory country gentlemen (a most contemptible set of
beings to be sure) from Lord North, succeeded. The
men who came in had professed themselves your friends
when the ministry persecated you so unjustifiably, but
the moment there was an appearance of their doing
justice to your merits, you lost your popularity with
these people. At this moment the two committees
came forward with their reports. Anxious to pay
court to the new people, all their venom was pointed
at you; Smith and Burke attacked your interior go-
vernment and the Lord Advocate your politics. Few
men in the House of Commons understand anything
of India matters, but many of them wish for appoint-
ments in that country. The old ministry, willing to
avoid a storm, retreated to the country, and whatever
was proposed was carried at once. Under these cir-
cumstances, however, we made a noble stand; we drove
the committees from all their ground as far as reason
and able arg ts could have effect upon a
popular assembly. We drove them to the necessity of
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attempting to do that by trick which they could not
accomplish without, and we have since had the good
fortune, aided by the astonishing weight of your per-
sonal character, even to render their trick ineffectual.
1 should rather say, my dear Sir, that it was the weight
of your personal character which did the business, and
that all that was required from us was industry, zeal,
and attachment. This is a short account of the trans--
actions of the last six months, in that time even the
most sanguine of your friends have repeatedly given
the cause up as desperate. My former letter will tell
you all the hopes and fears by which we were at times
actuated, until we obtained the late explicit declaration
of the Court of Proprietors in your favour. This, in-
deed, was so strong that nothing but a violent act of
power can now shake you. The inquiry carrying on at
the India House is, perhaps, the greatest farce that
ever was practised by a public body, and as such shall
be exposed at a proper time. The two chairs are
against you, and they bring forward papers which may
tend to criminate you, that is, to justify them in pro-
posing your removal. Now they are got to the treaty
with the Ranna of Gohud; and judging from a para-
graph in the Swallow’s letter, . that the Ranuna had be-
haved unfaithfully, they want to pass a censure on the
original treaty, although the capture of Gualior at a
most critical time was the consequence of it. They
mean also to lay great stress upon the contract granted
to Auriol for supplying the Carnatic with rice, al-
though Lord Macartney speaks in the warmest terms
of praise of the very ample and effectual relief afforded
bim from Bengal. How much, my dear Sir, must
these men be pushed to find out matter against you,
when they descend to such frivial occurrences. T met
Gregory at the House of Commons two days ago, and
had a very long conversation with him. He affected to
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Jament that we had called a Court of Proprietors—per-
haps he did soin reality—and said it would compel His
Majesty’s ministers to adopt a tone of severity which
perhaps they would not otherwise have thought of. 1
told Gregory that I did not conceive any thing could
be more honourable for you than the result of that
meeting. The Proprietors were your constituents, and
in a very full assembly of them justice had been done
to your character; that to recal you against the sense
of your constituents would not be to disgrace you, and
that your honour, not your station, was, I was clear,
the point you were most anxious to secure.

June 28th. The season is now so very far advanced,
and the ministry are so divided amongst themselves,
and the Marquis of Rockingham so dangerously ill,
that I think the Houses of Parliament will be up be-
fore any thing can possibly be done, and the gentlemen
who composed the secret and select committees, inding
it to be the determined sense of a great majority of the
Proprietors, that none of them shall be permitted to
go out to Bengal, are now grown very lukewarm in the
P ion of this busi Mr. Burke, too, has lost
his popularity, and the unworthy motives by which he
was actuated in his illiberal persecution are now very
fully understood  Nothing can long be certain in this
country, but, to judge from present appearances, 1
should think you will be left in the undisturbed pos-
session of your government for some time longer. Yet,
my dear Sir, how greatly inadequate is that to what
you bave a right to expect. No support—no confi-

D0 communieation with the confidential ser-
vants of His Majesty, and a resolution of the C:
remaining upon their journals as unjust, in point of
faft,asltililliberalinexpreuion. 1 hope to God you
will not euffer this resolution to give you uneasiness.
Consider it, as it really is, the work of a party, and be
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assured, my dear Sir, all good and impartial men will
join with that respectable body of Proprietors, who are
determined to defend you against the violence, the in~-
justice, and the folly of a small part of that branch of
the Legislature, or to give up their charter. The
shameful manner in which those resolutions did pass,
the evidence that your greatest enemies so unwillingly
bore to your abilities and integrity at the very time
they accused you of sacrificing the mational honour,
have rendered their votes a public jest, I do assure
you. Many of your friends and the friends of the
public are exceedingly uneasy lest, in consequence of
what has happened, you should quit the government in
disgust, but they earnestly hope you will remain on
every account, public as well as private. Never man,
I assure you, obtained such a triumph as you have
done, and let me again tell you what Lord Mansfield
told me yesterday, that beyond all doubt you were the
most wonderful man of the age. He earnestly wishes
you may not think of giving up the goverament.

Mr. Berrie carries for you all the material news.
papers of the last two months, and some pamphlets.
I suppose Mr. Macintosh’s infamous letters will find
their way to India; they are held in the utmost con-
tempt here. I believe I have now related everything
of consequence. Lord Shelburne still keeps the same
distance and reserve. General Smith, as you will see
by the papers, has put off his motion respecting Sir
Robert Chambers’s recall until the next sessions.
The friends of Sir Elijah Impey will doubtless take
advantage of this. I have inquired very particu-
larly, but I do not find that the order for Sir Elijah’s
recall is yet gone out; some of the wisest and the best
men in England eay, that Sir Elijah’s appointment was
one of the most meritorious acts of your government,
This is Saturday, Monday without fail Mr. Berrie goes;
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1 shall write a few lines and send that day’s paper. I
remain, with the warmest sentiments of respect, grati-
tude, and affection, my dear Sir, your much obliged
and faithful humble servant.

P.S. Sunday 30th June. J am this moment come
from Sir Robert Palk, who will send you a short letter.
He saw Lord Ashburion on Friday; his Lordship la-
mented most feelingly the unhappy situation of this
country at present, and the infatuation of & part of the
present ministry, who would at once overset our es-
tablishments in India without having made any pro-
vision for their future government. If his Lordship
can be depended upon, Lord Shelburne, in whose
department India is, has not concurred in any of the
late measures, nor will he without great difficulty give
you up; but, my dear Sir, surely you have a right to
expect support and cordial support too. I read that
part of my instructions to Sir Robert, in which yon say,
that if you are not supported from home you shall
deem yourself freed from all obligation to remain in
the service. This alarmed him excessively, for he
looks upon it, so does every rational man in England,
that if you quit Bengal, India will be lost. Charles
Fox on Friday told the House, that he was astonished
at the conduct of the Directors and Proprietors—that
he hoped they would reconsider their late resolutions,
and not act in opposition to a vote of the House of
Commons; but, if they did, he pledged himself to
bring India affairs before the House early in the next

i Such violent, such ridicul language will
ounly irritate the Proprietors the more, and you may
be assured, my dear Sir, they never will be bullied out
of their rights, nor will they consent to remove you to
please a pitiful faction in the ministry. What I dread
is, that you will not be persnaded to remain. This
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sacrifice of your feelings, however, the virtuous,
independent people of England hope and expect
you will make in return for their support; and per- -
haps in the next session of Parliament, or in a new
one, the members in a full House will be as ready
to do you justice as fifty-six of them were to condemn
you unheard. The present ministry is made up of such
discordant parts, that they cannot hold much longer
together. Our public affairs are yet in & very ticklish
situation: Rodney’s success in the West Indies has
isaved us from ruin there; but the Americans will not
treat separately. The Dutch are obstinate, and we
are obliged to abandon the North Seas in order to send
Lord Howe out in force to meet the combined fleets,
who are now in the chops of the Channel. His Lord-
ship will have thirty-two sail of the line to encounter
thirty-eight, and 1 hope he will fight them at all
events.

Enclosed is a copy of my letter to Lord Shelburne,
which I bope will meet your approbation. Although I
most sincerely hope that you do not, or will not, think
of giving up the government after the cordial support
which you have received from the Proprietors, yet, my
dear Sir, as you have directed me to make your senti-
ments fully known, I thought I could not with pro-
priety withhold them from Lord Shelburne. Mr. Berrie
goes early to-morrow, but I shall write to him by
Friday’s post to Venice, which will be as late accounts
as you can possibly receive from Europe. I am just
come in from Mr. Sulivan, who is in the country. He
is tolerably well, but his eyes are so bad he cannot
write himself. Enclosed is his note to me for your
perusal and for the satisfaction of Mr. Stephen Sulivan,
The ships are to be despatched this week ; I shall send
copies of all my letters by them.
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The event of which Major Scott speaks as of
‘ px:obable occurrence came to pass not long after
the preceding letter was despatched. On the 3rd
of July 1782, the Marquis of Rockingham died,

and he was succeeded in the office of Prime Mi-
nister by the Earl of Shelburne. It is well known
that of this appointment, the immediate result was
the secession from the Cabinet of the entire
Rockingham party, whose dislike to the politics of
their avowed rivals, the Tories, proved in the end
to be far less influential with them, than their per-
sonal jealousy of the new premier. Yet some, at
least, of the faction were not without plausible
excuses for their conduct. Mr. Fox, for example,
declared, that he could not support Lord Shel-
burne, because his Lordship would not consent to
recall Mr. Hastings from India, while Mr. Burke,
though not of the Cabinet, held the same language,
and gave up his place as Paymaster-general of the
Forces. At the India House, on the other hand,
a belief that Mr. Hastings was about to receive
the countepance of the government operated
powerfully in hie favour. Iis epemies became
more cautious, his friende more active as well as
more bold ; indeed the universal feeling subsided
into one of alarm, lest he should have already
taken offence at the tone of the Court’s letters, and
resigned: for it is a remarkable fact, that the
most rancorous of his opponents could never
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divest themselves of the feeling of respect, which
commanding talents are sure to exact, even from
those who may distrust the particular mode of
their application. With respect, again, to his
supporters in what may be termed private life,
they were greatly elated by so favourable a change
in his position. Lord Mansfield, in particular, was
loud in his praises, pronouncing him to be by far
{the most remarkable man of the age, and declaring
that he, more than any other individual in the
kingdom, had been the cause of the overthrow of
the Rockingham Administration. Yet the pro-
gress of a little time sufficed to prove, that these
appearances of triumph were unreal.

Lord Shelburne, in spite of his own good in-
tentions and the hearty support of the King, never
possessed influence enough to carry on the Go-
vernment. Even on the India question he was so
weak, that a change, at least of men, became ne-
cessary ; for a change of men implied the control
over a very valuable patronage, and never did
minister more stand in need of patronage than he.
While, therefore, he expressed himself warmly in
favour of Mr. Hastings to his friends, he did not
concesl from them that a new Governor-general
must be appointed, assuring them however, that
as the appointment would be conferred only on a
nobleman of the highest rank, so should all the
circumstances attending Mr. Hastings’s recall be
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managed with the most anxious regard to his
honour and convenience. Accordingly, in the
month of August, Mr. Smith, the Company’s
solicitor, made known to Major Scott certain re-
solutions which were, he said, to be submitted to
the Court of Directors, and to which he trusted
that Major Scott would offer no opposition. Iam
not very willing to go on with this history except
in the words of one who himself played & part in
it. I therefore transcribe the following :—

‘Major Scort to Wasnen Hastrnes.
London, 20th August, 1782,

My dear Sir,—Yesterday I closed what I suppose
will be my last despatches by these ships; but lest
another delay should arise in their sailing, 1 now sit
down to give you a full account of what has occurred
lately.

My last letter is dated the 11th of August; many
have been written since, but of them I could keep no
copies, as they were despatched from time to time, at
the India House, on a supposition that they would
barely arrive before the departure of the packet.
Since Mr. Berrie left London, which was on the 1st
July, I have written seven letters to you overland ; if
one of the seven arrive safe, I shall be perfectly satis-
fied The two last were to advise you of the extraor-
dinary resolutions which had been shown to me by
Mr. Smith, the Company's solicitor. They have now
been made so public at the India House, that it is
needless to write them over to you in the secret manner
1 did yesterday ; I will therefore send you the business
fully by these ships in case of accident.

On Tharsday last, at the election of a director in the
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room of Mr. Gregory, which we carried for Mr. Bo-
sanquet, Mr. Smith, the Company's solicitor, took me
aside, and told me, after having asked if I had heard
anything further of your removal, that he had been
desired by some of the leading Directors to draw out
certain resolutions, which he then read to me, and as
nearly as I can recollect, they are as follows : —

Resolved, That Warren Hastings, Esq., Governor-
general of Bengal, hath performed many very great
and meritorious services to this Company ; that in no

fone act of his government hath he been actuated by a
corrupt motive, nor is he suspected of peculation; but
it is resolved by this Court, that Warren Hastings,
Esq., hath formed wrong opinions upon points of great
political importance, and that he hath acted upon those
opinions g0 as to bring great distress upon this Com-
pany. It is therefore resolved, that he be removed
from the government of Bengal ; such removal to take
place, on or before the departure of the last ship of the
season after these advices shall arrive in Bengal. That
E. Wheler, and T. Macpherson, Esq., having con-
curred in opinion with the said Warren Hastings, Esq.,
be also removed, and that Sir Eyre Coote, having ap-
plied for a successor, be also removed.

That, as it is necessary that the office of Governor-
general of Bengal should be filled by a person of rank
and consequence, be appointed Go-
vernor-general. That it be recommended earnestly to
the said Warren Hastings, Esq., to give fo his suc-
cessor every information which his great experience
enables him to do. ‘That be appointed
to succeed Messrs. Wheler, Macpherson, and Sir Eyre
Coote.

When I had read this paper, Mr. Smith earnestly
conjured me not to give to it any opposition, but to
suffer the matter to be quietly settled; if it was not, the
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whole must again be brought before Parliament, when
it might not be dome so agreeably to you, as it would
be by this mode. I told Mr. Smith that there were
certain cases, in which I was not allowed to exercise my
own judgment. That the instructions which I had re-
ceived from you were clear, positive, and pointed, to
defend your conduct, as far as I know of it, and to do
no act whatever that might appear like a resignatipn
of the government for you; That the proprietors were
pledged to protect you, until some delinquency was
proved against you, which I was clear would never be ;
That I certainly should oppose these resolutions being
carried, both with the Directors and in the Court of
Proprietors ; That I had sent a copy of part of my in-
structions to Lord Shelburne, and if his Lordship wonld
be good enough to reperuse them, he would see 1 could
not possibly act otherwise than I meant to do. Smith
said much more to convince me it would not be for your
interest to have the matter brought again before Par-
liament. 1 said that the more your conduct was pub-
licly discussed, the higher would it exalt your character.
1 bave since seen Mr. Sulivan, who very highly ap-
proves of my answer to Mr. Smith. His opinion is,
that Lord Shelburne, afraid of Fox and Burke bringing
India affairs before the House of Commons, wishes to
settle everything before the meeting of Parliament ; and
again, the patronage annexed to so many appointments
in Bengal is both tempting and advantageous to his
interests: but Mr. Sulivan is clear nothing can be
done to hurt you, provided the proprietors stand by us,
which we have not the smallest reason to doubt.
These resolutions have been read by some of the
- Directors, but Sir Henry Fletcher, the Chairman,
melmehehunotneenthem,normetheydnwn
up by his desire, or the desire of the deputy. He further
assures me upon his honour, that no measures whatever



MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS. 495

will be proposed, except in a full Court of Directors;
and that if any resolutions fending to your removal
should at any time pass, very sufficient notice would be
given before a General Court was called, without whose
approbation, as he observed, I well knew, nothing
which the Directors could do would be of any conse-
quence.

Thus, my dear Sir, this matter now rests. 1 confess
what gives me great uneasiness is this :—you have been
most basely, most infamously used ; yet you are placed
jn that very peculiar and delicate situation, that how-
ever you may resent the conduct of the Directors, and
some part of the ministry, you are precluded from
quitting the chair. I earnesly wish you to be placed in
that situation that you may be able to quit with honour
if you choose it ; but was I to say too much upon this
subject, it might be construed into an intention of
entering into a compromise. I have done what ap-
peared to me the best, which is 1o make that part of
your instructions public to the Directors, which you
desired me to icate without reserve, and this [
have done without a comment.

While our wise men at home are differing upon
trifles, I almost tremble when I reflect upon the state
of our affairs in India. An express overland has
brought us an account of the landing of the French
troops at Porto Novo. To thiuk of removing the only
man who can preserve India at such a crisis is surely
treason to the state.

My former letters, I believe, eontain everything that
I had to say. This is a time of the year when no
business is done of any Our illiberal
opponent Burke is sunk, never, 1 hope, to rise again.
Mr. Fox, who is an astonishing man, keeps perfectly
quiet during the recess.

There is again some faint hopes of peace, but if it
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should take place, it must be upon the most disgraceful
terms.

1 shall continue writing to you overland once a fort-
night, and when anything of moment happens, I will
send a messenger express.

It would appear from this letter, first, that the
resolutions quoted did not emanate either from the
Directors in their individual capacity, or from the
Company ; and next, that to get them passed was
a manceuvre on the part of Lord Shelburne, who,
desirous of strengthening his own hands, was
willing to cover Mr. Hastings’s retreat by the same
measure which should give to himself a large in-
erease of patronage. 1 am not sure that the pro-
ceeding deserves much praise on the ground of
candour; but at least there was no hostility about
it; and it is curious enough, that it should have
been proposed and rejected at a time when a
question far more delicate, because affecting Mr.
Hastings’s private character, was under discussion.
For his account of the Nabob’s present had not
long reached the India House, and among both
Directors and Proprietors his desire to appro-
priate the amount to his own use was treated
at least with delicacy. Indeed I may go further
than this. Many, to whom the real state of his
private affairs was known, expressed a wish to
accede to the proposal ; and of these there were
some who, on all questions of general policy, stood
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opposed to him. Yet the bodyof perso}ls whoone by
one could thusindulge their better feelings towards
the man, became, so soon as they met in Court,
vehement in their condemnation of the Governor.
They could not forgive his open and avowed econ-
tempt of their orders, and insisted, in a despatch
written under the influence of that feeling, that not
only Messrs. Fowke and Bristow should be re-

! instated in their offices, but that Cheyt Sing him-
gelf should be restored.

Though Mr. Smith’s propositions were by Mr,
Hastings’s friends rejected, Lord Shelburne did
not for & moment abandon his design, of relieving,
for he would not call it superseding, the whole of
the existing government of Bengal. The indi-
vidual, moreover, on whom he fixed his choice as
a becoming successor to Mr. Hastings was in every
respect so competent in the public estimation, that
he had the less hesitation in renewing his over-
tures ; and Lord Cornwallis was openly named as
the Governor-general elect. Nevertheless, Mr.
Hastings’s friends would not enter into any com-
promise in the matter. If indeed the measure
should be brought into Parliament, they might or
might not oppose it, according to the form which it
should assume ; but they would be no parties to an
srrangement which, telling against Mr. Hastings’s
credit, would at the same time exhibit him in the
light of one so purely selfish as to fail of taking

YOL. 1L 2k
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into account the probable wishes of his best and
steadiest supporters, the great body of the-Pro-
prietors. But Mr. Hastinge’s friends did more than
this. In the Direction, the instructions for Messrs.
Fowke and Bristow’s reinstatement had been
carried by only fourteen votes against ten. The
minority wrote to desire that he would pay no
attention to the order, while Major Scott informed
him, on the authority of Lord Mansfield, that as
the Directors had no right to command the resto-
ration of Cheyt Sing at Benares, o Mr. Hastings
would be acting illegally if he paid the slightest
regard to such command.

In this manner the recess wore itself out, the
minister renewing from time to time his overtures,
and more than once hinting at a peerage, as the
price of Mr. Hastings's acquiescence in bis wishes.
Meanwhile, Mr. Hastings's friends steadily refused
to compromise, in any degree, the public or private
character of the Governor-general. No decisive
steps bad therefore been taken, when, on the 5th
of December, the Houses met, and listened to a
speech from the throne, of which a large portion
was devoted to the affairs of India. Mr. Dundas,
who had joined Lord Shelburne’s government, as
Treasurer to the Navy, moved on the 16th, that the
resolutions of the 28th of May preceding should be
read; and the motion being complied with, he
went on to animadvert in strong language upon the
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spirit of opposition which had been displayed by
the Proprietors. .. He ended by giving notjce, that
after Christmas he should call upon the House to
take the matter into consideration ; and requested
in the meanwhile that copies of the late proceedings
at the India House might be laid upon the table.
The motion of Mr. Dundas for copies of the
Court’s proceedings was not resisted. Both Go-
vernor Johnstone, however, and Mr, T. Pitt,
reprobated the terms in which he had spoken of
the Court of Proprietors, -whose right it was,
secured to them by Act of Parliament, to support
their own Governor, and who had only exercised
that right when they refused to obey the mandate
of the House, by petitioning the Crown for Mr.
Hastings’s recall. Then rose Mr. Fox to de-
nounce Mr. Hastings as a great public delin-
quent, a proceeding which called up Governor
Johnstone again, by whom Mr. Fox was referred
to his own speech delivered in the previous May,
in which Mr. Hastings’s qualities both of head and
heart had been very tenderly handled. But I write
of times when less even than at present men
submitted to the restraints of consistency and good
faith; and so Mr. Fox, strong in the support which
his party was prepared to give, took of Mr. John-
stone’s reference no notice whatever. Yet Mr.
Fox's language was tame when compared with
that of Mr, Burke. Offensive as he bad been on
2K 2
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many previous occasions, his feelings seemed on the
present to hurry him beyond all self-control ; indeed
his charges were so grave, so heavy, and so fiercely
adduced, that they excited the indignation, much
more than they carried the sympathies of his
audience along with them, Mr. T. Pitt, in par-
ticular, dared the speaker to the proof, when Mr.
Hastings might have an opportunity of meeting
him face to face; while Mr. Burke, probably
without reflecting on the serious nature of the pro-
ceeding, pledged himself that Mr, Pitt's desire
should be fulfilled to the letter. Finally, the pro-
poser of the original motion closed the debate by
declaring that he was aware of no eriminal pro-
ceedings on the part of Mr, Hastings, neither was
it his intention to bring any criminal charge
against him ; but for political reasons he should
do his best to remove him from his station, and
bring in, at a convenient season, a bill for that,
and for other necessary purposes.

Even from this imperfect sketch of the manner
in which the ex-ministers conducted themselves, it
will be seen, that their hostility to Mr. Hastings's
views partook largely of personal hatred to himself,
~—=and that there was no proceeding, however un-
candid or unfair, in which they would scruple
to embark, provided it held out a prospect of crush-
inghim. Not content with denouncing him in their
speeches, the members of the two committees,—
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packed tribunals, if ever such there were,—made
every conceivable effort to rake together a body
of evidence, such as might cover him with dis-
grace, and render him odious to the English people.
No sooner were they informed of the arrival
of persons who entertained, or were supposed to
entertain, a grudge against Mr. Hastings, than they
issued summonses for them to attend ; and they
had scarce the decency to hide their chagrin as
often as the statements of these persons contra-
dicted their own anticipations. =Take the following
case as a specimen of the temper in which such
matters were arranged :—

“Captain Rayne,” (writes one of Mr. Hastings’s
correspondents,) “ the nephew of Colonel Champion, .
came to England with Fairfax in the Nancy. Smith
(General Smith, chairman of one of the committees)
knew, of course, of Champion's conduct towards you,
and naturally supposed he should find the nephew
your enemy, and ready to say what he would wish him
to declare. In this persuasion he sent for Rayne to
his house, and examined him relative to the Benares
business, having understood that he had been there
soon after the rebellion. Rayne, like a man of honour,
declared what was strictly true; assured the General
that there never was a man more detested and despised
in his zemindarry than Cheit Sing ; that he was, in fact,
supported merely by the countenance of the English;
that his behaviour, previous to your putting him under
an arrest, bad been to the highest degree contuma-
cious; that he had undoubtedly formed a design to
throw off the English Government altogether; that
this was prevented by your journey to Benares; that
the rebellion was actuslly owing to an accident; that
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in one month the country was effectually reconquered-
and in the most perfect tranquillity; that it had con-
tinued so ever since; that the natives were highly
pleased with the change, having ever held Cheit Sing
in the utmost contempt and abhorrence; that you, so
far from having forfeited the eonfidence of the natives,
enjoyed it in the highest degree; and that he could
not possibly offer a stronger proof of it, than Moodajee
Sindia’s having actually signed the peace at the moment
when, if he had determined to carry on the war, and to
assist Cheit Sing, he had a prospect of doing so with
success; but that, from his confidence in the character
of Mr. Hastings, he had determined to seek our friend-
ship and alliance. That the Vizier had given such
proofs of fidelity and attachment at the moment of
danger as must effectually prove his confidence in, and
regard for Mr. Hastings; and he had no doubt but
that this would increase every day.

“ Smith heard him with evident marks of impatience
and disappointment, said he must be mistaken, and as
this evid does not his purpose, he has never
scen him since; but I shall take care he appears before
the Select Committee.”

1t is not worth while to pursue these details any
farther. In the Houses of Parliament, in the
Court of Directors, among members of the Cabinet,
and throughout almost every circle of society,
Hastings, his merits and demerits, constituted a
standing topic of discussion. For if his enemies
were vindictive, his friends were not slothful ; and
the latter could boast of, at least, as large a share
of talent as the former. Doreover, the feelings of
the House of Lords were decidedly with bim, as
was shown by the reception that was given to Lord
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Walsingham’s speech, who, just before the recess,
spoke largely in commendation of Mr. Hastings’s
policy, and attributed to him the chief merit of Sir
Eyre Coote’s successes in the Carnatic. Still his
position was a very critical one, inasmuch as the
minister either could not or would not support
him ; and the best and ablest of his fiiends,
feeling it to be such, devoted the interval between
the prorogation and the reassembling of Parliament
to fresh negociations. I subjoin Major Scott’s
account of these, as being at once more graphic
and more full than any which I could give :—

« On the 1st of January,” he writes, «I saw (Gover-
nor) Johnstone at the drawing-room, who told me that
‘Whitshed Keene, Lord North's relation, had met him
as he was going to court and begged to see him on par-
ticular business respecting Mr. Hastings. After the
drawirg-room, Johnstone desired me to accompany him,
introduced me to Mr. Keene, and told him that what-
ever phssed on the subject of Mr. Hastings would, of
course, be communicated to me by him, and therefore
he thought it was best we should meet at once.

«Kee d confused and very shy, said he had
no authority from Lord Cornwallis or Lord North to
propose anything ; at the same time he declared that,
as a member of the state, he wished some mode might
be fallen upen to prevent the removal of Mr. Hastings ;
that these were Lord North’s sentiments, too; that the
situation of India was very critical, and there was a
strong party against Mr. Hastings, yet his cause cer-
tainly gained ground every day ; that he had the strong-
est reasons for believing the sentimeats of Lord Shel-
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burne to be as friendly as those of Lord North, but that
both were desirous of Lord Cornwallis being hereafter
the Governor-general of Bengal; that he had acci-
dental]y scen a gentleman last night at the opera, who
is in the confidence of Lord Cornwallis, and from him
he understood that Mr. Hastings's friends would be
perfectly satisfied provided he was permitted to remain
three or four months in the chair afier Lord Cornwallis
should arrive there. If this was the case, Mr. Keene
thought there was but one more point to settle,
namely, to secure a decent retreat for the Lord
Advocate, who had pledged bimself to bring in a Bill ;
and this he conceived Lord Cornwallis would be able
to effect.
" «1told Mr. Keene I was exiremely sorry to find
that my candid declarations, both to Lord Cornwallis
and Major Ross, had been so much mistaken. Every
man in the kingdom who had read the reports, knew
that I not only had no authority, either directly or
indirectly, under any circumstances whatever, to resign
the Government for Mr. Hastings, but that he had com-
icated this lution both to the Directors and the
Ministers ; that thereforeall I could offer was matter of
opinion, by which Mr. Hastings was not bound in the
slightest degree. 1had said, and 1 again repeated, that
the idea industriously thrown out (and it had made an
impression upon Lord North), that Mr. Hastings, if left
to himeelf, would never quit Bengal, was totally false.
I would stake my life that Mr. Hastings wished to come
home when he could do so with honour, and without
endangering the safety of India; that I was equally
cerfain Mr. Hastings.never wished to embarrass his
Majesty’s Government, or to have his canse turned to
the purposes of faction or party; that, convinced in my
own mind of the truth of the assertion, I bad said it
was my firm opinion Mr. Hastings would retire a few
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months after Lord Cornwallis’s arrival; but then it
was mere matter of opinion ;—as such I mentioned it,
declaring, at the same time, that nothing I had said or
might say was in the slightest degree binding upon
Mr. Hastings.

# Johnstone then spoke and said, if Mr. Keene had
nothing to propose, it was wrong in me to open myself
so much as 1 had done ; forif we were to be at variance,
where was the necessity of explanations?

« Johnstone added, he knew Lord Shelburne’s senti-

{ments perfectly well; that they were in favour of Mr.
Hastings, but that, afraid of the Rockingham party in
the Cabinet, he had disguised his real sentiments, and
was taking a hostile part against the man whose cause
he wished tosupport ; that the friends of Mr. Hastings
had no fears ; they knew well that the overtures which
had been indirectly made from several quarters were oc-

ioned by an apprehension on the part of Government
that they would be foiled in their attempts to remove
the Governor-general by Bill ; that, in short, as I had
already stated to Lord Cornwallis and Major Ross,
there was but one way of settling the business that we
could agree to; this was, that his Lordship should go
out d in.C il and C der-in-Chief, and
that the Governor-gencral should resign whenever he
thought proper. Our conference ended here; and on
our return to the drawing-room, Mr. Orde, Lord Shel-
burne's secretary, spoke to Johnstone upon the same
subject. His answer was the same, and he expressed
the same confidence of success to our cause, provided
it was carricd any further by the minister.
"« On my return home, I found aletter from General
Caillaud, in which he enclosed a copy of one from Lord
Clarendon to him. This nobleman has invariably pro-
fessed the utmost respect and veneration for your cha-
racter. Hel ts the p t app of things,
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says that ministers are determined upon your removal ;
that it may be effected in a manner exceedingly dis-
agreeable, and that it is a point of prudence and policy
to compromise before the meeting of Parliament ; that
though I am debarred from acting, yet Lord Ashburton
or Mr. Sulivan should boldly step forward and resign
for you upon honourable and advantageous stipula-
tions.

« General Caillaud seemed to think Lord Clarendon’s
reasoning worth attending to, and that your situation
was exccedingly critical. I replied to the General as
1 did to Keene, and from his answer I see he is con-
vinced we can do nothing ; but I am alsoclear we ought
to do nothing, even if we had the power, and that no
investigation can take place which will not redound
most highly to your honour. 1 feel I act right in this
business.

“The Benares business is now most effectually
cleared up, and the evidence of Fairfax and Captain
Rayne upon this subject when Parliament meets again,
will force conviction upon the minds of all men.

«9th January.—1I have just had a conversation with
Sir Robert Palk relative to our present situation. He
thinks with me that the matter may still be amicably
adjusted, and 1 have convinced him there is but one
way of effecting this desirable point,—by Lord Corn-
wallis accepting the succession, and, in the mean time,
the command of the army.

* Sir Robert has not a doubt but that Lord Shel-
burne’s sentiments are dingly favourable towards
you; but there is so strong a party of Rockinghams
in the Cabinet, that he dare not avow his real senti-
ments.”

Meanwhile, and during the progress of the first
months of 1783, a succession of events befel, of
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which the genéral historian will’ be apt to say,
that however discreditable they may be to the
parties concerned in them, they yet teach a great
moral lesson to all statesmen in all ages. With
these I am no further concerned than as they bore
upon the fortunes of the subject of this memoir.
For whether Lord Shelburne had stayed in or gone
out,—whether the coalition had brought their plans
to bear or broken to pieces in the act of arranging
them, he, I am inclined to think, would have been
equally the sufferer. Both parties, indeed, thirsted
to be put in possession of the patronage of India,
and both knew that the end was to be attained only
through the disgrace and ruin of the Governor-
general. It, therefore, ‘excites in us no surprise
whatever ‘to find Mr. Dundas, a member of
Lord Shelburne’s administration, bringing in a
Bill for the reconstruction of the government of
British India, one clause of which required that
Mr. Hastings should be recalled, and succeeded in
his office by Lord Cornwallis. As little can we
wonder that a Bill, having for its objects the accom~
plishiment of ends which the opposition professed,
generally, to keep in view, should have been resisted
by the same opposition with such vigour as to lead
to its abandonment. The truth indeed is, that
neither Lord Shelburne, nor Lord North, nor Mr.
Dundas, nor Mr. Fox, took the smallest interest
in the welfare either of the East India Company or
the Company's Governor, and that, being equally
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ready to°sacrifice both in the establishment
of their own political influence, they differed
only in this, that they were alike unwilling that
the sacrifice should be made, except for the exclusive
benefit each of his own particular faction, Hence,
after Mr. Dundas’s bill had been lost, and the
existence of the Government endangered by it, the
Secret Committee continued to inquire and to
report—each fresh report tending more and more
to cover Mr. Hastings’s name with obloquy, as well
as to demonstrate the necessity of some radical
change in the whole system of Indian administra-
tion. For though Mr. Francis made but little way
in society, with Mr. Burke he was all-powerful,
and over the proceedings of the Secret Committee
Mr. Burke never ceased to exercise an over-
whelming influence.

Matters had taken this shape, and the Com-
mittee were, as usual, vindicating the independence
and the honour of Cheyt Sing, and deploring the
cruel wrongs that had been done to the Begums,
when letters arrived both from Madras and Bengal,
which bad no tendency to divert the tide of popular
prejudice out of the channel into which it was the
business of Mr. Burke and Mr. Francis to lead it.
In the former, sume of which proceeded from the
pen of Lord Macartney himself, Mr. Hastings was
described as wasting the resources of his own pro-
vince, and starving the war in the Carnatic for
the purpose of pressing that against the Mabrattas.
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In the latter, the Mahrattas were represented as
having rejected the terms offered to them, and Mr.
Hastings, who communicated the intelligence, made
10 secret of his own satisfaction that they had done
s0. Now, as neither the Court of Directors nor
the people of England could know the grounds on
which he stood—as they ‘were ignorant of the
position of Goddard’s army at the time, and knew
not that a few marches more would enable him to
dictate peace on his own terms in the enemy’s
capital, they not unnaturally leaned to the side
of those who represented the Governor-general
as actuated by an over-weening ambition, such as
could not be satisfied except by the total overthrow
of the Mahratta state and the annexation of their
territory to that of the East India Company. Aec-
cordingly, the clamour against Mr. Hastings grew
daily louder, the Government offered to it no oppo-
sition, and Lord North, never ceasing to speak as
if his feelings were entirely on the side of the
oppressed, acted like one who would not take the
trouble to interfere for his protection.

Lord Shelburne’s reign was by this time, how-
ever, drawing to a close. So early as the opening of
the session after the Christmas recess, it was evident
to all men that he could not hold his ground ; for
his personal adherents in the House of Commons
scarcely numbered forty, and the rest who sup-
ported him, from caprice or interested motives
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might at any moment desert him. One ground of
gecurity he had, to be sure, and one alone, namely,
that the political opinions of Lord North and Mr.
Fox were much more at variance with one another
than either of them, on any given subject, could be
with his; and trusting to this, he made an effort
to carry on a government—but the effort availed
him not. The peace which, under his auspices,
England made with France and Holland, and the
United States of America, gave rise in both Houses
to an animated debate, upon which the minister
obtained in the Lords a majority of fourteen, and
in the Commons was left in a minority. I think
that the following letter, besides connecting, better
than any words of mine, this defeat with the pro-
gress of the Indian inquiry, is, on other and more
obvious grounds, well worthy of insertion :—

From Major Scorr.
London, Queen Square, Friday, 21 Pebruary, 1783,
My dear Sir,—The events since my last are most
curious. God knows how the business will end! I
wrote you fully overland by this night's post, and as
the Datch passes are not vet come, perhaps these ships
may convey the result to you.

. I will give you a detail of our late political opera-
tions, observing, however, that my worthy friend Toone,
s!wuld he arrive early with you, will answer every ques-
tion you can put to him fo the moment of his leaving
London, which was last night.

The preliminaries of the peace were debated on
Monday last, in both Houses. In the House of Lords
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the minister carried an address of thanks, after a vio-
lent struggle, and a debate that lasted till five in the
morning. He had a very scanty majority considering
the force of government in that hospital of incurables,
only fourteen. Lord Shelburne spoke ably, and art-
fully, and in some instances falsely, for he asserted
(against proof) that you had been duped by the Mah-
ratta general Sindia, and that there was no prospect
of peace with the Mahrattas. :
In the Commons, Mr. Thomas Pitt opened the busi-
ness. He spokeremarkablywell. When he touched upon
India, he said, that we were in no danger there, while
so able a statesman as Mr. Hastings, and so gallant a
general as Sir Eyre Coote, conducted our affairs in the
cabinet and the field.
When Mr. Burke came to reply to Pitt, he flew out
as he always does when India is mentioned, but so
much to the dissatisfaction of the House, that not the
smallest attention was paid to him. After a debate,
that lasted from four in the afternoon, till eight in the
_morning, the motion for an address was negatived by
a majority of sixteen. 1 shall send the complete de-
bate by this night's coach to Portsmouth. The most
extraordinary coalition took place upon this question
—DLord North, Charles Fox, and the whole of the
Rockingham party,—but the effects of that coalition
have been extraordinary upon the minds of the people,
who say to a man, that they are all rascals alike; and
in this temper, Shelburne, who plays his cards well,
has procured an address from the city of London to
the King, (which passed with only one dissenting
voice,) expressing their sincerest gratitude to His Ma-
jesty, for complying with the wishes of his people, in
procuring them the inestimable blessings of peace.
Should this address be followed, as 1 believe it will,
by the principal trading towns, Shelburne will dissolve
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the Parliament, We shall know more before I close
this letter to-night.

The situation of England is truly melancholy, and
alarming, from this circumstance, that, there is not &
grain of public virtue amongst public men. Thoie
gentlemen of large fortunes, and independent spirits,
who might be expected to step forth, are either lazy, or
ignorant, and with men of decayed fortunes, or with
adventurers, such as Burke, politics are a trade.

In the division on Monday, Lord Shelburne had all
the men of property and all the country members with
him, except three. However these political vermin
disagree, and quarrel amongst themselves, there is
one point in which they all meet,—a desire to provide
for their needy dependants in India; and though we
have hitherto warded off the blow, T yet plainly per-
ceive that the minister, whoever he may be, when the
present struggle is over, must, and will, lay violent
hands on the East India Company.

I see this so clearly, that I trust you will prepare for
anything that may bappen, being assured at the same
time of this truth, that your honour they cannet hurt.

Toone will tell you all that Johnstone mentioned to
us. Heis strongly of opinion that Lord North's coming
in will secare you, and he says John Robinson told him,
before the division on Monday last, that if Lord North
and Fox came in, our friends in India were safe. I
saw Robinson on Sunday; he told me Lord North
was highly pleased with the late accounts, and that we
should see our way clearer on Tuesday. Still, my dear
sir, let me repeat, be you prepared for anything that
may happen. Mr. Sulivan begs me also never to
send a letter without strongly stating the uncertainty
of your situation.

‘We had 2 General Court yesterday, but nothing was
said very particular. ~ Johnstone observed, it was no
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wonder our expenses had been enormous in India, since
the French had made such vast efforts there. IHe
added, that the French ambassador, the Marquis de
Monstier, had assured him, a few days ago, that the
expeditions to India this war had actually cost France
above seven millions sterling ; and that, however party
or faction might misrepresent the conduct of English
gentlemen in power in India, they had acquired im-
mortal honour by their prodigious exertions.

February 22nd. The newspapers which I shall
send to Portsmouth to night, by the coach, will give
you an idea of last night's debate. Lord Shelburne
has but one game to play now, and that is, to dissolve
the Parliament ; if he does not, the ministry must be
changed next week, for it is impossible he should stand
with a majority of seventeen in the House of Com-
mons against him.

The advocate meant to bring in his India Bill, the
2ad of March ;——now the scene wust be altered, and you
may, perhaps, my dear Sir, remain some time longer
in a state of uncertainty.

25th. I believe Lord Shelburne will not have
courage or influence enough to dissolve the Parliament,
so that he must retire in the course of this week. The
idea is, that the Duke of Portland (a eypher) is to be
at the head of the Treasury; Lord John Cavendish,
Chancellor of the Exchequer; Lord North, Privy Seal ;
his son, Paymaster-General ; Burke, Treasurer of the
Navy ; and the other ministers to be fixed to-day. You
will know the whole perhaps before the ships sail, but
I send down every pight to prevent any accident.

1 came late from Mr. Sulivan’s last night; Barwell
was there too. They both agreed that your office was
of too much consequence to the minister, for you to be
allowed to retain it much longer, and they earnestly
begged you would be prepared for anything that might

VOL. I 2L
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happen, always remembering that your honour was
beyond the reach of such wretches. James Macpher-
son still asserts, that Lord North has taken care of you.
1 do not believe a syllable of it, and this I know, ‘that
the hopes of Lord Cornwallis's friends are n‘zvxved
again. I will write again to-morrow, and remain, my
dear Sir, most faithfully and gratefully yours.

From the same.
Londou, Queen Square, 23rd March, 1763.

My dear Sir,—We have undergone so many changes
within these few days, and are still in so unsettled
a state, that 1 may perhaps again mislead you by my
accounts, though they come from the first authority. I
will give you Lord Mansfield’s account to me of the
progress of the negociation for 2 new ministry. The
coalition between the house of Cavendish, Lord
North, and Charles Fox, I informed you of, both by
my late letters overland, and by the ships. North
had agreed that our steady and upright friend, Lord
Stormont, should be included in the new arrangements,
as President of the C il, and a cabinet minister.
This being done, he wrote to inform Lord Stormont
of the transaction, and that he (Lord North) was o have
a seat in the Cabinet as Warden of the Cinque Ports.
Lord Stormont, in reply, said, he was much obliged
to Lord North for what he had done for him entirely
unsolicited, but that he must decline taking any part in
an administration, in which the person with whom he
professedly came in sat in the Cabinet without possess-
ing one of the great offices of state ; that his Lordship
had seen the absurdity of Lord Ashburton being a ca-
binet minister, as Chancellor of the Duchy of Lancas-
ter, and that therefore be must decline bearing a part
in an administration so formed.

In consequence of Lord Stormont's refusal, and
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North’s friends representing to him the absurdity of
his own conduct, he came forward with a fresh proposi-
tion, that he should be one of the secretaries of state,
and he again wrote to Lord Stormont, and begged to
know if he would then comeinto office with him. Lord
Stormont in reply observed, that the business wasnow
materially changed by Lord North’s being in an active
office, and that he would come in himself as President
of the Council, and a cabinet minister. The Duke of
Portland and his party consented ; and I went to the
drawing-room on Thursday last to see the ceremony of
kissing hands; but about threeo’clock on that day, the
Duke of Portland wrote a letter to Lord North, in
which he spoke of Lord Stormont in the warmest
terms, both as a private and a public man, but in the
end observed, that the gentlemen with whom he acted,
did not approve of his having a seat in the Cabinet.
Lord North replied by letter, that then the whole ne-
gociation was at an end, and his Grace and his friends
might do as they pleased.

On Friday momning, at breakfast, Lord Mansfield
told me these particulars, and added, « Hastings will
yet be allowed to save India, whether the negociation
is renewed or not.”

The Duke of Portland and his party, however, came
to their senses, and sent to tell Lord North that they
complied with his wishes relative to Lord Stormont,
and with some difficulty coaxed him to consent to
draw with them, but this difference totally destroyed
all confidence between them.

On Friday the JDuke of Portland went to the King
with the following arrangement :—Duke of Portland,
First Lord of the Treasury; Lord John Cavendish,
Ch \lor of the Exchequer; Lord Stormont, Presi-
dent of the Council; Lord Carlisle, Privy Seal; Lord
Keppel, First Lord of the Admiralty; Lord North

2L2
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and Charles Fox, Secretaries of State. These seven to

form the Cabinet,
The ministry was looked upon as firmly settled.

Yesterday morning. (Sunday,) the Archbishop of York
called upon me; he told me the King had declined
giving auy answer until he had seen all the inferior
arrangements. At night I saw Lord Mansficld again,
and heard the same from him, and thus the business
"stands at this moment. Lord Mansfield told me that
the King was most sincerely to be pitied ; that he is as
worthy, and as good a man as ever lived, and has been
treated by them all in the most inhuman and barba-
rous manner; but the general opinion to-day is, that
the majority of the House of Commons, as well as of
the City of London, and the nation, is so disgusted at
the infamous conduct of both parties, that if His Ma-
jesty would firmly step forward, and appoint his own
ministry, he would be supported by every honest man in
England  You may guess something of the temper of
the times, from reading the enclosed paper of this day.
The Archbishop told me yesterday that the conduct of
Lord Stormont was perfectly unexceptionable through-
out this business; he knew nothing of Lord North's
Pprevious negociations, and would not depart a step
from his own terms. His Grace added, that he had
known Lord Stormont from a boy, and that there was
not a purer, or a better character in England, and I
might be assured, he never would sacrifice you upon
any consideration. This Lord Mansficld had told
me before, and Lord Stormont has invariably ex-
P d greatest p 1 affection for you as a
private gentleman, and an enthusiastic admiration of
you in your public character. Of Lord Stormont we
are secure, of Lord North I have my doubts, but I
will relate all that eoncerps himself. While he was
out of office, I have repeatedly seen him, and never
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without having some conversation with him, or without
his cracking two or three jokes (the delight of his life)
with me. He was at all times particularly civil, and
seemed to¢alk of you with pleasure and esteem. When
this coalition was first on foot, Johnstone found him
rather cold, and expressed his doubts to me ; however
he got him afterwards to be more explicit. A diabo-
lical attempt has been made by Edmund Burke, to in-
jure Mr. Sulivan in his election next month, which. the
inclosed letter from me to the proprietors fully ex-
plains from first to last. This carried our worthy old
friend, Sir William James, and Mr. Woodhouse to
Lord North, who received them very kindly, promised
to clear up the matter, and assured them of his support
in the election, and authorized them to go to John
Robinson, at Sion, to take the usual steps. In conse-
quence of this, these three gentlemen, Johnstone, and
Lord Sandwich, who is most cordially our friend, went
to Robinson. He entered heartily into the cause, but
said he must see Lord North before he wrote letters to
his friends in North's name. Lord North, agreeably
to his irresolute nature, wanted then to retract, told
Robinson he must talk the matter over with the Duke
of Portland and his new friends, before he took any
further steps. This was communicated to Lord Sand-
wich and Johnstone on Friday morning, who posted
instantly to Lord North. He found the Duke of
Portland, Fox and Burke, waiting to see his Lordship,
who was denied to Johnstone, who however brushed
passed the fellow into Lord North’s bedchamber,
where he found him. He apologised for his intrusion,
but said the occasion required it, for he had a character
to lose, and though he loved Lord .North, he must
accuse him of a positive breach of promise, if he did
not boldly stand forward.in support of Mr. Sulivan
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and his friends. North hesitated at first, but it fortu-
nately happened, that the negociation with the Duke
of Portland, &c., was then off, as I have before related,
and Johnstone had the address to convince Lorj:l
North of this truth, that if he set out, by giving up his
oldest and staunchest friends, he would ruin himself
for ever; and did not quit him till he got a letter from
him, which was to be circular to all his friends, earn-
estly begging their support of Mr. Sulivan, and his
list, at the next election. This is a point of the ntmost
consequence, a5 it entirely disarms Mr. Burke, and 1
do really think with Lord Mansfield, my dear Bir, that
all will now be settled perfectly to your satisfaction.

We are totally in the dark as to the Mahratta peace,
but, thank God, one point is sufficiently clear, that you
have not been deceived in Sindia, and that, as far as
depends on you, the peace is actually concluded.
You may easily conceive the illiberality of our oppo-
nents, from this circumstance :—we have not heard
from you since the 15th of April, 1782, nor from Ma-
dras, since the 9th June, but last week some letters
were received from Bombay, by way of Bussorah, and
in one of them, the 24th October, it is said, “ail hopes
of peace with the Mahrattas scems at an end” Burke
and Smith went to the House of Commons, said you
had been deceived by Sindia, and peace was not to be
bad. This report flew over the town, and gave great
Gneasiness to our friends, till we learnt the true state
of the case,—that peace had actually been ratified in
Calcutta on the 3rd of June.

When I got this news, 1 took care to insert it in all
the papers, and Lord Mansfield observed to me upon
it, “Whatever the issue may be, or whatever obstruc-
tions the people of Bombay may throw in Hastings's
way, he has the sole credit of saving the Carnatic, and

L]
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breaking the power of the Mahrattas, by converting
the most considerable of that nation from a bitter
enemy to a cordial friend.”

We impatiently wait for further advices. The Euri-
dice has been sailing these five weeks, but kept here
by the mutiny of ber men; however these disturbances
are tolerably well settled, and she is expected to sail
immediately, so that I shall despatch this by the coach
to-night to Portsmouth, and a duplicate of it overland
to-morrow. Perhaps in a postscript to-morrow night
I may be able to tell you something further. Our old
friend Mr. Sulivan is again in perfect health and
spirits ; Mr. and Mrs. Woodman are so too. I men-
tion them because they may not write by this ship. I
wrote to you last night by the Johanna Maria, a Daue.
Adieu, my dear Sir, and believe me ever, with the
warmest sentiments of respect, gratitude, and affection,
your much obliged, and faithful humble servant.

It is no business of mine to describe either the
extent to which the King carried his opposition
to the formation of this Cabinet, or the means that
were adopted in order to overcome that opposition.
Enough is done when I state that the coalition
came into power; and that the friends of Hastings,
though, like the country in general, they counted
little on the public or private honour of the parties
composing it, were led to believe that his interests
would at all events be advanced by the change
which bad taken place in the Cabinet. They
accordingly assailed Lord North with requests
that he would exert his influence to obtain the
erasure of the resolutioris which affixed, as they
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asserted, so deep and unprovoked a stain on the
character of their client. But Lord North, as
usual, played fast and loose ; now amusing them
with general professions, now evading or making
light of the subject; while Mr. Burke proposed
that a parliamentary commission should be ap-
pointed, and investigate on the spot the merits of
the Indian Goverument. It is somewhat edifying
to find that the ns specified as peculiarly well
qualified to discharge so important yet so delicate a
trust, were Mr. Philip Francis, Mr. Long, General
Burgoyne, Lord Macartney, and Mr. W. Burke;
of whom the first was Mr. Hastings’s inveterate
enemy, as well as a candidate for his office, should
he be thrust out; while of the remaining four,
there was not one who had not taken part in the
course of the parliamentary proceedings against
him.

Mr. Hastings’s friends did not succeed in ob-
taining the end at which they aimed ; neither was
Mr. Burke permitted to run away with the India
question altogether. In his projected eommission
the rest of the Cabinet withstood him; and the
session wore away without any decisive step having
been taken to follow up the recommendations of
the ministers. For Mr. Dundas allowed his Bill
to drop, and with it much of the hostile feeling
which had previously swayed him; while Mr. Fox
assured the House that, when they met again, the
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subject should be early and effectually brought
before them. It would be hard to say whether
the nation was or was not dissatisfied .by this
meagre issue to preparations so ostentatious. But
of the degree to which it was supposed to bear
upon Mr. Hastings’s situation at the moment, as
well as on his future prospects, the following gives
a tolerably good account:—

From Major Scorr.
London, 17th July, 1783,

My dear Sir,—My last overland was dated the 4th
of July., No prospect of the Euridice sailing. Yester-
day the Parliament was prorogued. You will see by
the King's speech that His Majesty gives notice of
their intention to resume the consideration of India
affairs when the Houses meet again. The encloseds
preface will tell you what passed in the House of Com-
mons as the King was coming to Westminster. That
infamous scoundrel, Mr. Burke, could not permit the
last day to pass over without showing his malicious
intentions; and in order to carry an appearance with-
out doors, he got Lord North (who is equal to any-
thing) to second the motion for laying all those papers
respecling Munny Begum, &ec., before the House. From
the Commons I went to the Peers, and stood next to
Lord North while the King was speaking. When His
Majesty had done, Lord North turned round to me
and said, «“Well, Sir, you see we are to begin upon
you as soon as we meet again.” I answered, «Yes,
my Lord, and the sooner the better; but I wish we
had been dismissed this year in a more gentlemanlike
manner.” His Lordship stared and said, «* What do

* It was sent with the original of this letter. ’
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you mean ?” I replied, «1 do not mean, my Lord, to
allude to His Majesty's speech, but to the manner in
which Mr. Edmund Burke prefaced his motion for the
trash of 1775 to be laid before the House. Upon this
ground, however, 1 dare him to proceed, and indeed
upon every other. If there is a man upon earth free
from peculation it is Mr. Hastings.” His Lordship
replied, “Major Scott, you should not be so violent;
consider peculation is a very common word in the
House of Commons, and very frequently nsed.” I
answered, “ True, my Lord, and it has been applied
by Mr. Burke, in former times, to your Lordship, with
as little justice, I believe, as he mow applies it to Mr.
Hastings.” He laughed at this, and said, « We shall
see how you come off next year,” and then went away.
1 shall not have room in this letter to send you my
second letter to Burke complete, but it shall be en-
closed, as far as I can get it from the printer, and I
will send you several copies of it by sea. Every man
of honour in the kingdom condemns the conduct of the
ministry towards you ; and even those who do not wish
you well say that they either ought to remove or to
support you. There never was a more unpopular
ministry than the present. The King hates them most
cordially, and will certainly remove them if he can.
Should Lord Temple be at the head of the mext
ministry, with Lords Thurlow and Shelburne of the
Cabinet, I am convinced Lord Cornwallis will still go
out to Bengal to succeed you, and that the mode of
settling the business will be highly honourable for you.
The present men anxiously wish to remove you, Mr.
Wheler, and Mr. Macpherson, merely for the exten-
sion of patronage; nothing but the dread of conse-
quences {0 themselves prevented them from doing it
this year; and I know for a fact that Lord North told
them the ministry would be ruined if they attempted
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your removal this year. Let me entreat you, my dear
Sir, to be prepared for anything that may happen,
being assured, however, of this fact, that your honour
is beyond the power of such unprincipled scoundrels to
injure. 1 have nothing new to tell you. We are
omnipotent at the India House, and shall take care to
profit by the present recess from parliamentary busi-
ness. The Euridice and the Swallow are both to sail
as soon as the definitive treaty comes. Johnstone is
as firm as a rock, and we gain converts every day. We
jare in great impatience for the arrival of the Fox. I
hope to God we shall receive pleasing accounts of your
health when she arrives. I am ever, most faithfully
and gratefully yours,

Joun Scorr.

From the same.
London, 18th July, 1783,

My dear Sir,—I have just closed and despatched a
packet. to you by the way of Bussorah, which I hope
will be with you in December at furthest. Yesterday
I went to Court, where I met Lord North and Governor
Johnstone; the former saluted us both with his usnal
good humour, and then observed to the Governor, « Do
you know, Mr. Johnstone, that Major Scott flew into a
violent passion yesterday in His Majesty's presence,
and what do you think it was for? Why, because Mr.
Burke had made use of the word peculation in the
House of Commons just before. Now you know that
it is a very common word in our House, and strict par-
liamentary language; and as Major Scott attends so
constantly in the gallery, I am astonished he should
be so much hurt at the repetition of a word which he
must have heard so often.” I replied, *“1t is true, my
Lord, I have heard the word very often, and Mr. Burke
has repeatedly in my hearing applied it to your Lord-
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ship with as little justice, I really believe, as he now
apples it to Mr. Hastings. There was a time, my
Lord, when Mr. Burke persecuted your Lordship with
as much inveteracy as he now does Mr. Hastings.”
*True,” replied his Lordship, “ they badgered me till
they turned me out; and shall I tell you a secret?
they will badger Hastings till they rout him out too.”” I
said that was a matter of little moment, I was perfectly
indifferent as to that, but we would take care he should
not injure the honour or the reputation of Mr. Has-
ting. I added, «It gave me great pleasure to hear
your Lordship second Mr. Burke's motion. Your
Lordship saw all the papers he called for in 1776, and
you must have been convinced of the falsehood of the
charges, or you never would have proposed Mr. Has-
tings, both in 1780 and 1781, to be again and again
Governor-general of Bengal. By moving for these
papers, your Lordship was desirous that every member
who would take the pains of reading them, should be
as firmly convinced of the Governor-general’s integrity
as your Lordship was. This must have been your
motive for seconding the motion.” His Lordship then
said, I am sure I have no idea of accusing Mr. Has-
tings of having done anything improper.” Company
coming up put an end to this curious conversation, of
which you have the substance, if not the expressions
very exact. I am, my dear Sir, most faithfully and
gratefully yours,
Joun Scorr.
From the same.
London, 29th July, 1783,

My dear Sir,—I wrote to you overland on Tuesday
the 22nd, to advise you of the arrival of the Fox
Packet two days before. Mr. Morris delivered to me
very safely your several letters of the lst, 3rd, 5th,
7th, 8th, and 9th of February. 1 want words to ex-
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press. to you, my dear Sir, how happy the receipt of
these advices has made me on every account, public as
well as private. The flattering terms in which yon
mention your approbation of the steps I have taken are
highly grateful to me, and it will ever be the first wish
of my heart to act in such a manner as to ensure a con-
tinuance of your friendship and esteem. My letters
on Tuesday last were written so much in a hurry, that
I had barely time to acknowledge the receipt of the
packet. The effect which the public advices has had
{in your favour is very great. Notwithstanding all I
could urge, some of your best friends had their doubts
as to the ratification of the Mahratta peace. Sir Henry
Fletcher, the chairman, too, would insist upon it that
you had been deceived by Sindia; consequently the
Fox's arrival was a complete triumph to our friends,
and a miserable disappointment to those who would
have rejoiced at any event that tended to discredit
your administration. The universal opinion now is
that it will not be in the power of the present ministers
to injure you, should they retain their offices, which is
very doubtful, and be inclined to do it. Burke sinks
more and more every day into contempt ; his conduect,
and the behaviour of the leading Directors towards
you, is execrated universally. On Thursday last I
dined with Lord Mansfield and Lord Stormont, and
was charged particularly to present their sincere con-
gratulations and hearty good wishes to you, both on
the recovery of your health and the wonderful change
which your perseverance, firmness, and constancy has
wrought in our affairs in the East Indies. Lord Stor-
mont told me he had read all the papers relative to
Lord Macartney which have been transmitted to His
Majesty’s ministers. He says you are right; but as
Lord Macartney is so powerfully connected, you must
expect the matter to be taken up very warmly in this
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country. It would have been fine food for the Select
Committee had they been sitting when the Fox arrived.
Lord Stormont expressed his surprise and concern that
Lord North should have seconded Burke's motion, but
he thinks he did it without any fixed design, though
the other had a view in getting him to second it; but
Lord Mansfield said,  Hastings soars so much above
them all, that he may now despise anything they can
do. I defy them all to injure him now.” The Suez
packet I am afraid is lost ; we have never heard a word
about it. You will find, I hope, by the regular receipt
of my letters, that since July last I have regularly
written once, and frequently twice, a month, by the
common post, and I have had intelligence from Bus-
sorah of my letters of the Ist of March being safe
arrived there. There seems to be a total stagnation
of politics just now; all parties are lying by for the
winter. One fact, however, is beyond dispute, that the
King will change his present ministers if possible, and
they are despised and hated throughout the nation.
The majority of them are gamblers, swindlers, and
beggars. Lord Stormont told me there was not the
smallest danger of the peace, and that it might be
expected in a few days. Lord Mansfield observed
that your operations in India would forward it. The
moment it comes the Euridice sails, and she is to be
followed by another frigate, to ensure you the speediest
advices. You will find, my dear Sir, that the Benares
business has been so satisfactorily and fully explained,
that not a doubt can remain in the breast of any man
as to the propriety of your conduct throughout that
arduous business; but the fact is this, your enemics
maust fix upon something, and what was so' likely to
answer their purposes as a misrepresentation of the

st which induced the Rajah to rebel? The
moment the subject comes forward again we shall be
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ready. You have said everything that can be said in
your narrative. Lord Mansfield and Sir Joseph Yorke
have both pronounced it to be a complete justification
of your conduct; but we shall continue to answer all
the committee say on this as well as on every subject.
By the Euridice I have sent you a laie report, in
which your narrative is again published by Parliament,
and an attempt made to prove. even from your own
statement, that there was no cause of just complaint
against Cheyt Sing. This came out just before the
Houses were prorogued. We shall completely refute
every assertion in it, to be ready when Parliament meets
again. Halhed is indefatigable upon this as upon
every other ion, and he is est d the first poli-
tical writer in England. Lord Mansfield told me he
bad read my two letters to Burke and the preface
which were sent you by the last overland despatches,
that he never read a pamphlet in his life which pleased
him so much, and that I have most happily exposed
Burke by bringing his own solemn declarations to con-
viet him. I find by a letter this moment received from
Mr. La Touche, that mine to you of the 21st February,
which contained an account of the ratification of the
peace, was despatched from Bussorah on the st May,
o that I trust it reached you by the end of last month.
One great plea of Lord Shelburne’s for making the
peace was in order to preserve India; but you, my
dear Sir, will be allowed by all men the glory of having
saved our empire in the East before peace was even
thought of in England, at least to your knowledge.
31st July.—We have received intelligence from
Bombay of the of General Matthews in the
Bidenora country. This must, 1 think, be decisive in
our favour: and it shall not be forgotten, that to your
exertions and injunctions it is owing that an army
from Bombay was furnished with supplies and put in
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motion. Mr. Hornby has signified his intention of
quitting. That Government will be a bone of con-
tention here I fancy. Enclosed is a small letter for
my brothers, and one from Lord Mansfield to Sir
Thomas Miles. No immediate prospect of the defi-
nitive treaty. I am ever, my dear Sir, most faithfully

and gratefully yours,
Joux ScotT.

From the same.
1st August, 1783,

I do mot recallect anything particular to add just
now. We are all quiet at the India House. Mr.
Sulivan is determined to bring the affair of the nine-
teen lacs before the proprietors, if the Directors behave
shabbily, as I expect they will, upon the business. In
every letter let me repeat my usual request to you, to
look upon your Government as drawing to an honour-
able close. Consider, my dear Sir, what a temptation
your office is to a corrupt Government ; but be assured
we will fight the ground inch by inch; and when I
talk of your removal, I expect myself we shall be vic-
torious ; but I speak the sentiments of English poli-
ticians, who know the nature of the people here better
than I do, though hitherto I have been right in my
comjectures: and it is my firm opinion that a
will be sent to wait your time of yielding the Govern-
ment to him. I am 8o far confirmed in this opinion by
Lord Mansfield, that be declares, “ Ministers dare not
use Mr. Hastings ilL” Ever, my dear Sir, most faith-

fully and gratefully yours,

Jonx Scorr
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CHAPTER XII.

Position of Mr. Hastings in reference to the Country Powers—His Corre-
spondence with his Agents at the Court of Sindia, at Lucknow, snd
Benares,

I RETURN now to Mr, Hastings, whose position,

though in some respects improved, was not yet such

as to safisfy a mind like his—eager and zealous
and indefatigable in its efforts to work out the
well-being of the country. The arrangements to
which he had come, for example, at Lucknow
and Benares, though full of promise for the future,
brought no immediate accession to his available
resources. There was a lack of zeal among
his own agents, of which notice will be taken
by and bye; while of the natives, to whom, at the
outset, the care of the provinces was committed, -
almost all sadly disappointed him. In like man-
ner his negociations with the Mahrattas went on
but slowly, for each chief was jealous of the part
played by his neighbours, and all were alike dis-
posed to embrace or ereate opportunities to pro-
crastinate. I say nothing of the state of the Car-
natic, over which the tide of war was sweeping;
or of the expected arrival of an srmament from
France, to which the Madras government had
nothing to oppose. These calls upon his vigilance
VvoL. II. 2m
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and care have been fully noticed already; as well
as the means which he adopted to meet them.
But a not less crying want, that of grain where-
with to nourish both man and beast, soon began to
appear. Again Mr. Hastings showed himself
capable of grappling with and surmounting every
difficulty. After maturely considering how the
measure could be best and most economically
effected, he determined to furnish the necessary
supplies by contract: and so faithful as well as
active was the individual to whom the contract was
assigned, that not in a single instance did a failure
occur. Moreover, it was at this critical moment,
when external cares seemed to press most beavily
upon him, that Mr. Hastings found leisure to
arrange his plan of a salt monopoly, a project to
which every member of the Government except him-
self stood opposed, and of which the advantages were
" not made apparent for some time afterwards. In
a word, with ample ground of self-congratulation,
and the best reason to anticipate a triumphant
issue sooner or later out of all his difficulties, Mr.
Hastings continued, throughout a large portion of
this year, anxious and uneasy. His disappoint-
ments were great—his mortifications frequent—his
courage and eonstancy alone never failed ; and by
these he sustained himself in spite both of the
waywardness of his eolleagues and subordinates in
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India, and the hostility, all but openly avowed, of
his superiors at home.

The following letters, which relate, some to the
Mahratta negociations ; some to the state of affairs
in Benares and Oude ; some to the wants of the
Carnatic, and the best means of supplying them,
will show far better than any formal statement
from me, how the mind of the writer adapted itself

| to circumstances. The gentleman to whom the
first series is addressed was employed by Mr.
Hastings to represent him at the eourt of Sindia.
He was a prodigious favourite with the writer;
and appears, by his talent and his zeal, eminently
to have deserved this favour.

To Davip AnprrsoN, Bsq,
Fort William, 15th March, 1782,

My dear Anderson,—You will now receive your last
instructions, and even these are superfluous. You
must act upon your own judgment, and trust to the
Board for their approval of whatever you do for the
public service. It is not peace with conditions of ad-
vantage that we want, but a speedy peace; and we
would rather purchase it with the sacrifice of every
foot of ground that we have acquired from the Mah.
rattas, excepting Salsette and the little islands adjacent
to Bombay, than hazard the loss of the present oppor-
tunity by contending for more. Get Bassein, if you
can; but if this is likely to prove an obstacle to the
conclusion of the treaty, give it up. In effect, every
territorial acquisition on that side is a loss in sub-
stance, and only valuable in point of credit, and those
-are the least valuable which are the furthest removed

2m2
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from the seat of Government, because they will re-
quire a larger force to defend them, and that 'will
eventually prove a diminution of strength to the capital.
Whatever I write, whether under a private or official
address, is for authority, and you may use it as such:
nor is it only that I possess that power from the Board.
On these subjects we have but one mind, and our con-
fidence in you is the same, and it is unbounded. Do
not, therefore, cramp yourself by the letter of our orders,
but decide with boldness and decision. Act yourself
in any point which may be presented to you, and
which is either not provided for by your instructions,
or which may require some deviations from them,
except such as are positive, and declared to be indis-
pensable, what choice of conduct I should make were
1 personally present. I promise you that you will
not err.

1 am afraid of nothing but delay. It is impossible
to forsee all the casualties to which our affairs are liable
in the interval in which this business is suspended.
No change of prosperity, nor reverse of fortune, can
affect our desires for peace with the Mahrattas; but it
may operate on theirs, and especially on the weak mind
which appears to possess the principal ruler. Nanna
Furneess may hear of the arrival of a French arma-
ment ; and again wish to throw the Mahratta state and
his own personal interests into the hands of Hyder,
from a supposition that this accession of strength will
decide the contest in Hyder’s favour. 1 believe it will
not operate in the same way with Mahdajee Sindia. 1
had a proof when I was at Chunar either that he pos-

d 2 fir of character, or some personal in-
terest, which counteracted the natural influence of such
events. Yet he may be embarrassed by fresh instruc-
tions, and cautions founded on such Besid
Hyder exists, and exists with a superiority, while the
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war lasts, or is supposed to last, between us and the
Mabhrattas. I am clearly of opinion that Hyder will
abandon the Carnatic as soon as he hears of a peace,
because he will expect a visit from the Mahrattas.
Nothing could be more unseasonable than the ap-
- pearance of the French armament at this time on the
coast. It affected me much in the manner that Cheyt
Sing’s rebellion did when I began my first negociations
with Mahdajee Sindia. Happily its worst effects are
past, and if the last intelligence which we have re-
ceived shall prove true, I think we shall have cause to
rejoice that so formidable an exertion has been made
against us, instead of repining at it. It was certainly
made at an enormous expense, (and the French govern-
ment cannot afford expense,) and with great prepa-
tions and great promises from Europe. Its object
was no doubt adequate to such appearances, and the
expectations which have been long and publicly enter-
tained of it. It would have been no less than the
extirpation of our nation from the Carnatic, and the
transfer of its dominion from the Nabob Walla Jah
under our influence, to the Nabob Hyder under
theirs. They have at length appeared. They have
brought the force which they promised. They were
superior, greatly superior, to our equadron in strength.
Ours engaged them (not they ours), beat, dispersed,
and pursued them. Many of the transports with
troops and stores have fallen into our hands, and as we
know that all their ships of the line were crowded with
soldiers, their loss in military must have been so great,
that they could land only mutilated corps, and those
they must abandon (if they land them) to the mercy
of Hyder, and the fate of war without a resource, be-
cause their squadron cannot remain to protect, or re-
ceive them again on board, if they should be defeated.
So dreadful a.calamity terminating in nothing is
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equivalent to the greatest positive advantage. As
soon as 1 receive the authentic communication of this
intelligence I will send it to you. In the mean time
I give you an exact copy of the private report which
has been transmitted from the ship which is said to
have brought public letters to us from Madras on the
same subject, but not yet come up to town. Make
what use of it you can. Translate it, and give it to
Sindia, with my salam if you will.

Do mnot meglect our injunction to send instant
advice by duplicate (and add triplicate) despatches
overland by way of Surat. Be very short. Iam, my
dear Anderson, your most affectionate friend.

To the same.
Caleata, 2nd Agril, 1752,

Dear Anderson,~I will reply to your two last let-
ters in full to-morrow. Weatherstone will be ordered
to leave Poona. We have ordered Colonel Cumming
to march back again with five regiments to the Caram-
nassa, and be shall proceed to the Jumna if your fur-
ther advices shall makeit appear to be y. Your
answer to Mahdajee Sindia upon the two demands
concerning the Antrebede and the Chout of the Car-
natic was perfectly right. Reject every new demand,
especially on points which have no relation to the war,
with a peremptory denial and a refusal to treat upon
them or with them.

You will receive a letter from Lord Macartney and
his committee filled with exaggerated deseriptions of
the distressed state of the Carnatie, vehemently urging
you toconclude a peace. Pay no kind of regard toit, nor
let it influence you to make one single advance to obtain
it. Answer it respectfully, but go on your own way.
These men will ruin their own affairs by proclaiming
that they are desperate. I know not why, for they
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certainly are in & more prosperous condition than they
were. Yours affectionately.

To the same.
Fort William, 6th April, 1762,

Dear Anderson,—You will receive a public letter on
the subject of that which has been written to you by
the Select Committee of Fort St. George. 1 am as
anxious for peace as they are; but I would neither sue
for it, nor break the faith, nor tarnish the honour of the
nation to obtain it; neither would such sacrifice pro-
duce such an effect. I own I am uneasy at the delays
which have arisen, and which seem to grow against the
accomplishmentf our hopes. Above all, I am alarmed
at Mahdajee Sindia’s late requisitions, because they
mark too strongly a desire to find pretexts for evading
a concl or for ling his want of authiority to
bring it to pass. You must absolutely reject every
proposal hereafter that shall be in itself unreasonable
and bear no relation to the points of our past dif-
ferences and reciprocal claims. Such are the claims on
the Doaub and to the Chout of the Carnatic. The
Nabob of Oude obtained possession of the Doaub long
before we had any disputes with the Mahrattas, and
the Carnatic never paid the Chout to them. These
were not objects of the war, nor ought to be of the
peace ; neither shall they. If these pretensions are
revived, answer that you have orders to refuse them,
and to refuse to treat upon them.

But, in fact, I have doubts of Mahdajee Sindia’s
authority to conclude a general peace. Mr. Holland
has advised us that the Nabob Nizam Ally Cawn has
proposed to go to Poona, to assist at the nuptials of
the Peishwa and to summon a general congress; and
ke has actually begun his progress to the westward.
I received a letter from Chapman this morning, in
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which he writes that Moodajee is going to Poona, to
assist at the nuptials of the Peishwa, and to join in an
assembly which is to be held there, and which is to de-
termine either on a renewal of the confederacy or on
a peace. And the same post brought your letters of
the 13th and 20th ult. to Major Palmer, which men-
tions Sindia’s intention on the same points exactly
agreeing with theirs.

1 see nothing but confusion and delay in a general
meeting, if it takes place before the peace # concluded,
and this is to be the object of it. Each party will lay
in his respective claims, and will be influenced by his
separate and probably concealed views of interest or
policy. .

Endeavour to bring Sindia to a conclusion at once.
His merit will be lost in the production of the same
end with the participation of others, and his influence
and credit may suffer by it. If he has not authority to
conclude a peace finally, I should be satisfied with the
next alternative, which he seems to offer, viz., a con-
ditional peace, referable for its ratification to the prin-
cipals, provided he will bind himself to support it, and
to oppose any other demands upon us.

I have given great offence both to the Nabob Nizam
Ally Cawn and to Moodajee Boosla by the pref
shown to Mahdajee Sindia. All their letters mark
l&im to ge an object of their envy, and that they and

Nanna Furneess, all equally wish to disappoint him of
the credit of having been thz author of a peace. State
these things with the address and language of which
you are a master, and urge him, if you can, to a de-
cision. At all events, let me know his answer and
resolution.

I am much afraid that the contents of the Select
Committee’s letter will be known. They best know
their own condition ; but their report of it differs
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widely from private opinions, and of authority; and in
their letters to us they enclose, as a proof of their
distress, a state of their store and grain, which exceeds
by far what I had conceived they could have had at
any one time amassed together. I send you a copy of
it. At the same time I understand that they have at
this time an open communication, with abundant sup-
plies of provisions of all kinds, with the Pollams; a
large recruitof draught and cavalry cattle ; and Hyder's
army certainly reduced, by death and desertions, to
{ one half of its original strength.

To the same.
Fort William, 12th April, 1782,

Dear Sir,—I have received your letter of the 25th
ultimo, accompanied by one for the Board, containing
a detail of the progress and state of your negociations.

Should Sindia continue his demand of our entire
cession of Ahmedabad, and you have no expectation
that he will recede from it, do not suffer this considera-
tion to retard the peace. A mode of accommodation
presents itself in the sixth article of the treaty with
Futty Sing, by which it is stipulated that he shall
be put in possession of Ahmedabad and its depend-
encies in liew of Autavasy and a participation in the
revenue of Surat. These territories may be re:
exchanged with Futty Sing, and Ahmedabad com-
pletely surrendered to the Mahratta state ; but do not
adopt this expedient unless you are convinced that
peace is unattainable without it, or unless peace can be
immediately obtained by it.

The claim urged by Sindia on the lands ceded to us
by Futty Sing is rendered nugatory by the treaty of
Poorunder, which confirms that cession, provided it
should appear that Futty Sing had a right to make it ;
and that right has been incontestably proved. But,
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admitting that Futty Sing had not established the
proofs of such a right, it would then be incumbent on
us to restore the lands in question to the person from
whom we received them; and they would of course
revert to Futty Sing. I state these circumstances that
you may empioy them to obtain other ions in
our favour; for, in fact, I do not desire to retain a foot
of the territory acquired from the Mahrattas, either by
war or treaty, except Bassein. Relinquish all for that
object and peace ; and even relinquish the former, if
the latter caunot be had without that sacrifice.

If I am particularly tenacious of the property of
Futty Sing in Ahwedabad, &c., it is to mark to the
Mahrattas and to all Indostan, the scrupulous atten-
tion of the English nation to the interests of their
allies. 1t is prepost to suppose, that in an al-
liance between powers which have the same object in
war—the distress of a common enemy—one party
should relinquish and the other retain all the benefits
acquired by it.

If Futty Sing was to be placed exactly in the same
state in which he stood before the war, he would be a
gainer by the q which be would derive from
being incladed in the treaty; and he has no claim to
any higher consideration from us than that we will
attend equally to his interests with our own.

Ina word, I recommend it to you to consider the
spirit of the treaties snd of your instructions, and to
apply it liberally to our actual situation and the ad-
vantages of peace. You know what may be, and
what ought not to be, sacrificed for that object; exer-
cise your judgment freely, and make no more refer-
ences, although they should cost but & delay of four-
and-twenty hours.
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To the game,
Alipoor, 4th June, 1782,

My dear Anderson;—It will be necessary that some
person go on our part to the other side of India to see
that our stipulations in the treaty be duly executed.
If Mahdajee Sindia returns to Poona, you will, of course,
I suppose, be desired to accompany him to assist in
forming the plan of future measures for bringing Hyder
Ally to reason. I shall propose no one for the first
commission till I hear from you, because in the latter
case you ought to have the charge of it.

I subjoin the following, because it relates to the
subject of the Mahratta peace, concerning the
adjustment of which Mr. Hastings was at this
moment very sanguine :—

To the Right Honourable Lord MACARTNEY.
Fort William, 5th June, 1782,

My Lord,—Lest our public despatches should mot
be prepared in time for this night's post, I have the
pleasure to inform your Lordship that Mr. Anderson
has concluded and interchanged a treaty of peace with
Mahdajee Sindia, the rep tative and plenipot
tiary of the Mahratta state. It was executed on the
17th ult. The last form only remains, and you may
rest assured that it is merely a form, that it be ratified
by the principals of each state, and again interchanged
by the persons who have conducted the negociation.
The conditions are in substance as follows

1. All places and territory taken in the course of the
war from the Peishwa are to be restored in two months
after the interchange of the treaty.

2. Salsette and the other islands to remain ours.

3. Baroach to remain. We propose to make a
separate grant of it to Sindia.
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4 and 5. All other territory to which we have a claim
by the treaty of Poorunder, to be relinquished to the
Peishwa,

6. Ragonaut Row to go where he pleases out of our
protection, and allowed four months for that purpose;
to be allowed 25,000 rupees per month if he shall
choose to place himself under the protection of Mah-
dajee Sindia.

7. The allies of each party to be included in the
treaty.

8. Futty Sing to be replaced in his original state
without retrospection.

9. The Peishwa agrees that Hyder shall relinquish
all his conquests in the Carnatic, and release all his
prisoners within six months after ratification of the
treaty ; and the English engage that they will abstain
from hostilities with him while he is at peace with them
and with the Peishwa.

10. The 7th enlarged.

11 and 12. The navigation and commerce of each
state open to the other.

13. No European factories to be allowed in any of
the Peishwa’s dominions, except such as the Portuguese
already

14. Neither party to assist the enemies of the other.

15. Each party answerable for all the members and
individuals of their respective authority that they shall
be faithful to the treaty.

16. Mahdajee Sindia guarantee of the treaty.

17. All claims obtained from Ragonaut Row to fer-
ritory renounced by the English.

In addition to the 9th article, Mahdajee Sindia has
solemnly promised that if Hyder Ally shall refuse to
abide by it, the forces of the Peishwa will join with ours
in compelling him.

1 hope you will view this event in the same light of
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advantage that I do, and in the firm persuasion that
you will, I do most heartily congratulate your Lordship
upon it. I have the honour to be, with the greatest
esteem, my Lord, your Lordship’s most obedient and
most faithful servant.

It is matter of history that the formal ratification
of the treaty just transcribed was, on one pretext or
another, long deferred by the Mabrattas. Of the
uses which were made of this delay to injure the
cause of Mr. Hastings at home, some notice was
taken in the previous chapter. The following
letters will at once account for the fact, and explain

the process by which so disagreeable a contingency
was overecome :—

. To Davio AMpErsoN, Esq.
Fort William, 23rd August, 1782.

My dear Anderson,—I lose not a moment in com-
municating to you the following substance of two volu-
minous packets, which I'have just received from Naug-
poor, one from Moodajee, the other from Nizam Ally
Cawn. The purport of both is the same, viz. :—

That both are united in the same plan; that the
treaty concluded by Mahdajee Sindia on the part of the
Peishwa is invalid and unauthorized ; thatno peace can
take place without the concurrence of all the parties in
the confederacy ; that Mahdajee Sindia knows this, his
seal being affixed to the treaty which constituted it;
that Nizam Ally Cawn and Moodajee are willing to be
the mediators; that peace cannot be made without
their mediation; that we must satisfy Nizam Ally
Cawn concerning his arrears of pesheush for the sircars,
and his satisfaction is rated at fifty lacs; that Hyder
has negociated and brought to a conclusion a new treaty



542  MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS.

with the Peishwa, in which the French are included as
parties; and that he has sent Satoocar bills for six
lacs of rupees to Sindia to engage him to invade our
dominions which lie contiguous to his.

The following is the sum of the treaty said to be
concluded with the French :—

1. That all the ports of the English, if conquered,
shall be yielded to the French, except one or two, which
shall be reserved to Hyder and the Peishwa, as they
shall be chosen for their conveniency to either.

2. That Trichinopoly, with its dependencies, which
Hyder claims in virtue of some agreement of thirty
years standing, shall be shared equally between Hyder
and the Peishwa.

3. That all the posseesions formerly held by the
English in the Carnatic shall be yielded to the French,
the rest shared equally by the other two parties.

4. That the ports of Bengal, in the event of our
expulsion, shall be given to the French, and the land
of the provinces shared equally by Hyder and the
Peishwa.

5. That all the treasure and effects plundered shall
be equally divided by the three partics.

6. That Pondicherry and its dependencies shall re-
main in their former state to the French.

7. That whatsoever has been taken by the English
from either party, shall, if recovered from them, revert
to the original proprietors.

8. That the French shall invade Bengal, assisted by
10,000 horse, furnished by Hyder, and as many by the
Peishwa.

1 give little credit to such a confederacy and to such
a treaty, and yet less to the sincerity of Nizam Ally
and Moodajee respecting them; yet I receive the
report as an indication both of their opposition 1o the
Ppeace concluded by Mahdajee Sindia, of which I gave
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you an early intimation, and of some reluctan ce on the
part of Nanna Furneess.

We shall give a flat refusal to Nizam Ally, adhering.
only to the declaration already made to him, that if he
remains neuter we will faithfully discharge the arrears
whenever peace is concluded ; but as he has confessed
himself the author of war, he must submit to his own
loss, while we employ all our resources in providing the
means of repelling it.

Represent all these matters to Sindia; we rely on
him. We will not cancel what has been already done
by listening to mew suggestions, nor, if we suspected
the validjty of his act, would we perplex our affairs by
employing a multifude of negociators, and sacrificing
to all their wants.

I bave seen nothing hitherto in the conduct of
Sindia but what has been consistent with honour, good
faith, and, above all, a steady adherence 1o his own
designs. T am persuaded that he is deceived himself
if he has deceived us; but it is necessary that he should
explain the degree and extent of the reliance that we
may place on himif the treaty which he has made shall
not be ratified. He is doubly bound to us, first by the
separate treaty of peace concluded with him, and

dly by that luded with the Peishwa, through
his agency and with his guarantee. The length of
time which has passed since the treaty was sent to
Poona affords too strong ground of suspicion. If, when
you shall have received this, the treaty shall not have
been yet returned, we must understand and construe
such a delay a refusal, and provide for our own interests
without regard to it, abstaining, however, from all
hostilities with the Mahrattas until they shall first
renew them. I here repeat that I etill consider Sindia
in every case as our friend.

Be explicit with Sindia, and endeavour to obtain
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from him a decided and full explanation of his designs
and of his expectations. I am,”my dear Anderson,
your most affectionate friend.

P.8. I have ordered a copy of the French treaty to
be made, and will enclose it.

To the same.
Fort William, 25th Angust, 1782,

My dear Anderson,—I have received yours of the
8th, and am pleased to find my opinion of Mahdajee
Sindia so literally verified. I should be perfectly
satisfied with the state of suspense, if 1 had only my
own satisfaction to consult. o

I am yet much in the dark with respect to the Poona
politics, whether to ascribe the delay of the ratification
to a combination of the Mahratta chiefs, or to Nanna
Furneess alone; to his disapprobation of it; to his
fear of the other confederates ; to his jealousy of Mah-
dajee Sindia ; to a design of making previous conditions
with Sindia for himself; to the spirit of pride and
a desire of displaying his own supremacy; or, lastly, to
the Mabratta habits of procrastination. I cannot sup-
pose that he has entered into a decided plan to oppose
the operation of the treaty or to engage afresh with
the French and Hyder. He is said to bave exhausted
both the public resources and his own long ago.
Hyder can ill afford to supply him. Moodajee and
Nizam Ally, had they an interest in the war, are too
poor to aid it, but with plunderers.

I do not despair of receiving a solution of my doubts
long before you can afford it in reply to this.

In the mean time, I send you a curious paper of in-
telligence received last night. You will guess from
what quarter, but do not mention it. I forgot to give
you that caution respecting my authority for the last
intelligence. 1 believe this to be fabricated; for
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it is ot the less suspicious for the assurance, that it is
all Droost evarast.

Tam not quite so satisfied about the French treaty,
because it accords exactly with Hyder’slanguage to Sir
Eyre Coote.

The Admiral writes that he should be able to put
to sea again in quest of the ememy about the 15th.
There is no doubt of the superiority in the last action
being decidedly on his side, and the addition of the
Sceptre, a fresh ship completely manned, with sixty-
four guns, leaves little apprehension for the state of the
next contest.

It is not mecessary to make any positive reply to
Futteh Sing; but he has quoted an engagement which
never existed. We never agreed to more, than that,
when a general peace was concluded, we should take as
much care of his interests as our own.

To the same.
Fort William, 4th December, 1782,

My dear Anderson,—I have received yours of the
13th ultimo. It is near a month since your letiers
informed me that the delivery of the ratified treaty
bad been promised in fifteen days, and repeated and
positive assurances given by Mahdajee Sindia, that
his engagements should be fulfilled to your entire
satisfaction, or something to that effect, for I have not
your letters by me. If, when you have received this
letter, the ratification has not been made, nor Sindia
afforded the proofs, whatever they may be, of his fide-
lity to his engagements and ability to maintain them
himself and enforce them on others, I shall pay no
attention to his future declarations. Had I the power
to act from myself alone, I would bring this business
to a very short issue. Let us, however, do what we
can. Tell Sindia, but tell him in person, and in my

VOL. IL 2N
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name:~1. That you have continued too long with him
for the honour of our Government, if you were only to
be the attendaot of his person. 2. That it is neces-
sary to come to a full explanation, and a determinate
one, on the points which remain to be adjusted, and
for which alone you have been permitted to remain so
long with him. 3. That these points are, first, the
ratification of the treaty; and secondly, a plan of co-
operation against Hyder Ally. 4. That we have ex-
pected the former only as it led to the latter, not con-
sidering it necessary to the confirmation of the peace,
which by our ratification of the general treaty, and its
conclusion by him under the full powers which he pos-
sessed, is as fixed and binding as the most solemn of
all possible sanctions could make it. 5. That until the
treaty is ratified, we shall consider him in his own
person as the party to it, and when it is ratified, as the
guarantee ; but the state bound equally in either case,
the form of the ratification being his concern, not ours.
6. That we are satisfied with our alliance with him, and
prefer his name and faith to any other, for the security
of the engagements of his nation. 7. That the general
treaty luded and ted seven months ago, and
ratified by us on the instant of its receipt. 8. That the
procrastinating spirit of the Mahrattas, which is prover-
bial, in all their negociations and ns with others,
has already been the cause of one renewal of bostilities
with the English, in spite of the laboured endeavours
of this Government to prevent it, and has always a
tendency to produce the like consequence by the dis-
trust inseparable from such appearances. 9. That I
:cqu:t}um of this national censure, having found him

and i in every transaction which has
passed between us, and which depended on himself
alone. 10. That therefore this strance is intended
for others, with whom we have no communication but
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:hrough him rather than for him. 11. That General
3ir Eyre Coote, having come o Bengal for the recovery
of his health, expects to be able to return to the Car-
satic in the beginning of the next month, 12. That
we shall in the mean time concert with him the plan of
his operations there, whether for peace or war, and
give bim his final instructions. 13. That Hyder him-
self is desirous of peace, and would agree to it on easy
eonditions. 14. That his resources are greatly ex-
hausted, his army reduced jn numbers, and discon-
tented. 15. That the Carnatic, which afforded them
a subsistence, and the incitements of plunder, is now
a desert, and more unprofitable to them than to us.
16. That we have received large reinforcements of sol-
diers, of the King’s own army, from England, which
lie inactive, because we are waiting the determination
of the Mahratta Government, not choosing to involve
ourselves in any designs which might eventually im-
pede or embarrass our engagements with them. 17.
That it is therefore my desire to know, and I conjure
bim to tell me with that sincerity which has hitherto
marked and done honour to his character, whether
the engagements which we are willing to conclude with
the Peishwa against our common enemy can be formed
and ted in this or whether it is impracti-
cable. 18. That in this act we must require the
sanction of the Peishwa's name, and the concurrence of
the minister to give it its due influence and credit;
and for the same reason I wish for the ratification of
the treaty likewise, because the world will not believe
them to be in earnest, while they withhold it. 19.
That I wish to bring our contest with Hyder to an
issue, while we have a superiority in strength, as there
is a probability that he will be joined by a powerful
armament from France in the wext year, which may
enable him to bid defiance to our united efforts, if
delayed so long. 20. That if they will engage in &

2N2
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plan of immediate co-operation with us, we will make
that our object. 2]. But that if they will not, we will
take care of ourselves. 22. That we make no scruple
of owning our wants, because we know theirs to be at
least equal to them; since the total loss of the Car-
patic, were we to lose it, would be no real loss to us;
it would indeed be a loss of credit, and injure our
national character by involving the ruin of an old and
faithful ally ; but our substantial possessions would
acquire an additional value from it; Hyder is in pos-
session of a large portion of the Mahratta dominions,
and with the conquest of the Carnatic, (an event which |
1 only suppose for argument,) would be in a condition
to make an easy prey of the rest of Deccan; but if he
is only freed from the war with the English, and left
at liberty to carry all his forces towards the Krishna,
he will not only be able to secure his new possessions
in that quarter, but to add to them.

Irely on your firmness and address, to give this
remonstrance complete effect. It is certainly my wish
to prosecute the war against Hyder to his destruction :
but if the Mahrattas will not assist us, our forces and
resources in the Carnatic are not equal to a war with
him and his allies the French, and it will be more for
our interest, and even credit, to make peace with him.
This alternative I have therefore resolved to adopt for
myself. The old general, I believe, inclines to a peace
and would be pleased to be the instrument of effecting
it. These are my own sentiments. Make what use
of them you please. Those of my colleagues in this
matter I have not consulted. 1 am, my dear Ander-
son, your most affectionate friend.

The following has reference to proceedings at
home, of which mention was made in a previous
Chapter.
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To the same,
Fort William, 5th December, 1782.

My dear Anderson,—1 cannot conceal from you my
apprehension of the effects which the late reports
from England may produce on your negociations.
You have doubtless heard what everybody knows, and
what the newspapers have circulated through all the
states of Europe and Asia, that by a resolution of the
House of Commons, passed on thé 17th or 18th of
May, it was declared to be the duty of the Court of
Directors to remove me from my office because “ I had
acted in a manner repugnant to the honour and policy
of the British nation.” It was, after much deliberation
among the Directors, agreed that they were not bound
to submit to the dictates of the House of Commons, who
are only one branch of the Legislature ; that without &
regular act of parliament no notice ought to be taken
of the resolution ; that the Directors were the proper
judges of the conduct of their own servants, and could
not legally admit of any other power to sentence and
punish them. It was therefore resolved not to admit
the mandate of the House of Commons as authority;
yet. to show some respect to it, the Court agreed to
investigate my conduct by going through the papers
which the Commons had taken as the ground of their
resolution. In the meantime the Proprietors, alarmed
for the consequence, end ignorant of what the Directors
were doing, called & general meeting, which was to be
held on the 19th of June.

From this state you may judge of the probability of
my being recalled. I think it unlikely. The Directors
are said to be very little disposed to favour mg, and
therefore their disobedience to the orders of the House
has arisen from another cause,—their fear to lose their
credit with the Proprietors. I have other strong
grounds of belief that the attempt has failed. I care
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very little for the event, but I dread the consequence
of the suspension, and have therefore given you this
history, that you may contradict any unfavourable con-
clusions drawn from it. My dear Anderson, I am not
80 easy to move. [Even the wretch who has dealt the
blow at me has acknowledged that my exertions have
saved the Carnatic, and that my conduct is free from
any moral stain.

_ That you may be early apprized of the issue of this
affair, 1 desire that if any letters from the other side of
India are sent {o you to be forwarded to me, you will
open and read them ; but do not let any one else see
them nor know more of their contents than may be
necessary to answer the purpose for which I have used
this caution. If they contain good news, publish and
make the most of it; if bad, keep it to yourself 1
am, my dear Anderson, most affectionately yours.

To the same.
Fort William, 16th Janoary, 1783

My dear Anderson,—I have received your letter of
the 28th December and Ist instant, with Sindia's en-
closed in the latter. This is very short, but perfectly
satisfactory. I intend to answer it with this. As you
mention that the draught had undergone some altera-
tion, 1 will send you a cupy of the letter. Perhaps you
may gather something from the difference.

Hyder's death is confirmed beyond all doubt. It
happened about the 6th of December. That of his
Vakeel is a most fortunate coincidence. Another is
said to have happened in the defeat of Tippoo Saheb
by General Matthews, near Calecutt, on the 24th of
November. Hyder's army remains in the neighbour-
bood of Arcott, and there seem to be the sparks of a
dissension rising between his sons Tippoo and Kereem
Saheb. The last is in command of the main army,
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and of weak understanding. Our army has bten &b
much dispersed since the departure of Sir Eyre Coote,
that it could not avail itself of the great advantage
presenied by Hyder's death. I am not sorry. The
good old General will shortly return, and everything
may bg expected from his reputation and activity.

1 have just received the enclosed* in duplicateafrom
Ragonaut Row. It might give alarm to the Mahratta
government if left to his communication of it. You
may therefore, if you will, tell Sindia that he has re;
ceived such a letter, and explain that nothing more
was meant by it than & mere complimentary return;
and that, had more been intended, it could not affect
the freaties concluded with Sindia which supersede all
authority, and shall be to me as sacred as my Bible.

Souffrein has made his appearance off Gaujam, but
his object is unknown. He has, however, afforded a
recent occasion to rejoice at the miraculous interposi-
tion of fortune or providence in our favour, for the
Indiamen from Madras, bringing with them our
Bengal infantry and artillery, have passed him, and are
safe arrived in the river.

I wait with some curiosity to learn what effect
Hyder’s death may have produced in the Mahratta
politics, as it seems to be a crisis that should compel
them to dispense with their usual spirit of procrastina-
tion. Adieu, my dear Anderson, yours most affection-
ately. .

To the same.
Fort William, 0th March, 1763,

My dear Anderson,—I have received yours of the 22d
February, with others in their order precedingit. I
own that I suspect a motive in these delays very
foreign from the state of the Mahratta affairs, or dif-

# A letter from the Court of Directors to Ragonaut Row.
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ferencss in the political opinions of Sindia and Naroo
Reo Deo.  But I have calls for a greater exertion of
my patience than any which this instance requires, and
am satisfied that the ratification of the treaty will
have its plishment whatever may cause this pro-
crastination of it.

The General is not yet gone, but will certain.iy de-
part in three or at most five days. The government
of Fort St. George is negociating with Tippoo, as you
will see by the enclosed paper. But they will not at-
tempt to conclude any agr t without our autho-
rity, which we certainly shall not grant while Sir Eyre
Coote is absent, and to whom our instructions will be
specially entrusted, as he is best acquainted with our
intentions, and therefore best qualified to carry them
into tion. But what is done after his arrival
will be final and irrevocable.

Inform me on what footing Cheit Sing is now with
Mahdajee Sindia. 1 am, most affectionately, yours.

P.S—1 send you an extract of a letter* which I
have just received from Chapman. If the treaties
have been interchanged show it to Sindia; if not, use
your own discretion to communicate or suppress it.

To the same.
Fort Willism, 31st March, 1783,
My dear Anderson,—I have received yours of the
14th, and the preceding, in their order. I write to
Sindia by this conveyance, and send you a copy and
translation of my letter. You will explain it. His
‘behaviour shall lose nome of its werit in my report of
it to my superiors in England, and their good will is
m::qumtmn not to be slighted, even by a Mahratta

* Two letters, st dated 15th Februsry, 1783, second dsted 16th
Febwuary, 1753, ’ !
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I am alarmed at what Colonel Morgan writes hbout
the Pindarries in the Autovesee. Tell Sindia that great
cautxon ought to be observed on both sides in the

fancy of our ion. These hostilities may serve
asa pretext to withhold the surrender of the districts
in which they are committed, and they will every way
be the sufferers from so unseasonable a policy. =

The lands are theirs, and will be delivered on de-
mand ; but violence may come to a refusal, and, in the
angry judgment of many of our countrymen, warrant,
one. Advise him fo cause an instant stop to be put to
these indiscretions. Let people be sent in form, but
without a military apparatus, to demand possession;
and do you send witnesses to be present when the de-
mand is made. Indeed, I am convinced that it is

y that you depute your brother on this service.
The gentlemen of Bombay may wish to evade the sur-
render of the lands in their possession. They may: I
do not think they will. If.they do, this government has
the power of punishing them, as well as the most effectual
means of removing the evil, by their suspension ; and
you may assure Mahdajee Sindia that we will not suffer
the faith which we have pledged to be injured. He
must depend upon us, and not suffer the transient
obstacles which others may studiously oppose to the
execution of the treaty to defeat its objects. It is our
business to remove them, and we will. He too has
his opponents.

I am highly pleased with his letter to Tippoo Saheb.
We have sent it to Fort St. George, as a sample of the
manner in which they should treat with their enemies.
Pray send me an entire copy of the letter. I want to
see the Alcaub.

I approve the draft of the treaty. You must except
the province of Bidanoor and its dependencies from
the partition, because we were in possession of these
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before the final conclusion of the treaty, and obtained
them without the participation of the Mahratta alli-
ance. It is weported that General Matthews has
entered into some engagement with the chief of that
province, which is an insurmountable objection, or way
be one, to the transfer of it; and it lies more con-
venient to us than to the Peishwa. Perhaps s way
may be found to accommodate this point, if it should
be a subject of contention in the adjustment of our
other conquests, whether made by the Mahrattas or by
our forces.

But of this you must not yield, nor give hopes that
you will yield, an inch.

I have the pleasure to inform you that Sir Eyre
Coote has had a clear passage out of the river, and the
winds have been most unseasonably favourable to him.

The Government of Madras have been treatiog with
Tippoo, and we have desired them to desist.

To the sume.
Port Willism, 17th December, 1783,
My dear And 1 have ived yours of the

2nd, and others in their orders preceding it. Your
letters to Mr. Bristow and Colonel Morgan are very
proper ; yet I am fearful of misconceptions, and there-
fore recommend it to you to be very brief in your cor-
‘respondence ; and upon the state of the Mahratta
treaty, whatever your doubts may be, either wholly
silent or declaredly satisfied. Let not a word escape
you that may serve as a foundation of doubt to others.
I mnecessarily exeept cases requiring military pre-
paration.

1 am less sanguine than you are, and you are but
little sanguine, in the expectation of the ratified treaty.
It appears plain to me that it is withheld by the
jealousy and envy of the other parties, and Naana
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Furneess's fears of them. Nizam Ally Cawn has from
the beginning indignantly protested against any peace
not made by himself. Moodajee complainingly makes
the same objection, and says that it has been seriously
proposed to deprive Nanna Furneess of his authority
by giving such irregular powers to Sindia.” Thisis a
proof that the impediment is not of Nanna Furneess's
creation. I have written long letters to Moodajee, ap-
pealing to his own advice to make Sindia our friend,
He is not satisfied. He says that if I had written to
#he Peishwa and to Mahdajee Sindia that he had
originally recommended Sindia for the instrument of
negociation, it would have saved his credit ; that even
now he can and will procure the instant ratification of
the treaty, if I will leave it to him ; and the Peishwa's.
Vakeel was produced to swear to his assertion. He
writes very respectfully of Mahdajee Sindia, but com-
plains bitterly that, he is not included. Beneram as-
sures me that his master will be satisfied if he is yet
made a party, and has given me a written note of what
should be done for this effect. It is as follows :—

“ That as I have acknowledged to Moodajee Boosla
that the advances to a friendship with Mahdajee
Sindia were made by his advice, and the subsequent
negociation and mediation were the effect of the same

1 ider him the origin:l mover and

; as X
cause of the treaty concluded with the Mahratta state,
through Mahdajee Sindia; he therefore proposes that
I will make known these facts to Mahdajee Sindia and
the ministers of Poona, and require that, in considera-
tion of the rank and situation of Moodajee Boosla, his
friendship, and connexions with both the contracting
powers, and the important share which he has had in
effecting the pacification, as the original adviser and
mover of the measure, his seal and signature be affixed
and subscribed to the treaty as a guarantes to the
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same.” The word is Witness, «“ skdhid ;" but I suppose
this to be an error of Beneram's. I will add the pro-
position in the Persian language, that you may show it
as authority, if you have occasion.

If you have not received the ratification of the
treaty before you receive this, and have no well-
grounded expectation of receiving it, 1 conceive that it
may be proper to accept this proposal. There can, at
least, be no inconvenience in imparting it to Sindia,
and asking him whether he approves it. We must
bring this business in some way to a conclusion, and I
have a claim on Sindia for some attention to me in re-
turn for my steadiness to him. I have no doubt that
Nizam Ally Cawn and Moodajee would readily become
the guarantees for the treaty as it stands, and exact
the ratification of it; but I do not like to change my
measures ; and, on every condition, I prefer the alli-
ance and security of Mahdajee Sindia; yet I see no
objection to the addition of Moodajee’s name, if it is
not productive of delay. It cannot be inserted, or his
seal affixed to the original treaty; but it mayto a

part or mutibek. This you will manage and
concert, if it goes so far, with Chapman.

1 have written a letter to Sindia, which is enclosed
with & copy; deliver or suppress it, as you think
proper. The personal subject to which I refer is what
you have already received from Captain Frith. [ will
repeat the substance.

On the change of the ministry a plan was formed by
some of the dependents of the new administration to
remove me from this government, and afterwards all
my eolleagues from the Council. It so far succeeded,
that a resolution passed in the House of Commons that
it was the duty of the Court of Directors to recall me
This passed on the 18th of May. On the 19th of June,
the proprietors, in a General Court called for that
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purpose, resolved to protect me and maintain their own
rights against the resolutibn of the House of Com-
mons, which they declared to be illegal. I am, there-
fore, secured in my seat during another year. The
death of the Marquis of Rockingham, which followed
on the 1st of July, produced other consequences which
I regard as conclusive of my firm and permaneént con-
tinuance, in the resignation of Mr. Burke, who is repre-
sented as the vehement mover of my dismission, and
sworn (I know not why) to effect it. Lord Shelburne,
éwho has succeeded Lord Rockingham, is better in-
formed in India affairs than almost any man in
England, and his opinion of my conduct is as high as

. I can wish it: I am sure of his justice. In a word, if
no new changes not foreseen intervene, I am sure of
remaining as I am. I repeat, my friend, that I am not
easy of removal ; and spirits as determined as any that
now seek it have experienced that I am not. Unde-
ceive Sindia, if these reports, the first I mean, have
come to him.

I will send you a copy of a letter to-morrow from
Hyder, which will show his disposition for peace. It is
written to the General's agent at Madras,—Adieu, my
dear Anderson, your affectionate friend.

1 need not pursue this subject farther. The
treaty with the Mahrattas was, after many delays,
ratified at last. They and the Nizam became im-
mediately the allies of the English, and the war
against Tippoo was carried on, with what results
the correspondence yet to be inserted will show.

I turn now to a different subject, namely, the
carrying out of the treaty of Chunar, for which
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Mr. Hastings incurred at the moment no trivial
share of odium, and which constituted, a few years
later, one of the gravest articles of charge against
him in his impeachment. It was said that he
acted cruelly, making all considerations of personal
suffering, and justice, and right, subserve to the
promotion of his own objects. Now what were
those objects? To save British India, and nothing
else. Let the following letters answer for the
temper and the feeling in which even that great
and solemn duty was discharged. I need scarcely
observe that Mr. Middleton, to whom many of these
letters are addressed, was Mr. Hastings’s especial
friend and protegé, whomn he had employed in
managing his connexion with the late Vizier, and
whose appointment about the person of the reigning
Nabob gave s0 much offence to the Court of Di-
rectors. Nobody can suppose that towards such a
man Mr. Hastings would think of behaving other-
wise than considerately ; yet see bow a sense of duty
to the public overbears every other consideration.
Major Palmer, again, was an officer of great merit,
whom he had had some time in his family, and in
whom he reposed the utmost confidence. The names
of the other actors in the little drama must all be
by this time familiar to my readers.

The following letter of instructions was called
forth by a degree of remissness on the part of Mr.
Middleton, which will presently be noticed. I beg
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to draw the reader’s especial attention to the

clauses which relate to” the offered present of
ten lacs.

To Major WirLiam PaLmER.
6th May, 1782.

Sir,—1 depute you to go to Lucknow, and to wait
upon the Nawaub Vizier in my name, observing the
following instructions :—

First. You will assure him that I feel it a sensible

Idisappointment that I am myself disabled from per-
forming the visit to his court which I promised him at
Chunar, by many causes which at thie time render my
presence at Calcutta indispensably necessary. These
causes, as they are fully known to you, you will explain
as far as you shall judge it proper or conducive to the
other and more essential points of your commission.

Secondly. It has been a matter of equal concern and
surprise to me to learn, by the letters of the resident,
that the Nawaub Vizier was with difficulty, and an
almost unconquerable reluctance, induced to give his

t to the attachment of the treasures deposited
by his father under the charge of the Begum, his
mother, and to the resumption of her jaghier, and the
other jaghiers of the individuals of his family, although
these measures were the effects of his own suggestion,
and proposed with great earnestness to me for my
concurrence. .

I desire that you will inform him, that in these and
the other measures which were either proposed by him,
or received his concurrence in the agreement passed
between us at Chunar, I neither had, nor could have,
say object but his relief, and the strengthening of his
connexion with the Company and that I should not
on any other ground have exposed myself to the per-
sonal oblogquy which they could nat fail to draw upon
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me by my participation in them, but left him to regu-
late, by his own discretion, and by his own means, the
economy of his own finances, and with much more
cause the assertion of his domestic rights. In these
he had no regular claim to my interference, nor had 1,
in my public character, any claim upon him but for
the payment of the debt then due from him fo the
Company, although I was under the strongest obliga-
tions to require it for the relief of the pressing exi-
gencies of their affairs.

He will well remember the manner in which, ata'visit
to him in his own tent, I declared my acquiescence freely
and without hesitation in each of the propositions which
afterwards formed the substance of a written agree-
ment, as he severally made them; and he can want no
other evidences of my motive for so cheerful a consent,
nor for the request which 1 added as the means of ful-
filling his purposes in them. Had he not made these
measures his own option I should not have proposed
them, but having once adopted them, and made them
the conditions of a formal and sacred agreement, I had
no longer an option to dispense with them, but was
bound to the complete performance and execution of
them as points of public duty and of national faith, for
which I was responsible to my King and to the Com-
pany, my immediate superiors ; and this was the reason
for my insisting so peremptorily on their performance
and execution when I was told that the Nawaub him-
self had relaxed from his original purpose, and ex-
pressed a reluctance to proceed in it

When you have given him this explanation of my
motives in regard to the late transactions, you will
endeavour to learn, both by immediate application for
that effect to the Nawaub himself, and by inquiry
from others, what were the real which inft d
the apparent change in his inclinations respecting this
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transaction, and whether he had any, and what grounds
for offence or dissatisfaction in the course of it. As
these, if they exist, are beyond the reach of any satis-
factory conjecture which I can form, 1 can give you no
special instructions for your reply, but leave you to
remove the Nawaub's exceptions by such assurances
as you may be enabled to make to him by your general
but intimate knowledge of my sentiments and inten-
tions in whatever has a relation to his interests and
his alliance with the Company and the British nation.

Thirdly. I desire you to endeavour to obtain from
the ministers and from Almess Alli Khawn such sums
of money as they can spare from their own means, or
raise by their credit, upon loan, for the service of the
Company. To effect this point, it will be necessary to
convince them that they will be no losers by it, but that,
on the contrary, their property will acquire a security
from being lodged in the Company’s funds. Explain
to them the nature of the Company’s interest notes,
and the means of credit by which they pass in circula-
tion, and are transferable from the original to other
successive proprietors, so as to give them a just idea
of the tenure and of the equal footing on which native,
alien, and British proprietors stand in the possession
of them. At the same time, it will be proper to ap-
prize them of the fluctuation of their current value,
which it would be criminal to suppress. You may
assure them that when peace is restored to our esta-
blishment, and our expenses are consequently dimi-
nished, the debt will be gradually paid off, as a former
debt, contracted before my appointment to the Govern-
ment, to & much larger amount, was discharged in the
course of two years, within your own remembrance;
and that the estimated value of the notes will rise to
the rates of their specific sums, and even above them,
on the prospect of payment, so that the proprietors

VOL. II. 20
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will be subjected to no loss, unless they shall choose to
part with their property in the notes during the inter-
mediate time of our inability to discharge them, the
annual interest due in the interval being duly and
punctually paid. I have no doubt of their fidelity,
but it can no way be so strongly shown, nor the Com-
pany’s support of them so strongly engaged, as by
the assistance required.

Fourthly. The Nawaub Vizier having, by an inti-
mation made to Mr. Middleton in the month of Feb-
ruary last, been pleased to express his desire to make
me a present of ten lacs of rupees, and requested my
previous consent and acceptance of the same, I desire
you will make my acknowledgments in proper terms
for this instance of his liberality and benevolence, and
acquaint him that I am precluded from accepting it
by many considerations, but by one especially, which 1
beg him to take in good part, namely, that if I had
received it at the time in which the tender of it was
made, it would have been liable to constructions, even
in his own breast, so repugnant to the disinterested
friendship which I profese and bear towards him, that,
no consideration of personal profit could have induced
me to accept it at such hazard. If he should renew
the offer to you, you will inform him that my objection
remains the same, and is insuperable, but that if he
will be pleased to transfer it to the Company for the
relief of their present and known distresses, 1 will
accept it on their behalf with a thankfulness equal to
that which 1 should have felt and expressed for the
gift had it been made to myself, the wants of the Com-
pany being at this time of equal concern to me as my
own. Let him understand this subject rightly, and he
will see in my refusal, thus qualified, the most con-
vincing proof of my friendship to him and regard for
his interests.
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Fifthly. It is very much my desire to impress the
Nawaub with a thorough confidence in the faith and
justice of our Government; that is to say, in my own,
while I am at the head of it. I cannot be answerable
for the acts of others independent of me. I hope it
will not be difficult to convince him of this truth, for
I have certainly afforded proofs of it, nor has the re-
verse been ever pergonally imputed to me. It is my
desire to assist him in regulating his administration,
because the success of my own is nearly connected with
it, but is much more liable to suffer by its defects or
misfortunes. The inverse of this observation will
not apply to the effects of our misfortunes on his affairs
except in the most desperate extremes. Though we
have been involved in wars with all the states around
us, his dominions have enjoyed a state of tranquillity
undisturbed by foreign enemies, because we have stood
between him and those who might have been his ene-
mies. But were we to withdraw that interposition, he
would soon experience a dreadful reverse. I know
not how you will convince him of this by words, nor
do I wish to put it to proof; but you may assure him
that we will never interfere in his affairs beyond his
own desire, nor make any claim upon him but for
what may remain of his debt to the Company, the
payment of his subsidy, and of the future charge in-
curred by other military detachments employed at his
requisition and for his defence. Much delicacy and
caution will be required in your declarations on this
subject, lest they should be construed to extend to an
immediate change in the administration of his affairs
or to the instruments of it. Their persons must be
considered as sacred while they act with the participa-
tion of our influence. This distinction the Nawaub
understands, nor will it be either necessary or proper

to allude to it unless he himself should first introduce
the subject.

202
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Sixthly. Give the ministers privately assurances of
the present support and future protection of our Go-
vernment.

Let your stay with the Nawaub Vizier be short ;
and be careful to prevent its affecting the influence of
the resident.

For your complete information upon the subject of
these instructions, I shall furnish you with copies of
the agreement made by me with the Nawaub Vizier
in August last, and of my instructions to the resident
respecting it.

1 shall also give you letters of introduction both to
the Nawaub Vizier, and to the ministers.

You will communicate these instructions and my
sentiments on every other subject of your mission to
Major Davy, who attends you as your aseistant; and
in case sickness or any other accident should pre-
vent your proceeding to Lucknow, you will transfer
them to his charge for execution. I am, Sir, your
affectionate servant.

To Mr. Nata. MivoLetow.
Port William, 7th May, 1762.

Sir,—When his Highness the Vizier did me the
honour of a visit at Chunar, he made me a request
that we might have an interview once in every year
for the purposes of discussing and adjusting the mu-
tual ns of the Company and himself, and of
improving the harmony and confid which subsisted
between the two Governments. To this requisition I
readily assented, and greatly lament that the situation
of affairs makes it impossible for me to effect a meeting
at this time. The present important conjuncture de-
mands the united and vigorous exertions of both
Gover ts for the safety and success ; and
in this situation, whilst the greatest cordiality is re-
quisite, you inform me that his Highness is much
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dissatisfied on many points contained in our late
agreement, and which he made his own request. To
remove his uneasiness on these subjects, and to give
him entire satisfaction on others which may be objects
of his fears and suspicions, and to give a lasting ce-
ment and increase of strength and reciprocal advan-
tage to our alliance, would be impracticable by any
other mode than verbal communication, explanations,
and assurances. And as, for the reason above assigned,
I cannot make these in person, I think it indispensable
to delegate the trust to another. For these purposes
I have deputed Major Palmer to attend his Highness
and his ministers at Lucknow. Major Palmer, as you
know, has been my confidential secretary for several
years; I have disclosed to him, without reserve, my
sentiments on every point of the relative connexion
between the Company and the Court of Oude, and I
can rely upon him for a faithful explanation of them.

I have also instructed Major Palmer to give the
most express assurances to the ministers of my appro-
bation of their conduct, and determination to protect
and support them, so long as they preserve their at-
tachment to this Government and pursue the real
interests of the Vizier.

Major Palmer has other public objects in charge,
which he will personally communicate to you, and I
most earnestly require of you the strengest co-operation
of your authority and influence tewards his attaining
them. I think his success almost certain if he meets
with your cordial support and assistance. Whatever
may be the event, a considerable share in producing
it will be attributed to you, and affect you accord-
ingly.

Such explanations 8s are intended solely for the
satisfaction of the Nabob, and coming from myself, I
have directed Major Palmer to communicate separately
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to him, but in doing this, to use every precaution to
avoid any diminution of your authority or influence.

I have sent Major Davy as a confidential assistant
to Major Palmer, and in case any accident should
happen the latter, to execute his commission. I am,
Sir, your obedient humble servant.

N.B. Majors Palmer and Davy set out on this em-
bassy May 9th.

The gentleman to whom the preceding letter is
addressed owed all his fortunes to Mr. Hastings. He
had been early taken up by the Governor-general
and employed in situations which, offering the best
opportunities for the display of talent and zeal, were
at the same time sources of great emolument to
himself. It is not, therefore, to be supposed that,
either in wantonness or from sudden eaprice, be
would be cast aside by his first and steadiest patron.
Yet this, and more than this, has been alleged of
Mr.Hastings. “ Mr. Middleton,” says the late Mr.
Mill, “ continued the exertions and practised all
the severities which have already been described
for extorting the money which the Governor-
general demanded ; yet bhe was formally accused °
by the Governor-general on the 23rd of September,
and pronounced guilty of remissness in his duty.”
The severities alluded to by the historian amounted
simply to this: that through Mr. Middleton the
sanction of the British Government was given to
the measures which the Vizier judged it expedient
to adopt for the purpose of enforeing obedience to
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his own edicts ; which sanetion, by the way, could
not be withheld, consistently with the terms of
existing treaties or the usages of the country. And
as to the proceeding of Mr. Hastings, the following
letters will, I think, show that the sentence, if pro-
nounced at all, was not unmerited. Mr. Middle-
ton, it appears, took greatly to heart the mission
of Major Palmer, and, regardless of the incon-
venience to which the public service might be sub-
jected, tendered his resignation. Mr. Hastings
would not accept it till the blunders committed
during the resident’s administration should have
been repaired.

To Major Paruzes.
Fort William, 2ud July, 1782,

My dear Palmer,—You were not aware that by en-
eouraging Middleton’s offer of resignation, you threw
me into embarrassments. Mr. MacPherson, from whom
I had withheld my own knowledge of it, conceived it
from your letter to have been a point concerted with
me, and that I had been guilty of duplicity to him,
How could he avoid it? Ihadtold him a very different
story. I had shownhimand Mr. Wheler your written
instructions, and explained my future intentions.
These were to avoid any change in that department
- whieh might involve my colleagues in the guilt of my
disobedience to the orders of the Court of Directors,
and my friends in England in the trouble of defending
me; and for that cause to wait for the next despatches
from home, which must either insist on the execution
of their former orders, or revoke them, and leave me
at liberty to nominate my own representative, or (which
1 shall deem equivalent to it) be silent on the subject.
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But there are other causes which may operate for a
longer time as objections to Mr. Middleton’s removal.
I had promised myself full surely, and, unfortunately
trusting against all experience in his assurances, I have
written the same promises home, that the Nabob’s debt
would be all discharged in the course of this year.
But on reference to his accounts, I find that event atas
great a distance as ever, and the balance at the end of
this year likely to be as large as it was at the end of
last. There was due on the 30th of April, 58,28,724
rupees. No state of the Nabob's debt. and the
growing demands upon him for the current year,
nor proposed assignments for their payment have
ever been sent to the Board; but I find one trans-
mitted to the comptroller, Mr. Wheler, for about
seventy lacs, in which seven are styled jaghiers ; and of
the whole amount only twenty-four are collected in the
course of seven months. What makes this the more
alarming is, that the Nabob’s expensesare diminished,
new funds have been created, and the influence of my
government exerted, with little credit to myself, for both
purposes, and wo advantage to the Company. If I
could permit Mr. Middleton to leave his office in such
a state, would you accept the temporary responsibility
of it? He must stay till he has cleared the Naboh'’s
account,—and if he does not to the satisfaction of the
Board, I will take care that the blame of it, with all
its consequences, shall fall where it ought.

For these reasons united, but chiefly for the last, I
will not be the channel of conveying Mr. Middleton's
resignation to the Board, and as I received the letter
from you, I return it to you, at the same time declaring
that I will not consent to the acceptance of it, if he
shall transmit it to the Board. Iam, my dear Palmer,
yours affectionately.
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To Mr, Nata. MipoLeron.
Fat William, 20d July, 1762,

Sir,—1I desire that you will not leave your station at
a greater distance than Patna, as the'Board will have
ion for your pr there speedily for the ad-
justment of the accounts of this, and for framing the
assignments of the ensuing year. Instructions are
preparing for you on: both subjects. I am, Sir, your

most obedient servant.

i The following is not the letter of a reckless
tyrant, nor of a mercenary man ; yet Mr, Hastings
has been denounced as both the one and the other.

To Major PALMER.
Fort William, 7th July, 1782,

Dear Palmer,—I. have reoehd yours of the 25th
ultimo. You have so embarrassed your own commis-
sion, that I scarce know how to give you any instruction
upon the poinis which you have submitted to me.

Mr. Middleton must return and settle the accounts
of the Company with the Nabeb. The balance due on
the 30th April (we have no account later) was
58,28,724 10 8. The Nabob tells you that his debt
is entirely liquidated; you say, he affirms it. Mid-
dleton, I suppose, has told him so, and has quietly
made his retreat, leaving you with the false information
to correct his errors, and complete his deficiencies as
you can.

1 desire that you will yield up my private claim to
the ten lacs. I was deceived, and thought that the
Nabob could well afford that gratuity to the Company
in the time of their distresses, when he was freed from
the heavy debt which he before owed to them. I will
not load him with a greater, now that I find his debt
as great as it was. Mr. Middleton has received cor-
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rected accounts from the Accomptant-general, and it is
his duty to exact payment of the balance, or to adjust
it if any of the articles for which the Nabob’s account
is debited are exceptionable.

I shall write to Mr. Middleton to withdraw the in-
terference of our Government in favour of Mozuffer
Jung, if no part of his assignment bas been paid.
You may privately let the Nabob and his minister
know as much. :

I am sorry to find by your letter, and by one which
you wrote to Major Brown, that Mr. Middleton’s re-
signation and your succession have been publicly noti-
fied, or known at least to the Nabob and his ministers.
His departure will be a confirmation of it. I cannot,
nor will I let him depart until he has completely made
up his accounts. His return will create a thousand
surmises which may affeet his influence, or it must
weaken yours, and indeed you tell me as much in
effect: and he will vindicate his own deficiencies by
imputing them to your influence superseding his. In-
this dilemma I have no choice. He must return, and
he must remain; and you must eonfine your stay to
the execution of your own commission, and return.
You will only burt yourself and me by staying in &
place where you lie at the merey of men who, in the
arts of deception, are too much for us both.

One thing you may tell the Nabob, viz., that if he
will pay off all that he owes the Company, both the
regiment stationed at Lucknow, and the residency
itself shall, if he desires it, and the Board to whom I
must communieate it, give their concurrence, be with-
drawn, and every other of his propositions agreed to,
Do not misunderstand me. 1donot say that this shall
be done; but that I will propose it, and urge the
Board to agree toit. I am weary of the reproach of
being the instrument of a nation’s ruin.
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I must entreat that you will shorten your stay at
Lucknow, unless the Nabob himself shall entreat your
continuance, and in that case that you will use every
degree of caution to avoid whatever may in its effect
prove, or be construed to prove, a hinderance to Mr.
Middleton’s influence, or the effectual exercise of his
charge. I am, dear Palmer, yours affectionately.

To the same.
Fort William, 9th July, 1782,

Dear Palmer,—Notwithstanding anything that 1
‘may have written to you, do not intimate your intention
of moving from Lucknow until Middleton returns, and
I hope by that time to see a little clearer into this
obscure business than I do at present, and to furnish you
with other instructions more satisfactory to you and to
myself. Yours affectionately.

The following throws some light on the real
pature of those delinquencies, for which Mr.
Middleton incurred the displeasure of the Governor-
geueral,

To Nara, MippreroN, Esq,
Foxt William, 24th July, 1782,

Sir,—Notwithstanding the faith of Government
pledged to the Nabob for the removal of all un-
licensed Europeans from his capital, and from his
country; and notwithstanding my repeated injunctions
to you, I am informed that numbers yet remain at
Lucknow, and the Nabob himself has mude it the sub-
ject of a formal complaint: He undoubtedly eonceives
them to be under our protection ; and asit is your duty,
s0 I must again desire that you will undeceive him, that
you will represent to him that my eredit, and the
dignity of our Government, is hurt by this contempt of
its authority ; but that he is the magistrate of his own
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country, and that it is incumbent on him to remove
those who have been forbidden toremain in it. If they
will not remove, why does- he not use force to compel
them? Why does he not cause them to be arrested,
and transported beyond his borders, with orders to his
aumils not to permit them to return?

I have been much solicited to let Mr. Scott stay, and
his advocates have assured me that he had your pro-
mise. I cannot permit it, and if he has mot left
Lucknow, I must insist on his leaving it instantly. 1
am told that Captain Marsach is still there. Why do
you, and why have you suffered it? for I know that it
is not with the Nabob’s comivance.

I some time since received a letter also from Captain
Darell, requesting to be permitted to continue at Luck-
now for the recovery of his health. If the Nabob will
consent to it, I will not object to his staying till the end
of the rains, if he shall find it necessary : but no lenger.

I must desire that you will send me a list of all the
English gentlemen of every denomination who shall
be at Lucknow, or in any other parts of the Nabob's
dominions when you receive this letter, and of the
means used for removing those who have no right to
be there.

Colonel Polier and Coloncl Martine have been ex-
cepted by the Board from the general oxder, but their
continuance must be with the entire concurrence of the
Nabob.

To the same.
¥ort William, 10th August, 1782,
8Sir,—1 have had the mortification to hear that
Almess Ally Cawn has at length, as was long since
foreboded, fled from the Vizier's dominions, taking
with him an immense treasure, the fruits of his em-
bezzlements and known oppressions. Though this in-
telligence has not come through its authentic channel,



MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS. 573

T have no doubt of its truth. I am compelled to credit
the reports, which assure me that every part of the
Vizier's administration is in the same disorder. For
this and every other failure in the instructions which
1 gave to you in writing on the 20th September at
Chunar, you are solely responsible to this Government,
as Hyder Beg Cawn is to the Nabob’s; for to your
conjoint hands has the administration of his affairs
been from that time committed.

I have received your repeated assurances, addressed
o myself and to the Board, that the Nabob’s debt to
the Company should be completely discharged by the
close of the year. In my fears for a disappointment
in this expectation, and in the contrary belief that in
its actual train the debt is more likely to exceed the
amount at which it stood the last year than to be paid,
I hereby apprize you that, if at the end of the fessellee
year any part of it shall remain in arrears, I shall
move the Board to call upon you publicly to account
for it; and that you may know that this declaration is
not made on light grounds, I shall enter a copy of this
letter'upen the Company’s records. It will do you no
injury if you disprove the justice of my suspicions by
the effects of your exertions. .

I have written to Hyder Beg upon the same subject,
and intended to refer you to his letter for my fuller
sentiments, but I shall not have it ready for despatch
for this post. I am, Sir, your most obedient servant.

To the Nasor Hyper Bea Cawn.
10th August, 1783,

When I prevailed upon the Nabob Vizier to commit
the entire charge of his revenues and the administra-
tion of his finances to his ministers, of whom you are
the acting and responsible person, with the concurrence
of the resident, Mr. Middleton, I had so sure a reliance
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on your integrity, diligence, and abilities, which are
universally known, and no less on the same qualities
of Mr. Middleton, that I departed with a mind per-
fectly at ease, expecting that order would be restored
to the Nabob’s affairs, capable and trustworthy aumils
appointed to the superintendence of the districts, the
forces duly distributed for the security of ‘peace and
the confirmation of the authority of the Circar, and
that the past and growing debt of the Company would
be completely discharged in the course of the year,
and that I should receive the thanks of the Nabob,
your master, for the effects of my solicitude for the
support of his dignity and ease.

The event has proved the reverse of these hopes; an
accumulation of distress, debasement, and dissatisfac-
tion to the Nabob, and of disappointment and disgrace
to me. Every measure which he had himself proposed,
and to which he had solicited my assistance, has been
8o conducted as to give him cause of displeasure;
there are no offices established by which his affairs
could be regularly conducted; mean, incapable, and
indigent men have been appointed aumils of the districts,
witbout authority and without the meansof personal pro-
tection ; some of them have been murdered by the zemin-
dars, and those zemindars, instead of receiving punish-
ment, have been permitted to retain their zemindarries
with independent authority; all the other zemindars
suffered to rise up in rebellion and to insult the au-
thority of the Circar without any attempts made to
suppress them; and the Company's debt, instead of
being discharged by the assignments and extracrdinary
services of money provided for that purpose, is likely
to exceed even the amount at which it stood at the
time in which the arrangement with his Excellency
was concluded.

The growth of these evils was made known to me,



MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS. 575

and their effects foreboded in the same order and
manner as they have since come to pass. Added to
these, I this instant learn that Almess Ally Cawn, to
whom you had entrusted the greatest portion of the
collections without any pledge or security for his fide-
lity, has thrown off his allegiance, and quitted the
Nabob’s dominions, taking with him an immense trea-
sure, the fruit of his embezzl ts and oppressi
and an army raised for its protection. This, too, was
long since foretold, and ought to have been suspected,
i In such a state of calamity and disgrace I can no
longer remain a passive spectator, nor would it be
becoming to conceal my sentiments or qualify the ex-
pression of them. I have hitherto forborne to inter-
fere, that I might not weaken your influence and
thereby disable you from fulfilling the responsibility
of the great trust which had been assigned to you. I
now plainly tell you that you are answerable for every
misfortune and defect of the Nabob Vizier's Govern-
ment. You possess abilities and the means of retrieving
them, nor is it too late, for the resources of the country
still remain. I expect it, and immediately; and, as
the first effect of your exertioms, I require that the
balance which is due to the Company be fully cleared
by the end of the year, so that not an anna shall re-
main in arrears. I have a right to exact this return
to the confidence which the world has seen me place in
you, and to the good offices which the friendship of
the Nabob Vizier has enabled me to afford you. If I
anr disappointed, you will impose on me the painful
and humiliating necessity of acknowledging to him
that I have been deceived, and of recommending the
examination of your conduct to his justice, both for the
redress of his own and the Company’s grievances, and
for the injury sustained by both in their mutual con-
nexion.
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Do not reply to me that what I have written is from
the suggestion of your enemies, nor imagine that I
have induced myself to write in such plain and decla-
ratory terms without a clear insight into all the con-
sequences of it and a fixed determination upon them.

It would appear that Major Palimer, in obedi-
ence to the dictates of a zeal, which, in this case
at least, carried him beyond the restraints of dis-
cretion, had applied to the Nahob for money in &
strain which had some tendency to lower in the
eyes of that prince the respectability of the English
Government. The following letter from Mr, Hast.
ings will show how the proceeding was by him
regarded.

To Major Paruss,
Fort William, 14th Aagust, 1762,

Dear Palmer,—I have received your letters of the
29th ultimo and lst instant. I acknowledge the good-
ness of your intentions in the pains which you have
taken to obtain from the Nabob a loan for the Com-
pany, a free gift to assist in the relief of their dis-
tresses, and his application for an additional mili-
tary aid. Yet I must ingenuously tell you that
1 cannot bring myself to make acknowledgment
which I think is your due for these services on the
ground on which you have performed them. This
must ever be the case where, acting for a principal,
you dispense with his instructions and reject his in-
formation, to substitute your own plans in the place of
his, and those constituted with materials which he has
told you are fallacious. Instead of removing my em-
barrassments you add to them.
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I want no loan from the Nabob. When I desired
you to obtain one, I believed, for the resident had so
assured me, that the debt due from the Nabob to the
Company was or would be discharged in the course of
this fussullee year. I have since discovered that, what
with errors of account and fallacious assigninents, the
debt is likely to be, at the end of this year, as heavy as
it was at the end of the last. I have told you so. You
will not believe me, and go on soliciting from the Vi-
zier's bounty what I claim as aright. The consequence
#vill be that he will consider my claim as a pretext to
deceive him. The same objection is equally strong
against any donation. If he has made one, it must be
received as a part of his balance. I acquit him of all
right which he has given me to his benevolence.

But for the application made and urged to him, for

his application for a new military aid, and a new sub-
sidy, I see no warrant either in my original instruc-
tions or in apparent expediency. Such a proposal in
any state of his and our affairs ought to have origi-
nated with him ; but in the present, even if it was his
undictated and optional request, I should hesitate to
comply with it. He cannot pay the troops which by
treaty are allowed him. I do not desire to swell the
Company’s military expenses in fitting out a detach-
ment, which would load them with batta and contin-
gencies beyond their ability to afford, nor to swell the
Nabob’s debt beyond his to pay.
* 1 desire, therefore, that you will tell the Nabob that
I want neither loan, gift, nor subsidy; and as to the
debt outstanding, leave Mr. Middleton to clear it as
he can.

Indeed, my dear Palmer, you cannot leave Lucknow
too soon. You walk through snares, and every step
that you tread, either entangles you in them or detects
them. You have a recent instance of this in the as-

VOL. II. 2r
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signment of the bills which were tendered as a dona-
tion to me, and which were afterwards declared to be
transferred by my request to the Company's use. You
send me a copy of the Nabob's letter, which you tell
me contains his consent to a gratuity of ten lacs of
rupees to the Company, yet, on the perusal of the
letter, 1 find it granted in such ungracious terms, that,
were there no other objection, I would not accept it.
He says, that as [ have d ded it, he ot refuse,
bids you takeit, but takes care to state it not as a gift,
but as the purchase of concessions enumerated in a
separate paper. His words are literally, I will give
them « Basherté le Motaulebaut,” on condition
that my demands are yielded. And when you accept
it you find it already assigned for the next year's
debts.

Undeceive the Nabob, if you can; at least, I beg
you will attempt it, and leave him. 1 am, dear Palmer,
yours affectionately.

P.S. 1 cannot close my letter without explaining
what will probably make an impression different from
my intentions. 1 am disappointed, and write with
strong feelings of all the disorders which 1 see, and to
which every remedy that I have applied to them has
but served to increase. I am vexed and angry, but
it is with the subject only. I express it to you because
1 write to you, and because you chance to be a party in
the general concern; but as I know you have been
undeviatingly actuated by the wish to promote my"
views, I give you credit for the design; and when I

can bring my mind to more composure, 1 will thank
you for it.

To the sme,
Fort Williawm, 11th Angue, 1762,
Dear Palmer,—I am sorry for your embarrassments,
but they are of your own creation, and I have more
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than an equal share in their effects. Mr. Middleton
complains of your influence over-ruling his, and im-
peding his business. I have written to him, that if the
Nabob’s debt is not discharged by the end of the
fussullee year, a public inquiry should be ordered
into his conduct. Your stay at Lucknow can be no
longer of use, and he will avail himself of it as a plea
for his deficiencies. For all these reasons I must
desire that you will immediately quit Lucknow. One
only commission I give you to execute before your

{departure. 1 have written a letter to Hyder Beg,
which Mr. Middleton will deliver. I send you a copy
of it. Show it to Hyder Beg, and lest he may be mis-
led by any constructions given him of it by Mr. Mid-
dleton, tell him that, as I have been his friend hitherto,
I will continue such if he complies with what I have
required of him, that is, if he pays off the whole of the
Company's debt by the close of the year, and ke gives
the attention which he ought to the collections of the
ensuing ; but that if he does not, I will insist on the
Nabob’s giving the administration to other hands, and
compelling him to answer for the losses sustained by
his misconduct. And what I have threatened I swear
that 1 will perform.

Look to my instructions for what you shall say to
the Nabob. I am unfortunate in my attempts both to
serve him and to please him.

I desire it as a special and essential service that
you will furnish me with a copy of Mr. Middleton's
intended letter of resignation. I am, dear Palmer,
your affectionate friend.

It will be seen from these letters that Mr. Has-
tings had other reasons to be dissatisfied with Mr.
Middleton, than that he was remiss in executing
the ferocious orders which a ferocious Governor-

2p2
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general had issued. Mr. Hastings was displeased,
because, through the negligence of the British
agent, and the misconduct of the native head of the
government, the affairs of Oude were permitted to
fall into confusion, overturning in their fall all the
hopes which he had built upon the treaty of
Chunar. For Mr. Hastings desired to accomplish
much more than to realize an increase to the dis-
posable revenues of his own province. It was his
anxious wish that Qude should flourish under a
Jjust and a vigorous government, and he had the
satisfaction, ere he quitted India, of witnessing the
accomplishment of that wish. Moreover, Mr.
Hastings did not betray, nor desert, nor give to the
tender merciesof the Nabob, Fyzoolah Khan, thelast
of the Rohilla chiefs, to whom, at the termination
of the war with these Tartars, British protection
had been extended. On the contrary, he treated
Fyzoolah Khan more than ever as a sort of ally
of the British nation, and settled a resident at his
durbar, with instructions which are best explained
in the letter which contains them. I have only
to add, that in consequencce of Mr. Middleton's
deficiency of vigour, his resignation, often ten-
dered, was accepted at last, and that Mr. Bristow,
agreeably to the directions of the authorities at
home, was re-established as resident at Lueknow.
The following tell their own tale :—
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To Jonn Bzistow, Esq.

Fort William, 23rd November, 1782,

Dear Sir,—You will receive instructions from the
Board to recommend and urge to the Nabob Vizier a
conciliatory negociation with Fyzoolah Khan. Indeed,
it is full time to put a stop to the alarms and jealousies
which have been excited between them, and which, if
not seasonably checked, will of themselves grow into
thf consequences which have been so industriously, and
I%believe falsely, portended. The proper means of
effecting this service, since our Government must be
eventually the guarantee of it, will be by the deputa-
tion of an English gentleman; and I prefer Major
Palmer for the charge of it, because 1 can implicitly
rely on his integrity and personal attachment; because
he is amply qualified by his knowledge of the subjects
which arise, or may arise, out of the relation of
Fyzoolah Khan to the Vizier's government, and ours
to both; and because it will remove the discredit
which has fallen on me by an unfortunate train of cir-
cumstances, through the unsuccessful agency of a man
who is known to possess a principal share of my con-
fidence. On the grounds,and for the reasons premised,
I wish you to put him into the proper way of being
appointed on this commission ; T mean that the Nabob
himself may nominate him, rather than that he ac-
quiesce in his nomination from your recommendation
of him; at all events let him be the agent.

If this is not to be effected, apprize Major Palmer
of it early, that he may leave the place without further
delay. It is not fit that he should remain there, either
by his presence to countenance the supposition of a
double influence, or to afford an argument for the
diminution of mine to those who may be disposed, as
there are many, fo represent him as my secretery, as a
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man for whom I have an affection. reduced to a cipher.
I am, with much esteem, dear Sir, your most obedient
servant. ’
To Major Patmen.
Fort William, 24th November, 1752.

My dear Palmer,—~Major Davy will have sent you
the copy of a letter which 1 have written to Mr.
Bristow. If what I bave proposed in it shall take
place, and in the manner which I have proposed, you
may finish your deputation creditably for yourself and
most beneficially for the Company. I see no possible
cause to prevent its being done but one which 1 will
not suppose; but if it should not, you must instantly
take your leave of the Nabob Vizier and of his
dominions.

The purposes of your intended commission are
these :-—First, to convert the engagement by which
Fyzoolah Khan is bound to furnish the Nabob Vizier
with a military aid, when required, into a fixed sub-
sidy. Secondly, to treat with Fyzoolah Khan for an
annual tribute for the increased value of his jaghier,
and for the revenue derived from the services of the
Vizier's reiats, to whom he has afforded an asylum.
And lastly, to promote and confirm a lasting recon-
ciliation between them. This last article, though
general and unapplied, may include many points
which are unknown to me, but must be left to your
discretion. Your instructions will be given by the
Vizier, through the channel of the residency; bat the
above subjects will form the basis and sum of them,
nor ean I yet say more upon them.

I have only to d despatch and d

1 wish I could spare Davy to assist you, but you
want no assistanee ; he is more serviceable to you here.
The length of the journey would not admit of his being
with you in time, and the conclusions which would be




MEMOIRS OF WARREN HASTINGS. 583

formed on his going would prejudice the business of
the resident, at least people would say so. I conclude
by repeating, as a positive injunetion, that you accept
the commission if it is offered fo you, and in a prac-
ticable form, but that if it is not, or if it is not imme-
diately offered, you leave Lucknow and return to

me. I am, my dear Palmer, yours ever and most
affectionately.

Mr. Bristow had never been personally a fa-
vourite with Mr. Hastings ; and the feelings which
he cherished towards the Governor-general were
the reverse of friendly. It seems difficult to
account for the fact, that the Courtof Directors,
being fully aware of this circumstance, should
have nevertheless thtust him, despite of Mr.
Hastings's avowed opposition, into an employment
so delicate as that of resident at Lucknow. Had
he been the ablest as well as the most upright of
all their servants, it was next to impossible for him
to do his duty, either with credit to himself, or
satisfaction to his employer-—for where there is no
coufidence between the head of a government, and
his subordinates, grounds of complaint on both
sides are sure to arise. And whenever it comes
to this, that the letter and not the spirit of men’s
instructions is attended to,—public interests as well
as private character invariably suffer. Mr. Bris-
tow returned to Lucknow full of resentment, be-
cause of his temporary supersession. He saw
nothing in the altered circumstances of the Nabob’s
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affairs, of which be could approve; and he cer-
tainly does not appear to have accommodated
himself in anything to these changes. The conse-
quences were, an angry correspondence between
him and the Governor-general, which, at a later
period, took a new and more decided form. Mr.
"Bristow was charged before the Supreme Council
with repeated violations of duty, and dealt with as
shall be explained by and bye. In the meanwhile,
I must direct the reader’s attention to the condition
of affairs at Benares,—where, on the removal of
Mr. Fowke, Mr. Markham had been appointed to
reside. Of the total change which was wrought
in the government of that zemindarry by the expul-
sion of Cheyt Sing, notice has elsewhere been
taken. The following letters will show how im-
perfectly for a time the new machinery worked,
and how untiring as well as judicious were all Mr.
Hastings’s efforts to bring about a happier result.
To Wniram Magxnax, Esq.
Port William, 15th July, 1783,

Dear Sir,—I have lately received two letters from
you, in which youn inform me that the aumils employed
by Doorbejey Sing have been guilty of great oppressions
upon the ryate; that he, so far from restraining, has
connived at their irregularities ; and that he is himself
to the last degree remiss and indolent in discharging
the duties of his office. To the first of these letters I
deferred sending an immediate answer, from the appre-
hensions that, were I to take that notice of his conduct
which from your representations it seemed to merit, I
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might probably lessen his authority, and afford him a
pretext for the future breach of his engagements.
Under this idea I contented myself with representing
to his own Vakeel the very great impropriety and evil
tendency of his conduct, and hoped that, when through
this medium he should become acquainted with my
sentiments, prudence, if not justice, would have taught
him the necessity of amending his behaviour. Your -
last letter, however, has convinced me that these hopes.
were fallacious ; the very language, indeed, in which
our complaints are conceived, has impressed my mind
with so clear a conviction of their justice, and of the
necessity of redressing them, that I have thought it
proper to write to Doorbejey Sing the letter of which
for your information I enclose a copy. You will there
learn the displeasure I have expressed at the op-
pressions under which the ryats are suffered to labour,
and the means I have directed for bringing to justice
the men whom you have pointed out as the principal
authors of their distresses. It is possible that thesame
motives which first led him to select these men may
now induce him to support them even in disobedience
to my express commands. If this should prove the
case, or if he should not carry them into execution
within one week after his receipt of my letter, it is my
positive order that you cause Babboo Zallum Sing,
Sunker Rutton, Bugwant Roy, and Boniade Sing, to
be brought to Benares; that you give notice thereof to
the Naib, and require him to appoint three persons of
ability and approved integrity, to inquire into their
conduct, yourself appointing two persons of the like
description for the same purpose; that, in case of his
refusal or neglect to appoint persons for such investi-
gation, you do yourself nominate five men of ability
and integrity, with power to hear and examine the
complaints of the ryats against the aumils above men-
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tioned, and that you do transmit to me as speedily as
possible a statement of their proceedings, kecping at the
same time the persons of the said aumils in confine-
ment, in order that they may not evade the judgment
which shall be passed upon them. And to prevent
any prejudice, or the possible pretence of prejudice to
the revenues from the execution of these orders, 1
desire that you will eall upon the Naib to appoint
proper persons for holding the employment of the said
aumils during their absence from their respective dis-
tricts ; and if he shall neglect so to do, I then desire
that you will yourself select and nominate proper
persons for that purpose. Hitherto, though I have
expressed my disapprobation of the Naib’s conduet, I
have forborne to make him an object of that rigour
with which I bave thought it right to treat hisservants.
1 am willing to have patience with him, and to make
every allowance for the movelty of the situation in
which he is placed, and for the difficulties which may
attend it, but if I perceive in him a wilful negleet of
my advice, and an obstinate adherence to that system
of conduet against which I find you have so often
warned him, he shall certainly feel the most severe
effects of my displeasure.

Having thus attempted to remedy the evils of which
he is the author, I must not neglect those of which he
complains. I bave lately received several papers from
him, all tending to prove the misconduct of Captain
Baker, when sent to apprehend the murderers of
Durmoo Dooby. It appears that, instead of attempting
to apprehend such only of the kosacks as were guilty
of the offence, he first made a general attack npon all
who resided in the village of Burragong ; and when he
had subdued them, with as littie discrimination, and as
it is alleged for his private emolument, set them all at
liberty, and again restored them to their possessions.
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Rémembering the conduct of Captain Baker upon
a former occasion of this kind, I flattered myself that
he would never be again employed on any service which
might give him a possible pretence for interfering in
the affairs of the zemindarry. If heis not yetrecalled,
1 request that he may be without 2 moment’s delay,
and that you will apply for that purpose to Colonel
Blair. 1 desire you will consider it as your duty to
prevent all officers employed for the purposes of en-
forcing the collections, and maintaining the Rajah's

thority, from going beyond the express line which
their duty prescribes to them.

The detection of a few murderers seems to have
created almost as much inconvenience as could have
arisen from their impunity. My orders were explicit,
and known, I thought, as well to you as to the Naib,
Three people were by name pointed out to me as the
murderers of Durmoo Dooby, and I directed that those
and no others should be brought to punishment. Pray
let me know what has been done in this business, and
state to me particularly the conduet of Captain Baker
whilst employed in it.

The business which this letter will impose on yéu
may, I hope, be soon concluded, and if your private
concerns shall then call you to the presideney, you have
my permission to visitit ; but if those of the zemindarry
furnish the only motives for your journey, I could wish
you to remain at your station. Of your public busi-
ness I will myself be the agent; and though it is true
that many affairs demand my time and attention, those
of Benares shall not be neglected. I am, dear Sir,
your most obedient humble servant.

To the same.
Fort William, 7th August, 1762,
My dear Markham,—I have received yours of the
27th ultimo, and am perfectly satisfied, from your rela-
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tion of the affair, that the charge against Captain
Baker is utterly false. Indeed I allowed it a greater
weight, because I understood it to appertain to a Jater
date, and was displeased at the renewal of his com-
mand, which would have been a direct breach of my
orders to Colonel Blair.

You some time since desired to come to Calcuita.
1 intimated my wish that you would suspend it. I now
leave you to your own option, with this reservation,
that if your object in coming is to state any busincss
to me, you will rather write it. You shall have your
turn in my attention, and the most minute instruction
upon every point that may require it. Let me add,
that I shall give it with pleasure, because I with plea-
sure observe the diligence which you bestow on your
department, and the conformity of your conduct to my
own wishes in every instance which has come before my
notice.

If your personal concerns call you to Calcutta, and
you are sure that your official business will not suffer
by your absence, come; I shall expect you to be my
guest. X am, my dear Markham, yours most affection-
ately.

To the sarne,
Nes Serai, 20th September, 1752

Dear Markham,—1 have received your letter of the
8th instant, and am no less pleased with your conduct
than I am dissatisfied with that of Doorbejey Sing. I
am thoroughly convinced of his incapacity and of the
necessity of removing him. Your recommendation of
Ally Ibrahim Khawn gives me pleasure; (I consider it
as a confirmation of his worth, and as an additional
proof of yours, that you have conceived a friendship
for the man who, from the nature of his office, might
possibly have been to many others, in your situation, an
object of jealousy). For the reasons you have assigned,
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I think he cannot with propriety accept the Niabut,
and for the same reasons I should be unwilling to make
him a Sezawaul ;—it is an invidious office, inferior in
point of dignity even to that of Naib, and invariably
exposes the person who possesses it to.the ill-will not
only of his immediate superior in his district, but of
all over whom his authority extends. The post he
already fills is as laborious as it is useful and import-
ant; not only perfect leisure, but popular esteem is in
sgme measure necessary to the perfect discharge of its
duties, and I should be very sorry to give him an em-
ployment that might contribute to rob him of either.
Avail yourself, however, of his experience and abilities
upon all occasions where they can be of service to you
in your public business, and particularly upon the
arrangements which this letter will authorize you to
make. -

I need not tell you, my dear Markham, that I
possess a very high opinion of your abilities, and that
I repose the utmost confidence in your integrity; the
_whole of your conduct since our acquaintance has
served to impress me with these sentiments, and mine,
I hope, has proved that I entertain them. From your
long residence at Benares, and from the part you have
bad in the business of that zemindarry, you must cer-
tainly best know the men who are most capable and
deserving of public employment. From among these
I authorize you to nominate a Naib to the Rajah in
the room of Doorbejey Sing, whom, on account of his
ill-conduct, I think it necessary to dismiss from that
office.

It will hardly be necessary to except Oossaun Sing
from the description of men to whom I have limited
your choice; yet it may not be improper to apprize
you that I will on no terms consent to his being Naib.
In forming the arrangements consequent upon this
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new appointment, I request you will, as far as you can
with propriety, adopt those which were in use during
the life of Bulwunt Sing—so far at least as to have
distinet ‘offices for distinct purposes, independent of
each other, and with proper men at the head of each,
s0 that one office may prevent or detect any abuses or
irrégularities in the others, and together form a system
of reciprocal checks. Upon that principle 1 desire

. you will in particular establish, under whatever names,

one office of receipts and another of treasury. .The
officers of both must be responsible for the truth and
regularity of their respective ts, but not subject
in the statement of them to the eontrol or interferens
of the Rajah or Naib; nor should they be removabie
at pleasure, but for manifest misconduct anly. At the
head of one or other of these offices I could wish to
see the late Boxey Rogoobe Dyal. ; ™¥'s conduct in his
former office, his behaviour on the r. -{¢ of Cheyt Sing,
and particularly at the fall of B};eygur, together

with his general character, prove hyn worthy of em-
ployment, and of the notice of our Government. It is,
possible that he may have objections to bolding an
office under the present Rajah ; offer him one, however,
and let him know that you do so by my directions. In
forming these arrangements, do not wholly neglect the
Rajah; consult with him in appearance, but in appear-
ance only. His situation requires that you should do
that much, but his youth and inexperience forbid that
you should do more.

With respeet to Doorbejey Sing, he has dishonoured
my choice of him. It now only remains for me to guard
against the ill effects of his misconduct, to deteet, and
punish it. To this end, I desire that the officers to be
appointed in consequence of these instructions do, with
as much accuracy and expedition as possible, make out
an account of all the receipts, disbursements, and trans-
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actions of Doorbejey Sing during the time he hasacted
as Naib of the zemindar of Benares, and I desire you
will, in gy name, assure him that, unless he pays at
thedhmited time every rupee of the revenue due to the
Company, his life shall answer for the default. I need
not caution you to provide against his flight and the
- remgval of his effects. [ am, dear Markham, very
affectionately yours. '

Though this letter is, in its address and in its style,
familiar, you must consider it as bearing all the force
of the most formal and positive orders.

' The results were, as has been stated in substance
already, that a change was effected in the system
i administering the zemindarry ; and that it came
jp?ilue time to be accounted one of the most pros-
perous and well ordered of all the districts over
which the Briusf rule estended in India. A
settled revenue wus derived from it of forty lacs.
Crine was suppressed, industry fostered, and law
<ightly administered ; insomuch, that the city be-
came again the resort of pilgrims from all quarters,
and its inhabitants grew rich from the commerce
which their arrival created. Yet the acts which
secured both to the people and the Government
such unspeakable advantages were denounced by the
enemies of Mr. Hastings as crimes! So wayward

< s ' 7 7 ,in all the transactions of his publie
arverse the tempers of those whom he
ser. . « in spite of themselves.

END OF THE SECOND VOLUMK.
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